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A Framework for Business Analysis and
Valuation Using Financial Statements

-I-he purpose of this chapter is to outline a comprehensive framework
for financial statement analysis. Because financial statements provide the most widely
available data on public corporations’ economic activities, investors and other stake-
holdersrely on financial reportsto assess the plans and performance of firms and corpo-
rate managers.

A variety of questions can be addressed by business analysis using financial state-
ments, as shown in the following examples:

¢ A security analyst may be interested in asking: “How well isthe firm | am follow-
ing performing? Did the firm meet my performance expectations? If not, why not?
What isthe value of the firm’ s stock given my assessment of the firm’s current and
future performance?’

« A loan officer may need to ask: “What isthe credit risk involved in lending acertain
amount of money to this firm? How well isthe firm managing itsliquidity and sol-
vency? What is the firm’s business risk? What is the additional risk created by the
firm’ s financing and dividend policies?’

« A management consultant might ask: “What isthe structure of theindustry inwhich
the firm is operating? What are the strategies pursued by various playersin thein-
dustry? What is the relative performance of different firmsin the industry?’

« A corporate manager may ask: “Ismy firm properly valued by investors? s our in-
vestor communication program adequate to facilitate this process?’

« A corporate manager could ask: “Isthisfirm apotential takeover target? How much
value can be added if we acquire this firm? How can we finance the acquisition?’

¢ Anindependent auditor would want to ask: “ Are the accounting policies and accru-
al estimates in this company’ s financial statements consistent with my understand-
ing of this business and its recent performance? Do these financial reports
communicate the current status and significant risks of the business?’

Financial statement analysisis avaluable activity when managers have complete in-
formation on afirm’s strategies and avariety of institutional factors makeit unlikely that
they fully disclose thisinformation. In this setting, outside analysts attempt to create“in-
side information” from analyzing financial statement data, thereby gaining valuable in-
sights about the firm’s current performance and future prospects.

To understand the contribution that financial statement analysis can make, it isim-
portant to understand the role of financial reporting in the functioning of capital markets
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and the institutional forces that shape financial statements. Therefore, we present first a
brief description of these forces; then we discuss the steps that an analyst must perform
to extract information from financial statements and provide valuable forecasts.

THE ROLE OF FINANCIAL REPORTING IN CAPITAL MARKETS

A critical challenge for any economy isthe allocation of savings to investment opportu-
nities. Economiesthat do thiswell can exploit new businessideasto spur innovation and
create jobs and wealth at arapid pace. In contrast, economies that manage this process
poorly dissipate their wealth and fail to support business opportunities.

In the twentieth century, we have seen two distinct models for channeling savings
into businessinvestments. Communist and socialist market economies have used central
planning and government agenciesto pool national savings and to direct investmentsin
business enterprises. The failure of this model is evident from the fact that most of these
economies have abandoned it in favor of the second model—the market model. In al-
most all countriesin the world today, capital markets play an important role in channel-
ing financial resources from savers to business enterprises that need capital.

Figure 1-1 provides a schematic representation of how capital markets typically
work. Savingsin any economy are widely distributed among households. There are usu-
ally many new entrepreneurs and existing companies that would like to attract these sav-
ings to fund their business ideas. While both savers and entrepreneurs would like to do
business with each other, matching savings to business investment opportunitiesis com-
plicated for at least two reasons. First, entrepreneurs typically have better information
than savers on the value of business investment opportunities. Second, communication
by entrepreneurs to investors is not completely credible because investors know entre-
preneurs have an incentive to inflate the value of their ideas.

Figure 1-1 Capital Markets

Financial Information
Intermediaries Intermediaries

Business

Ideas
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These information and incentive problems lead to what economists call the “lemons”
problem, which can potentially break down the functioning of the capital market.* It works
like this. Consider a situation where half the businessideas are “good” and the other half
are “bad.” If investors cannot distinguish between the two types of business ideas, entre-
preneurs with “bad” ideas will try to claim that their ideas are as valuable as the “good”
ideas. Redlizing this possibility, investors value both good and bad ideas at an average
level. Unfortunately, this penalizes good ideas, and entrepreneurs with good ideas find the
terms on which they can get financing to be unattractive. Asthese entrepreneurs leave the
capital market, the proportion of bad ideas in the market increases. Over time, bad ideas
“crowd out” good ideas, and investors lose confidence in this market.

The emergence of intermediaries can prevent such a market breakdown. Intermediar-
ies are like a car mechanic who provides an independent certification of a used car's
quality to help abuyer and seller agree on a price. There are two types of intermediaries
in the capital markets. Financial intermediaries, such as venture capital firms, banks,
mutual funds, and insurance companies, focus on aggregating funds from individual in-
vestors and analyzing different investment alternatives to make investment decisions. In-
formation intermediaries, such as auditors, financial analysts, bond-rating agencies, and
the financia press, focus on providing information to investors (and to financial inter-
mediaries who represent them) on the quality of various business investment opportuni-
ties. Both these types of intermediaries add value by helping investors distinguish
“good” investment opportunities from the “bad” ones.

Financial reporting plays acritical role in the functioning of both the information in-
termediaries and financial intermediaries. Information intermediaries add value by ei-
ther enhancing the credibility of financial reports (as auditors do), or by analyzing the
informationinthefinancial statements (asanalystsand therating agenciesdo). Financial
intermediaries rely on the information in the financial statements, and supplement this
information with other sources of information, to analyze investment opportunities. In
the following section, we discuss key aspects of the financial reporting system design
that enable it to play effectively thisvital rolein the functioning of the capital markets.

FROM BUSINESSACTIVITIES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Corporate managers are responsible for acquiring physical and financial resources from
the firm’'s environment and using them to create value for the firm’s investors. Value is
created when the firm earns a return on its investment in excess of the cost of capital.
Managers formulate business strategies to achieve this goal, and they implement them
through business activities. A firm's business activities are influenced by its economic
environment and its own business strategy. The economic environment includes the
firm’'s industry, its input and output markets, and the regulations under which the firm
operates. The firm’s business strategy determines how the firm positionsitself in its en-
vironment to achieve a competitive advantage.
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Asshown in Figure 1-2, afirm’'sfinancial statements summarize the economic con-
sequences of its business activities. The firm’s business activitiesin any time period are
too numerousto be reported individually to outsiders. Further, some of the activities un-
dertaken by the firm are proprietary in nature, and disclosing these activities in detail
could be a detriment to the firm’s competitive position. The firm's accounting system
provides amechanism through which business activities are sel ected, measured, and ag-
gregated into financial statement data.

Intermediaries using financial statement datato do business analysis haveto be aware
that financial reports are influenced both by the firm's business activities and by its

Figure 1-2 From Business Activitiesto Financial Statements

Business Environment Business Strategy
Labor markets Scope of business:
Capital markets Degree of diversifi-
Product markets: Business Activities cation
Suppliers . o Type of diversification
Customers \ Operating activities / Competitive positioning:

Investment activities

Competitors . . L
Financing activities

Business regulations

Cost leadership
Differentiation
Key success factors and

risks
Y Y
Accounting Environment y Accounting Strategy
. Accounting System . .

Capital market structure Choice of accounting
Confracting and Measure and policies

governance \ report economic / Choice of accounting
Accounting conventions consequences of estimates

and regulations business activities. Choice of reporting
Tax and financial format

accounting linkages Choice of supplementary
Third-party auditing disclosures
Legal system for

accounting disputes Y

Financial Statements

Managers’ superior
information on
business activities

Estimation errors

Distortions from man-
agers’ accounting
choices
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accounting system. A key aspect of financial statement analysis, therefore, involves un-
derstanding the influence of the accounting system on the quality of the financial state-
ment data being used in the analysis. The institutional features of accounting systems
discussed below determine the extent of that influence.

Accounting System Feature 1. Accrual Accounting

One of the fundamental features of corporate financial reportsis that they are prepared
using accrual rather than cash accounting. Unlike cash accounting, accrual accounting
distinguishes between the recording of costs and benefits associated with economic ac-
tivities and the actual payment and receipt of cash. Net income is the primary periodic
performance index under accrual accounting. To compute net income, the effects of eco-
nomic transactions are recorded on the basis of expected, not necessarily actual, cash re-
ceipts and payments. Expected cash receipts from the delivery of products or services
are recognized as revenues, and expected cash outflows associated with these revenues
are recognized as expenses.

The need for accrual accounting arises from investors' demand for financial reports
on aperiodic basis. Because firms undertake economic transactions on acontinual basis,
the arbitrary closing of accounting books at the end of areporting period leads to afun-
damental measurement problem. Since cash accounting does not report the full eco-
nomic consequence of the transactions undertaken in a given period, accrual accounting
is designed to provide more complete information on afirm’s periodic performance.

Accounting System Feature 2: Accounting Standards and Auditing

The use of accrual accounting lies at the center of many important complexitiesin cor-
porate financial reporting. Because accrual accounting deals with expectations of future
cash consequences of current events, it is subjective and relies on a variety of assump-
tions. Who should be charged with the primary responsibility of making these assump-
tions? A firm's managers are entrusted with the task of making the appropriate estimates
and assumptions to prepare the financial statements because they have intimate knowl-
edge of their firm’'s business.

The accounting discretion granted to managers is potentially valuable because it al-
lows them to reflect inside information in reported financial statements. However, since
investorsview profits asameasure of managers performance, managers haveincentives
to use their accounting discretion to distort reported profits by making biased assump-
tions. Further, the use of accounting numbersin contracts between the firm and outsiders
provides another motivation for management manipulation of accounting numbers. In-
come management distorts financial accounting data, making them less valuable to ex-
ternal users of financial statements. Therefore, the delegation of financial reporting
decisions to corporate managers has both costs and benefits.
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A number of accounting conventions have evolved to ensure that managers use their
accounting flexibility to summarize their knowledge of the firm’sbusiness activities, and
not to disguisereality for self-serving purposes. For exampl e, the measurability and con-
servatism conventions are accounting responsesto concerns about distortions from man-
agers’ potentially optimistic bias. Both these conventions attempt to limit managers
optimistic bias by imposing their own pessimistic bias.

Accounting standards (Generally Accepted Accounting Principles), promulgated by
the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) and similar standard-setting bodiesin
other countries, also limit potential distortions that managers can introduceinto reported
numbers. Uniform accounting standards attempt to reduce managers' ability to record
similar economic transactions in dissimilar ways, either over time or across firms.

Increased uniformity from accounting standards, however, comes at the expense of
reduced flexibility for managers to reflect genuine business differencesin their firm’s fi-
nancial statements. Rigid accounting standards work best for economic transactions
whose accounting treatment is not predicated on managers proprietary information.
However, when there is significant business judgment involved in ng a transac-
tion’s economic consequences, rigid standards which prevent managersfrom using their
superior business knowledge would be dysfunctional. Further, if accounting standards
are too rigid, they may induce managers to expend economic resources to restructure
business transactions to achieve a desired accounting result.

Auditing, broadly defined as a verification of the integrity of the reported financial
statements by someone other than the preparer, ensures that managers use accounting
rules and conventions consistently over time, and that their accounting estimates are rea-
sonable. Therefore, auditing improves the quality of accounting data.

Third-party auditing may also reduce the quality of financial reporting because it
constrains the kind of accounting rules and conventions that evolve over time. For ex-
ample, the FASB considerstheviewsof auditorsin the standard-setting process. Auditors
are likely to argue against accounting standards producing numbers that are difficult to
audit, even if the proposed rules produce relevant information for investors.

Thelegal environment in which accounting disputes between managers, auditors, and
investors are adjudicated can also have a significant effect on the quality of reported
numbers. The threat of lawsuits and resulting penalties have the beneficial effect of im-
proving the accuracy of disclosure. However, the potential for asignificant legal liability
might also discourage managers and auditors from supporting accounting proposals re-
quiring risky forecasts, such as forward-looking disclosures.

Accounting System Feature 3: Managers Reporting Strategy

Because the mechanisms that limit managers ability to distort accounting data add
noise, it is not optimal to use accounting regulation to eliminate managerial flexibility
completely. Therefore, real-world accounting systems leave considerable room for
managers to influence financial statement data. A firm’s reporting strategy, that is, the
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manner in which managers use their accounting discretion, has an important influence
on the firm'sfinancial statements.

Corporate managers can choose accounting and disclosure policies that makeit more
or less difficult for externa users of financial reports to understand the true economic
picture of their businesses. Accounting rules often provide a broad set of alternatives
from which managers can choose. Further, managers are entrusted with making a range
of estimates in implementing these accounting policies. Accounting regulations usually
prescribe minimum disclosure requirements, but they do not restrict managers from vol-
untarily providing additional disclosures.

A superior disclosure strategy will enable managers to communicate the underlying
business reality to outside investors. One important constraint on a firm's disclosure
strategy isthe competitive dynamicsin product markets. Disclosure of proprietary infor-
mation about business strategies and their expected economic consequences may hurt
the firm’'s competitive position. Subject to this constraint, managers can use financial
statements to provide information useful to investors in assessing their firm’s true eco-
nomic performance.

Managers can a so use financial reporting strategies to manipulate investors' percep-
tions. Using the discretion granted to them, managers can make it difficult for investors
to identify poor performance on atimely basis. For example, managers can choose ac-
counting policies and estimates to provide an optimistic assessment of the firm’s true
performance. They can also make it costly for investors to understand the true perfor-
mance by controlling the extent of information that is disclosed voluntarily.

The extent to which financial statements are informative about the underlying busi-
ness reality varies across firms—and across time for a given firm. This variation in ac-
counting quality provides both an important opportunity and a challenge in doing
business analysis. The process through which analysts can separate noise from informa-
tioninfinancial statements, and gain valuable businessinsights from financial statement
analysis, is discussed next.

FROM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS TO BUSINESS ANALY SIS

Because managers insider knowledge is a source both of value and distortion in account-
ing data, it isdifficult for outside users of financia statementsto separate true information
from distortion and noise. Not being able to undo accounting distortions completely, in-
vestors “discount” a firm's reported accounting performance. In doing so, they make a
probabilistic assessment of the extent to which afirm’s reported numbers reflect economic
reality. Asaresult, investors can have only animprecise assessment of an individua firm’'s
performance. Financial and information intermediaries can add value by improving inves-
tors understanding of afirm’s current performance and its future prospects.
Effectivefinancial statement analysisisvaluablebecauseit attemptsto get at managers

inside information from public financial statement data. Because intermediaries do not
have direct or complete access to this information, they rely on their knowledge of the
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firm's industry and its competitive strategies to interpret financial statements. Successful
intermediaries have at least as good an understanding of the industry economics as do the
firm's managers, and a reasonably good understanding of the firm’'s competitive strategy.
Although outside analysts have an information disadvantage rel ative to the firm's manag-
ers, they are more objective in evaluating the economic consequences of the firm’'sinvest-
ment and operating decisions. Figure 1-3 provides a schematic overview of how business
intermediaries use financia statements to accomplish four key steps: (1) business strategy
analysis, (2) accounting anaysis, (3) financial analysis, and (4) prospective analysis.

Figure 1-3 Analysis Using Financial Statements

Financial Statements Business Application Context
Managers’ superior informa- Credit analysis
tion on business activities Securities analysis
Noise from estimation errors Mergers and acquisitions
Distortions from managers’ analysis
accounting choices Debt/Dividend analysis

Corporate communication
strategy analysis

Industry and firm data General business analysis

Outside financial statements

Other Public Data

ANALYSIS TOOLS

Business Strategy
Analysis

Generate performance
expectations through
industry analysis and com-
petitive strategy analysis.

Accounting Analysis Financial Analysis Prospective Analysis
Evaluate accounting - | Evaluate performance - | Make forecasts and
quality by assessing using ratios and cash value business.
accounting policies flow analysis.

and estimates.
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Analysis Step 1. Business Strategy Analysis

The purpose of business strategy analysis is to identify key profit drivers and business
risks, and to assess the company’s profit potential at aqualitative level. Business strategy
analysisinvolves analyzing afirm’sindustry and its strategy to create a sustainable com-
petitive advantage. This qualitative analysis is an essential first step because it enables
the analyst to frame the subsequent accounting and financial analysis better. For exam-
ple, identifying the key success factors and key business risks allows the identification
of key accounting policies. Assessment of afirm’'s competitive strategy facilitates eval-
uating whether current profitability is sustainable. Finally, business analysis enables the
analyst to make sound assumptions in forecasting a firm’s future performance.

Analysis Step 2: Accounting Analysis

The purpose of accounting analysisisto eval uate the degree to which afirm’s accounting
captures the underlying business reality. By identifying places where there is account-
ing flexibility, and by evaluating the appropriateness of the firm’s accounting policies
and estimates, analysts can assess the degree of distortion in a firm's accounting
numbers. Another important step in accounting analysisisto “undo” any accounting dis-
tortions by recasting a firm’'s accounting numbers to create unbiased accounting data.
Sound accounting analysis improves the reliability of conclusions from financial analy-
sis, the next step in financial statement analysis.

Analysis Step 3: Financial Analysis

Thegoa of financia analysisisto usefinancial datato evaluate the current and past per-
formance of afirm and to assessits sustainability. There are two important skills related
to financia analysis. First, the analysis should be systematic and efficient. Second, the
analysis should allow the analyst to use financial datato explore business issues. Ratio
analysis and cash flow analysis are the two most commonly used financia tools. Ratio
analysis focuses on evaluating a firm's product market performance and financia poli-
cies; cash flow analysis focuses on afirm’sliquidity and financia flexibility.

Analysis Step 4: Prospective Analysis

Prospective analysis, which focuses on forecasting a firm's future, is the fina step in
business analysis. Two commonly used techniques in prospective analysis are financia
statement forecasting and valuation. Both these tools allow the synthesis of the insights
from business analysis, accounting analysis, and financial analysisin order to make pre-
dictions about a firm's future.
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While the value of afirmisafunction of its future cash flow performance, it isalso
possible to assess afirm’'s value based on the firm's current book value of equity, and its
future return on equity (ROE) and growth. Strategy analysis, accounting analysis, and
financia analysis, the first three steps in the framework discussed here, provide an ex-
cellent foundation for estimating a firm's intrinsic value. Strategy analysis, in addition
to enabling sound accounting and financial analysis, also helps in assessing potential
changes in a firm's competitive advantage and their implications for the firm’s future
ROE and growth. Accounting analysis provides an unbiased estimate of afirm’'s current
book value and ROE. Financial analysisallows you to gain an in-depth understanding of
what drives the firm's current ROE.

The predictions from a sound business analysis are useful to a variety of parties and
can be applied in various contexts. The exact nature of the analysis will depend on the
context. The contextsthat we will examineinclude securitiesanalysis, credit evaluation,
mergers and acquisitions, evaluation of debt and dividend policies, and assessing corpo-
rate communication strategies. The four analytical steps described above are useful in
each of these contexts. Appropriate use of these tools, however, requires a familiarity
with the economic theories and ingtitutional factors relevant to the context.

SUMMARY

Financial statements provide the most widely available dataon public corporations’ eco-
nomic activities; investors and other stakeholders rely on them to assess the plans and
performance of firms and corporate managers. Accrua accounting data in financial
statements are noisy, and unsophisticated investors can assess firms' performance only
imprecisely. Financial analysts who understand managers' disclosure strategies have an
opportunity to create inside information from public data, and they play avauablerole
in enabling outside parties to evaluate a firm's current and prospective performance.
This chapter has outlined the framework for business analysis with financial state-
ments, using thefour key steps: business strategy analysis, accounting analysis, financial
analysis, and prospective analysis. The remaining chapters in this book describe these
stepsin greater detail and discuss how they can be used in avariety of business contexts.

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

1. John, who has just completed his first finance course, is unsure whether he should
take a course in business analysis and valuation using financial statements, since he
believes that financial analysis adds little value, given the efficiency of capital mar-
kets. Explain to John when financial analysis can add value, even if capital markets
are efficient.

2. Accounting statements rarely report financial performance without error. List three
types of errorsthat can arisein financial reporting.
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3. Joe Smith argues that “learning how to do business analysis and valuation using fi-
nancial statementsis not very useful, unless you are interested in becoming a finan-
cia analyst.” Comment.

4. Four steps for business analysis are discussed in the chapter (strategy analysis,
accounting analysis, financial analysis, and prospective analysis). As a financia
analyst, explain why each of these stepsis a critical part of your job, and how they
relate to one another.

NOTE

1. G. Akeralf, “The Market for ‘Lemons’: Quality Uncertainty and the Market Mechanism,”
Quarterly Journal of Economics (August 1970): 488-500.
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Korea Stock Exchange 1998

I n July 1998 Hong In-Kie, Chairman and CEO of the Korea Stock Ex-
change, was pondering on how best to attract a significant amount of long-term capital
into the Korean stock market. Mr. Hong, a graduate of Harvard Business School AMP
85, avid mountain climber, church leader, and accomplished tenor, was aware that there
were stiff challenges ahead. At the pinnacle of a successful career as a bureaucrat and as
ex-president of alarge conglomerate in one of the world’s most dynamic economies, he
had a unique birds-eye view of Korean society and the economy.

During the past 30 years, the Korean economy had grown at 8.6 percent annually. At
the end of 1996, South Korea became the eleventh largest economy in the world and a
member of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Devel opment (OECD). Used
to hosannas as aworldwide leader in areas as diverse as shipbuilding, construction, semi-
conductors, and automobiles, Korea found itself in the unenviable position of having
practically depleted its foreign exchange reserves by November of 1997, and having had
to seek assistance from the International Monetary Fund (IMF). As aresult of the eco-
nomic crisis, the Korea Composite Stock Price Index (KOSPI) closed at 376.31 by the
end of 1997, down 42.2 percent from the closing index of 651.22 in 1996 (see Exhibit 1
for selected economic data).

Mr. Hong described the current situation as follows: “It is like amovie unfolding ev-
ery day, and we are all watching and on stage at the same time. Events are occurring so
fast that the headlines in the evening version of the paper and the morning version of the
same paper are often substantially different.” Mr. Hong was convinced that finding away
to spur the development of the stock market was a crucia part of the change needed to
shepherd Korea out of its current economic predicament.

KOREAN ECONOMIC SYSTEM

Prior to the 1997 economic crisis, the Korean economy was viewed by many, both inside
and outside the country, as a dramatic success story. While there were many facetsto the
export-oriented economic strategy of Korea, two features stood out: a bank-centered fi-
nancial system that financed the rapid industrial growth, and the chaebol system that
created globally competitive enterprises.

Professors James Jinho Chang (The Wharton School), Tarun Khanna, and Krishna Palepu prepared this case as the
basis for class discussion rather than to illustrate either effective or ineffective handling of an administrative situa-
tion. Copyright © 1998 by the President and Fellows of Harvard College. Harvard Business School case 9-199-033.

Note: All references in this case to the country of Korea mean South Korea.
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Bank-Centered Financial System

Unlike the U.S. and the U.K. economies’ reliance on the stock market, the Korean econ-
omy relied heavily on the banking system for channeling savings to industrial invest-
ments. In this respect, Korea followed the example of Germany and Japan in the
development of its financial system. Many commentators, both in Korea and abroad, be-
lieved that the bank-centered financia system facilitated long-term investments, largely
dueto the close rel ationships between industrial enterprisesand financiers. Because stock
market investors typically had no long-term relationship with the firms that they invested
in, the U.S.-style stock market system was alleged to lead to “myopic management.”

Even though Korean banks operated in the private sector, the national government
had significant influence on the banking industry. Through ownership and the appoint-
ment of bank directors, the Korean government could influence banks’ lending decisions
to further its economic devel opment plans. For example, in the 1970s government poli-
cies favored the devel opment of heavy industries, such as construction, machinery, and
shipbuilding. The government encouraged companiesto expand businessin theseindus-
tries and provided favorable capital related to that expansion through banks.

Business Groups

The Korean economy was dominated by multibusiness organizations known as
chaebols. The largest chaebols, such as Samsung, Daewoo, Hyundai, LG, and the SK
Group, operated in awide variety of industries such as construction, shipbuilding, auto-
mobiles, consumer electronics, computing, telecommunication, and financia services.
The 30 largest chaebols accounted for 51.8 percent of thetotal industrial output of Korea
in 1996. The top four chaebols, Hyundai, Samsung, LG, and Daewoo, accounted for
31.2 percent of the total industrial output of Koreain 1996.

Historically, government policy favored the growth of chaebols. These policies
included granting industrial licenses, distributing foreign borrowings, and providing
favored access to bank financing.* The promotion of chagbols was seen by the Korean
government as away to create domestic industry that could compete in global markets.
Indeed, Korean chaebols played a very critical role in the export-led growth of the
Korean economy. By 1996 the top seven trading companies of chaebols accounted for
47.7 percent of Korea's total exports.2

The chaebol organizational structure conferred several advantagesin the early growth
stage of the Korean economy by enabling entrepreneurs to overcome the problem of un-
derdevel oped product, labor, and financial markets. At this stage, many of the institutions

1. In the early 1970s, the interest rate on foreign borrowing was 5-6 percent, whereas the interest rate on domestic
bank debt was 25-30 percent. The inferest rate for nonbank borrowing was higher than that from banks. The privi-
lege of using foreign borrowing and bank loans significantly contributed to the accumulation of the chaebols’
wealth.

2. The top seven trading companies are Hyundai, Samsung, LG, Daewoo, SK, Ssangyong, and Hyosung.
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that underpin the functioning of advanced marketswere either missing or underdevel oped
in Korea

In advanced markets, intermediary institutions and legal structures address potential
information and incentive problems. These institutions permit individual entrepreneurs
to raise capital, access management talent, and earn customer acceptance, and they
require al parties to play by the same rules. Entrepreneurs and investors can be sure of
the stable legal environment in advanced markets to protect property rights, giving en-
trepreneurs the confidence that they will reap the fruits of their entrepreneurial activity.
In this context found in advanced markets, it islesslikely that the entrepreneur will ben-
efit significantly by being associated with a large corporate entity. Hence, the costs of
business diversification are likely to exceed any potential benefits.

In an emerging market like Korea, in contrast, there were avariety of market failures,
caused by information and incentive problems. For example, the financial markets were
characterized by alack of adequate disclosure and weak corporate governance and con-
trol. Intermediaries such asfinancial analysts, mutual funds, investment bankers, venture
capitalists, and the financia press were either absent or not fully evolved. Finaly, secu-
rities regulations were generally weak, and their enforcement was uncertain. Similar
problems abounded in product markets and labor markets, once again because of the ab-
sence of intermediaries.

The absence of intermediary institutions made it costly for individual entrepreneurs
to acquire necessary inputslike finance, technol ogy, and management talent. Market and
legal imperfections also madeit costly to establish quality brand imagesin product mar-
kets, and to establish contractual relationshipswith joint venture partners. Asaresult, an
enterprise could often be more profitably pursued as part of alarge diversified business
group, a chaebol, which acted as an intermediary between individual entrepreneurs and
imperfect markets.

Affiliates of chaebols also enjoyed preferential access to financing from domestic
banks because of their strong connections with bankers and government officials. In ad-
dition, established companies in a chaebol often provided cross-guarantees on loans to
new affiliates, making it easier for new ventures to raise financing from domestic and
foreign lenders.

Korean chaebols such as Samsung and Daewoo were aso able to use their size and
scopeto invest in world-class brand names. These brand names enabled new companies
promoted by these leading chaebols, even in unrelated fields, to gain instant credibility
in export markets and with technology partners.

Chaebols were the preferred employers for students graduating from prestigious Ko-
rean universities. Because of their size and scope, chaebols could offer job security inan
economy with no safety nets. Further, chaebols such as Samsung and the SK Group
made extensive investment in the training and devel opment of their employees, in effect
creating their own “business schools.” Dueto their size, they could hire professors from
top business schools around the world to lead their in-house training programs. Because
Korea did not have many world-class business schools, the in-house “ business schools”
of chaebols were in a unique position to devel op management talent.
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Asaresult of the above advantages, chaebolswere uniquely positioned to launch new
ventures in the Korean economy. Chaebols relied extensively on domestic and foreign
debt to finance their rapid growth. Reliance on domestic debt arose as a result of the
bank-centered nature of the financial system. Further, with aview to keep the control of
Korean businesses in Korean hands, government policy restricted foreign direct invest-
ment in Korean chaebols. While foreign investors could invest through the stock market,
banks and other financial institutionswere amore significant channel through which for-
eign money was invested in Korean companies.®

One of the key characteristics of achaebol isfamily ownership and cross-holding. In
1995 the average family ownership in the top 30 chaebols was 10.6 percent and the av-
erage ownership through cross-hol ding equity ownership among member firmswas 32.8
percent. Cross-holdings increased the founder family’s control on large business
groups.* Traditionally, the voting rights of institutional investors, such as securitiesfirms
and insurance companies, were limited by the law and minority shareholders were not
active.> Asaresult, thefounder or founder’sfamily could effectively control the business
group with relatively small direct ownership, and family members took top management
positions.®

By 1996, prior to the economic crisis, the median debt-to-equity ratio of the top 30
Korean chaebols stood at 420 percent (see Exhibit 2). While each company in a chaebol
borrowed money independently, bankers often demanded and received cross-guarantees
from the other firms in the chaebol. Since Korean financial accounting rules did not
require the disclosure of these cross-guarantees, it was difficult for outsiders to assess
the true debt commitments of a given Korean company.

The“IMF Crisis’

The Korean economic crisisin 1997 was part of abroader Asian financial crisisthat first
started in Thailand, when the baht weakened as foreign investors lost confidence in the
Thai economy. Amid the Asian currency crisis, foreign financial institutions, concerned
about potential financial distress for Korean firms, started calling in their loans rapidly.
Foreign portfolio investors also began to sell their investments and repatriate the sales
proceeds for fear of the depreciation of the Korean won.”

3. The details of the institutional investor market in Korea can be found in “The growing financial market importance of
institutional investors: the case of Korea,” by Yu-Kyung Kim, OECD Proceedings: Institutional Investors in the New
Financial Landscape, 1998.

4. Suppose that a family owns 20 percent of Company A and manages it, and Company A has a controlling owner-
ship of Companies B and C, which in turn own 20 percent each of Company A. Through these cross-holdings, the
founder’s family can effectively own 60 percent of Company A, and control B and C as well.

5. Under these regulations, institutional investors were restricted to so called “shadow voting,” which essentially meant
that they voted with the management. After the recent crisis, this practice was abolished.

6. In 1995, among the fop 30 chaebols, only one, KIA Motors, had a CEO who was not related to the founder’s family.

7. 1997 Fact Book published by Korea Stock Exchange.
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The outflow of foreign portfolio investment funds continued for four consecutive
months, from August to November, bringing Korea close to depleting its foreign ex-
change reserves. On November 21 the Korean government requested the IMF's assis-
tance to avoid a potential default on its obligations. After frenzied negotiations, the IMF
agreed to provide Korea with U.S.$55 billion or more in a bailout package. Exhibit 3
shows the chronology of events surrounding the crisis; the rapid change in the value of
Korean won during 1997 and 1998 is shown in Exhibit 4.

The Search for Causes

Many observers, both inside and outside Korea, were stunned by the rapid change of in-
vestor sentiment. The darling of foreign investors and economists until then, Korea
found itself in the middle of an economic crisis that threatened to wipe out the fruits of
hard work of a whole generation. As a sense of gloom enveloped the country, a heated
debate focused on the search for the root causes of the crisis.

The nexus of the banking system and the chaebols, once viewed asthe meansto rapid
economic growth, came under increased attack. Influential policy makers, including
those at the IMF, believed that the chaebols, with their close connections to politicians
and government officials, could get loans without much resistance from banks. As are-
sult, the vaunted “relationship financing” model, meant to facilitate long-term invest-
ments, was now viewed more as facilitating “ crony capitalism.” A consensus began to
emerge that, with easy accessto financing, alack of supervision by banks, and the gov-
ernment’s emphasis on job creation, chaebolsfocused excessively on growth and expan-
sion and ignored profitability.

On December 19, 1997, in the middle of the serious economic crisis, Kim Dae-Jung
won the election as president of South Korea. Soon after entering office, President Kim
noted that big business groups, together with government officialsin power in the past,
must take responsibility for having brought the economy to near collapse. He pro-
claimed that it was the collusion between the government and business, the govern-
ment’s control of finance, and widespread corruption that had battered the economy.
Kim said, “Unless chaebols implement reform, they would face the recall of existing
debts or the suspension of fresh credit. Only profitable enterprises and exporting com-
panies will be regarded as ‘ patriotic’ firms eligible for government supports.” 8

The IMF Program

As a condition for IMF bailout loans, receiving countries must adhere to the economic
programs prescribed by the IMF. Michel Camdessus, IMF managing director, stated:
“The program comprises strengthened fiscal and monetary policies, far-reaching finan-
cial reformsand further liberalization of trade and capital flows, aswell asimprovement

8. Lee Chang-sup, “Kim rules out new currency crisis, Korea Times, September 28, 1998.
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in the structure and governance of Korean corporations.” The IMF's program for Korea
was heavily influenced by the conclusion that it was time for Korea to significantly
restructure its financial and industrial sectors (see Exhibit 5 for details of the IMF-sup-
ported program of economic reform).

Some Koreans were positive about the IMF program because they felt that it could
serve as an opportunity to sharpen Korea sinternational competitiveness, even though it
was to be carried out by the force of outsiders. There were, however, others who ex-
pressed concern that the rapid changes proposed under the program were not only unre-
alistic but could lead to significant layoffs and social instability. In fact, the common
reference to the economic crisis as the “IMF crisis’ reflected the ambivalence in the
Korean reaction to both the causes and the remedies being debated.

ECONOMIC RESTRUCTURING?®

To implement the IMF program and to restore international confidence in Korea, the
newly elected government of President Kim Dae-Jung began to pursue aggressively fi-
nancial sector reforms and a total restructuring of chaebols. To this end, the Financial
Supervisory Commission (FSC) was established on April 1, 1998, under the Prime Min-
ister’sjurisdiction to supervise al financial institutionsincluding banks, securitiesfirms,
and insurance companies. Therestructuring process of thefinancial industry and the cor-
porate sector was administrated by the FSC. The FSC pursued a strategy of sequential re-
structuring, beginning with banks and accelerating corporate sector restructuring
through bank reform.

Bank Restructuring

The FSC requested twelve banks that fell short of the 8 percent capital adequacy ratio
(as of December 1997) set by the Bank for International Settlement (BIS) to submit re-
habilitation plans. Bank appraisal committees and accounting firms assessed the size of
nonperforming loans through asset due diligence reviews and made full provision and
write-offs based on the actual size of nonperforming loans. Based on thisreview, the FSC
conditionally approved the bailout of seven banks and ordered the closure of five nonvi-
able banks. Conditionally approved banks were asked to submit implementation plans
which included changes in management, cost reductions, and recapitalization plans such
as mergers, joint ventures, or rights issues.

The five banks which were classified as nonviable were to be acquired by healthy
banks. To protect acquiring banks from spilled-over problem loans, several measures
were taken: only good assets would be sold with a six-month put option; government

9. This section is based on reports published by the Ministry of Finance and Economy (MOFE) and the Financial Super-
visory Commission (FSC) in Korea.
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would inject fresh capital to enhance the acquiring bank’s capital adequacy to pre-acqui-
sition level; the acquiring bank’s bad assets would be purchased by Korea Asset Man-
agement Corporation, funded by public resources; and deposit guarantees would be
honored until the completion of al restructuring in order to prevent any bank runs.

One example of bank restructuring was amerger between Commercial Bank of Korea
and the Hanil Bank. On July 31, 1998, following the guidelines of the FSC, the two banks
announced a one-to-one merger. The newly merged bank proposed that in order for it to
succeed, the following actions would be taken: (1) an accountable management system
through drastic management improvement; (2) early resolution of nonperforming loans
through injection from public resources; and (3) capital injection from international
investors.??

A key issue in the normalization of the Korean financial sector wasto develop aplan
to clear nonperforming loans. At the end of March 1998, the nonperforming loans of
financial ingtitutions were estimated to be about 120 trillion won, which is about 23.3
percent of Korean financial institutions’ entire credit portfolio. The Korean government
estimated that the total market value of the nonperforming loans would be equal to 50
percent of their book value. The realized losses borne by financial ingtitutions were
therefore estimated to be approximately 60 trillion won.

To finance these losses, the Korean government planned to raise 50 trillion won
through government bonds. From this amount, 41 trillion won would be used to pur-
chase nonperforming loans and to recapitalize the affected financia institutions; the re-
maining ninetrillion won would be reserved for the potential new demand for increased
deposit protection. The government expected financial institutions to issue new equity
worth twenty trillion won, which accounted for as much as one-third of total current cap-
italization in the Korean stock market.

Corporate Restructuring

In the short term, the Korean government’s focus with respect to corporate restructuring
was to shut down nonviable enterprises, and to improve the financial condition of the
rest. In the long term, the objective was to improve the management and governance of
the corporate sector in general, and of the chaebolsin particular. To achieve these objec-
tives, the FSC delineated five principles of corporate restructuring: (1) improving the fi-
nancial structure, (2) eliminating the practice of mutual guarantees of loans among
affiliated firms, (3) focusing on “core” business sectors, (4) increasing transparency, and
(5) improving corporate governance (e.g., increasing major shareholders’ and manage-
ment’s accountability).

In order to direct the restructuring process, the FSC classified all Korean companies
into three categories. Companies classified as “viable” would receive full support from

10. Joint press conference upon announcement of merger between the Commercial Bank of Korea and the Hanil
Bank.
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financial institutions; those that were classified as “ subject to exit” would be sold off or
shut down on atimely basis; and those that were classified as “ subject to restructuring”
would benefit from proactive support toward restructuring from financial institutions. In
June 1998, 55 corporations, which represented 17 percent of the total number of corpo-
rations subject to the assessment, were classified as nonviable and ordered to exit. Of
these 55 corporations, twenty were affiliated companies of the top five chagbols (Hyun-
dai, Samsung, LG, Daewoo, and SK), and 32 were affiliates of the top 6 to 64 business
groups.

One of the senior officialsat FSC stated: “ To reduce excessive reliance on debt financ-
ing, the government set a target for reducing Korean companies’ debt to equity (D/E)
ratio from the current level of approximately 500 percent to alevel of 200 percent by the
end of 1999. To meet this requirement, Korean companies had to raise more equity or
sell off some of their assets”

Korean chaehols were directed by the FSC to formulate restructuring plans with a
view to identifying core businesses on which they would focus, and to close down or di-
vest the rest. To improve transparency and governance of individual companies in a
chaebol, new guidelines curtailed the role of the central corporate office, and prohibited
cross-guarantees. The top five chaebols were cagjoled into the so-called “Big Deal”
swaps of business unitsin order to boost national competitiveness by cutting out some
domestic competition. To expedite the pace of corporate restructuring, government sub-
mitted the legidative articles, such as allowing tax benefits to restructuring, simplifying
the mergers and acquisitions process, and permitting corporate spin-offs/carve-outs, to
the coming session of the National Assembly.

Attracting Foreign Capital

Recogni zing the importance of foreign capital for the successful restructuring of Korean
banks and chaebols, President Kim Dae-Jung proclaimed his intention to make South
Korea a haven for foreign investors. Foreign investors were essential in severa ways.
First, since all major Korean companieswere looking to sell assetsand raise new capital,
the only viable buyers were foreigner investors. Second, foreign investors brought with
them world-class management and governance practices to Korea.

To attract foreign capital, the government proposed several new policies. Under the
new policy, foreign firms were allowed to freely establish mutual fundsin Korea. At the
sametime, restrictions on foreign investors were al so reduced. Earlier, foreign investors
needed the approval of the board of directors of acompany to buy more than ten percent
of its outstanding shares. On May 25, 1998, under the new rules, the ten percent limit
was completely abolished. The government also granted special privileges to domestic
companies that attracted foreign investment or sold their assetsto foreigners.

While these moves were somewhat effective in increasing foreign investors' interest
in Korea, several hurdlesremained. Dealsfor foreign direct investment could not be con-
summated because of widespread disagreement in valuation estimates of Korean sellers
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and foreign buyers. These valuation difficulties were exacerbated by the poor quality of
accounting information. Further, foreign buyers were uncertain about the ease with
which they could lay off employees. Despite the recent agreement between government,
industry, and labor unions to cooperate in the restructuring process, the possibility of
widespread lay-offs, especially by foreign owners, could be received with hostility.

The popular sentiment towards foreign direct investment was al so ambiguous. On the
one hand, the Korean government undertook a process of educating Koreansthat attract-
ing international investors was critical to economic rebuilding. On the other hand, there
was a popular feeling against foreign investment, partly dueto the 40-year Japaneserule
of the country that ended in 1945. As aresult, while many American franchises such as
McDonald'sand KFC have prospered in Korea, symbolic gestures against foreign invest-
ment abounded. When Microsoft attempted to buy a Korean word processing software
company in financia distress, there was a fund-raising campaign to save the company
and keep it in Korean hands. Even though the amount of foreign investment involved in
this deal was only about U.S.$20 million, it was symbolic.

Foreign investors were also wary of the risks involved in investing in Korean compa-
nies through the stock market. Even in advanced capital markets, investing in stocks in-
volvestaking additional risksrelativeto investment in bonds or bank deposits. Unlike debt
holders, shareholders are not promised a fixed payoff. Finally, when insiders have a con-
trolling stake, they can take actionsthat are potentially harmful to the minority sharehold-
ers. In advanced markets, these potential risks faced by public shareholders are mitigated
through a variety of mechanisms such as credible financia reporting, minority share-
holder protection laws, the threat of hostile takeovers, scrutiny by an aggressive anayst
community, and the supervision of management by an independent board of directors.

In Koreaas of early 1998, many of these institutional mechanisms that protect share-
holders and reduce their risks were either absent, underdeveloped, or poorly enforced.
Relativeto international standards, accounting rules and disclosure regulationswerelax;
there was a widespread belief that external auditors were either unwilling or unable to
exercise independence; it was rare for shareholders to sue corporate managers or audi-
tors successfully; boards were viewed as being too close to corporate managers; there
was no effective threat of a hostile takeover or aproxy fight to replace acompany’s man-
agement; and the financial analysts themselves often worked for brokerage houses
owned by large chaebols. The net result of these ingtitutional voids was a perception
among investors, both domestic and foreign, that investing in Korean stocks was very

risky.

DEVELOPING THE CAPITAL MARKETS

As Chairman and CEO of the Korea Stock Exchange, Hong In-Kie was committed to
leading the development of the Korean capital markets to a truly world-class level. He
believed that the long-term prosperity of Korea depended critically on the success of this
initiative.
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Traditionally, the stock market played arelatively small role in the Korean financial
system. The first significant boost to the Korean stock market came in 1976 when the
Securities and Exchange Law underwent extensive revision. The main objective of the
amendment was to ensure more effective supervision of the securitiesindustry and to re-
inforce investor protection.

Throughout the latter half of the 1970s, the Korean securities market experienced an
unprecedented rush of public offerings. The number of listed corporations, which stood
at only 66 in 1972, jumped to 356 by the end of 1978. At the end of 1997, the number
of listed companies was 776. During the period from 1972 to 1997, the traded value of
listed stocks jumped more than two thousandfold from 71 billion won to 162.3 trillion
won and the total market capitalization increased from 246 billion won to 71 trillion won
(see Exhibit 6 and Exhibit 7).

Even though the absolute amount of both the traded value of stocks and market cap-
italization has increased over time, the relative magnitude of market capitalization to
GDP declined in recent years. In 1994 and 1995, the market value to GDP ratio was
greater than 40 percent, but it declined to 30 percent in 1996 and to 17 percent in 1997
(see Exhihit 8). The significance of equity as a source of financing also decreased over
the last decade: The proportion of financing from the stock market relative to all sources
of external financing declined from 23 percent in 1989 to 7.87 percent in 1997 (see Ex-
hibit 9 and Exhibit 10).

The KOSPI composite index (100 as of January 4, 1980) rose from 532 on January 1,
1988, to 1007 on April 1, 1989. Many small investors were counting capital gainsin ex-
cess of 100 percent in alittle over a year. However, this 198889 upturn in the Korea
Stock Exchange was not sustainable. The composite index has since dived and climbed
like a roller coaster. On August 21, 1992, the composite index bottomed out at 460.
Many small investors became seriously disillusioned with the stock market in 1992,
blaming the government for their losses. Indeed, for political reasons the government
had repeatedly intervened to prop up share prices by infusing large inflows of cash from
various stabilization funds. Hardly anyone approached the market from along-term per-
spective of focusing on the fundamental financial soundness of the company, managerial
acumen, or on dividend performance.*t

Recent Developments

After Mr. Hong became the CEO of the stock exchange in 1993, he initiated several ef-
fortsto modernizeit. In 1996 the stock exchange moved to anew skyscraper with afully
computerized trading floor and a strict computerized surveillance system to monitor
trading activity. Under Mr. Hong'sleadership, the Korea Stock Exchangeintroduced de-
rivative products for the first time—KOSPI 200 stock index futures contracts in May
1996, and KOSPI 200 stock index option contracts in July 1997. While Mr. Hong was
proud of these innovations, and the investmentsin improving the physical infrastructure

11. James M. West, “Korea Stock Exchange,” Korea Herald, August 30, 1998.

21



22

A Framework for Business Analysis and Valuation Using Financial Statements

of the exchange, he was aware that the exchange would not become truly world-class
without significantly more support of institutional infrastructure. Mr. Hong noted with
sati sfaction some recent devel opments in this direction.

Recognizing the fact that lack of transparency was one of the weaknesses that con-
tributed to the current crisis, the Korean government proposed major changes in ac-
counting rules. New regulations required the 30 largest conglomerates to prepare
certified financial statements which would cover al the affiliated companies on a com-
bined basis beginning in the 1999 fiscal year. The objective of this requirement was to
improve the transparency of large conglomerates. There was also amove to make afun-
damental change in Korean Generally Accepted Accounting Principles by adopting the
more stringent International Accounting Standards.

Therewas a so achange in the process through which accounting standards were set.
Earlier, the Korea Securities and Exchange Commissions (K SEC) used to set accounting
standards. When a new accounting standard was proposed, the KSEC would form atem-
porary board to review that standard. Board membersincluded auditors, accounting pro-
fessors, and government officials. Starting in April 1998, the K SEC became a part of the
Financial Supervisory Board, and the FSC took over the supervision of accounting stan-
dard setting.

To improve shareholder rights, the Korean government took a number of steps. For
example, in April 1998, to improve minority shareholders' rights, the current require-
ment of 1 percent ownership to bring suits against management was eased to 0.05 per-
cent; the requirement of 1 percent ownership to request the dismissal of adirector or an
auditor for anillegal act was relaxed to 0.5 percent; the minimum share-ownership re-
quired to examine corporate books was reduced from 3 percent to 1 percent.

New regulations also attempted to ease restrictions that had previously made hostile
takeovers of Korean companies very difficult. Earlier, acompany or an individual could
not acquire more than 25 percent of the outstanding shares of another company unless
an open tender offer to purchase more than 50 percent of the outstanding shares was
made. However, in February 1998, this provision was abolished. Also, restrictionsonin-
stitutional investors' voting rights were eliminated.

Public shareholders were also becoming more vocal in demanding management ac-
countability. InMay 1998, for thefirst time, foreign shareholderswere beginning to have
avoicein the management of Korean companies. The New York-based hedge fund Tiger
Management, with the coalition of other foreign funds, staged a successful revolt at SK
Telecom, the country’s leading cellular phone operator. These outsider shareholders
forced the phone company to stop subsidizing its sister companiesin the SK Group. SK
Telecom, for instance, backed a $50 million loan to its sibling SK Securities, which re-
cently suffered heavy losses in derivatives trading. To guard against such maneuversin
the future, minority shareholders demanded—and got—three outside directors on the
board of SK Telecom and an independent auditor.*213

12. Louis Kraar, "Korea’s comeback ... Don’t expect a miracle,” Forbes, May 25, 1998, p.120.

13. Starting in 1999, all Korea Stock Exchange listed firms are required to have at least 25 percent of their board mem-
bers be outside directors.
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Management accountability was al so being championed by nongovernmental organi-
zations such as The People's Solidarity for Participatory Democracy (PSPD). The orga-
nization was founded in September, 1994, and headed by Professor Chang Ha-sung at
KoreaUniversity. In July 1998 PSPD successfully won alegal judgment against the man-
agement of the Korea First Bank for failure to exercise due diligence in itslending to a
failed company, Hanbo Steel. The court order required four former top managers of Ko-
rea First Bank to pay about U.S.$30 million with their persona wealth to the bank (not
to the plaintiffs) to make up for the losses caused by their negligence. The Korean press
hailed it asthefirst case where plaintiffs won in a suit against management based on the
failure to perform due diligence.

Future Challenges

Mr. Hong was convinced that alot of progress had been made in the past few months.
There was evidence that foreign investors were beginning to come back. Koreawas also
winning praise from the IMF for following closely its prescriptions. However, he was
also aware that much more needed to be done.

Although the new accounting regulations were aimed at improving the quality of in-
formation available to investors to monitor corporate managers, there was much skepti-
cism about the rules that had been mandated. The editor of a major Korean newspaper
commented, “It's fine for the government and the international investors to demand
transparency. However, it's important to realize that the different facets of Korean soci-
ety are closely tied together—the government, business, and the banks. The entire sys-
tem will have to be made transparent, not just a part of it

Mr. Hong also noted that without effective auditing, financial reports were unlikely
to beviewed by investors asreliable. One of the senior partners at aBig Five accounting
firminthe United States echoed this sentiment: “Foreign investors know that the quality
of auditsin Koreais suspect; they will not be satisfied unless the financial statements of
their Korean companies are signed by reputable international accounting firms.”

Therecent victory of minority shareholders represented the coming of major changes
in Korean financial markets. However, this development was viewed with mixed feel-
ings by several observers. Given the average Korean citizen's lack of sophistication
about financial markets, there was a concern that minority shareholder rights would be
pushed forward without adequate attention paid to minority shareholder responsibilities.
Would the prospect of shareholder lawsuits and second-guessing management decisions
by courts hamper the restructuring process?

There was also a debate in Korea and other emerging markets on the appropriate
speed of opening capital markets to foreign investors, given the experience of the past
few months. One of the major concerns was the instability of the stock market due to
speculative hot money. There was a concern that rapid outflow would significantly dam-
age not only the stock market but also the foreign exchangerrate. In order to prevent this,
many emerging countries imposed regulations on foreign investment and intervened in
their stock markets.
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Mr. Hong believed that full liberalization of the stock market was the fundamental so-
lution. He stated, “ Government regulations, as in the case of Maaysia, or government
interventions in the stock market, as in the case of Hong Kong, do not guarantee the
long-term development of a stock market. While in the rest of the world the acronym
PKO may stand for Peace Keeping Operation, the same term in Asian securities markets
isknown as Price Keeping Operation, a derogatory term for intervention by the govern-
ment. As the underlying philosophy of the government is based on democracy and a
market economy, stock market participants must not rely on government to implement
artificial market-boosting measures. In the short term, the stock market may have diffi-
culty in breaking out of the doldrums, but as the market finds itself free from any sort of
intervention, it will grow into amore independent, transparent, predictable, accountable,
and self-sustaining market. Korea is following closely the IMF prescription toward a
fully open market. The earlier we can get to the open market, the better.” However, he
wondered whether Korea had the institutional infrastructure necessary to support an
open stock market.

As he pondered over these issues, Mr. Hong knew that the stakes were high. A senior
editor of one of Korea's leading newspapers summed up the situation: “The newly
elected President asked for a year to resolve matters. It has been six months aready. If
things don’'t improve, Korean people may not remain patient much longer.” Due to the
efforts made by government and business, there was a sign of increase in the foreignin-
vestment in Korean stocks (see Exhibit 11). However, the level has not met Mr. Hong's
expectation. Mr. Hong wondered which of several possible directions the Korean stock
market should pursue to attract foreign investment.

QUESTIONS

1. What are the merits and demerits of a stock versus a bank system of financing?

2. To prevent another bad loan problem in the future, what changes should be made in
South Korean banks?

3. Isitagood ideafor South Koreato rely more on the stock market as a source of cor-
porate finance? Is it agood idea from the perspective of the chaebols?

4. How long do you think it will take South Korea to develop a vibrant stock market?
What are the impediments? Are the changes contempl ated adequate for the develop-
ment of avibrant stock market? What other steps would you recommend?
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EXHIBIT 1
Selected Economic Indicators for South Korea
1995 1996 1997 1998 (estimate)

Korea Composite Stock Price

Index (year-end) 882.94 651.22 376.31
Real GDP growth (percent change) 8.8 5.5 -0.4 -4.0to -5.5
Consumer prices (percent change) 7.4 4.8 7.7 10.0
Central government balance

(% of GDP) 3.0 2.4 -0.9 -2.4
External debt (billion US$) 82.6 90.5 91.8 89.7

Source: International Monetary Fund.
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EXHIBIT 2
Top 30 Chaebols,2 1996 Financial Data
Owners’ Return on

(amounts in billion won) Assets Equity Debt-to-Equity Equity
1 Hyundai 52,821 9,842 437% 5.69%
2 Samsung 50,705 13,809 267% 1.71%
3 LG 37,068 8,302 346% 5.64%
4 Daewoo 34,197 7,817 337% 5.90%
5 Sunkyung 22,743 4,703 384% 12.73%
6 Ssangyong 15,802 3,102 409% -1.90%
7 Hanjin 13,907 2,118 557% -10.49%
8 Kia 14,121 2,289 517% -4.70%
9 Hanwha 10,592 1,244 751% -11.01%
10 Lotte 7,753 2,654 192% 5.34%
11 Kumho 7,399 1,281 478% -0.58%
12 Halla 6,627 306 2066% 12.89%
13 Dong-Ah 6,289 1,383 355% 4.64%
14 Doosan 6,369 808 688% -23.33%
15  Daelim 5,849 1,118 423% 6.35%
16 Hansol 4,214 1,075 292% 1.10%
17  Hyosung 4,131 879 370% 7.16%
18  Dongkuk Steel 3,698 1,161 219% 4.75%
19 lJinro 3,826 99 3765% -169.06%
20  Kolon 3,840 919 318% 4.80%
21 Kohap 3,653 529 591% 7.34%
22  Dongbu 3,423 946 262% 3.00%
23  Tongyang 2,631 646 307% 0.05%
24 Haitai 3,398 448 658% 5.89%
25  New Core 2,796 211 1225% 15.99%
26  Anam 2,638 456 479% 10.22%
27  Hanil 2,599 384 577% -40.00%
28  Keopyung 2,296 513 348% -0.04%
29 Miwon 2,233 432 417% ~7.42%
30  Shinho 2,139 362 491% -2.93%

Mean 11,325 2,328 617% -5.01%

Median 5,032 1,011 420% 3.82%

a. Excluding financial and insurance industries

Source: Korea Fair Trade Commissions.



EXHIBIT 3
Chronologica H

August 20, 1997
October 8, 1997

November 21, 1997
December 4, 1997

December 11, 1997
December 12, 1997

December 31, 1997

April 1, 1998

April 9, 1998

May 25, 1998

June 10, 1998

June 18, 1998

June 29, 1998

July 24, 1998

July 31, 1998
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ighlights of the Korean Economic Crisis

The IMF approves a US$4 billion stand-by credit for Thailand, and releases a
disbursement of US$1.6 billion.

The IMF announces support for Indonesia’s intention to seek support from the IMF
and other multilateral institutions.

The IMF welcomes Korea's request for IMF assistance.

The IMF approves a US$21 billion stand-by credit for Korea, and releases a disburse-
ment of US$5.6 billion.

Korean government increases the foreigners’ stock ownership ceiling from 26% to
50% (which later changed to 100%).

Korean government allows foreigners to invest in short-term financial instruments in
domestic market.

The Korea Composite Stock Price Index closes the year at 376.31, down 42.2% from
the closing index of 651.22 in 1996. Total market capitalization is reduced to about
71 trillion won.

Financial Supervisory Commission (FSC) is established to supervise all financial insti-
tutions, including banks, securities firms, and insurance companies.

The Foreign Exchange Equalization Bonds of US$4 billion are issued successfully and
the Korean government shifts its focus from escaping the currency crisis to financial
and corporate sector restructuring.

The ceiling on foreigners’ stock investment is abolished, fully liberalizing the Korean
stock market to foreign investors.

President Kim Dae-Jung delivers address at the U.S. Chamber of Commerce in
Washington, D.C. He promises that Korea will become one of the best countries for
international investors to freely and safely do business. Foreign Investment Promotion
Act is designed to make Korea hospitable to foreign investors by providing financial
concessions and administrative support.

The Financial Supervisory Committee (FSC) classified 55 corporations as financially
nonviable and ordered them to liquidate.

Financial Supervisory Committee (FSC) orders 5 banks to shut down their operation
and merge with other banks. FSC requests 7 banks, classified as conditional
approval, to submit restructuring implementation plans.

Minority shareholders win, for the first time in history, against bank management for
their failure to exercise due diligence.

Two conditionally approved banks, the Commercial Bank of Korea and the Hanil
Bank, announce one-to-one merger.
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EXHIBIT 4
Bilateral U.S. Dollar—K orean Won Exchange Rate
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Source: Bank of Korea.



EXHIBIT 5
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IMF-Supported Program of Economic Reform for South Korea

Financial sector
restructuring

Transparency and
corporate sector
restructuring

Foreign investment

Labor market
reform

Trade policy

Comprehensive financial sector restructuring that introduced a clear and firm exit
policy for financial institutions, strong market and supervisory discipline, and inde-
pendence for the central bank.

Abolishment of regulations prohibiting a foreigner from becoming a director of a
commercial bank.

Requirement that all merchant banks meet their capital adequacy ratios.

Efforts to dismantle the nontransparent and inefficient ties among the government,
banks, and businesses, including measures to upgrade accounting, auditing, and
disclosure standards. Requirement that corporate financial statements be published
every half year, on a consolidated basis, and certified by external auditors accord-
ing to the international accounting standards.

Submission of legislation fully liberalizing hostile takeovers of Korean corporations
by domestic companies and foreigners.

Amendment of the Bankruptcy Law to accelerate the corporate bankruptcy
procedure.

Phase-out of the system of cross-guarantees within conglomerates.

Full liberalization measures to open up the Korean money, bond, and equity mar-
kets to capital inflows, and to liberalize foreign direct investment.

Permission for foreign banks’ securities companies to establish subsidiaries in
Korea.

Amendment of layoff-related laws which facilitate the redeployment of labor.
Increase in the government’s financial support for the unemployed.

Expansion in the number of companies whose employees are eligible for unem-
ployment insurance, and raising the minimum unemployment subsidy.

Trade liberalization measures, including setting a timetable in line with WTO com-
mitments to eliminate trade-related subsidies and the import diversification pro-
gram, as well as streamlining and improving transparency of import certification
procedures.

Source: Adapted from reports published by Financial Supervisory Commissions.
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EXHIBIT 6
Ten-year history of Korea Composite Stock Price Index (KOSPI)
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Source: Fact Book published by Korea Stock Exchange.

EXHIBIT 7
Stock Trading Value
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EXHIBIT 8
Market Vaue to GDP Ratios
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Source: Fact Book published by Korea Stock Exchange.

EXHIBIT 9
Financing of Korean Corporations (in billion won)
Through Financial Institutions Through Capital Markets
Bank Non-Bank CP Stock Bonds Foreign®  OthersP Total

1989 5,698 7,963 5,131 8,310 4,932 -185 4,292 36,140
1990 7,995 11,477 1,902 5,987 10,931 3,247 6,517 48,056
1991 11,487 12,686 -2,211 5,555 14,065 2,501 8,002 52,085
1992 8,313 11,599 4,183 7177 6,616 2,527 9,737 50,152
1993 8,440 11,718 9,017 8,619 9,218 -1,298 9,857 55,571
1994 18,367 20,981 4,405 13,198 13,568 4,037 10,423 84,978
1995 14,991 16,884 16,096 14,445 14,958 5,568 11,656 94,597
1996 18,571 18,424 20,691 13,342 20,265 12,063 13,542 116,899
1997 15,116 28,399 4,773 8,974 27,422 7,162 22,127 113,973

a. Foreign implies funds borrowed from overseas capital markets.
b. Others include letters of credit, loans from government, reserve for retirement allowances, efc.

Source: Bank of Korea.
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EXHIBIT 10
Financing of Korean Corporations (in percent)

Through Through

Financial Bond/CP Through

Institutions Markets Stock Markets Foreign Others Total
1989 37.80% 27.84% 22.99% -0.51% 11.87% 100.00%
1990 40.52% 26.70% 12.46% 6.76% 13.56% 100.00%
1991 46.41% 22.76% 10.66% 4.80% 15.36% 100.00%
1992 39.70% 21.53% 14.31% 5.04% 19.42% 100.00%
1993 36.27% 32.81% 15.51% -2.34% 17.74% 100.00%
1994 46.30% 21.15% 15.53% 4.75% 12.27% 100.00%
1995 33.69% 32.83% 15.27% 5.89% 12.32% 100.00%
1996 31.65% 35.04% 11.41% 10.32% 11.58% 100.00%
1997 38.18% 28.25% 7.87% 6.28% 19.41% 100.00%

Source: Bank of Korea.

EXHIBIT 11
Foreign Investment in Korean Stock
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Strategy Analysis

Srategy analysis is an important starting point for the analysis of fi-
nancial statements. Strategy analysis alows the analyst to probe the economics of the
firm at a qualitative level so that the subsequent accounting and financial analysis is
grounded in business reality. Strategy analysis also allows the identification of thefirm’s
profit drivers and key risks. This, in turn, enables the analyst to assess the sustainability
of the firm's current performance and make realistic forecasts of future performance.

A firm'svalue is determined by its ability to earn areturn on its capital in excess of
the cost of capital. What determines whether or not a firm is able to accomplish this
goa? While afirm’s cost of capital is determined by the capital markets, its profit po-
tential is determined by its own strategic choices: (1) the choice of an industry or a set
of industries in which the firm operates (industry choice), (2) the manner in which the
firm intendsto compete with other firmsin its chosen industry or industries (competitive
positioning), and (3) the way in which the firm expects to create and exploit synergies
across the range of businessesin which it operates (corporate strategy). Strategy analy-
sis, therefore, involves industry analysis, competitive strategy analysis, and corporate
strategy analysis.! In this chapter, we will briefly discuss these three steps and use the
personal computer industry and Amazon.com, respectively, to illustrate the application
of the steps.

INDUSTRY ANALY SIS

In analyzing a firm’s profit potential, an analyst has to first assess the profit potential of
each of the industries in which the firm is competing, because the profitability of various
industries differs systematically and predictably over time. For example, theratio of earn-
ings before interest and taxes to the book value of assets for al U.S. companies between
1981 and 1997 was 8.8 percent. However, the average returns varied widely across specific
industries: for the bakery productsindustry, the profitability ratio was 43 percentage points
greater than the population average, and 23 percentage points less than the population
average for the silver ore mining industry.? What causes these profitability differences?
Thereisavast body of researchinindustrial organization on theinfluence of industry
structure on profitability.® Relying on this research, strategy literature suggests that the
average profitability of an industry is influenced by the “five forces” shown in Figure
2-1.* According to thisframework, theintensity of competition determines the potential
for creating abnormal profits by the firms in an industry. Whether or not the potential
profits are kept by the industry is determined by the relative bargaining power of the
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Figure 2-1 Industry Structure and Profitability
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firms in the industry and their customers and suppliers. We will discuss each of these

industry profit driversin more detail below.

DEGREE OF ACTUAL AND POTENTIAL COMPETITION

At the most basic level, the profits in an industry are a function of the maximum price
that customers are willing to pay for the industry’s product or service. One of the key
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determinants of the price isthe degree to which there is competition among suppliers of
the same or similar products. At one extreme, if thereis a state of perfect competitionin
the industry, micro-economic theory predicts that prices will be equal to marginal cost,
and there will be few opportunities to earn supernormal profits. At the other extreme, if
theindustry isdominated by asingle firm, there will be potential to earn monopoly prof-
its. In reality, the degree of competition in most industries is somewhere in between per-
fect competition and monopoly.

There are three potential sources of competition in an industry: (1) rivalry between
existing firms, (2) threat of entry of new firms, and (3) threat of substitute products or
services. We will discuss each of these competitive forces in the following paragraphs.

Competitive Force 1: Rivalry Among Existing Firms

In most industries, the average level of profitability is primarily influenced by the nature
of rivalry among existing firms in the industry. In some industries, firms compete ag-
gressively, pushing prices close to (and sometimes bel ow) the marginal cost. In other in-
dustries, firms do not compete aggressively on price. Instead, they find ways to
coordinate their pricing, or compete on nonprice dimensions, such as innovation or
brand image. Several factors determine the intensity of competition between existing
playersin an industry:

INDUSTRY GROWTH RATE. If anindustry isgrowing very rapidly, incumbent firms
need not grab market share from each other to grow. In contrast, in stagnant industries,
the only way existing firms can grow is by taking share away from the other players. In
this situation, one can expect price wars among firms in the industry.

CONCENTRATION AND BALANCE OF COMPETITORS. The number of firms in
anindustry and their relative sizes determine the degree of concentration in an industry.®
The degree of concentration influences the extent to which firms in an industry can co-
ordinate their pricing and other competitive moves. For example, if there is one domi-
nant firm in an industry (such as IBM in the mainframe computer industry in the 1970s),
it can set and enforce the rules of competition. Similarly, if there are only two or three
equal-sized players (such as Coke and Pepsi in the U.S. soft-drink industry), they can
implicitly cooperate with each other to avoid destructive price competition. If an indus-
try is fragmented, price competition is likely to be severe.

DEGREE OF DIFFERENTIATION AND SWITCHING COSTS. The extent to which
firmsin an industry can avoid head-on competition depends on the extent to which they
can differentiate their products and services. If the productsin an industry are very simi-
lar, customers are ready to switch from one competitor to another purely on the basis of
price. Switching costs also determine customers' propensity to move from one product
to another. When switching costs are low, there is a greater incentive for firmsin an in-
dustry to engage in price competition.
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SCALE/LEARNING ECONOMIES AND THE RATIO OF FIXED TO VARIABLE
COSTS. If thereisasteep learning curve or there are other types of scale economiesin
an industry, size becomes an important factor for firmsin theindustry. In such situations,
there are incentives to engage in aggressive competition for market share. Similarly, if
theratio of fixed to variable costsis high, firms have an incentive to reduce prices to uti-
lize installed capacity. The airline industry, where price wars are quite common, is an
example of thistype of situation.

EXCESS CAPACITY AND EXIT BARRIERS. If capacity in anindustry islarger than
customer demand, there is a strong incentive for firms to cut prices to fill capacity. The
problem of excess capacity islikely to be exacerbated if there are significant barriersfor
firms to exit the industry. Exit barriers are high when the assets are specialized, or if
there are regulations which make exit costly.

Competitive Force 2: Threat of New Entrants

The potential for earning abnormal profits will attract new entrants to an industry. The
very threat of new firms entering an industry potentially constrains the pricing of exist-
ing firms within it. Therefore, the ease with which new firms can enter an industry is a
key determinant of its profitability. Several factors determinethe height of barriersto en-
try in an industry:

ECONOMIES OF SCALE. When there are large economies of scale, new entrants face
the choice of having either to invest in alarge capacity which might not be utilized right
away, or to enter with less than the optimum capacity. Either way, new entrants will at
least initially suffer from a cost disadvantage in competing with existing firms. Econo-
mies of scale might arise from large investments in research and development (the phar-
maceutical or jet engine industries), in brand advertising (soft-drink industry), or in
physical plant and equipment (telecommunications industry).

FIRST MOVER ADVANTAGE. Early entrants in an industry may deter future en-
trantsif there are first mover advantages. For example, first movers might be able to set
industry standards, or enter into exclusive arrangements with suppliers of cheap raw ma-
terials. They may also acquire scarce government licenses to operate in regulated indus-
tries. Finally, if there are learning economies, early firms will have an absolute cost
advantage over new entrants. First mover advantages are aso likely to be large when
there are significant switching costs for customers once they start using existing prod-
ucts. For example, switching costs faced by the users of Microsoft’'s DOS operating sys-
tem make it difficult for software companies to market a new operating system.

ACCESS TO CHANNELS OF DISTRIBUTION AND RELATIONSHIPS. Limited ca
pacity in the existing distribution channels and high costs of developing new channels
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can act as powerful barriers to entry. For example, a new entrant into the domestic auto
industry in the U.S. islikely to face formidable barriers because of the difficulty of de-
veloping adealer network. Similarly, new consumer goods manufacturersfind it difficult
to obtain supermarket shelf space for their products. Existing relationships between
firms and customersin an industry also make it difficult for new firmsto enter an indus-
try. Industry examples of this include auditing, investment banking, and advertising.

LEGAL BARRIERS. Therearemany industriesinwhich legal barriers, such as patents
and copyrights in research-intensive industries, limit entry. Similarly, licensing regula-
tionslimit entry into taxi services, medical services, broadcasting, and telecommunica
tionsindustries.

Competitive Force 3: Threat of Substitute Products

The third dimension of competition in an industry is the threat of substitute products or
services. Relevant substitutes are not necessarily those that have the same form as the
existing products, but those that perform the same function. For example, airlines and
car rental services might be substitutes for each other when it comesto travel over short
distances. Similarly, plastic bottlesand metal cans substitute for each other as packaging
inthe beverage industry. In some cases, threat of substitution comes not from customers’
switching to another product but from utilizing technologies that allow them to do with-
out, or use less of, the existing products. For example, energy-conserving technologies
allow customers to reduce their consumption of electricity and fossil fuels.

The threat of substitutes depends on the relative price and performance of the com-
peting products or services, and on customers’ willingness to substitute. Customers’
perception of whether two products are substitutes depends to some extent on whether
they perform the same function for asimilar price. If two products perform an identical
function, then it would be difficult for them to differ from each other in price. However,
customers’ willingness to switch is often the critical factor in making this competitive
dynamic work. For example, even when tap water and bottled water serve the same
function, many customers may be unwilling to substitute the former for the latter, en-
abling bottlersto charge a price premium. Similarly, designer label clothing commands
a price premium even if it is not superior in terms of basic functionality, because cus-
tomers place a value on the image offered by designer labels.

RELATIVE BARGAINING POWER
IN INPUT AND OUTPUT MARKETS
Whilethe degree of competition in an industry determineswhether or not thereis poten-

tial to earn abnormal profits, the actual profits are influenced by the industry’s bargain-
ing power with its suppliers and customers. On the input side, firms enter into
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transactions with suppliers of labor, raw materials and components, and finances. On the
output side, firms either sell directly to the final customers, or enter into contracts with
intermediaries in the distribution chain. In al these transactions, the relative economic
power of the two sides is important to the overall profitability of the industry firms.

Competitive Force 4. Bargaining Power of Buyers

Two factors determine the power of buyers. price sensitivity and relative bargaining
power. Price sensitivity determines the extent to which buyers care to bargain on price;
relative bargaining power determines the extent to which they will succeed in forcing the
price down.®

PRICE SENSITIVITY. Buyers are more price sensitive when the product is undiffer-
entiated and there are few switching costs. The sensitivity of buyers to price also de-
pends on the importance of the product to their own cost structure. When the product
represents a large fraction of the buyers' cost (for example, the packaging material for
soft-drink producers), the buyer is likely to expend the resources necessary to shop for
alower cost aternative. In contrast, if the product isasmall fraction of the buyers' cost
(for example, windshield wipers for automobile manufacturers), it may not pay to
expend resources to search for lower-cost aternatives. Further, the importance of the
product to the buyers' product quality also determines whether or not price becomesthe
most important determinant of the buying decision.

RELATIVE BARGAINING POWER. Even if buyers are price sensitive, they may not
be able to achieve low prices unlessthey have a strong bargaining position. Relative bar-
gaining power in atransaction depends, ultimately, on the cost to each party of not doing
businesswith the other party. The buyers' bargaining power is determined by the number
of buyers relative to the number of suppliers, volume of purchases by a single buyer,
number of aternative products available to the buyer, buyers' costs of switching from
one product to another, and the threat of backward integration by the buyers. For exam-
ple, inthe automobileindustry, car manufacturers have considerable power over compo-
nent manufacturers because auto companies are large buyers, with several aternative
suppliers to choose from, and switching costs are relatively low. In contrast, in the per-
sonal computer industry, computer makers have low bargaining power relative to the
operating system software producers because of high switching costs.

Competitive Force 5: Bargaining Power of Suppliers

The analysis of the relative power of suppliersis amirror image of the analysis of the
buyer’s power in an industry. Suppliers are powerful when there are only afew compa-
nies and there are few substitutes available to their customers. For example, in the soft-
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drink industry, Coke and Pepsi are very powerful relative to the bottlers. In contrast,
metal can suppliers to the soft drink industry are not very powerful because of intense
competition among can producers and the threat of substitution of cans by plastic bot-
tles. Suppliers also have alot of power over buyers when the suppliers' product or ser-
vice is critical to buyers' business. For example, airline pilots have a strong bargaining
power in the airline industry. Suppliers also tend to be powerful when they pose a cred-
ible threat of forward integration. For example, IBM is powerful relative to mainframe
computer leasing companies because of IBM’s unique position as a mainframe supplier,
and its own presence in the computer leasing business.

APPLYING INDUSTRY ANALYSIS:
THE PERSONAL COMPUTER INDUSTRY

Let us consider the above concepts of industry analysis in the context of the personal
computer (PC) industry.” The industry began in 1981 when IBM announced its PC with
Intel’s microprocessor and Microsoft’s DOS operating system. In 1997 the U.S. had an
installed base of 100 million personal computers. The shipmentsin 1997 alone totaled
30 million units, up 21 percent from 1996. Despite this spectacular growth, however, the
industry in 1998 was characterized by low profitability. Even the largest companiesin
the industry, such as IBM, Compag, Dell, and Apple, reported poor performance in the
early 1990s and were forced to undergo internal restructuring. What accounted for this
low profitability? What was the computer industry’s future profit potential ?

COMPETITION IN THE PERSONAL COMPUTER INDUSTRY. The competition was
very intense for a number of reasons:

« The industry was fragmented, with many firms producing virtually identical prod-
ucts. Even though the computer market became more concentrated in the 1990s,
with the top five vendors controlling close to 60 percent of the market, competition
was intense, leading to routine price cuts on a monthly basis.

« Component costs accounted for more than 60 percent of total hardware costs of a
personal computer, and volume purchases of components reduced these costs.
Therefore, there was intense competition for market share among competing man-
ufacturers.

 Products produced by different firms in the industry were virtually identical, and
there were few opportunities to differentiate the products. While brand name and
service were dimensions that customers valued in the early years of the industry,
they became less important as PC buyers became more informed about the
technology.

« Switching costs across different brands of personal computers were relatively low
because a vast mgjority of the personal computers used Intel microprocessors and
Microsoft Windows operating systems.
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« Access to distribution was not a significant barrier, as demonstrated by Dell Com-
puters, which distributed its computers by direct mail through the 1980s and intro-
duced Internet-based sales in the mid-1990s. The advent of computer superstores
like CompUSA &l so mitigated this constraint, since these storeswere willing to car-
ry several brands.

« Since virtually all the components needed to produce a personal computer were
availablefor purchase, therewerevery few barriersto entering theindustry. Infact,
Michael Dell started Dell Computer Company in the early 1980s by assembling
PCsin his University of Texas dormitory room.

» Apple's Macintosh computers offered competition as a substitute product. Work-
stations produced by Sun and other vendors were also potential substitutes at the
higher end of the personal computer market.

THE POWER OF SUPPLIERS AND BUYERS. Suppliers and buyers had significant
power over firmsin the industry for these reasons:

» Key hardware and software componentsfor personal computers were controlled by
firmswith virtual monopoly. Intel dominated the microprocessor production for the
personal computer industry, and Microsoft controlled the operating system market
with its DOS and Windows operating systems.

* Buyers gained more power during the ten years from 1983 to 1993. Corporate buy-
ers, who represented a significant portion of the customer base, were highly price
sensitive since the expenditure on PCs represented a significant cost to their oper-
ations. Further, as they became knowledgeable about personal computer technol-
ogy, customers were less influenced by brand name in their purchase decision.
Buyersincreasingly viewed PCs as commodities, and used price as the most impor-
tant consideration in their buying decision.

As aresult of the intense rivalry and low barriers to entry in the personal computer
industry, there was severe price competition among different manufacturers. Further,
there was tremendous pressure on firms to spend large sums of money to introduce new
products rapidly, maintain high quality, and provide excellent customer support. Both
thesefactorsled to alow profit potential in theindustry. The power of suppliersand buy-
ers reduced the profit potential further. Thus, while the personal computer industry rep-
resented a technologically dynamic industry, its profit potential was poor.

There were few indications of change in the basic structure of the personal computer
industry, and there was little likelihood of viable competition emerging to challenge the
domination of Microsoft and Intel in theinput markets. Attempts by industry leaderslike
IBM to create alternative proprietary technologies have not succeeded. As a result, the
profitability of the PC industry may not improve significantly any timein the near future.

LIMITATIONS OF INDUSTRY ANALYSIS. A potential limitation of the industry
analysis framework discussed in this chapter isthe assumption that industries have clear
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boundaries. In redlity, it is often not easy to clearly demarcate industry boundaries. For
example, in analyzing Dell’sindustry, should one focus on the IBM-compatibl e personal
computer industry or the personal computer industry as a whole? Should one include
workstations in the industry definition? Should one consider only the domestic manu-
facturers of persona computers, or also manufacturers abroad? Inappropriate industry
definition will result in incomplete analysis and inaccurate forecasts.

COMPETITIVE STRATEGY ANALYSIS

The profitability of afirm isinfluenced not only by itsindustry structure but also by the
strategic choicesit makesin positioning itself in theindustry. While there are many ways
to characterize a firm's business strategy, as Figure 2-2 shows, there are two generic
competitive strategies: (1) cost leadership and (2) differentiation.? Both these strategies
can potentially allow afirm to build a sustainable competitive advantage.

Figure 2-2 Strategies for Creating Competitive Advantage

Cost Leadership Differentiation
Supply same product or service Supply a unique product or ser-
at a lower cost. vice at a cost lower than the

Economies of scale and scope price premium customers will

Efficient production pay-

Simpler product designs Superior product quality

Lower input costs Superior product variety

Low-cost distribution Superior customer service

Little research and development or More flexible delivery
brand advertising Investment in brand image

Tight cost control system Investment in research and

development
Control system focus on creativity
and innovation

\ /

Competitive Advantage

* Match between firm’s core competencies and key success
factors to execute strategy

* Match between firm’s value chain and activities required
to execute strategy

 Sustainability of competitive advantage
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Strategy researchers have traditionally viewed cost leadership and differentiation as
mutually exclusive strategies. Firmsthat straddle the two strategies are considered to be
“stuck inthemiddle’ and are expected to earn low profitability.? These firms run therisk
of not being able to attract price conscious customers because their costs are too high;
they are also unable to provide adequate differentiation to attract premium price cus-
tomers.1°

SOURCES OF COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE

Cost leadership enables afirm to supply the same product or service offered by its com-
petitors at alower cost. Differentiation strategy involves providing a product or service
that is distinct in some important respect valued by the customer. For example, in retail-
ing, Nordstrom has succeeded on the basis of differentiation by emphasizing exception-
ally high customer service. In contrast, Filene's Basement Stores is a discount retailer
competing purely on alow-cost basis.

Competitive Strategy 1. Cost Leadership

Cost leadership is often the clearest way to achieve competitive advantage. In industries
wherethe basic product or serviceisacommodity, cost leadership might bethe only way
to achieve superior performance. There are many ways to achieve cost leadership, in-
cluding economies of scale and scope, economies of learning, efficient production, sim-
pler product design, lower input costs, and efficient organizational processes. If afirm
can achieve cost leadership, then it will be able to earn above-average profitability by
merely charging the same price asitsrivals. Conversely, a cost leader can force its com-
petitors to cut prices and accept lower returns, or to exit the industry.

Firms that achieve cost leadership focus on tight cost controls. They make invest-
ments in efficient scale plants, focus on product designs that reduce manufacturing
costs, minimize overhead costs, make little investment in risky research and develop-
ment, and avoid serving marginal customers. They have organizational structures and
control systems that focus on cost contral.

Competitive Strategy 2: Differentiation

A firm following the differentiation strategy seeks to be unique in its industry along
some dimension that is highly valued by customers. For differentiation to be successful,
the firm has to accomplish three things. First, it needs to identify one or more attributes
of aproduct or service that customers value. Second, it hasto position itself to meet the
chosen customer need in aunique manner. Finally, the firm hasto achieve differentiation
at acost that is lower than the price the customer iswilling to pay for the differentiated
product or service.
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Drivers of differentiation include providing superior intrinsic value via product qual-
ity, product variety, bundled services, or delivery timing. Differentiation can also be
achieved by investing in signals of value, such as brand image, product appearance, or
reputation. Differentiated strategies require investments in research and devel opment,
engineering skills, and marketing capabilities. The organizational structures and control
systemsin firms with differentiation strategies need to foster creativity and innovation.

While successful firms choose between cost |eadership and differentiation, they can-
not completely ignore the dimension on which they are not primarily competing. Firms
that target differentiation still need to focus on costs, so that the differentiation can be
achieved at an acceptable cost. Similarly, cost leaders cannot compete unless they
achieve at least aminimum level on key dimensions on which competitors might differ-
entiate, such as quality and service.

ACHIEVING AND SUSTAINING COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE

The choice of competitive strategy does not automatically lead to the achievement of
competitive advantage. To achieve competitive advantage, the firm hasto have the capa-
bilities needed to implement and sustain the chosen strategy. Both cost |eadership and
differentiation strategy require that the firm make the necessary commitmentsto acquire
the core competencies needed, and structure its value chain in an appropriate way. Core
competencies are the economic assets that the firm possesses, whereas the value chain
isthe set of activities that the firm performs to convert inputs into outputs. The unique-
ness of afirm’'s core competencies and its value chain and the extent to which it is diffi-
cult for competitorsto imitate them determines the sustainability of afirm’'s competitive
advantage.'*

To evaluate whether or not afirm islikely to achieve itsintended competitive advan-
tage, the analyst should ask the following questions:

* What are the key success factors and risks associated with the firm’'s chosen com-
petitive strategy?

« Doesthefirm currently have the resources and capabilitiesto deal with the key suc-
cess factors and risks?

« Has the firm made irreversible commitments to bridge the gap between its current
capabilities and the requirements to achieve its competitive advantage?

» Has the firm structured its activities (such as research and development, design,
manufacturing, marketing and distribution, and support activities) in away that is
consistent with its competitive strategy?

« |s the company’s competitive advantage sustainable? Are there any barriers that
make imitation of the firm’s strategy difficult?

 Arethere any potential changesin the firm’s industry structure (such as new tech-
nologies, foreign competition, changes in regulation, changes in customer require-
ments) that might dissipate the firm's competitive advantage? Is the company
flexible enough to address these changes?
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APPLYING COMPETITIVE STRATEGY ANALYSIS

L et us consider the concepts of competitive strategy analysisin the context of Dell Com-
puter Corporation. In 1998 Round Rock, Texas-based Dell Computer was the fourth
largest computer maker, behind 1BM, Hewlett-Packard, and Compag. The company,
founded by Michael Dell in his University of Texas dorm room, started selling “I1BM
clone” personal computersin 1984. From the beginning, Dell sold its machines directly
to end users, rather than through retail outlets, at asignificantly lower price than its com-
petitors.

After rapid growth and some management hiccups, Dell firmly established itself in
the personal computer industry by following alow cost strategy. By 1998 Dell achieved
$18 billion in revenues and $1.5 billion in net income. Dell’s growth rates over the pre-
vious three years were extraordinary: 51 percent growth in revenues, and 78 percent
growth in net income. Dell’s stellar performance made it one of the most profitable per-
sonal computer makersin ahighly competitive industry. How did Dell achieve such per-
formance?

Dell’s superior performance was based on a low-cost competitive strategy that con-
sisted of the following key elements:

* Direct selling. Dell sold most of its computersdirectly to its customers, thus saving
on retail markups. As computer users become sophisticated, and as computers be-
come standardized on the Windows-Intel platform, the value of distribution
through retailers declines. Dell was the first company to capitalize on thistrend. In
1996 Dell began selling computers through its Internet web site. By 1999 the com-
pany was generating several million dollars of sales per day through the Internet.
Made-to-order manufacturing. Dell developed a system of flexible manufacturing
that allowed the company to assemble and ship computers very quickly, usually
within five days of receiving an order. Thisallowed the company to avoid large in-
ventories of parts and assembled computers. Low inventories allowed Dell to save
working capital costs; it also reduced costly write-offs of obsolete inventories, a
significant risk in the fast-changing computer industry.

Third-party service. Dell used two low-cost approachesto after-sales service: tele-
phone-based service and third-party maintenance service. Dell had several hundred
technical support representatives accessible to the customers by phone any time of
the day. Using a comprehensive electronic maintenance system, the service repre-
sentatives could diagnose and hel p the customer to resolve prablemsin the vast ma-
jority of cases. In the rare case where on-site maintenance was required, Dell used
third-party maintenance contracts with office equipment companies such as Xerox.
Through this service strategy, Dell was ableto avoid investing in an expensivefield
service network without compromising on service quality.

Low accounts receivable. Dell was ableto reduceits accounts receivable daysto an
industry minimum by encouraging its customersto pay by credit card at the time of
the purchase, or through electronic payment immediately after the purchase.
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« Focused investment in R& D. Déll recognized that most of the basic innovationsin
the personal computer industry were led by the component suppliers and software
producers. For example, Intel and Microsoft, two key suppliers, invested billions of
dollarsin devel oping new generation processors and software, respectively. Dell’s
innovations were primarily in creating a low-cost, high-velocity organization that
can respond quickly to these changes. By focusing its R&D innovations, Dell was
able to minimize these costs and get high return on its investments.

As aresult of the above strategy, Dell achieved a significant cost advantage over its
competitors in the personal computer industry. This advantage resulted in a consistent
pattern of rapid growth, increasing market share, and very high profitability in anindus-
try that is characterized by rapid technological changes, significant supplier and buyer
power, and intense competition. Further, because the strategy involved activitiesthat are
highly interrelated and involved continuous organizational innovations, Dell’s business
model was difficult to replicate, making Dell’s competitive advantage sustainable. In
fact, Dell’s success inspired several of its competitors, including Compag and IBM, to
attempt to replicate parts of its strategy. However, no competitor to date has been ableto
replicate Dell’s business model. The extraordinarily high earnings and book value mul-
tiplesat which Dell’s stock has been trading in recent yearsis evidence that investorsare
betting that Dell’s competitive advantage and its superior profit performanceislikely to
be sustained for the foreseeable future.

CORPORATE STRATEGY ANALYSIS

So far in this chapter, we have focused on the strategies at the individual business level.
While some companies focus on only one business, many companies operate in multiple
businesses. For example, the average number of business segments operated by the top
500 U.S. companies in 1992 is eleven industries.’? In recent years, there has been an
attempt by U.S. companiesto reduce the diversity of their operations and focus on arel-
atively few “core” businesses. However, multibusiness organizations continue to domi-
nate the economic activity in most countries in the world.

When analyzing a multibusiness organization, an analyst hasto not only evaluate the
industries and strategies of the individual business units but also the economic conse-
guences—either positive or negative—of managing all the different businesses under
one corporate umbrella. For example, General Electric has been very successful in cre-
ating significant value by managing a highly diversified set of businesses ranging from
aircraft enginesto light bulbs, but Sears has not been very successful in managing retail-
ing together with financial services.

Sources of Value Creation at the Corporate Level

Economists and strategy researchers have identified several factors that influence an or-
ganization's ability to create value through a broad corporate scope. Economic theory
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suggeststhat the optimal activity scope of afirm depends on the relative transaction cost
of performing a set of activities inside the firm versus using the market mechanism.?
Transaction cost economics implies that the multiproduct firm is an efficient choice of
organi zational form when coordination among independent, focused firmsis costly due
to market transaction costs.

Transaction costs can arise out of several sources. They may arise if the production
process involves specialized assets, such as human capital skills, proprietary technol ogy,
or other organizational know-how that is not easily available in the marketplace. Trans-
action costs also may arise from market imperfections such asinformation and incentive
problems. If buyers and sellers cannot solve these problems through standard mecha-
nisms such as enforceable contracts, it will be costly to conduct transactions through
market mechanisms.

For example, as discussed in Chapter 1, public capital markets may not work well
when there are significant information and incentive problems, making it difficult for en-
trepreneursto raise capital from investors. Similarly, if buyers cannot ascertain the qual-
ity of products being sold because of lack of information, or cannot enforce warranties
because of poor legal infrastructure, entrepreneurswill find it difficult to break into new
markets. Finally, if employers cannot assess the quality of applicants for new positions,
they will have to rely more on internal promotions, rather than external recruiting, to fill
higher positions in an organization. Emerging economies often suffer from these types
of transaction costs because of poorly developed intermediation infrastructure.** Even
in many advanced economies, examples of high transaction costs can be found. For ex-
ample, in many countries other than the U.S,, the venture capital industry is not highly
developed, making it costly for new businesses in high technology industries to attract
financing. Even in the U.S,, transaction costs may vary across economic sectors. For
example, until recently electronic commerce was hampered by consumer concerns
regarding the security of credit card information sent over the Internet.

Transactions inside an organization may be less costly than market-based transac-
tions for several reasons. First, communication costs inside an organization are reduced
because confidentiality can be protected and credibility can be assured through internal
mechanisms. Second, the headquarters office can play acritical rolein reducing costs of
enforcing agreements between organizational subunits. Third, organizational subunits
can share valuable nontradable assets (such as organizational skills, systems, and
processes) or nondivisible assets (such as brand names, distribution channels, and
reputation).

There are also forces that increase transaction costs inside organizations. Top man-
agement of an organization may lack the specialized information and skills necessary to
manage businesses across severa different industries. Thislack of expertise reducesthe
possibility of realizing economies of scope in reality, even when there is potential for
such economies. This problem can be remedied by creating adecentralized organization,
hiring specialist managers to run each business unit, and providing them with proper in-
centives. However, decentralization will also potentially decrease goal congruence
among subunit managers, making it difficult to realize economies of scope.
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Whether or not a multibusiness organization creates more value than a comparable
collection of focused firms is, therefore, context dependent.*> Analysts should ask the
following questions to assess whether or not an organization’s corporate strategy hasthe
potential to create value:

« Arethere significant imperfectionsin the product, labor, or financial marketsin the
industries (or countries) in which acompany is operating? Is it likely that transac-
tion costsin these markets are higher than the costs of similar activitiesinside awell
managed organization?

« Does the organization have special resources such as brand names, proprietary
know-how, access to scarce distribution channels, and specia organizational pro-
cesses that have the potential to create economies of scope?

« Isthere a good fit between the company’s specialized resources and the portfolio
of businesses in which the company is operating?

« Does the company allocate decision rights between the headquarters office and the
business units optimally to realize al the potential economies of scope?

« Does the company have internal measurement, information, and incentive systems
to reduce agency costs and increase coordination across business units?

Empirical evidence suggests that creating value through a multibusiness corporate
strategy is hard in practice. Severa researchers have documented that diversified U.S.
companies trade at a discount in the stock market relative to a comparable portfolio of
focused companies.’® Studies also show that acquisitions of one company by another,
especialy when the two are in unrelated businesses, often fail to create value for the
acquiring companies.r’ Finally, thereis considerable evidence that valueis created when
multibusi ness compani es increase corporate focus through divisional spinoffs and asset
sales.'8

There are several potential explanations for the above diversification discount. First,
managers decisions to diversify and expand are frequently driven by a desire to maxi-
mize the size of their organization rather than to maximize shareholder value. Second,
diversified companies suffer from agency problems leading to suboptimal investment
decisionsand poor operating performance. Third, capital marketsfind it difficult to mon-
itor and value multibusiness organizations because of inadequate disclosure about the
performance of individual business segments.

In summary, while companies can theoretically create value through innovative cor-
porate strategies, there are many waysin which thispotential failsto get realized in prac-
tice. Therefore, it paysto be skeptical when evaluating companies’ corporate strategies.

Applying Corporate Strategy Analysis

Let us apply the concepts of corporate strategy analysis to Amazon.com, a pioneer in
electronic commerce. Amazon started operations as an online bookseller in 1995 and
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went public in 1997 with amarket capitalization of $561 million dollars. The company
grew rapidly and began to pose a serious threat to the dominance of leading traditional
booksellers like Barnes & Noble. Investors rewarded Amazon by increasing its market
capitalization to aremarkable $36 billion dollars by April 1999.

Flush with his successin online book-selling, Jeff Bezos, the founder and chief exec-
utive officer of Amazon, moved the company into many other areas of electronic com-
merce. Amazon claimed that its brand, itsloyal customer base, and its ability to execute
electronic commerce were val uabl e assets that can be exploited in anumber of other on-
line business areas. Beginning in 1998, through a series of acquisitions, Amazon ex-
panded into online selling of CDs, videos, gifts, pharmaceutical drugs, pet supplies, and
groceries. In April 1999, Amazon announced plans to diversify into the online auction
business by acquiring LiveBid.com. Bezos explained, “We are not a book company.
We're not amusic company. We're not avideo company. We're not an auctions company.
We're a customer company.”*°

Amazon’s rapid expansion attracted controversy among the investment community.
Some analysts argued that Amazon could create val ue through its broad corporate focus
because of the following reasons:

» Amazon has established avaluable brand name on the Internet. Given that electron-
ic commerceis arelatively new phenomenon, customers are likely to rely on well
known brands to reduce the risk of a bad shopping experience. Amazon's expan-
sion strategy is sensible because it exploits this valuable resource.

» Amazon has been able to acquire critical expertise in flawless execution of elec-
tronic retailing. Thisis a general competency that can be exploited in many areas
of electronic retailing.

» Amazon has been able to create atremendous amount of loyalty among its custom-
ers through superior marketing and execution. As a result, a very high proportion
of Amazon’s sales comes from repeat purchases by its customers. Amazon's strat-
egy exploits this valuable customer base.

There were also some skeptics who believed that Amazon was expanding too rapidly,
and that its diversification beyond book retailing was likely to fail. These skeptics ques-
tioned the value of Amazon’s brand name. They argued that traditional retailers, such as
Barnes & Noble, Wal-Mart, and CV'S, who are boosting their online efforts, also have
valuable brand names, execution capabilities, and customer loyalty. Therefore, these
companies are likely to offer formidable competition to Amazon’s individual business
lines. Amazon's critics al so pointed out that expanding rapidly into so many different ar-
easislikely to confuse customers, dilute Amazon’'s brand value, and increase the chance
of poor execution. Commenting on the fact that Amazon is losing money in al of its
businesseswhileit isexpanding rapidly, Barron’s businessweekly stated, “Increasingly,
Amazon’s strategy islooking like the dim-bulb businessman who loses money on every
sale but triesto make it up by making more sales.”%°
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Investor concerns about Amazon’s corporate strategy began to affect its share price,
which dropped from a high of $221 dollarsin April 1999 to $118 dollars by the end of
May 1999. Still, at atotal market capitalization of about $19 billion dollars, many inves-
tors are betting that Amazon's corporate strategy is likely to yield rich dividends in the
future.

SUMMARY

Strategy analysis is an important starting point for the analysis of financial statements
because it allows the analyst to probe the economics of the firm at a qualitative level.
Strategy analysis also allows the identification of the firm’s profit drivers and key risks,
enabling the analyst to assess the sustainability of the firm’s performance and make re-
alistic forecasts of future performance.

Whether or not afirmisableto earn areturn on its capital in excess of its cost of cap-
ital is determined by its own strategic choices. (1) the choice of an industry or a set of
industriesin which the firm operates (industry choice), (2) the manner in which thefirm
intends to compete with other firmsin its chosen industry or industries (competitive po-
sitioning), and (3) the way in which the firm expects to create and exploit synergies
acrossthe range of businessesin which it operates (corporate strategy). Strategy analysis
involves analyzing all three choices.

Industry analysis consists of identifying the economic factors which drive the indus-
try profitability. In general, an industry’s average profit potential isinfluenced by the de-
gree of rivalry among existing competitors, the ease with which new firms can enter the
industry, the availability of substitute products, the power of buyers, and the power of
suppliers. To perform industry analysis, the analyst has to assess the current strength of
each of these forcesin an industry and make forecasts of any likely future changes.

Competitive strategy analysisinvolvesidentifying the basis on which the firm intends
to competeinitsindustry. In general, there are two potential strategiesthat could provide
afirm with acompetitive advantage: cost |eadership and differentiation. Cost |leadership
involves offering the same product or service that other firms offer at alower cost. Dif-
ferentiation involves satisfying a chosen dimension of customer need better than the
competition, at anincremental cost that islessthan the price premium that customersare
willing to pay. To perform strategy analysis, the analyst has to identify the firm's in-
tended strategy, assess whether or not the firm possesses the competencies required to
execute the strategy, and recognize the key risks that the firm has to guard against. The
analyst also has to evaluate the sustainability of the firm's strategy.

Corporate strategy analysis involves examining whether a company is able to create
value by being in multiple businesses at the sametime. A well-crafted corporate strategy
reduces costs or increases revenues from running several businessesin onefirm relative
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to operating the same businesses independently and transacting with each other in the
marketplace. These cost savings or revenue increases come from specialized resources
that the firm has to exploit synergies across these businesses. For these resources to be
valuable, they must be nontradabl e, not easily imitated by competition, and nondivisible.
Even when a firm has such resources, it can create value through a multibusiness orga-
nization only when it is managed so that the information and agency costs inside the or-
ganization are smaller than the market transaction costs.

Theinsights gained from strategy analysis can be useful in performing the remainder
of the financial statement analysis. In accounting analysis, the analyst can examine
whether afirm’s accounting policies and estimates are consistent with its stated strategy.
For example, a firm's choice of functional currency in accounting for its international
operations should be consistent with the level of integration between domestic and in-
ternational operations that the business strategy calls for. Similarly, a firm that mainly
sells housing to low-income customers should have higher bad debts expenses.

Strategy analysisisalso useful in guiding financial analysis. For example, in across-
sectional analysis the analyst should expect firms with cost leadership strategy to have
lower gross margins and higher asset turnover than firmsthat follow differentiated strat-
egies. In atime series analysis, the analyst should closely monitor any increasesin ex-
pense ratios and asset turnover ratios for low-cost firms, and any decreases in
investments critical to differentiation for firmsthat follow differentiation strategy.

Business strategy analysis also helps in prospective analysis and valuation. First, it
allows the analyst to assess whether, and for how long, differences between the firm's
performance and its industry (or industries) performance are likely to persist. Second,
strategy analysis facilitates forecasting investment outlays the firm has to make to main-
tain its competitive advantage.

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

1. Judith, an accounting major, states, “ Strategy analysis seems to be an unnecessary
detour in doing financia statement analysis. Why can’'t we just get straight to the
accounting issues?’ Explain to Judith why she might be wrong?

2. What are the critical drivers of industry profitability?

3. One of the fastest growing industries in the last twenty years is the memory chip
industry, which supplies memory chipsfor personal computers and other electronic
devices. Y et the average profitability for thisindustry has been very low. Using the
industry analysis framework, list all the potential factors that might explain this ap-
parent contradiction.
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. Rate the pharmaceutical and lumber industries as high, medium, or low on the fol-
lowing dimensions of industry structure;
Pharmaceutical Lumber
Industry Industry

Rivalry

Threat of new entrants

Threat of substitute products
Bargaining power of buyers
Bargaining power of suppliers

Given your ratings, which industry would you expect to earn the highest returns?

. Joe Smith argues, “ Y our analysis of the five forces that affect industry profitability

is incomplete. For example, in the banking industry, | can think of at least three
other factors that are also important; namely, government regulation, demographic
trends, and cultural factors.” His classmate Jane Brown disagrees and says, “ These
three factors are important only to the extent that they influence one of the five
forces.” Explain how, if at al, the three factors discussed by Joe affect the five
forcesin the banking industry.

. Coca-Colaand Pepsi are both very profitable soft drinks. Inputs for these products

include sugar, bottles/cans, and soft drink syrup. Coca-Cola and Pepsi produce the
syrup themselves and purchase the other inputs. They then enter into exclusive con-
tracts with independent bottlers to produce their products. Use the five forces
framework and your knowledge of the soft drink industry to explain how Coca-Cola
and Pepsi are able to retain most of the profitsin thisindustry.

. Inthe early 1980s, United, Delta, and American Airlines each started frequent flier

programs as away to differentiate themselves in response to excess capacity in the
industry. Many industry analysts, however, believe that this move had only mixed
success. Use the competitive advantage concepts to explain why.

. What are the ways that afirm can useto create barriersto entry to deter competition

in its business? What factors determine whether these barriers are likely to be
enduring?

. Explain why you agree or disagree with each of the following statements:

a. It'sbetter to be adifferentiator than acost leader, since you can then charge pre-
mium prices.

b. It'smore profitable to be in ahigh technology than alow technology industry.

c. The reason why industries with large investments have high barriers to entry is
becauseit is costly to raise capital.

There are very few companies that are able to be both cost leaders and differentia-

tors. Why? Can you think of a company that has been successful at both?

Many consultants are advising diversified companiesin emerging markets, such as

India, Korea, Mexico, and Turkey, to adopt corporate strategies proven to be of val-
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ue in advanced economies, like the U.S. and the U.K. What are the pros and cons
of this advice?

NOTES

1. Thediscussion presented hereisintended to provide abasic background in strategy analysis.
For amore complete discussion of the strategy concepts, see, for example, Contemporary Strategy
Analysisby Robert M. Grant (Cambridge, MA: Blackwell Publishers, 1991); Economics of Strat-
egy by David Besanko, David Dranove, and Mark Shanley (New York: John Wiley & Sons,
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Collis and Cynthia Montgomery (Burr Ridge, IL: Irwin/McGraw-Hill, 1997).

2. These data are taken from “Do Competitors Perform Better When They Pursue Different
Strategies?’ by Anita M. McGahan (Boston: Harvard Business School, working paper, May 12,
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mance, second edition, by F. M. Scherer (Chicago: Rand McNally College Publishing Co., 1980).

4. See Competitive Strategy by Michael E. Porter (New Y ork: The Free Press, 1980).
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customers interchangeably.
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this chapter isdrawn from “Dell Computer Corporation” by Das Narayandas and V. Kasturi Ran-
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have successfully demonstrated that thereis no necessary trade-off between quality and cost. Sim-
ilarly, inrecent years severa highly successful retailerslike Wal-Mart and Home Depot have been
able to combine high quality, high service, and low prices. These examples suggest that combin-
ing low cost and differentiation strategiesis possible when afirmintroduces asignificant technical
or business innovation. However, such cost advantage and differentiation will be sustainable only
if there are significant barriers to imitation by competitors.

11. See Competing for the Future by Gary Hammel and C. K. Prahalad (Boston: Harvard Busi-
ness School Press, 1994) for a more detailed discussion of the concept of core competencies and
their critical role in corporate strategy.
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13. The following works are seminal to the transaction cost economics. “The Nature of the
Firm” by Ronald Coase, Economica 4, 1937: 386-405; “Markets and Hierarchies: Analysis and
Antitrust Implications’ by Oliver Williamson (New York: The Free Press, 1975); “Toward an
Economic Theory of the Multi-product Firm” by David Teece, Journal of Economic Behavior and
Organization 3, 1982: 39-63.

14. For a more complete discussion of these issues, see “Building Institutional Infrastructure
in Emerging Markets’ by Krishna Palepu and Tarun Khanna, Brown Journal of World Affairs,
Winter/Spring 1998, and “Why Focused Strategies May Be Wrong for Emerging Markets,” by
Tarun Khanna and Krishna Palepu, Harvard Business Review, July/August, 1997.

15. For an empirical study which illustrates this point, see “Is Group Affiliation Profitable in
Emerging Markets? An Analysis of Diversified Indian Business Groups,” by Tarun Khanna and
Krishna Palepu, Journal of Finance, forthcoming.

16. See “Tobin's g, diversification, and firm performance” by Larry Lang and Rene Stulz,
Journal of Palitical Economy 102: 1248-1280, and “ Diversification’s Effect on Firm Value’ by
Phillip Berger and Eli Ofek, Journal of Financial Economics 37: 39-65.
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Palepu, and Richard Ruback, Soan Management Review, 1996.
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Katherine Schipper and Abbie Smith, Journal of Financial Economics12: 437-467; “ Asset Sales,
Firm Performance, and the Agency Costs of Manageria Discretion” by L. Lang, A. Poulsen, and
R. Stulz, Journal of Financial Economics 37: 3-37.

19. “eBay vs. Amazon.com,” Business Week, May 31, 1999.

20. “Amazon.Bomb” by Jacqueline Doherty, Barron's, May 31, 1999.

53



54

America Online, Inc.

\Mn it comesto technology companies, the stock market’s current
mania, it's hard to top America Online, Inc. Technology stocks are hot, up about
50 percent on average this year, but AOL is positively scalding, up about 135 per-
cent. Infact, AOL’ s stock has soared more than 2,000 percent fromitsinitial public
offering, in 1992. The Vienna-based company has 35 times the customers and 20
times the revenue it had five years ago. It's the nation’s biggest on-line company
and is building a recognized brand.

But look closely and you see that AOL is as much about accounting technology
asit isabout computer technology. So make sure you under stand the numbers be-
fore rushing out to buy AOL, which is valued at about $4 billion.

The above report written by Allan Sloan appeared on October 24, 1995, in News-
week’s business section.*

COMPANY BACKGROUND

Founded in Vienna, VA, America Online, Inc. (AOL) was aleader in the devel opment of
anew mass medium that encompassed online services, the Internet, multimedia, and oth-
er interactive technologies. Through its America Online service the company offered
members a broad range of features including real-time talk, electronic mail, electronic
magazines and newspapers, online classes and shopping, and Internet access. |n addition
to its online service, AOL's business had expanded during 1995 to include access soft-
warefor the Internet, production and distribution of original content, interactive market-
ing and transactions capabilities, and networks to support the transmission of data.
AOL generated revenues principally from consumers through membership fees, as
well as from content providers and merchandisers through advertising, commissions on
merchandise sales and other transactions, and from other businesses through the sale of
network and production services. Through continued investment in the growth of its ex-
isting online service, the pursuit of related business opportunities, its ability to provide

This case was prepared by Professors Krishna Palepu and Amy Hutton as the basis for class discussion rather than fo
illustrate either effective or ineffective handling of an administrative situation. Copyright © 1997 by the President and
Fellows of Harvard College. Harvard Business School case 9-196-13.

1. “Look Beyond the High-Tech Accounting To Measure America Online’s Market Risk,” Allan Sloan, Newsweek, Ocfo-
ber 24, 1995.
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afull range of interactive services, and its technological flexibility, the company posi-
tioned itself to lead the development of the evolving mass medium for interactive
services.

Stephen Case and James Kimsey founded America Online's predecessor, Quantum
Computer Services, in 1985. Quantum offered its Q-Link service for Commodore com-
puters. In 1989, the service was extended to Apple computers. The company changed its
nameto AmericaOnlinein 1991 and went publicin 1992. That sameyear, AOL licensed
its on-line technology to Apple for use in eéWorld and NewtonMail services for which
AOL continues to receive a usage-based royalty. In 1993, the company expanded its
market with aWindows version of its software and began developing aversion for palm-
top computer. In 1994, AOL’s subscription base surpassed those of CompuServe and
Prodigy, two rival online service providers, making AOL the number one consumer on-
line servicein the United States. By the end of October 1995, AOL had a subscriber base
of more than four million members.

AOL’s Products

The broad range of features offered by the America Online service was designed to meet
the varied needs of its four million members. A key feature of the online service was the
ease with which members with related interests could communicate through real-time
conferences, e-mail, and bulletin boards. Members used the interactive communications
facilitiesto share information and ideas, exchange advice, and socialize. It wasAmerica
Online'sgoal to continue devel oping and adding new sources of information and content
in support of these member activities. The range of features offered by America Online
included the following:

¢ Online Community. In addition to its e-mail service, AOL promoted real-time on-
line communications by scheduling conferences and discussions on specific topics,
offering interactive areas that served as “meeting rooms” for members to partici-
pateinlively interactive discussions with other members, and providing public bul-
letin boards on which members could share information and opinions on subjects
of general or specialized interest.

Computing. AOL provided its members access to tens of thousands of public do-
main and “shareware” software programs, to online help from 300 hardware and
software developers, and to online computer shopping and online computer maga-
zines such as MacWorld, PC World, and Computer Life.

Education and References. AOL’s online educational services alowed adults and
childrento learn without leaving their homes. AOL contracted with professional in-
structors to teach real-time interactive classesin subjects of both general academic
interest and adult education (such as creative writing and gourmet cooking). Regu-
lar tutoring sessions were offered in English, biology, and math. Education and
reference services included the Library of Congress, College Board, CNN, Smith-
sonian, Consumer Reports, and Compton’s Encyclopedia.
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» News and Personal Finance. AOL offered a broad range of information services,
including domestic and international news, weather, sports, stock market prices,
and personalized portfolio tracking. Members could search news wires for stories
of interest, access mutual fund information through Fidelity Online and Morning-
star, and execute brokered trades online through PC Financial Network. Subscribers
had access to over 70 newspapers, periodicals, and wire services, including The
New York Times, Chicago Tribune, San Jose Mercury News, Time, Scientific Amer-
ican, Investors Business Daily, and Reuters.

Travel and Shopping. AOL members also had access to travel and shopping refer-
ence materials and transaction services. Subscribers could send customized greet-
ing cards through Hallmark Corporation, send flowers through 1-800-Flowers,
shop for CDs and tapes online at Tower Records, book vacation packages with Pre-
view Vacations, and access account data and travel information and services with
American ExpressNet. Additionally, AOL had introduced its own interactive shop-
ping service, 2Market, which featured goods and services from numerous catalogs
and retailers.

Entertainment and Children’s Programming. AOL provided various clubs and fo-
rums for games and sports, multi-player games, and other related content for both
adultsand children. Specialized content was provided by such organizationsas Mu-
sicSpace, the Games Channel, Disney Adventures, Comedy Clubs, Nintendo Pow-
er Source, Kids Only, Hollywood Online, Warner-Reprise Records, American
Association for Retired Persons, MTV, Cooking Club, Environment Club, and
Baby Boomers' Forum.

Customer Acquisition and Retention

AOL’sbiggest expenditure was the cost of attracting new subscribers. AOL aggressively
marketed its online service using both independent marketing efforts, such asdirect mail
packetswith AOL software disksand television and print advertising featuring atoll-free
telephone number for ordering the AOL software, as well as co-marketing efforts with
computer magazine publishersand personal computer hardware and software producers.
These companies bundled the AOL software with their computer products, facilitating
easy tria use by their customers. With the AOL software in hand, the customer needed
only a personal computer, a telephone line, and a computer modem to gain access to
AOL’s online service. Accompanying each program disk was a unique registration num-
ber and password that could be used to generate a new AOL account. Customers could
activate their accounts by providing AOL with their credit card account number. Thefirst
ten hours of access by this new account were free, after which AOL automatically billed
the customer’s credit card account the standard monthly rate until the customer canceled
the AOL account.

These types of promotionswere expensive, costing more than $40 per new subscriber
in 1994. Thus, to retain these new subscribers and increase customer loyalty and satis-
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faction, AOL invested in specialized retention programs including regularly scheduled
online events and conferences, online promotions of upcoming events and new features,
and the regular addition of new content, services, and software programs. AOL’s goal
was to maximize customer subscription life.

Critical to customer retention and usage rates was the content available on AOL. To
build and create unique content America Online participated in numerous joint ventures.
During 1995 its aliances grew to include American Express, ABC, Reuters, Shoppers
Express, Business Week, Fidelity, Vanguard, and the National Education Association.
Alsoimportant to AOL werethe newest stars of cyberspace, specia-interest sites created
by entrepreneurs such as Tom and David Gardner, who created Motley Fool and Folly-
wood, two of the most popular sites offered on America Online. These hot special-inter-
est sites kept customers on line, running up metered time and revenues. Traditionally,
AOL had kept 80 percent or more of the revenues generated by these sites and had de-
manded exclusive contracts with the entrepreneurs creating them. However, content pro-
viders now had the option of setting up sites on the Internet World Wide Web. While they
could not yet collect fees from Web browsers, this new distribution channel was chang-
ing the balance of power between AOL and its content providers.?

Compared to its competitors, AOL's rate structure was the easiest for consumers to
understand and anticipate. A monthly fee of $9.95 provided accessto al of AmericaOn-
line's services for up to five hours each month. Each additional hour was $2.95 and no
additional downloading fees were charged. CompuServe and Prodigy offered the same
standard pricing but charged additional fees for premium services and downloading.
Microsoft Network (MSN), the newest entrant into the online services industry, offered
astandard monthly plan of up to three hoursfor $4.95, with each additional hour costing
$2.50. Content providers on MSN aso applied charges to customers based on usage
rates. The additional fees charged by AOL’s competitors made it more difficult for their
customers to anticipate their monthly spending.

Strategy for Future Growth

Through atapestry of alliances and subsidiariesAOL’s goal wasto establish acentral and
defining leadership position in the worldwide market for interactive services. Toward
this end, AOL had signed new strategic partnerships with American Express, Business
Week Online, and NTN Communications; shipped the 2Market CD-ROM shopping ser-
vice with an online connection; and completed its acquisitions of Internet software de-
velopers BookLink Technologies, Inc., NaviSoft, Inc., and Internet backbone devel oper
Advanced Network & Services (ANS). These deals, along with AOL'’s growing member-
ship base, its enhanced look and feel, and its ability to program content to appeal to users,
uniquely positioned America Online to lead the development of the new interactive ser-
vicesindustry. In implementing its strategy, AOL pursued a number of initiatives:

2. “On-Line Stars Hear Siren Calls to Free Agency,” Steven Lohr, New York Times, November 25, 1995.
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* Invest in Growth of Existing Service. America Online planned to continue to invest
in the rapid growth of its existing online service. AOL believed it could attract and
retain new members by expanding the range of content and servicesit offers, con-
tinuing to improve the engaging multimedia context of its service and building a
sense of community online. At the same time, by offering access to alarge, grow-
ing, and demographically attractive audience, together with software tools and ser-
vices to develop content and programming for that audience, AOL believed it
would continue to appeal to content and service providers.

Exploit New Business Opportunities. AOL intended to leverage its technology,
management skills, and content packaging skills to identify and exploit new busi-
ness opportunities, such as electronic commerce, entry into international markets,
and the “consumerization” of the Internet with its highly graphical interface soft-
ware and its World Wide Web browser, which used high-speed compression tech-
nology to improve access speed and graphic display performance.

Provide a Full Range of Interactive Services. Through acquisitions and internal de-
velopment, AOL had assembled content devel opment, distribution capabilities, ac-
cess software, and its own communications network to become a full service,
vertically integrated provider of interactive services. As aresult, AOL believed it
was well positioned to influence the evolution of the interactive services market.
Maintain Technological Flexibility. AOL recognized the need to provideits servic-
esover adiverse set of platforms. Its software worked on different types of personal
computers and operating systems (including Macintosh, Windows 3.xx and Win-
dows 95) and supported avariety of different media, including online services, the
Internet, and CD-ROM. AOL intended to adapt its products and services as new
technologies become available.

While AOL currently generated revenues largely from membership fees, AOL's man-
agement believed that theseinitiatives would allow the company to increase the propor-
tion of its revenues generated from other sources, such as advertising fees, commissions
on merchandise sales to consumers, and revenues from the sale of production and net-
work servicesto other enterprises.

INDUSTRY COMPETITION AND OUTLOOK

The online consumer services industry represented $1.1 billion in revenuesin 1994 and
was expected to grow by 30 percent to $1.4 billion in 1995. Eleven million customers
subscribed to commercial online services worldwide and this number was expected to
explodeinthe next five years. Industry |eaders America Online, CompuServe, and Prod-
igy served about 8.5 million of the existing subscribers (4.0 million, 2.8 million, and 1.6
million, respectively). This oligopoly had very successfully acted as middlemen be-
tween thousands of content providers and millions of customers. They were the publish-
ers, closely controlling the product and paying content providers, the writers, only
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modest royalties. However, with the advent of the Internet World Wide Web and the en-

trance of Microsoft Network, content providers now had alternative distribution chan-

nels which offered greater control over their products and potentially higher revenues.
Forbes discussed thistopic in its August 28, 1995 issue;

Until recently the only way to reach cyberspace browsers was through one of the
big three on-line services, America Online, CompuServe and Prodigy. That oli-
gopoly is set to fade fast, and it's not just Microsoft that threatens. It's the whole
Internet, the pulsating, undisciplined and rapidly expanding network of World
Wde Web computers that contain public data bases.®

While the big three acted as publishers, Microsoft had decided to act more like a
bookstore, onein which every author (content provider) was his’her own publisher. Cus-
tomers of MSN paid $4.95 per month for up to three hours (each additional hour was
$2.50). Then, each content provider charged whatever it wanted for itsmaterial, so much
per hour, per page, or per picture. Microsoft kept a 30 percent commission out of the pro-
vider's fee and passed along the rest to the content provider. In addition to offering con-
tent providers alarger share of the revenues, MSN also offered content providers greater
control over their own products. In contrast to the standardized screen displaysand icons
of the big three, MSN permitted content providers to use any font and format they
wished. Thus, while Microsoft still acted as a middleman, it played a very limited and
passive rolein determining content and fees charged for that content.

Beyond Microsoft lurked the vast potentia of the Internet World Wide Web, where
the middleman’s role was shrunk still further. On the Internet, everyone with acomputer
was hisher own publisher. Customerswould sign up for an Internet on-ramp service, of
the sort offered by PST, Netcom, or MCI. Once on the net, the subscriber used browsing
software like Netscape or Spyglassto roam the world’s databases. Whileit remained dif-
ficult for self-publishers on the Internet to collect fees from browsers who read their
pages, that was expected to change quickly asbanks, Microsoft, and other intermediaries
worked on systems to provide on-line currency.

Many content providers were beginning to take advantage of these alternative distri-
bution channels. For example, Wired magazine, unwilling to settle for just 20 percent of
the revenues from subscribers spending time on its pages on AOL,, created HotWired on
the Internet. Andrew Anker, chief technologist at Wired, believed that HotWired would
soon be more lucrative than the America Online venture and he noted that on the Internet
hisfirm had greater control of itsown product. General Electric’sNBC decided to switch
from AOL to Microsoft Network. “While we had many usersvisiting us on America On-
line, weweren’t making much revenue,” explained Martin Yudkovitz, asenior vice-pres-
ident at NBC.*

With the migration of proprietary services and content to Web sites, the unique offer-
ings of the big three services were declining. However, the online serviceswere still bet-

3. “Who Needs the Middleman?,” Nikhil Hutheesing, Forbes, August 28, 1995.
4. Ibid.
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ter for interactive communications with full-fledged message boards and live chat. The
Web, on the other hand, was mainly a publication environment for reading. The question
remained, what would be the role of online service providers in the future? Would they
become just another Internet access provider with their own look and browsers or could
they continue to offer something unique to users?

Some analysts were projecting that the U.S. online services market would grow 30—
35 percent annually through the year 2000, and that the Internet market would grow even
faster. These analysts expected America Online to retain about a 20 percent market
share.> On the other hand, Forrester Research of Cambridge, Mass., predicted that the
big three, America Online, CompuServe, and Prodigy, would continue to add subscrib-
ers only through 1997. After that, Forrester predicted, it would be al downhill for the
big three.®

AOL’'S RECENT PERFORMANCE

For the fourth quarter ended June 30, 1995, America Online announced that its earnings
were $0.16, excluding $0.01 merger expenses and $0.02 amortization of goodwill. This
was asignificant improvement over 1994’ sfourth-quarter earnings, $0.02, and above an-
alysts' estimate, $0.14. Service revenues surged to $139 million, versus analysts' esti-
mate of $132 million, and total revenues rose to $152 million versus $40.4 in the fourth
guarter of 1994. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 1995, AOL reported a loss of $33.6
million on revenues of $394 million compared with a profit of $2.5 million on revenues
of $116 million ayear earlier. New charges recorded for the first timein 1995 included
$50.3 million for acquired R&D, $1.7 million amortization of goodwill, and $2.2 mil-
lion in merger expenses. (See Exhibit 3, America Online's 1995 Abridged Annual
Report.)

New subscriber momentum continued to be strong, increasing 233 percent year-over-
year and adding 691,000 new net subscribers during the fourth quarter. All major metrics
used by analyststo evaluate AOL's franchise and gauge the “health” of itsrapidly grow-
ing subscriber base al so improved during the quarter: projected retention rates roseto 41
months from 39 months; paid usage grew to 2.93 hoursfrom 2.73, and projected lifetime
revenues per subscriber increased to $714 from $667. (See Exhibit 2 for the history of
America Onling's User Metrics.) However, analysts were projecting lower gross mar-
gins in the future as subscribers continued to transition to higher-speed access and as
AOL introduced a heavy-usage pricing plan in response to Microsoft’s lower per-hour
pricing.

On November 8, 1995, America Online announced its results for the first quarter of
fiscal 1996 ended September 30, 1995. Even though revenues rose to $197.9 million
from $56 million a year earlier, America Online reported a loss of $10.3 million com-

5. "America Online, Inc. — Company Report,” A. Pooley, The Chicago Corporation, April 18, 1995.
6. Op. cit., Forbes, August 28, 1995.
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pared with a profit of $1.5 million a year earlier. America Online took a $16.9 million
charge to reflect research and development taking place at Ubique, a company it ac-
quired on September 21, 1995, aswell asto pay off other recently acquired assets. It took
another charge of $1.7 million for amortization of goodwill. These charges were par-
tially offset by AOL's decision to increase the period over which it amortized subscriber
acquisition costs. Effective July 1, 1995, these costs would be amortized over 24 months
rather than 12—18 months. The effect of the change in accounting estimates for the three
months ended September 30, 1995, was to decrease the reported loss by $1.95 million.
AOL also announced that it added 711,000 subscribersin thefirst quarter of 1996, bring-
ing its total subscriber base to four million.”

AmericaOnline's stock price had been on the move since the company’sinitial public
offering (IPO) in March 1992. The stock price appreciated from the 1PO price of $2.90
t0 $7.31, $14.63, and $28.00 at calendar year end 1992, 1993, and 1994, respectively. At
its current price of $81.63 (dated November 8, 1995), the company’s market value was
around $4.0 billion. (See Exhibit 1 for the stock price history of AmericaOnline, its eg-
uity beta, and additional market-based data.)

THE CONTROVERSY SURROUNDING AOL

AmericaOnlineg’s stock was one of the most controversial of this period. Some analysts
promoted the stock’s potential for price appreciation, while others recommended selling
the shares short to profit from a decline in price. Bulls saw America Online as part of a
revolution in communication, like cellular phones and cable television in the early days.
They considered AOL's graphical interface software, its high-speed Web browser, and
Mr. Case’'s marketing genius (subscribership had quadrupled to over four millionin alit-
tle over ayear) to be major competitive advantages. Bears, on the other hand, anticipat-
ing new entrants competing in the online services industry and a migration of
subscribersto the Internet, questioned whether AOL would continue to experience high
growth in its subscriber base or be able to retain existing subscribers.

Shortsellers had sold around seven million America Online shares, betting that the
stock’s price would not go up forever. Shortsellers pointed to the recent hedging activi-
ties by Apple Computer to lock in profits on its 5.7 percent stake as an indication that
AOL's stock was overvalued. Adding fuel to the shortsellers' fire, corporate insiders at
AOL had sold some of their shareholdings. Between March 9 and March 15 of 1995,
seventeen insiders sold approximately 200,000 shares, including the company founders,
President Steven Case (25,000 shares for $2.1 million) and Chairman James Kimsey
(40,000 shares for $3.3 million).2

7. “America Online Posts $10.3 Million Loss But Says Revenue Rose 250% in Quarter,” The Washington Post, Nov. 8, 1995,

8. As of August 15, 1995 all executive officers and directors as a group continued to own 3,729,547 shares, Steven
Case owned 1,036,790 shares and James Kimsey owned 679,616 shares.
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Adding to the controversy, some analysts labeled AOL’s accounting “aggressive.”
AOL amortized its software devel opment costs over five years, a long time in the fast-
changing, uncertain online servicesindustry, and AOL capitalized subscriber acquisition
costs when its number one competitor, CompuServe, did not. Furthermore, effective
July 1, 1995, AOL extended the amortization period for its subscriber acquisition costs
from about 15 months to 24 months. Given the uncertainties surrounding AOL’s sub-
scriber retention rates and revenue growth as competition emerged in the young industry,
analysts questioned the wisdom of AOL’s accounting decisions. The big risk AOL faced
was that eventually customers could switch on-line services as frequently as they now
move among long-distance carriers.

While America Online expensed the free trial expenses (i.e., those charges incurred
from the ten free hours given away in the initial month), it capitalized the marketing
costs associated with acquiring a customer including direct mail, advertising, start-up
kits, and bundling costs. Asindicated in its annual report, prior to July 1, 1995, the cap-
italization had occurred on two schedules depending on the acquisition method. Costs
for subscribers acquired through direct marketing programs were amortized over a 12-
month period. Costsfor subscribers acquired through co-marketing effortswith personal
computer producers and magazine publishers were amortized over an 18-month period,
as these bundling campaigns had historically shown alonger response time. However,
effective July 1, 1995, AOL increased the period over which it amortized subscriber ac-
quisition costs to 24 months for both acquisition methods.

Defending AOL’s accounting choices, Lennert Leader, the Chief Financial Officer of
America Onling, Inc., said that the company was following standard accounting proce-
duresin matching the timing of expenseswith the period over which the revenues would
be received. He argued that the company’s marketing and software development ex-
penses produced customer accounts that last along time. Thus, he said, it was appropri-
ate to write off the costs over a period of years, even though AOL had spent the cash.®

However, some analysts raised red flags about AOL's accounting choices. As noted
in the October 24, 1995 Newsweek article:

One of AOL’s hidden assetsisthe brilliant accounting decision it made to treat its
marketing and research and development costs as capital items rather than ex-
penses. . . .

AOL charges R& D expenses over a five-year period, avery longtimein the on-
line biz. In July, AOL began charging off marketing expenses over two years, up
from about 15 months.

Why changeto 24 months from 15? Leader said it's because the average life of
an AOL account has climbed to 41 months from 25 months in 1992. How many
AOL customers have been around for 41 months? Almost none, as Leader con-
cedes. That's understandable, considering that AOL has added virtually all its

9. Op. cit, Newsweek, October 24, 1995.
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customers in the past 36 months. Leader says the 41-month average live number
comes from projections. Of course, it will take yearsto find out if he'sright. . . .1°

Analysts were also concerned about AOL's cash flow situation and the signal sent by
the timing of itslatest equity offering. The Newsweek article continued:

Accounting is terribly important to AOL. The better the numbers look, the more
Wall Sreet lovesit and the easier AOL can sell new sharesto raise cash to pay its
bills. . . . On October 10 [AOL] raised about $100 million by selling new shares.
AOL sold the stock even though its shares had fallen to $58.37 from about $72 in
September, when the sal e plans were announced. Most companies would have de-
layed the offering, waiting for the price to snap back. AOL didn’t, prompting cyn-
ics to think the company really needed the money. . . .

Some analysts believed that AOL issued shares when its stock price was low because
the company needed the cash immediately. Others argued that AOL was building awar
chest needed because deep-pocketed rivals such as Microsoft were about to start an on-
line price war and because increasingly information providerswere going directly to the
Internet, rather than using middlemen such as AOL. Some analysts interpreted Com-
puServe's recent adoption of more aggressive accounting techniques asasign that it too
was readying for war. Beginning thefirst quarter of fiscal 1996, CompuServe would cap-
italize direct response advertising costs associated with customer acquisition activity.*t

WhileAOL'’sstock price rebounded to $81.63 by November 8, 1995, there were many
guestions concerning AOL's future. How would the demand for AOL’s services be af -
fected by the entry of Microsoft Network and the growth of Internet? Would AOL's ac-
counting choices stand the test of time?What if AOL'’s subscription growth rates slowed
or subscriber renewal ratesfell? Did AOL havethefinancial flexibility to face these com-
petitive pressures and accounting risks?

10. Op. cit., Newsweek, October 24, 1995.
11. Op. cit, Newsweek, October 24, 1995.
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EXHIBIT 3
America Online 1995 Abridged Annual Report

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Board of Directors and Stockholders
America Online, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of America Online, Inc.,
as of June 30, 1995 and 1994, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended June 30, 1995. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assur-
ance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall finan-
cial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of America Online, Inc. at June 30, 1995
and 1994, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended June 30, 1995, in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, in fiscal 1994 the Com-
pany changed its method of accounting for income taxes. As discussed in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements, in fiscal 1995 the Company changed its method of
accounting for short-term investments in certain debt and equity securities.

Ernst & Young LLP

Vienna, Virginia
August 25, 1995
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AND OTHER DATA
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Data)
Year Ended June 30,
1995 1994 1993 1992 1991
Statements of Operations
Data:
Online service revenues $358,498 $100,993 $38,462 $26,226 $19,515
Other revenues 35,792 14,729 13,522 12,527 10,646
Total Revenues 394,290 115,722 51,984 38,753 30,161
Income (loss) from operations (19,294) 4,608 1,925 3,685 1,341
Income (loss) before extraordi-
nary items (33,647) 2,550 399 2,344 1,100
Net income (loss) (1) (33,647) 2,550 1,532 3,768 1,761
Income (loss) per common
share:
Income (loss) before extra-
ordinary item $ (0.99) $ 0.07 $ 0.01 $ 0.10 $0.06
Net income (loss) $ (0.99) $ 0.07 $ 0.05 $ 017 $ 0.09
Weighted average shares
outstanding 33,986 34,208 29,286 22,828 19,304
As of June 30,
1995 1994 1993 1992 1991
Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital (deficiency) $ (456) $47,890 $10,498 $12,363 $ (966)
Total assets 406,464 154,584 39,279 31,144 11,534
Total debt 21,810 9,302 2,959 2,672 1,865
Stockholders’ equity (defi-
ciency) 217,944 98,297 23,785 21,611 (8,623)
Other data (at fiscal year end):
Subscribers 3,005 903 303 182 131

(1) Net loss in the fiscal year ended June 30, 1995, includes charges of $50.3 million for acquired research and development and $2.2 million
for merger expenses. See Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITIONS AND

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

The Company has experienced a significant
increase in revenues over the past three fiscal years.
The higher revenues have been principally produced
by increases in the Company’s subscriber base
resulting from growth of the online services market,
the introduction of a Windows version of America
Online in the middle of fiscal 1993, which greatly
increased the available market for the Company’s
service, as well as the expansion of its services and
content. Additionally, revenues have increased as
the average monthly revenue per subscriber has
risen steadily during the past three years, primarily
as a result of an increase in the average monthly
paid hours of use per subscriber.

The Company’s online service revenues are
generated primarily from subscribers paying a
monthly member’s fee and hourly charges based on
usage in excess of the number of hours of usage
provided as part of the monthly fee. Through
December 31, 1994, the Company’s standard
monthly membership fee, which includes five hours
of service, was $9.95, with a $3.50 hourly fee for
usage in excess of five hours per month. Effective
January 1, 1995, the hourly fee for usage in excess
of five hours per month decreased from $3.50 to
$2.95, while the monthly membership fee remained
unchanged at $9.95.

The Company’s other revenues are generated
primarily from providing new media and interactive
marketing services, data network services, and mul-
timedia and CD-ROM production services. Addition-
ally, the Company generates revenues related to
online transactions and advertising, as well as
development and licensing fees.

In fiscal 1995 the Company acquired RCC,
NaviSoft, BookLink, ANS, WAIS, Medior and Global
Network Navigator, Inc. Additionally, in August
1995, the Company entered into an agreement to
acquire Ubique. For additional information relating
to these acquisitions, refer to Notes 3 and 13 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

The online services market is highly competitive.
The Company believes that existing competitors,
which include, among others, CompuServe, Prodigy
and MSN, are likely to enhance their service offer-
ings. In addition, new competitors have announced
plans to enter the online services market, resulting in
greater competition for the Company. The competi-
tive environment could require new pricing pro-
grams and increased spending on marketing,
content procurement and product development;
limit the Company’s opportunities to enter into and/
or renew agreements with content providers and
distribution partners; limit the Company’s ability to
grow its subscriber base; and result in increased
attrition in the Company’s subscriber base. Any of
the foregoing events could result in an increase in
costs as a percentage of revenues, and may have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s financial
condition and operating results.

During September 1995, the Company modi-
fied the components of subscriber acquisition costs
deferred and will be expensing certain subscriber
acquisition cost as incurred, effective July 1, 1995.
All costs capitalized before this change will continue
to be amortized. The effect of this change for the
year ended June 30, 1995 (including the amortiza-
tion of amounts capitalized as of June 30, 1994)
would have been to increase marketing costs by
approximately $8 million. This change will have a
greater impact on the Company’s marketing costs
in fiscal 1996, as the Company expects to signifi-
cantly increase subscriber acquisition activity, includ-
ing those subscriber acquisition expenditures which
the Company will be expensing as incurred.

In addition, effective July 1, 1995, the Com-
pany changed the period over which it amortizes
subscriber acquisition cost from twelve and eighteen
months to twenty-four months. Based on the Com-
pany’s historical average customer life experience,
the change in amortization period is being made to
more appropriately match subscriber acquisition
costs with associated online service revenues. The
effect of this change in accounting estimate for the
year ended June 30, 1995 would have been to



decrease the amount of the amortization of sub-
scriber acquisition costs by approximately $27 mil-
lion. While this change will thereby positively impact
operating margins, the Company expects that any
such positive impact will be partially offset by
increased investments in marketing and other busi-
ness activities during fiscal 1996 and the decision,
effective July 1, 1995, to expense certain subscriber
acquisition costs as incurred.

Results of Operations

Fiscal 1995 Compared to Fiscal 1994

Online Service Revenues. For fiscal 1995, online
service revenues increased from $100,993,000 to
$358,498,000, or 255%, over fiscal 1994. This
increase was primarily oftributable to o 289%
increase in revenues from IBM-compatible subscrib-
ers and a 196% increase in revenues from Macin-
tosh subscribers as a result of a 273% increase in
the number of IBM-compatible subscribers and a
143% increase in the number of Macintosh subscrib-
ers. The percentage increase in online service reve-
nues in fiscal 1995 was greater than the percentage
increase in subscribers principally due to an
increase in the average monthly online service reve-
nue per subscriber, which increased from $15.00 in
fiscal 1994 to $17.10 in fiscal 1995.

Other Revenues. Other revenues, consisting
principally of new media and interactive marketing
services, data network services, multimedia and CD-
ROM production services, and development and
licensing fees, increased from $14,729,000 in fiscal
1994 to $35,792,000 in fiscal 1995. This increase
was primarily attributable to data network revenues
and multimedia and CD-ROM production service
revenues from companies acquired during fiscal

1995.

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues includes
network-related costs, consisting primarily of data
and voice communication costs, costs associated
with operating the data center and providing cus-
tomer support, royalties paid to information and
service providers and other expenses related to mar-
keting and production services. For fiscal 1995, cost
of revenues increased from $69,043,000 to
$229,724,000, or 233%, over fiscal 1994, and
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decreased as a percentage of total revenues from
59.7% to 58.3%.

The increase in cost of revenues was primarily
attributable to an increase in data communication
costs, customer support costs and royalties paid to
information and service providers. Data communi-
cation costs increased primarily as a result of the
larger customer base and more usage by customers.
Customer support costs, which include personnel
and telephone costs associated with providing cus-
tomer support, were higher as a result of the larger
customer base and a large number of new sub-
scriber registrations. Royalties paid to information
and service providers increased as a result of a
larger customer base and more usage and the
Company’s addition of more service content to
broaden the appeal of the America Online service.

The decrease in cost of revenues as a percent-
age of total revenues is primarily attributable to a
decrease in expenses related to marketing services
and personnel related costs as a percentage of total
revenues, partially offset by an increase in data
communication costs as a percentage of total reve-
nues, primarily resulting from an increase in higher
baud speed usage at a higher variable rate as well
as lower hourly pricing for online service revenue
which became effective January 1, 1995.

Marketing. Marketing expenses include the
costs to acquire and retain subscribers and other
general marketing expenses. Subscriber acquisition
costs are deferred and charged to operations over a
twelve or eighteen month period, using the straight-
line method, beginning the month after such costs
are incurred. For additional information regarding
the accounting for deferred subscriber acquisition
costs, refer to Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements. For fiscal 1995, marketing
expenses increased from  $23,548,000 to
$77,064,000, or 227%, over fiscal 1994, and
decreased as a percentage of total revenues from
20.3% to 19.5%. The increase in marketing
expenses was primarily due to an increase in the
number and size of marketing programs to expand
the Company’s subscriber base. The decrease in
marketing expenses as a percentage of total reve-
nues is primarily attributable to a decrease as a per-
centage of total revenues in personnel related costs.
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Product Development. Product development
costs include research and development expenses,
other product development costs and the amortiza-
tion of software costs. For fiscal 1995, product
development expenses increased from $4,961,000
to $12,842,000, or 159%, over fiscal 1994, and
decreased as a percentage of total revenues from
4.3% to 3.3%. The increase in product development
costs was primarily attributable to an increase in
personnel costs related to an increase in the number
of technical employees. The decrease in product
development costs as a percentage of total revenues
was principally a result of the substantial growth in
revenues, which more than offset the additional
product development costs. Product development
costs, before capitalization and amortization,
increased by 126% in fiscal 1995.

General and Administrative. Fiscal 1995 gen-
eral and administrative costs increased from
$13,562,000 to $41,966,000, or 209%, over fiscal
1994, and decreased as a percentage of total reve-
nues from 11.7% to 10.6%. The increase in general
and administrative expenses was principally attribut-
able to higher office and personnel expenses related
to an increase in the number of employees. The
decrease in general and administrative costs as a
percentage of total revenues was a result of the sub-
stantial growth in revenues, which more than offset
the additional general and administrative costs,
combined with the semi-variable nature of many of
the general and administrative costs.

Acquired Research and Development. Acquired
research  and  development costs, totaling
$50,335,000, relate to in-process research and
development purchased pursuant to the Company’s
acquisition of two early-stage Internet technology
companies, BookLink and NaviSoft. The purchased
research and development relating to the BookLink
and NaviSoft acquisitions was the foundation of the
development of the Company’s Internet related
products.

Amortization of Goodwill. Amortization of
goodwill relates to the Company’s acquisition of
ANS, which resulted in approximately $44 million in
goodwill. The goodwill related to the ANS acquisi-
tion is being amortized on a straight-line basis over
a fen-year period.

Other Income. Other income consists primarily
of investment and rental income net of inferest
expense. For fiscal 1995, other income increased
from $1,774,000 to $3,023,000. This increase was
primarily atiributable to an increase in interest
income generated by higher levels of cash available
for investment, partially offset by a decrease in
rental income and an increase in interest expense.

Merger Expenses. Non-recurring merger ex-
penses totaling $2,207,000 were recognized in fis-
cal 1995 in connection with the mergers of the
Company with RCC, WAIS and Medior.

Provisions for Income Taxes. The provision for
income taxes was $3,832,000 and $15,169,000 in
fiscal year 1994 and fiscal 1995, respectively. For
additional information regarding income taxes,
refer to Note 9 of the Notes to Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements.

Net Loss. The net loss in fiscal 1995 totaled
$33,647,000. The net loss in fiscal 1995 included
charges of $50,335,000 for acquired research and
development and $2,207,000 for merger expenses.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company has financed its operations
through cash generated from operations, sale of its
common stock and funding by third parties for cer-
tain product development activities. Net cash pro-
vided by operating activities was $2,205,000,
$1,884,000 and $15,891,000 for fiscal 1993, fis-
cal 1994 and fiscal 1995, respectively. Included in
operating activities were expenditures for deferred
subscriber acquisition costs of $10,685,000,
$37,424,000 and $111,761,000 in fiscal 1993, fis-
cal 1994 and fiscal 1995, respectively. Net cash
used in investing activities was $8,915,000,
$41,870,000 and $85,725,000 in fiscal 1993, fis-
cal 1994 and fiscal 1995, respectively. Investing
activities included $20,523,000 in fiscal 1995
related to business acquisitions, substantially all of
which were related to the acquisition of ANS.

In December 1993 the Company completed a
public stock offering of 4,000,000 shares of com-
mon stock which generated net cash proceeds of
approximately $62.7 million.



In April 1995 the company entered into a joint
venture with Bertelsmann to offer interactive online
services in Europe. In connection with the agree-
ment, the Company received approximately $54
million through the sale of approximately 5% of its
common stock to Bertelsmann.

The Company leases the maijority of its equip-
ment under noncancelable operating leases, and as
part of its network portfolio strategy is building AOL-
net, its data communications network. The buildout
of this network requires a substantial investment in
telecommunication equipment, which the Company
plans to finance principally though leasing. In addi-
tion, the Company has guaranteed minimum com-
mitments  under certain  data  and  voice
communication agreements. The Company’s future
lease commitments and guaranteed minimums are
discussed in Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

The Company uses its working capital to
finance ongoing operations and to fund marketing
and content programs and the development of its
products and services. The Company plans to con-
tinue to invest aggressively in acquisition marketing
and content programs to expand its subscriber base,
as well as in computing and support infrastructure.
Additionally, the Company expects to use a portion
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of its cash for the acquisition and subsequent fund-
ing of technologies, products or businesses comple-
mentary to the Company’s current business. Apart
from its agreement to acquire Ubique, as discussed
below, the Company has no agreements or under-
standings to acquire any businesses. The Company
anticipates that available cash and cash provided by
operating activities will be sufficient to fund its oper-
ations for the next fiscal year.

Various legal proceedings have arisen against
the Company in the ordinary course of business. In
the opinion of management, these proceedings will
not have a material effect on the financial position
of the Company.

The Company believes that inflation has not
had a material effect on its results of operations.

On August 23, 1995, the Company entered
into a stock purchase agreement to purchase
Ubique, an lIsraeli company. The Company has
agreed to pay approximately $15 million ($1.5 mil-
lion in cash and $13.5 million in common stock) in
the transaction, which is to be accounted for as a
purchase. Subject to the results of an in-process val-
uation, a substantial portion of the purchase price
may be allocated to in-process research and devel-
opment and charged to the Company’s operations
in the first quarter of fiscal 1996.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Amounts in Thousands, Except Per Share Data)

Year ended June 30,

Revenues:
Online service revenues
Other revenues
Total revenues
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenues
Marketing
Product development
General and administrative
Acquired research and development
Amortization of goodwill
Total costs and expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Other income, net
Merger expenses
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes
and extraordinary item
Provision for income taxes
Income (loss) before extraordinary item
Extraordinary item—tax benefit arising from net
operating loss carryforward
Net income (loss)
Earnings (loss) per share:
Income (loss) before extraordinary item
Net income (loss)
Weighted average shares outstanding

1995 1994 1993
$358,498 $100,993 $ 38,462
35,792 14,729 13,522
394,290 115,722 51,984
229,724 69,043 28,820
77,064 23,548 9,745
12,842 4,961 2,913
41,966 13,562 8,581
50,335 — —
1,653 — —
413,584 111,114 50,059
(19,294) 4,608 1,925
3,023 1,774 371
(2,207) — —
(18,478) 6,382 2,296
(15,169) (3,832) (1,897)
(33,647) 2,550 399
— — 1,133
$ (33,647) $ 2,550 $ 1,532
$ (0.99) $ 0.07 $ 0.01
$ (0.99) $ 0.07 $ 0.05
33,986 34,208 29,286

See accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in Thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of subscriber acquisition costs
Loss/(Gain) on sale of property and equipment
Charge for acquired research and development
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Trade accounts receivable
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Deferred subscriber acquisition costs
Other assets
Trade accounts payable
Accrued personnel costs
Other accrued expenses and liabilities
Deferred revenue
Deferred income taxes
Deferred rent
Total adjustments
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Short-term investments
Purchase of property and equipment
Product development costs
Sale of property and equipment
Purchase costs of acquired businesses
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net
Principal and accrued interest payments on line of
credit and long-term debt

Proceeds from line of credit and issuance of long-term

debt
Tax benefit from stock option exercises
Principal payments under capital lease obligations

Year ended June 30,

1995 1994 1993
$ (33,647) $ 2,550 $ 1,532
11,136 2,965 1,957
60,924 17,922 7,038
37 5 (39)
50,335 — —
(14,373) (4,266) (936)
(9,057) (681) (966)
(19,641) (2,867) (1,494)
(111,761) (37,424) (10,685)
(8,432) (2,519) (89)
60,824 10,204 2,119
1,846 367 336
5,703 9,526 1,492
7,190 2,322 1,381
14,763 3,832 759
44 (52) (200)
49,538 (666) 673
15,891 1,884 2,205
5,380 (18,947) (5,105)
(57,751) (17,886) (2,041)
(13,011) (5,132) (1,831)
180 95 62
(20,523) — —
(85,725) (41,870) (8,915)
61,253 67,372 609
(3,298) (7,716) (6,924)
13,741 14,200 7,181
— — 6
(375) (142) (112)

73



74

Strategy Analysis

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Year ended June 30,

1995 1994 1993
Net cash provided by financing activities 71,321 73,714 760
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,487 33,728 (5,950)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 43,891 10,163 16,113
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 45,378 $ 43,891 $ 10,163
Supplemental cash flow information
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest 1,067 575 193
Income taxes — — 15
See accompanying notes.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in Thousands, Except Per Share Data)
June 30,
1995 1994
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 45,378 $ 43,891
Short-term investments 18,672 24,052
Trade accounts receivable 32,176 8,547
Other receivables 11,103 2,036
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 25,527 5,753
Total current assets 132,856 84,279
Property and equipment at cost, net 70,466 20,306
Other assets:
Product development costs, net 18,914 7,912
Deferred subscriber acquisition costs, net 77,229 26,392
License rights, net 5,537 53
Other assets 11,479 2,800
Deferred income taxes 35,627 12,842
Goodwill, net 54,356 —
$406,464 $154,584

(continued)



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (continued)

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Trade accounts payable
Accrued personnel costs
Other accrued expenses and liabilities
Deferred revenue
Line of credit
Current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Notes payable
Capital lease obligations
Deferred income taxes
Deferred rent
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized,
none issued
Common stock, $.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares autho-
rized, 37,554,849 and 30,771,212 shares issued and out-
standing at June 30, 1995 and 1994, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
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June 30,

1995 1994
$ 84,639 $ 15,642
2,829 896
23,509 13,076
20,021 4,488
484 1,690
1,830 597
133,312 36,389
17,369 5,836
2,127 1,179
35,627 12,842
85 41
188,520 56,287
375 308
251,539 98,836
(33,970) (847)
217,944 98,297
$406,464 $154,584

See accompanying noftes.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization

America Online, Inc. (“the Company”) was
incorporated in the State of Delaware in May 1985.
The Company, based in Vienna, Virginia, is a lead-
ing provider of online services, offering its subscrib-
ers a wide variety of services, including e-mail,
online conferences, entertainment, software, com-
puting support, interactive magazines and newspa-
pers, and online classes, as well as easy and
affordable access to services of the Internet. In addi-
tion, the Company is a provider of data network ser-
vices, new media and interactive marketing services,
and multimedia and CD-ROM production services.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies

Principles of Consolidation — The consolidated
financial statements include the accounts of the
Company and its subsidiaries. All significant inter-
company accounts and transactions have been
eliminated. Investments in affiliates owned twenty
percent or more and corporate joint ventures are
accounted for under the equity method. Other secu-
rities in companies owned less than twenty percent
are accounted for under the cost method.

Business Combinations — Business combinations
which have been accounted for under the purchase
method of accounting include the results of opera-
tions of the acquired business from the date of
acquisition. Net assets of the companies acquired
are recorded at their fair value to the Company at
the date of acquisition.

Other business combinations have been
accounted for under the pooling of interests method
of accounting. In such cases, the assets, liabilities,
and stockholders’ equity of the acquired entities
were combined with the Company’s respective
accounts at recorded values. Prior period financial
statements have been restated fo give effect to the
merger unless the effect of the business combination

is not material to the financial statements of the
Company.

Revenue and cost recognition — Online service
revenue is recognized over the period services are
provided. Other revenue, consisting principally of
marketing, data network and multimedia production
services, as well as development and royalty reve-
nues, are recognized as services are rendered.
Deferred revenue consists principally of third-party
development funding not yet recognized and
monthly subscription fees billed in advance.

Property and equipment — Property and equip-
ment are depreciated or amortized using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful life of
the asset, which ranges from 5 to 40 years, or over
the life of the lease.

Property and equipment under capital leases
are stated at the lower of the present value of mini-
mum lease payments at the beginning of the lease
term or fair value at inception of the lease.

Deferred subscriber acquisition costs — Sub-
scriber acquisition costs are deferred and charged to
operations over a twelve or eighteen month period
(straight-line method) beginning the month after
such costs are incurred. These costs, which relate
directly to subscriber solicitations, principally include
printing, production and shipping of starter kits and
the costs of obtaining qualified prospects by various
targeted direct marketing programs (i.e., direct mar-
keting response cards, mailing lists) and from third
parties, and are recorded separately from ordinary
operating expenses. No indirect costs are included
in subscriber acquisition costs. To date, all sub-
scriber acquisition costs have been incurred for the
solicitation of specific identifiable prospects. Costs
incurred for other than those targeted at specific
identifiable prospects for the Company’s services,
and general marketing, are expensed as incurred.

The Company’s services are sold on a monthly
subscription basis. Subscriber acquisition costs
incurred to obtain new subscribers are recoverable
from revenues generated by such subscribers within
a short period of time after such costs are incurred.



Effective July 1, 1992, the Company changed,
from twelve months to eighteen months, the period
over which it amortizes the costs of deferred sub-
scriber acquisition costs relating to marketing activ-
ities in which the Company’s starter kit is bundled
and distributed by a third-party marketing com-
pany. The change in accounting estimate was made
to more accurately match revenues and expenses.
Based on the Company’s experience and the distri-
bution channels used in such marketing activities,
there is a greater time lag between the time the
Company incurs the cost for the starter kits and the
time the starter kits begin to generate new custom-
ers than with direct marketing activities. Also, the
period over which new subscribers (and related rev-
enues) are generated is longer than that experi-
enced with the use of traditional independent,
direct marketing activities. The effect of this change
in accounting estimate for the year ended June 30,
1993 was to increase income before extraordinary
item and net income by $264,000 ($.01 per
share).

In the first quarter of fiscal 1995 the Company
adopted the provisions of Statement of Position
(“SOP”) 93-7, “Reporting on Advertising Costs,”
which provides guidance on financial reporting on
advertising costs. The adoption of SOP 93-7 had no
effect on the Company’s financial position or results
of operations.

Product development costs — The Company
capitalizes cost incurred for the production of com-
puter software used in the sale of its services. Costs
capitalized include direct labor and related over-
head for software produced by the Company and
the costs of software purchased from third parties.
All costs in the software development process which
are clossified as research and development are
expensed as incurred until technological feasibility
has been established. Once technological feasibility
has been established, such costs are capitalized until
the software is commercially available. To the extent
the Company retains the rights to software develop-
ment funded by third parties, such costs are capital-
ized in accordance with the Company’s normal
accounting policies. Amortization is provided on a
product-by-product basis, using the greater of the
straight-line method or current year revenue as a
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percent of total revenue estimates for the related
software product not to exceed five years, commenc-
ing the month after the date of product release.

Product development costs consist of the follow-
ing:

Year ended June 30,

1995 1994
(in thousands)
Balance, beginning of year $ 7,912 $3,915

Cost capitalized 13,011 5,132
Cost amortized (2,009) (1,135)
$18,914 $7,912

Balance, end of year

The accumulated amortization of product
development costs related to the production of com-
puter  software totaled $7,894,000, and
$5,885,000 at June 30, 1995 and 1994, respec-
tively.

Included in product development costs are
research and development costs totaling
$3,856,000, $2,126,000, and $1,130,000 and
other product development costs totaling
$6,977,000, $1,050,000 and $579,000 in the
years ended June 30, 1995, 1994 and 1993,
respectively.

License rights — The cost of acquired license
rights is amortized using the straight-line method
over the term of the agreement for such license
rights, ranging from one to three years.

Goodwill — Goodwill consists of the excess of
cost over the fair value of net assets acquired and
certain other intangible assets relating to purchase
transactions. Goodwilll and intangible assets are
amortized over periods ranging from 5-10 years.

Operating lease costs — Rent expense for oper-
ating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. The difference between rent
expense incurred and rental payments is charged or
credited to deferred rent.

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term invest-
ments — The Company considers all highly liquid
investments with an original maturity of three
months or less to be cash equivalents. In fiscal
1995, the Company adopted Statement of Financial
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Accounting Standards No. 115 ("SFAS 115"),
“Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and
Equity Securities.” The adoption was not material to
the Company’s financial position or results of oper-
ations. The Company has classified all debt and
equity securities as available-for-sale. Available-for-
sale securities are carried at fair value, with unreal-
ized gains and losses reported as a separate com-
ponent of stockholders’ equity. Realized gains and
losses and declines in value judged to be other-
than-temporary on available-for-sale securities are
included in other income. Available-for-sale securi-
ties at June 30, 1995, consisted of U.S. Treasury Bills
and other obligations of U.S. Government agencies
totaling $7,579,000 and U.S. corporate debt obli-
gations totaling $11,093,000. At June 20, 1995,
the estimated fair value of these securities approxi-
mated cost.

Net income (loss) per common share — Net
income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing
income (loss) before extraordinary item and net
income (loss) by the weighted average number of
common and, when dilutive, common equivalent
shares outstanding during the period.

Reclassification — Certain amounts in prior

years’ consolidated financial statements have been
reclassified to conform to the current year presenta-
tion.

3. Business Combination

Pooling Transactions

On August 19, 1994, Redgate Communica-
tions Corporation (“RCC”") was merged with and
info a subsidiary of the Company. The Company
exchanged 1,789,300 shares of common stock for
all of the outstanding common and preferred stock
and warrants of RCC. Additionally, 401,148 shares
of the Company’s common stock were reserved for
outstanding stock options issued by RCC and
assumed by the Company. The merger was
accounted for under the pooling of interests method
of accounting, and accordingly, the accompanying
consolidated  financial statements have been
restated for all periods prior to the acquisition to
include the financial position, results of operations
and cash flows of RCC. Effective August 1994,
RCC’s fiscal year-end has been changed from
December 31 to June 30 to conform to the Com-
pany’s fiscal year-end.

Revenues and net earnings (loss) for the individ-
ual entities are as follows:

Total revenues:
AOL
RCC
Less intercompany sales

Net income (loss):
AOL
RCC
Merger expenses

Three months ended
September 30, 1994

Year ended June 30,
(unaudited) 1994 1993

(in thousands)

$50,783 $104,410 $40,019
3,813 11,312 11,965
(173) — —
$54,423 $115,722 $51,984
$ 3,018 $ 6,210 $ 4,210
(42) (3,660) (2,678)
(1,710) — —
$ 1,266 $ 2,550 $ 1,532




In connection with the merger of the Company
and RCC, merger expenses of $1,710,000 were
recognized during 1995.

During fiscal 1995, Medior, Inc. and Wide Area
Information Servers, Inc. were merged into subsid-
iaries of the Company. The Company issued
1,082,019 shares of its common stock in the trans-
actions. The transactions were accounted for under
the pooling of interests method of accounting. Prior
year financial statements have not been restated for
the transactions because the effect would not be
material to the operations of the Company.

Purchase Transactions

During fiscal 1995, the Company acquired
NaviSoft, Inc. (“NaviSoft”), BookLink Technologies,
Inc. (“BookLink”), Advanced Network & Services,
Inc. (“ANS”) and Global Network Navigator, Inc., in
transactions accounted for under the purchase
method of accounting. The Company paid a total of
$97,669,000, of which $75,697,000 was in stock
and $21,972,000 was in cash for the acquisitions.
Of the aggregate purchase price, approximately
$50,335,000 was allocated to in-process research
and development and $55,314,000 was allocated
to goodwill and other intangible assets.

The following unaudited pro forma information
relating to the BookLink and ANS acquisitions is not
necessarily an indication of the combined results
that would have occurred had the acquisitions taken
place at the beginning of the period, nor is neces-
sarily an indication of the results that may occur in
the future. Pro forma information for NaviSoft and
Global Network Navigator, Inc. is immaterial to the
operations of the consolidated entity. The amount of
the aggregate purchase price allocated to in-pro-
cess research and development for both the Navi-
Soft and BookLink acquisitions has been excluded
from the pro forma information as it is a non-recur-
ring item.

Strategy Analysis

Year ended June 30,

1995 1994
(in thousands except per share data)

Revenues $410,147 $135,785
Income (loss) from

operations 23,117 (5,465)
Pro forma income

(loss) 11,205 (4,694)

Pro forma income
(loss) per share $ 0.25 $ (0.16)

4. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following:

June 30,
1995 1994
(in thousands)
Computer equipment $49,167 $12,418
Furniture and fixtures 4,992 1,398
Buildings 13,800 5,648
Land 6,075 2,052
Building improvements 6,284 1,343
Property under capital
leases 8,486 2,686
Leasehold improvements 3,059 306
91,863 25,851
Less accumulated depreci-
ation and amortization (21,397) (5,545)
Net property and equip-
ment $70,466 $20,306
5. License Rights
License rights consist of the following:
June 30,
1995 1994
(in thousands )
License rights $ 7,484 $ 954
Less accumulated amorti-
zation (1,947) (901)

$ 5,537 $ 53
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6. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases equipment under several
long-term capital and operating leases. Future mini-
mum payments under capital leases and noncancel-
able operating leases with initial terms of one year
or more consist of the following:

Capital Leases

Operating Leases

Year ending June 30,
1996
1997
1998
1999
2000
Thereafter

Total minimum lease payments
Less amount representing interest

Present value of net minimum capital lease payments,
including current portion of $1,415

(in thousands)

$1,654 $20,997
1,236 21,264
641 19,450
310 8,711
103 3,511
— 2,636
3,944 $76,569
(402)
$3,542

The Company’s rental expense under operating
leases in the years ended June 30, 1995, 1994
and 1993 totaled approximately $10,001,000,
$2,889,000, and $2,155,000, respectively.

Communication networks — The Company has
guaranteed monthly usage levels of data and voice
communications with one of its vendors. The
remaining commitments are $113,400,000,
$59,000,000, $9,000,000 and $6,750,000 for the
years ending June 30, 1996, 1997, 1998 and
1999, respectively. The related expense for the years
ended June 30, 1995, 1994 and 1993 was
$138,793,000, $40,315,000 and $11,226,000,
respectively.

Contingencies — Various legal proceedings have
arisen against the Company in the ordinary course
of business. In the opinion of management, these
proceedings will not have a material effect on the
financial position of the Company.

7. Notes Payable

Notes payable at June 30, 1995 totaled
approximately $18 million and consist primarily of

amounts borrowed to finance the purchases of two
office buildings. The notes are collateralized by the
respective properties. The notes have a variable
inferest rate equal to 105 basis points above the 30
day London Interbank Offered Rate and a fixed
interest rate of 8.48% per annum at June 30, 1995.
Aggregate maturities of notes payable for the years
ended June 30, 1996, 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000
ond thereafter are $415,000, $429,000,
$445,000, $462,000, $480,000 and
$15,553,000, respectively.

8. Other Income

The following table summarizes the compo-
nents of other income:

Year ended June 30,

1995 1994 1993

(in thousands)
Interest income $3,920 $1,646 $572
Interest expense (1,054) (575) (172)
Other 157 703 (29)

$3,023 $1,774 $371




9. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes is attributable
fo:

Year ended June 30,
1995 1994 1993

(in thousands)

Income before

extraordinary item $15,169 $3,832 $1,897
Tax benefit arising
from net operat-
ing loss carry-
forward — — (1,133)
$15,169 $3,832 $ 764
Current $ — 5 — $ 5
Deferred 15,169 3,832 759
$15,169 $3,832 $ 764

The provision for income taxes differs from the
amount computed by applying the statutory federal
income tax rate to income before provision for
income taxes and extraordinary item. The sources
and tax effects of the differences are as follows:

Year ended June 30,
1995 1994 1993

(in thousands)

Income tax at the
federal statutory
rate of 34%

State income tax, net
of federal benefit 1,597 403 200

Losses relating to
RCC — 1,259 916

Nondeductible
merger expenses 750 — —

Nondeductible
charge for pur-
chased research
and development

Loss, for which no
tax benefit was
derived 1,632 — —

Other 359 — —

$15,169 $3,832 $1,897

$(6,283) $2,170 $ 781

17,114 — —

Strategy Analysis

Deferred income taxes arise because of differ-
ences in the treatment of income and expense items
for financial reporting and income tax purposes, pri-
marily relating to deferred subscriber acquisition
and product development costs.

As of June 30, 1995, the Company has net
operating loss carryforwards of approximately $109
million for tax purposes which will be available, sub-
ject to certain annual limitations, to offset future tax-
able income. If not used, these loss carryforwards
will expire between 2001 and 2010. To the extent
that net operating loss carryforwards, when realized,
relate to stock option deductions, the resulting bene-
fits will be credited to stockholders’ equity.

The Company’s income tax provision was com-
puted on the federal statutory rate and the average
state statutory rates, net of the related federal bene-
fit.

Effective July 1, 1993 the Company changed its
method of accounting for income taxes from the
deferred method to the liability method required by
FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes.” As permitted under the new rules, prior
years’ financial statements have not been restated.

No increase to net income resulted from the
cumulative effect of adopting Statement No. 109 as
of July 1, 1993. The deferred tax asset increased by
approximately $5,965,000 as a result of the adop-
tion. Similarly, the deferred tax liability, stockholders’
equity and the valuation allowance increased by
approximately  $3,173,000, $759,000 and
$2,033,000, respectively.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects
of temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial report-
ing purposes and the amounts used for income tax
purposes. Significant components of the Company’s
deferred tax liabilities and assets are as follows:
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Deferred tax liabilities:
Capitalized software costs
Deferred member acquisi-

tion costs
Net deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carry-
forwards
Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance for
deferred assets

Net deferred tax assets

Year ended June 30,

1995

1994

(in thousands)

$ 7,008 $ 2,962
28,619 9,880
$35,627 $12,842
$39,000 $17,510
39,000 17,510
(3,373) (4,668)
$35,627 $12,842

QUARTERLY INFORMATION (unaudited)

13. Subsequent Event

On August 23, 1995, the Company entered
info a stock purchase agreement to purchase
Ubique, Ltd., an Israeli company. The Company has
agreed to pay approximately $15 million ($1.5 mil-
lion in cash and $13.5 million in common stock) in
the transaction, which is to be accounted for under
the purchase method of accounting. Subject to the
results of an in-process valuation, a substantial por-
tion of the purchase price may be allocated to in-
process research and development and charged to
the Company’s operations in the first quarter of fis-

cal 1996.

Quarter Ended

September 30 December 31 March 31 June 30 Total

Fiscal 1995°¢

Online service revenues $50,056 $69,712 $99,814 $138,916 $358,498
Other revenues 6,880 6,683 9,290 12,939 35,792
Total revenues 56,936 76,395 109,104 151,855 394,290
Income (loss) from operations 4,623 (35,258) 233 11,108 (19,294)
Net income (loss) 1,481 (38,730) (2,587) 6,189 (33,647)
Net income (loss) per share? $ 0.04 $ (0.20) $ (0.07) $ 0.13 $ (0.99)
Fiscal 1994

Online service revenues $14,299 $20,292 $28,853 $37,549 $100,993
Other revenues 4,780 4,239 2,836 2,874 14,729
Total revenues 19,079 24,531 31,689 40,423 115,722
Income from operations 531 520 1,931 1,626 4,608
Net income 303 70 1,272 905 2,550
Net income per share? $ 0.01 5 — $ 0.03 $ 0.02 $ 0.07

a. Historical financial information for amounts previously reported in fiscal 1995 has been adjusted to account for pooling of interest

transactions.

b. The sum of per-share earnings (loss) does not equal earnings (loss) per share for the year due to equivalent share calculations which are
impacted by the Company’s loss in 1995 and by fluctuations in the Company’s common stock market prices.



Overview of Accounting Analysis

-I-he purpose of accounting analysisis to evaluate the degree to which
afirm’saccounting capturesits underlying businessreality.! By identifying placeswhere
there is accounting flexibility, and by evaluating the appropriateness of the firm's ac-
counting policies and estimates, analysts can assess the degree of distortion in afirm’s
accounting numbers. Another important skill is recasting a firm's accounting numbers
using cash flow and footnote information to “undo” any accounting distortions. Sound
accounting analysis improves the reliability of conclusions from financial analysis, the
next step in financial statement analysis.

THE INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK
FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

There istypically a separation between ownership and management in public corpora-
tions. Financial statements serve as the vehicle through which owners keep track of their
firms' financial situation. On a periodic basis, firmstypically produce three financial re-
ports : (1) an income statement that describes the operating performance during atime
period, (2) abalance sheet that statesthe firm’'s assets and how they are financed, and (3)
acash flow statement (or in some countries, afunds flow statement) that summarizesthe
cash flows of the firm. These statements are accompanied by several footnotes and a
message and narrative discussion written by the management.

To evaluate effectively the quality of a firm's financial statement data, the analyst
needs to first understand the basic features of financial reporting and the institutional
framework that governs them, as discussed in the following sections.

Building Blocks of Accrual Accounting

One of the fundamental features of corporate financial reportsis that they are prepared
using accrual rather than cash accounting. Unlike cash accounting, accrual accounting
distinguishes between the recording of costs and benefits associated with economic ac-
tivities and the actual payment and receipt of cash. Net income is the primary periodic
performance index under accrual accounting. To compute net income, the effects of eco-
nomic transactions are recorded on the basis of expected, not necessarily actual, cash re-
ceipts and payments. Expected cash receipts from the delivery of products or services
are recognized as revenues, and expected cash outflows associated with these revenues
are recognized as expenses.
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While there are many rules and conventionsthat govern afirm’s preparation of finan-
cia statements, there are only afew conceptual building blocks that form the foundation
of accrual accounting. The principlesthat define afirm’'s assets, liabilities, equities, rev-
enues, and expenses are as follows*:

* Assetsare economic resources owned by afirm that (a) are likely to produce future
economic benefits and (b) are measurable with a reasonable degree of certainty.

« Liabilities are economic obligations of afirm arising from benefits received in the
past that are () required to be met with a reasonable degree of certainty and (b) at
areasonably well-defined time in the future.

 Equity isthe difference between afirm’'s net assets and its liabilities.

The definitions of assets, liabilities, and equity lead to the fundamental relationship
that governs a firm's balance sheet:

Assets = Liabilities + Equity

While the balance sheet isasummary at one point in time, theincome statement sum-
marizes afirm’s revenues and expenses and its gains and losses arising from changesin
assets and liabilities in accord with the following definitions:

» Revenues are economic resources earned during a time period. Revenue recogni-
tion is governed by the realization principle, which proposes that revenues should
be recognized when (@) the firm has provided al, or substantially all, the goods or
services to be delivered to the customer and (b) the customer has paid cash or is
expected to pay cash with areasonable degree of certainty.

» Expenses are economic resources used up in atime period. Expense recognitionis
governed by the matching and the conservatism principles. Under these principles,
expenses are (a) costs directly associated with revenues recognized in the same pe-
riod, or (b) costs associated with benefits that are consumed in this time period, or
(c) resources whose future benefits are not reasonably certain.

« Profit isthe difference between afirm’s revenues and expenses in atime period.

Chapters 4 through 7 discuss the key isues to consider for analyzing accounting poli-
ciesand estimatesreflected in thefinancial statements. The chapters present each financial
statement account type (assets, liabilities, equity, revenues, and expenses) separately to re-
flect the way that analysts typically approach financia statements. Obviously, however,
there are close links between these types of accounts; these are noted where appropriate.

Delegation of Reporting to Management

While the basic definitions of the elements of a firm’s financial statements are smple,
their application in practice often involves complex judgments. For example, how
should revenues be recognized when a firm sells land to customers and also provides
customer financing? If revenue is recognized before cash is collected, how should
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potential defaults be estimated? Are the outlays associated with research and develop-
ment activities, whose payoffs are uncertain, assets or expenses when incurred? Do fre-
quent flyer reward programs create accounting liabilities for airline companies? If so,
when and at what value?

Because corporate managers have intimate knowledge of their firms' businesses, they
are entrusted with the primary task of making the appropriate judgments in portraying
myriad business transactions using the basic accrual accounting framework. The ac-
counting discretion granted to managers is potentially valuable because it allows them
to reflect inside information in reported financial statements. However, since investors
view profits as ameasure of managers' performance, managers have an incentive to use
their accounting discretion to distort reported profits by making biased assumptions.
Further, the use of accounting numbers in contracts between the firm and outsiders pro-
vides a motivation for management manipulation of accounting numbers.

Earnings management distorts financial accounting data, making them less valuable
to external users of financial statements. Therefore, the delegation of financial reporting
decisions to managers has both costs and benefits. Accounting rules and auditing are
mechanisms designed to reduce the cost and preserve the benefit of delegating financial
reporting to corporate managers.

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

Given that it is difficult for outside investors to determine whether managers have used
their accounting flexibility to signal their proprietary information or merely to disguise
reality, a number of accounting conventions have evolved to mitigate the problem. Ac-
counting conventions and standards promulgated by the standard-setting bodies limit
potential distortions that managers can introduce into reported accounting numbers. In
the United States, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) has the legal author-
ity to set accounting standards. The SEC typically relies on private sector accounting
bodies to undertake thistask. Since 1973 accounting standardsin the United States have
been set by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). There are similar private
sector or public sector accounting standard-setting bodies in many other countries. In
addition, the International Accounting Standards Committee (1ASC) has been attempting
to set worldwide accounting standards, though 1ASC’s pronouncements are not legally
binding as of now.

Uniform accounting standards attempt to reduce managers’ ability to record similar
economic transactionsin dissimilar ways either over time or acrossfirms. Thusthey cre-
ate auniform accounting language and increase the credibility of financial statements by
limiting afirm’s ability to distort them. Increased uniformity from accounting standards,
however, comes at the expense of reduced flexibility for managers to reflect genuine
business differences in afirm’s accounting decisions. Rigid accounting standards work
best for economic transactions whose accounting treatment is not predicated on manag-
ers’ proprietary information. However, when there is a significant business judgment
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involved in ng atransaction’s economic consequences, rigid standards are likely
to be dysfunctional, because they prevent managers from using their superior business
knowledge. Further, if accounting standards are too rigid, they may induce managersto
expend economic resources to restructure business transactions to achieve adesired ac-
counting result.

External Auditing

Broadly defined as a verification of the integrity of the reported financial statements by
someone other than the preparer, external auditing ensures that managers use accounting
rulesand conventions consistently over time, and that their accounting estimates are rea-
sonable. Inthe U.S,, all listed companies are required to have their financial statements
audited by an independent public accountant. The standards and procedures to be fol-
lowed by independent auditors are set by the American Institute of Certified Public Ac-
countants (AICPA). These standards are known as Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards (GAAS). While auditorsissue an opinion on published financial statements, it
is important to remember that the primary responsibility for the statements still rests
with corporate managers.

Auditing improves the quality and credibility of accounting data by limiting afirm’'s
ability to distort financial statements to suit its own purposes. However, third-party au-
diting may also reduce the quality of financial reporting because it constrains the kind
of accounting rules and conventions that evolve over time. For example, the FASB con-
siders the views of auditors in the standard-setting process. Auditors are likely to argue
against accounting standards that produce numbers which are difficult to audit, even if
the proposed rules produce relevant information for investors.

Legal Liability

The legal environment in which accounting disputes between managers, auditors, and
investors are adjudicated can aso have a significant effect on the quality of reported
numbers. The threat of lawsuits and resulting penalties have the beneficial effect of im-
proving the accuracy of disclosure. However, the potential for asignificant legal liability
might also discourage managers and auditors from supporting accounting proposals re-
quiring risky forecasts, such as forward looking disclosures. Thistype of concern is of-
ten expressed by the auditing community in the U.S.

Limitations of Accounting Anaysis

Because the mechanisms that limit managers’ ability to distort accounting data them-
selves add noise, it is not optimal to use accounting regulation to eliminate managerial
flexibility completely. Therefore, real-world accounting systems leave considerable
room for managers to influence financial statement data. The net result is that informa-
tionin corporate financial reportsisnoisy and biased, even in the presence of accounting
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regulation and external auditing.* The objective of accounting analysisisto evaluate the
degree to which afirm’s accounting captures its underlying business reality and to “un-
do” any accounting distortions. When potential distortionsare large, accounting analysis
can add considerable value.

Factors Influencing Accounting Quality

There are three potential sources of noise and bias in accounting data: (1) the noise and
bias introduced by rigidity in accounting rules, (2) random forecast errors, and (3) sys-
tematic reporting choices made by corporate managers to achieve specific objectives.
Each of these factorsis discussed below.

ACCOUNTING RULES. Accounting rulesintroduce noise and bias because it is often
difficult to restrict management discretion without reducing the information content of
accounting data. For example, the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 2
issued by the FASB requires firms to expense research outlays when they are incurred.
Clearly, some research expenditures have future value while others do not. However, be-
cause SFAS No. 2 does not allow firms to distinguish between the two types of expendi-
tures, it leads to a systematic distortion of reported accounting numbers. Broadly
speaking, the degree of distortion introduced by accounting standards depends on how
well uniform accounting standards capture the nature of afirm's transactions.

FORECAST ERRORS. Another source of noise in accounting data arises from pure
forecast error, because managers cannot predict future consequences of current transac-
tions perfectly. For example, when afirm sells products on credit, accrual accounting re-
quires managers to make a judgment on the probability of collecting payments from
customers. If payments are deemed “reasonably certain,” the firm treats the transactions
as sales, creating accounts receivable on its balance sheet. Managers then make an esti-
mate of the proportion of receivables that will not be collected. Because managers do
not have perfect foresight, actual defaults are likely to be different from estimated cus-
tomer defaults, leading to aforecast error. The extent of errorsin managers accounting
forecasts depends on avariety of factors, including the complexity of the businesstrans-
actions, the predictability of the firm's environment, and unforeseen economy-wide
changes.

MANAGERS ACCOUNTING CHOICES. Corporate managers also introduce noise
and bias into accounting data through their own accounting decisions. Managers have a
variety of incentivesto exercise their accounting discretion to achieve certain objectives,
leading to systematic influences on their firms' reporting®:

« Accounting-based debt covenants. Managers may make accounting decisions to
meet certain contractual obligations in their debt covenants. For example, firms
lending agreements with banks and other debt holders require them to meet cove-
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nants related to interest coverage, working capital ratios, and net worth, al defined
in terms of accounting numbers. Violation of these constraints may be costly be-
cause it allows lenders to demand immediate payment of their loans. Managers of
firms close to violating debt covenants have an incentive to select accounting pol-
icies and estimates to reduce the probability of covenant violation. The debt cove-
nant motivation for managers’ accounting decisions has been analyzed by anumber
of accounting researchers.”

Management compensation. Another motivation for managers’ accounting choice
comes from the fact that their compensation and job security are often tied to re-
ported profits. For example, many top managers receive bonus compensation if
they exceed certain prespecified profit targets. This provides motivation for man-
agersto choose accounting policies and estimates to maximize their expected com-
pensation.®

Corporate control contests. In corporate control contests, including hostile take-
overs and proxy fights, competing management groups attempt to win over the
firm’s shareholders. Accounting numbers are used extensively in debating manag-
ers’ performance in these contests. Therefore, managers may make accounting de-
cisions to influence investor perceptionsin corporate control contests.®

Tax considerations. Managers may also make reporting choices to trade off be-
tween financial reporting and tax considerations. For example, U.S. firms are re-
quired to use LIFO inventory accounting for shareholder reporting in order to use it
for tax reporting. Under LIFO, when prices are rising, firms report lower profits,
thereby reducing tax payments. Some firms may forgo the tax reduction in order to
report higher profitsin their financial statements.?®

Regulatory considerations. Since accounting numbers are used by regulatorsin a
variety of contexts, managers of some firms may make accounting decisionsto in-
fluence regulatory outcomes. Examples of regulatory situations where accounting
numbers are used include antitrust actions, import tariffsto protect domestic indus-
tries, and tax policies.*t

Capital market considerations. Managers may make accounting decisionsto influ-
ence the perceptions of capital markets. When there are information asymmetries
between managers and outsiders, this strategy may succeed in influencing investor
perceptions, at |east temporarily.1?

Sakeholder considerations. Managers may also make accounting decisionsto in-
fluence the perception of important stakeholders in the firm. For example, since
labor unions can use healthy profits as abasis for demanding wage increases, man-
agers may make accounting decisions to decrease income when they are facing
union contract negotiations. In countries like Germany, where labor unions are
strong, these considerations appear to play an important role in firms' accounting
policy. Other important stakeholdersthat firms may wish to influence through their
financial reportsinclude suppliers and customers.

Competitive considerations. The dynamics of competition in anindustry might also
influence a firm's reporting choices. For example, a firm’'s segment disclosure
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decisions may be influenced by its concern that disaggregated disclosure may help
competitors in their business decisions. Similarly, firms may not disclose data on
their margins by product line for fear of giving away proprietary information.
Finally, firms may discourage new entrants by making income-decreasing account-
ing choices.

In addition to accounting policy choices and estimates, the level of disclosureisalso
an important determinant of afirm’saccounting quality. Corporate managers can choose
disclosure policiesthat make it more or less costly for external users of financial reports
to understand the true economic picture of their businesses. Accounting regulations usu-
ally prescribe minimum disclosure requirements, but they do not restrict managers from
voluntarily providing additional disclosures. Managers can use various parts of the fi-
nancial reports, including the Letter to the Shareholders, Management Discussion and
Analysis, and footnotes, to describe the company’s strategy, its accounting policies, and
its current performance. Thereiswide variation across firmsin how managers use their
disclosure flexibility.'3

DOING ACCOUNTING ANALYSIS

In this section we will discuss a series of steps that an analyst can follow to evaluate a
firm’'s accounting quality. In the subsequent five chapters, these concepts are illustrated
for the analysis of assets, liabilities and equity, revenues, expenses, and business entity
accounting.

Step 1. Identify Key Accounting Policies

As discussed in the chapter on business strategy analysis, a firm’s industry characteris-
tics and its own competitive strategy determine its key success factors and risks. One of
the goals of financial statement analysisisto evaluate how well these successfactorsand
risks are being managed by the firm. In accounting analysis, therefore, the analyst should
identify and evaluate the policies and the estimates the firm uses to measure its critical
factors and risks.

For example, one of the key success factors in the leasing business is to make accu-
rate forecasts of residual values of the leased equipment at the end of the lease terms.
For afirm in the equipment leasing industry, therefore, one of the most important ac-
counting policiesisthe way residual values are recorded. Residua values influence the
company’s reported profits and its asset base. If residual values are overestimated, the
firm runs the risk of having to take large write-offs in the future.

Key success factors in the banking industry include interest and credit risk manage-
ment; in theretail industry, inventory management isakey successfactor; and for aman-
ufacturer competing on product quality and innovation, research and development and
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product defects after the sale are key areas of concern. In each of these cases, the analyst
has to identify the accounting measures the firm uses to capture these business con-
structs, the policies that determine how the measures are implemented, and the key esti-
mates embedded in these policies. For example, the accounting measure a bank usesto
capture credit risk is its loan loss reserves, and the accounting measure that captures
product quality for a manufacturer is its warranty expenses and reserves.

Step 2: Assess Accounting Flexibility

Not all firms have equal flexibility in choosing their key accounting policies and esti-
mates. Some firms’ accounting choice is severely constrained by accounting standards
and conventions. For example, even though research and development is a key success
factor for biotechnology companies, managers have no accounting discretion in report-
ing on this activity. Similarly, even though marketing and brand building are key to the
success of consumer goods firms, they are required to expense all their marketing out-
lays. In contrast, managing credit risk is one of the critical successfactorsfor banks, and
bank managers have the freedom to estimate expected defaults on their loans. Similarly,
software developers have the flexibility to decide at what points in their development
cycles the outlays can be capitalized.

If managers have little flexibility in choosing accounting policies and estimates re-
lated to their key success factors (asin the case of biotechnology firms), accounting data
are likely to be less informative for understanding the firm’s economics. In contrast, if
managers have considerable flexibility in choosing the policies and estimates (as in the
case of software developers), accounting numbers have the potential to be informative,
depending upon how managers exercise this flexihility.

Regardless of the degree of accounting flexibility afirm’s managers have in measur-
ing their key success factors and risks, they will have some flexibility with respect to
several other accounting policies. For example, al firms have to make choices with re-
spect to depreciation policy (straight-line or accel erated methods), inventory accounting
policy (LIFO, FIFO, or Average Cost), policy for amortizing goodwill (write-off over
forty years or less), and policies regarding the estimation of pension and other post-em-
ployment benefits (expected return on plan assets, discount rate for liabilities, and rate
of increase in wages and health care costs). Since all these policy choices can have asig-
nificant impact on the reported performance of afirm, they offer an opportunity for the
firm to manage its reported numbers.

Step 3: Evaluate Accounting Strategy

When managers have accounting flexibility, they can use it either to communicate their
firm’'s economic situation or to hide true performance. Some of the strategy questions
one could ask in examining how managers exercise their accounting flexibility include
the following:
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« How do the firm’ saccounting policies compareto the normsin theindustry? If they
aredissimilar, isit because the firm's competitive strategy is unique? For example,
consider afirm that reports alower warranty allowance than the industry average.
One explanation is that the firm competes on the basis of high quality and has in-
vested considerable resources to reduce the rate of product failure. An aternative
explanation is that the firm is merely understating its warranty liabilities.

Does management face strong incentives to use accounting discretion for earnings
management? For example, is the firm close to violating bond covenants? Or, are
the managers having difficulty meeting accounting-based bonus targets? Does
management own significant stock? Is the firm in the middle of a proxy fight or
union negotiations? Managers may aso make accounting decisions to reduce tax
payments, or to influence the perceptions of the firm’'s competitors.

Has the firm changed any of its policies or estimates? What is the justification?
What istheimpact of these changes? For example, if warranty expenses decreased,
isit because the firm made significant investments to improve quality?

Have the company’ s policies and estimates been realistic in the past? For example,
firms may overstate their revenues and understate their expenses during the year by
mani pulating quarterly reports, which are not subject to afull-blown external audit.
However, the auditing process at the end of the fiscal year forces such companies
to make large fourth-quarter adjustments, providing an opportunity for the analyst
to assess the quality of the firm’s interim reporting. Similarly, firms that expense
acquisition goodwill too slowly will be forced to take alarge write-off later. A his-
tory of write-offs may be, therefore, asign of prior earnings management.

Does the firm structure any significant business transactions so that it can achieve
certain accounting objectives? For example, leasing firms can ater lease terms (the
length of the lease or the bargain purchase option at the end of the lease term) so
that the transactions qualify as sales-type leasesfor the lessors. Firms may structure
atakeover transaction (equity financing rather than debt financing) so that they can
use the pooling of interests method rather than the purchase method of accounting.
Finally, afirm can alter theway it finances (coupon rate and the terms of conversion
for a convertible bond issue) so that its reported earnings per share is not diluted.
Such behavior may suggest that the firm’s managers are willing to expend eco-
nomic resources merely to achieve an accounting objective.

Step 4. Evaluate the Quality of Disclosure

Managers can make it more or less easy for an analyst to assess the firm's accounting
quality and to useitsfinancial statementsto understand business reality. While account-
ing rules require a certain amount of minimum disclosure, managers have considerable
choice in the matter. Disclosure quality, therefore, isan important dimension of afirm’s
accounting quality.

In assessing afirm'’s disclosure quality, an analyst could ask the following questions:
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Does the company provide adequate disclosures to assess the firm' s business strat-
egy and its economic consequences? For example, some firms use the L etter to the
Shareholdersin their annual report to clearly lay out the firm’ sindustry conditions,
its competitive position, and management’ s plansfor the future. Others use the L et-
ter to puff up the firm’sfinancial performance and gloss over any competitive dif-
ficulties the firm might be facing.

Do the footnotes adequately explain the key accounting policies and assumptions
and their logic? For example, if afirm’s revenue and expense recognition policies
differ from industry norms, the firm can explain its choicesin afootnote. Similarly,
when there are significant changesin afirm’s policies, footnotes can be used to dis-
close the reasons.

Does the firm adequately explain its current performance? The Management Dis-
cussion and Analysis section of the firm’sannual report provides an opportunity to
help analysts understand the reasons behind the firm’ s performance changes. Some
firms use this section to link financial performance to business conditions. For ex-
ample, if profit marginswent down in a period, was it because of price competition
or because of increases in manufacturing costs? If the selling and general adminis-
trative expenses went up, was it because the firm is investing in a differentiation
strategy, or because unproductive overhead expenses were cregping up?

If accounting rules and conventionsrestrict the firm from measuring its key success
factors appropriately, does the firm provide adequate additional disclosure to help
outsiders understand how these factors are being managed? For example, if afirm
invests in product quality and customer service, accounting rules do not allow the
management to capitalize these outlays, even when the future benefits are certain.
The firm's Management Discussion and Analysis can be used to highlight how
these outlays are being managed and their performance consequences. For exam-
ple, the firm can disclose physical indexes of defect rates and customer satisfaction
so that outsiders can assess the progress being made in these areas and the future
cash flow consequences of these actions.

If afirmisin multiple business segments, what isthe quality of segment disclosure?
Some firms provide excellent discussion of their performance by product segments
and geographic segments. Others lump many different businesses into one broad
segment. Thelevel of competition in an industry and management’ swillingnessto
share desegregated performance data influence afirm’s quality of segment disclo-
sure.

How forthcoming isthe management with respect to bad news? A firm’ s disclosure
quality ismost clearly reveal ed by the way management dealswith bad news. Does
it adequately explain the reasons for poor performance? Does the company clearly
articulate its strategy, if any, to address the company’ s performance problems?
How good is the firm's investor relations program? Does the firm provide fact
books with detailed data on the firm's business and performance? |'s the manage-
ment accessible to analysts?
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Step 5: Identify Potential Red Flags

In addition to the above analysis, a common approach to accounting quality analysisis
tolook for “red flags’ pointing to questionabl e accounting quality. These indicators sug-
gest that the analyst should examine certain items more closely or gather more informa-
tion on them. Some common red flags are:

Unexplained changes in accounting, especially when performance is poor. This
may suggest that managers are using their accounting discretion to “dress up” their
financial statements.'4

Unexplained transactions that boost profits. For example, firms might undertake
balance sheet transactions, such as asset sales or debt for equity swaps, to realize
gains in periods when operating performance is poor.®

Unusual increases in accounts receivable in relation to sales increases. This may
suggest that the company might be relaxing its credit policies or artificially loading
up its distribution channels to record revenues during the current period. If credit
policies are relaxed unduly, the firm may face receivable write-offs in the subse-
guent periods as a result of customer defaults. If the firm accel erates shipments to
the distribution channels, it may either face product returns or reduced shipments
in the subsequent periods.

Unusual increases in inventories in relation to sales increases. If the inventory
build-up isdueto an increase in finished goodsinventory, it could be asign that the
demand for the firm’s products is slowing down, suggesting that the firm may be
forced to cut prices (and hence earn lower margins) or write down itsinventory. A
build-up in work-in-progressinventory tendsto be good news on average, probably
signaling that managers expect an increase in sales. If the build-up isin raw mate-
rials, it could suggest manufacturing or procurement inefficiencies, leading to an
increase in cost of goods sold (and hence lower margins).

An increasing gap between a firm' s reported income and its cash flow from oper-
ating activities. Whileit islegitimate for accrual accounting numbersto differ from
cash flows, there isusually a steady relationship between the two if the company’s
accounting policies remain the same. Therefore, any change in the relationship be-
tween reported profits and operating cash flows might indicate subtle changes in
the firm’s accrual estimates. For example, a firm undertaking large construction
contracts might use the percentage-of-completion method to record revenues.
While earnings and operating cash flows are likely to differ for such a firm, they
should bear asteady relationship to each other. Now supposethe firmincreasesrev-
enues in a period through an aggressive application of the percentage-of-comple-
tion method. Thenitsearningswill go up, but its cash flow remainsunaffected. This
change in the firm’ s accounting quality will be manifested by a changein therela-
tionship between the firm’s earnings and cash flows.

An increasing gap between a firm's reported income and its tax income. Once
again, it is quite legitimate for afirm to follow different accounting policies for fi-
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nancial reporting and tax accounting, as long as the tax law allows it.}” However,
the relationship between afirm’'s book and tax accounting islikely to remain con-
stant over time, unless there are significant changesin tax rules or accounting stan-
dards. Thus, anincreasing gap between afirm’ sreported income and itstax income
may indicate that the firm's financial reporting to shareholders has become more
aggressive. Asan example, consider that warranty expenses are estimated on an ac-
crua basisfor financial reporting, but are recorded on a cash basisfor tax reporting.
Unless there is abig change in the firm’s product quality, these two numbers bear
a consistent relationship to each other. Therefore, a change in this relationship can
be an indication either that the product quality is changing significantly or that fi-
nancial reporting estimates are changing.

A tendency to use financing mechanisms like research and development partner-
ships and the sale of receivables with recourse. While these arrangements may
have asound businesslogic, they can also provide management with an opportunity
to understate the firm’ s liabilities and/or overstate its assets.'®

Unexpected large asset write-offs. This may suggest that management isslow toin-
corporate changing business circumstances into its accounting estimates. Asset
write-offs may also be aresult of unexpected changes in business circumstances.®
Largefourth-quarter adjustments. A firm’'sannual reports are audited by the exter-
nal auditors, but its interim financia statements are usualy only reviewed. If a
firm’s management is reluctant to make appropriate accounting estimates (such as
provisions for uncollectable receivables) in its interim statements, it could be
forced to make adjustments at the end of the year as a result of pressure from its
external auditors. A consistent pattern of fourth-quarter adjustments, therefore,
may indicate an aggressive management orientation towards interim reporting.?°
Qualified audit opinions or changes in independent auditors that are not well jus-
tified. These may indicate a firm's aggressive attitude or a tendency to “opinion
shop.”

Related-party transactions or transactions between related entities. These transac-
tions may lack the objectivity of the marketplace, and managers’ accounting esti-
mates related to these transactions are likely to be more subjective and potentially
self-serving.

While the preceding list provides a number of red flags for potentially poor account-
ing quality, it isimportant to do further analysis before reaching final conclusions. Each
of the red flags has multiple interpretations; some interpretations are based on sound
business reasons, and othersindicate questionable accounting. It is, therefore, best to use
the red flag analysis as astarting point for further probing, not as an end point in itself.?

Step 6: Undo Accounting Distortions

If the accounting analysis suggests that the firm's reported numbers are misleading,
analysts should attempt to restate the reported numbers to reduce the distortion to the
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extent possible. It is, of course, virtually impossible to undo all the distortion using out-
side information alone. However, some progress can be made in this direction by using
the cash flow statement and the financial statement footnotes.

A firm's cash flow statement provides a reconciliation of its performance based on
accrual accounting and cash accounting. If the analyst is unsure of the quality of the
firm’'saccrual accounting, the cash flow statement provides an aternative benchmark of
its performance. The cash flow statement also provides information on how individual
lineitemsin the income statement diverge from the underlying cash flows. For example,
if an analyst is concerned that the firm is aggressively capitalizing certain costs that
should be expensed, the information in the cash flow statement provides a basisto make
the necessary adjustment.

Financial statement footnotes also provide alot of information that is potentially use-
ful in restating reported accounting numbers. For example, when a firm changes its ac-
counting policies, it provides a footnote indicating the effect of that change if it is
material. Similarly, some firms provide information on the details of accrual estimates
such as the allowance for bad debts. The tax footnote usually provides information on
the differences between a firm’s accounting policies for shareholder reporting and tax
reporting. Since tax reporting is often more conservative than shareholder reporting, the
information in the tax footnote can be used to estimate what the earnings reported to
sharehol ders would be under more conservative policies.

ACCOUNTING ANALYSIS PITFALLS

There are several potential pitfalls in accounting analysis that an analyst should avoid.
First, it is important to remember that from an analyst's perspective, conservative ac-
counting is not the same as“good” accounting. Financial analysts are interested in eval-
uating how well afirm’s accounting captures businessreality in an unbiased manner, and
conservative accounting can be as misleading as aggressive accounting in this respect.
Further, conservative accounting often provides managers with opportunities for “in-
come smoothing.” Income smoothing may prevent analysts from recognizing poor per-
formance in atimely fashion.

A second potential mistake is to confuse unusual accounting with questionable ac-
counting. While unusual accounting choices might make a firm's performance difficult
to compare with other firms' performance, such an accounting choice might be justified
if the company’s businessis unusual. For example, firmsthat follow differentiated strat-
egies or firms that structure their business in an innovative manner to take advantage of
particular market situations may make unusual accounting choices to properly reflect
their business. Therefore, it isimportant to evaluate a company’s accounting choicesin
the context of its business strategy.

Another potential pitfall in accounting analysis arises when an analyst attributes all
changesin afirm’s accounting policies and accruals to earnings management motives.?
Accounting changes might be merely reflecting changed business circumstances. For
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example, asalready discussed, afirm that shows unusual increasesin itsinventory might
be preparing for a new product introduction. Similarly, unusual increasesin receivables
might merely be due to changes in afirm's sales strategy. Unusual decreases in the al-
lowance for uncollectabl e receivables might be reflecting a firm's changed customer fo-
cus. It is therefore important for an analyst to consider all possible explanations for
accounting changes and investigate them using the qualitative information available in
afirm’'sfinancial statements.

VALUE OF ACCOUNTING DATA AND ACCOUNTING ANALY SIS

What is the value of accounting information and accounting analysis? Given the incen-
tives and opportunities for managersto affect their firms' reported accounting numbers,
some have argued that accounting data and accounting analysis are not likely to be use-
ful for investors.

Researchers have examined the value of accounting by estimating the return that
could be earned by an investor with perfect earnings foresight one year prior to an earn-
ings announcement.? The findings show that by buying stocks of firms with increased
earnings and selling stocks of firms with decreased earnings each year, a hypothetical
investor could earn an average portfolio return of 37.5 percent in the period 1954 to
1996. This is equivalent to 44 percent of the return that could have been earned if the
investor had perfect foresight of the stock price itself for one year, and bought stocks
with increased prices and sold stocks whose price decreased. Perfect foresight of ROE
permits the investor to earn an even higher rate of return, 43 percent, than perfect earn-
ings foresight. This is equivalent to 50 percent of the return that could be earned with
perfect stock price foresight.

In contrast, cash flow data appear to be considerably less valuable than earnings or
ROE information. Perfect foresight of cash flows from operations would permit the hy-
pothetical investor to earn an average annual return of only 9 percent, equivalent to
11 percent of the return that could be earned with perfect foresight of stock prices.

Overall, this research suggests that the ingtitutional arrangements and conventions
created to mitigate potential misuse of accounting by managers are effective in provid-
ing assurance to investors. The research indicates that investors do not view earnings
management as so pervasive as to make earnings data unreliable.

A number of research studies have examined whether superior accounting analysisis
avaluable activity. By and large, this evidence indicates that there are opportunities for
superior analysts to earn positive stock returns. Research findings indicate that compa-
nies criticized in the financial press for misleading financial reporting subsequently
suffered an average stock price drop of 8 percent.?* Firms where managers appeared to
inflate reported earnings prior to an equity issue and subsequently reported poor earn-
ings performance had more negative stock performance after the offer than firms with
no apparent earnings management. Finally, firms subject to SEC investigation for earn-
ings management showed an average stock price decline of 9 percent when the earnings
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management was first announced and continued to have poor stock performance for up
to two years.?®

These findings imply that analysts who are able to identify firms with misleading ac-
counting are able to create value for investors. The findings also indicate that the stock
market ultimately sees through earnings management. For all of these cases, earnings
management is eventually uncovered and the stock price responds negatively to evi-
dence that firms have inflated prior earnings through misleading accounting.

SUMMARY

In summary, accounting analysis is an important step in the process of analyzing corpo-
rate financial reports. The purpose of accounting analysis is to evaluate the degree to
which a firm's accounting captures the underlying business reality. Sound accounting
analysis improves the reliability of conclusions from financial analysis, the next step in
financial statement analysis.

There are six key steps in accounting analysis. The analyst begins by identifying the
key accounting policies and estimates, given thefirm’sindustry and its business strategy.
The second step is to evaluate the degree of flexihility available to managers, given the
accounting rules and conventions. Next, the analyst has to eval uate how managers exer-
cise their accounting flexibility and the likely motivations behind managers accounting
strategy. The fourth step involves assessing the depth and quality of afirm’sdisclosures.
The analyst should next identify any red flags needing further investigation. Thefinal ac-
counting analysis step isto restate accounting numbers to remove any noise and biasin-
troduced by the accounting rules and management decisions.

The subsequent five chapters apply these conceptsto the analysis of assets, liabilities
and equity, revenues, expenses, and business entity accounting.

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

1. A finance student states, “1 don’t understand why anyone pays any attention to ac-
counting earnings numbers, given that a‘clean’ number like cash from operationsis
readily available.” Do you agree? Why or why not?

2. Fred argues, “The standards that | like most are the ones that eliminate all manage-
ment discretion in reporting—that way | get uniform numbers across all companies
and don’t have to worry about doing accounting analysis.” Do you agree? Why or
why not?

3. Bill Simon says, “We should get rid of the FASB and SEC, since free market forces
will make sure that companies report reliable information.” Do you agree? Why or
why not?

4. Many firms recognize revenues at the point of shipment. This provides an incentive
to accelerate revenues by shipping goods at the end of the quarter. Consider two com-
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panies, one of which shipsits product evenly throughout the quarter, and the second
of which ships al its products in the last two weeks of the quarter. Each company’s
customers pay thirty days after receiving shipment. How can you distinguish these
companies, using accounting ratios?

5. a. If management reports truthfully, what economic events are likely to prompt the

following accounting changes?
» Increasein the estimated life of depreciable assets
» Decreasein the uncollectibles allowance as a percentage of gross receivables
» Recognition of revenues at the point of delivery, rather than at the point cashis
received

» Capitalization of a higher proportion of software R&D costs

b. What features of accounting, if any, would make it costly for dishonest managers
to make the same changes without any corresponding economic changes?

6. The conservatism principle arises because of concerns about management’s incen-
tivesto overstate thefirm’s performance. Joe Banksargues, “We could get rid of con-
servatism and make accounting numbers more useful if we delegated financial
reporting to independent auditors rather than to corporate managers.” Do you agree?
Why or why not?

7. A fund manager states, “| refuseto buy any company that makes avoluntary account-
ing change, since it's certainly the case that its management is trying to hide bad
news.” Can you think of any aternative interpretation?

NOTES

1. Accounting analysisis sometimes also called quality of earnings analysis. We prefer to use
the term accounting analysis, since we are discussing abroader concept than merely afirm’searn-
ings quality.

2. These definitions paraphrase those of the Financial Accounting Standards Board, Statement
of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 6, “Elements of Financial Statements’ (1985). Our intent
isto present the definitions at a conceptual, not technical, level. For more complete discussion of
these and related concepts, see the FASB’ s Statements of Financial Accounting Concepts.

3. Strictly speaking, the comprehensive net income of a firm also includes gains and losses
from increases and decreases in equity from nonoperating activities or extraordinary items.

4. Thus, although accrual accounting istheoretically superior to cash accounting in measuring
afirm’speriodic performance, the distortionsit introduces can make accounting dataless valuable
to users. If these distortions are large enough, current cash flows may measure a firm's periodic
performance better than accounting profits. The relative usefulness of cash flows and accounting
profits in measuring performance, therefore, varies from firm to firm. For empirical evidence on
thisissue, see“ Accounting earnings and cash flows as measures of firm performance: Therole of
accounting accruals’ by Patricia M. Dechow, Journal of Accounting and Economics 18, 1994.

5. For example, Abraham Brilloff wrote a series of accounting analyses of public companies
in Barron’'s over several years. On average, the stock prices of the analyzed companies changed
by about 8 percent on the day these articles were published, indicating the potential value of
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performing such analysis. For a more complete discussion of this evidence, see “Brilloff and the
Capital Market: Further Evidence” by George Foster, Stanford University, working paper, 1985.

6. For acomplete discussion of these motivations, see Positive Accounting Theory by Ross L.
Watts and Jerold L. Zimmerman (Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1986).

7. The most convincing evidence supporting the covenant hypothesisis reported in a study of
the accounting decisions by firmsin financial distress: “ Debt-covenant violations and managers
accounting responses,” Amy Patricia Sweeney, Journal of Accounting and Economics 17, 1994.

8. Studies that examine the bonus hypothesis report evidence supporting the view that manag-
ers’ accounting decisions are influenced by compensation considerations. See, for example, “The
effect of bonus schemes on accounting decisions,” Paul M. Healy, Journal of Accounting and
Economics 12, 1985; R. Holthausen, D. Larcker, and R. Sloan, 1995, “ Annua Bonus Schemes
and the Manipulation of Earnings,” Journal of Accounting and Economics 19: 29-74; and Flora
Guidry, Andrew Leone, and Steve Rock, 1998, “Earnings-Based Bonus Plans and Earnings Man-
agement by Business Unit Managers,” Journal of Accounting and Economics, forthcoming.

9. “Manageria competition, information costs, and corporate governance: The use of account-
ing performance measures in proxy contests,” Linda DeAngelo, Journal of Accounting and Eco-
nomics 10, 1988.

10. Thetrade-off between taxes and financial reporting in the context of managers accounting
decisionsisdiscussed in detail in Taxes and Business Strategy by Myron Scholes and Mark Wolf-
son (Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1992). Many empirical studies have examined firms
LIFO/FIFO choices.

11. Several researchers have documented that firms affected by such situations have a motiva
tion to influence regulators’ perceptions through accounting decisions. For example, J. Jones doc-
uments that firms seeking import protections make income-decreasing accounting decisions in
“Earnings management during import relief investigations,” Journal of Accounting Research 29,
1991. A number of studiesfind that banksthat are close to minimum capital requirements overstate
loan loss provisions, understate loan write-offs, and recogni ze abnormal realized gains on securities
portfolios (see S. Moyer, 1990, “Capita Adequacy Ratio Regulations and Accounting Choicesin
Commercia Banks,” Journal of Accounting and Economics 12: 123-154; M. Scholes, G. P. Wil-
son, and M. Wolfson, 1990, “Tax Planning, Regulatory Capital Planning, and Financial Reporting
Strategy for Commercial Banks,” Review of Financial Sudies 3: 625-650; A. Beatty, S. Chamber-
lain, and J. Magliolo, 1995, “Managing Financial Reports of Commercial Banks: The Influence of
Taxes, Regulatory Capital and Earnings,” Journal of Accounting Research 33, No. 2: 231-261; and
J. Collins, D. Shackelford, and J. Wahlen, 1995, “Bank Differences in the Coordination of Regu-
latory Capital, Earningsand Taxes,” Journal of Accounting Research 33, No. 2: 263-291). Findly,
Petroni finds that financially weak property-casualty insurers that risk regulatory attention under-
state claim loss reserves: K. R. Petroni, 1992, “Optimistic Reporting in the Property Casualty In-
surance Industry,” Journal of Accounting and Economics 15: 485-508.

12. “Theeffect of firms' financial disclosure strategies on stock prices,” Paul Healy and Krish-
na Palepu, Accounting Horizons 7, 1993. For a summary of the empirical evidence, see P. Healy
and J. Wahlen, “Earnings Management,” (Harvard Business School, working paper, 1999).

13. Financial analysts pay close attention to managers' disclosure strategies; the Financial An-
alysts' Federation publishes annually areport evaluating them in U.S. firms. For a discussion of
these ratings, see “ Cross-sectional Determinants of Analysts' Ratings of Corporate Disclosures’
by Mark Lang and Russ Lundholm, Journal of Accounting Research 31, Autumn 1993: 246-271.

14. For adetailed analysis of acompany that made such changes, see“ Anatomy of an Account-
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ing Change” by Krishna Palepu in Accounting & Management: Field Study Perspectives, edited
by William J. Bruns, Jr. and Robert S. Kaplan (Boston: Harvard Business School Press, 1987).

15. An example of thistype of behavior is documented by John Hand in his study, “Did Firms
Undertake Debt-Equity Swaps for an Accounting Paper Profit or True Financial Gain?,” The Ac-
counting Review 64, October 1989.

16. For an empirical analysis of inventory build-ups, see “Do Inventory Disclosures Predict
Sales and Earnings?’ by Victor Bernard and James Noel, Journal of Accounting, Auditing, and
Finance, Fall 1991.

17. Thisistrue by and large in the United States and in several other countries. However, in
some countries, such as Germany and Japan, tax accounting and financial reporting are closely
tied together, and this particular red flag is not very meaningful.

18. For research on accounting and economic incentivesin theformation of R& D partnerships,
see “Motives for Forming Research and Development Financing Organizations’ by Anne Begtty,
Philip G. Berger, and Joseph Magliolo, Journal of Accounting & Economics 19, 1995.

19. For anempirical examination of asset write-offs, see“Write-offs as Accounting Procedures
to Manage Perceptions’ by John A. Elliott and Wayne H. Shaw, Journal of Accounting Research,
Supplement, 1988.

20. Richard R. Mendenhall and William D. Nichols report evidence consistent with the hy-
pothesis that managers take advantage of their discretion to postpone reporting bad news until the
fourth quarter. See “Bad News and Differential Market Reactions to Announcements of Earlier-
Quarter versus Fourth-Quarter Earnings,” Journal of Accounting Research, Supplement, 1988.

21. Thistype of analysisis presented in the context of provisions for bad debts by Maureen
McNicholsand G. Peter Wilson in their study, “ Evidence of Earnings Management from the Pro-
visions for Bad Debts,” Journal of Accounting Research, Supplement, 1988.

22. Thispoint has been made by several accounting researchers. For asummary of research on
earnings management, see“ Earnings Management” by Katherine Schipper, Accounting Horizons,
December 1989: 91-102.

23. See James Chang, 1998, “The Declinein Value Relevance of Earnings and Book Values,”
Unpublished dissertation, Harvard University. Similar evidence is reported by J. Francis and K.
Schipper, 1998, “Have Financial Statements Lost Their Relevance?,” working paper, University
of Chicago; and W. E. Callins, E. Maydew, and |. Weiss, 1997, “ Changes in the Value-Relevance
of Earnings and Book Value over the Past Forty Y ears, Journal of Accounting and Economics 24:
39-67.

24. SeeG. Foster, 1979, “Briloff and the Capital Market,” Journal of Accounting Research 17
(Spring): 262-274.

25. See S. H. Teoh, I. Welch, and T. J. Wong, 1998a, “ Earnings Management and the Long-
Run Market Performance of Initial Public Offerings,” Journal of Finance 53, No. 6, December
1998: 1935-1974; S. H. Teoh, |. Welch, and T. J. Wong, 1998b, “ Earnings Management and the
Post-1ssue Underperformance of Seasoned Equity Offerings,” Journal of Financial Economics
50, No. 1, October 1998: 63-99; and S. H. Teoh, T. J. Wong, and G. Rao, 1998, “Incentives and
Opportunities for Earnings Management in Initial Public Offerings,” Review of Accounting Stud-
ies, forthcoming.

26. SeePatricia Dechow, Richard G. Sloan, and Amy P. Sweeney, 1996, “ Causes and Conse-
quences of Earnings Manipulation: An Analysis of Firms Subject to Enforcement Actions by the
SEC,” Contemporary Accounting Research 13, No. 1: 1-36; and M. D. Beneish, 1997, “ Detecting
GAAP Violation: Implications for Assessing Earnings Management among Firms with Extreme
Financial Performance,” Journal of Accounting and Public Policy 16: 271-309.



Harnischfeger Corporation

I n February 1985, Peter Roberts, the research director of Exeter Group,
asmall Boston-based investment advisory service specializing in turnaround stocks, was
reviewing the 1984 annual report of Harnischfeger Corporation (Exhibit 4). His atten-
tion was drawn by the $1.28 per share net profit Harnischfeger reported for 1984. He
knew that barely three years earlier the company had faced asevere financial crisis. Har-
nischfeger had defaulted on its debt and stopped dividend payments after reporting a
hefty $7.64 per sharenet lossin fiscal 1982. The company’s poor performance continued
in 1983, leading to a net loss of $3.49 per share. Roberts was intrigued by Harnisch-
feger’s rapid turnaround and wondered whether he should recommend purchase of the
company’s stock (see Exhibit 3 for selected data on Harnischfeger’s stock).

COMPANY BUSINESS AND PRODUCTS

Harnischfeger Corporation was a machinery company based in Milwaukee, Wisconsin.
The company had originally been started as a partnership in 1884 and was incorporated
inWisconsin in 1910 under the name Pawling and Harnischfeger. Its name was changed
to the present onein 1924. The company went public in 1929 and was listed on the New
York Stock Exchange.

The company’s two major segments were the P& H Heavy Equipment Group, con-
sisting of the Construction Equipment and the Mining and Electrical Equipment divi-
sions, and the Industrial Technologies Group, consisting of the Material Handling
Equipment and the Harnischfeger Engineers divisions. The sales mix of the company in
1983 consisted of: Construction Equipment 32 percent; Mining and Electrical Equip-
ment 33 percent, Material Handling Equipment 29 percent, and Harnischfeger Engi-
neers 6 percent.

Harnischfeger was a leading producer of construction equipment. Its products, bear-
ing the widely recognized brand name P& H, included hydraulic cranes and | attice boom
cranes. These were used in bridge and highway construction and for cargo and other
material handling applications. Harnischfeger had market shares of about 20 percent in
hydraulic cranes and about 30 percent in lattice boom cranes. In the 1980s the construc-
tion equipment industry in general was experiencing declining margins.

Professor Krishna Palepu prepared this case as the basis for class discussion rather than to illustrate either effective
or ineffective handling of an administrative situation. Copyright © 1985 by the President and Fellows of Harvard
College. Harvard Business School case 9-186-160.
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Electric mining shovels and excavators constituted the principal products of the Min-
ing and Electrical Equipment Division of Harnischfeger. The company had a dominant
share of the mining machinery market. The company’s products were used in coal, cop-
per, and iron mining. A significant part of the division’s saleswere from the sale of spare
parts. Because of its large market share and the lucrative spare parts sales, the division
was traditionally very profitable. Most of the company’s future mining product sales
were expected to occur outside the United States, principally in devel oping countries.

The Material Handling Equipment Division of Harnischfeger was the fourth largest
supplier of automated material handling equipment, with a9 percent market share. The
division’s productsincluded overhead cranes, portal cranes, hoists, monorails, and com-
ponents and parts. The demand for this equipment was expected to grow in the coming
years as an increasing number of manufacturing firms emphasized cost reduction pro-
grams. Harnischfeger believed that the material handling equipment business would be
amajor source of its future growth.

Harnischfeger Engineers was an engineering services division engaged in design,
custom software devel opment, and project management for factory and distribution au-
tomation projects. The division engineered and installed complete automated material
handling systems for a wide variety of applications on a fee basis. The company ex-
pected such automated storage and retrieval systems to play an increasingly important
role in the “factory of the future.”

Harnischfeger had a number of subsidiaries, affiliated companies, and licenseesin a
number of countries. Export and foreign sales constituted more than 50 percent of the
total revenues of the company.

FINANCIAL DIFFICULTIES OF 1982

The machinery industry experienced a period of explosive growth during the 1970s.
Harnischfeger expanded rapidly during this period, growing from $205 millionin reve-
nuesin 1973 to $644 million in 1980. To fund this growth, the company relied increas-
ingly on debt financing, and the firm’'s debt/equity ratio rose from 0.88 in 1973 to 1.26
in 1980. The worldwide recession in the early 1980s caused a significant drop in demand
for the company’s products starting in 1981 and culminated in a series of events that
shook the financial stability of Harnischfeger.

Reduced sales and the high interest payments resulted in poor profit performance
leading to a reported loss in 1982 of $77 million. The management of Harnischfeger
commented on its financial difficulties:

There is a persistent weakness in the basic industries, both in the United Sates
and overseas, which have been large, traditional markets for P& H products. En-
ergy-related projects, which had been a major source of business of our Construc-
tion Equipment Division, have slowed significantly in the last year as a result of
lower oil demand and subsequent price decline, not only in the U.S. but through-
out the world. Lack of demand for such basic minerals as iron ore, copper and
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bauxite have decreased worldwide mining activity, causing reduced salesfor min-
ing equipment, although coal mining remains relatively strong worldwide. Diffi-
cult economic conditions have caused many of our normal customers to cut
capital expenditures dramatically, especially in such depressed sectors asthe steel
industry, which has always been a major source of salesfor all P& H products.

The significant operating losses recorded in 1982 and the credit losses experienced
by itsfinance subsidiary caused Harnischfeger to default on certain covenants of itsloan
agreements. The most restrictive provisions of the company’s |oan agreements required
it to maintain a minimum working capital of $175 million, consolidated net worth of
$180 million, and a ratio of current assets to current liabilities of 1.75. On October 31,
1982, the company’s working capital (after reclassification of about $115 million long-
term debt asacurrent liability) was $29.3 million, the consolidated net worth was $142.2
million, and the ratio of current assets to current liabilities was 1.12. Harnischfeger
Credit Corporation, an unconsolidated finance subsidiary, also defaulted on certain cov-
enants of its loan agreements, largely due to significant credit losses relating to the fi-
nancing of construction equipment sold to a large distributor. As a result of these
covenant violations, the company’s long-term debt of $124.3 million became due on de-
mand, the unused portion of the bank revolving credit line of $25.0 million became un-
available, and the unused short-term bank credit lines of $12.0 million were canceled. In
addition, the $25.1 million debt of Harnischfeger Credit Corporation aso became im-
mediately due. The company was forced to stop paying dividends and began negotia-
tions with its lenders to restructure its debt to permit operations to continue. Price
Waterhouse, the company’s audit firm, qualified its audit opinion on Harnischfeger's
1982 annual report with respect to the outcome of the company’s negotiations with its
lenders.

CORPORATE RECOVERY PLAN

Harnischfeger responded to the financial crisisfacing the firm by devel oping a corporate
recovery plan. The plan consisted of four elements: (1) changes in the top management,
(2) cost reductions to lower the break-even point, (3) reorientation of the company’s
business, and (4) debt restructuring and recapitalization. The actions taken in each of
these four areas are described below.

To deal effectively with thefinancial crisis, Henry Harnischfeger, then Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the company, created the position of Chief Operating Officer.
After an extensive search, the position was offered in August 1982 to William Goessel,
who had considerable experience in the machinery industry. Another addition to the
management team was Jeffrey Grade, who joined the company in 1983 as Senior Vice
President of Finance and Administration and Chief Financial Officer. Grade's appoint-
ment was necessitated by the early retirement of the previous Vice President of Finance
in 1982. The engineering, manufacturing, and marketing functions were also restruc-
tured to streamline the company’s operations (see Exhibits 1 and 2 for additional infor-
mation on Harnischfeger’s current management).
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To deal with the short-term liquidity squeeze, the company initiated a number of cost
reduction measures. These included (1) reducing the workforce from 6,900 to 3,800;
(2) eliminating management bonuses and reducing benefits and freezing wages of sala
ried and hourly employees; (3) liquidating excess inventories and stretching paymentsto
creditors; and (4) permanent closure of the construction equipment plant at Escanaba,
Michigan. These and other related measures improved the company’s cash position and
helped to reduce the rate of loss during fiscal 1983.

Concurrent with the above cost reduction measures, the new management made some
strategic decisionsto reorient Harnischfeger’s business. First, the company entered into
a long-term agreement with Kobe Steel, Ltd., of Japan. Under this agreement, Kobe
agreed to supply Harnischfeger's requirements for construction cranes for sae in the
United States as Harnischfeger phased out its own manufacture of cranes. This step was
expected to significantly reduce the manufacturing costs of Harnischfeger's construction
equipment, enabling it to compete effectively in the domestic market. Second, the com-
pany decided to emphasize the high technology part of its business by targeting for fu-
ture growth the materia handling equipment and systems business. To facilitate this
strategy, the Industrial Technol ogies Group was created. As part of the reorientation, the
company stated that it would develop and acquire new products, technology, and equip-
ment and would expand its abilities to provide computer-integrated solutions to han-
dling, storing, and retrieval in areas hitherto not pursued—industries such as distribution
warehousing, food, pharmaceuticals, and aerospace.

While Harnischfeger was implementing itsturnaround strategy, it was engaged at the
same time in complex and difficult negotiations with its bankers. On January 6, 1984,
the company entered into agreements with its lenders to restructure its debt obligations
into three-year term loans secured by fixed as well as other assets, with a one-year ex-
tension option. This agreement required, among other things, specified minimum levels
of cash and unpledged receivables, working capital, and net worth.

The company reported a net loss of $35 million in 1983, down from the $77 million
loss the year before. Based on the above devel opments during the year, in the 1983 an-
nual report the management expressed confidence that the company would return to
profitability soon:

We approach our second century with optimism, knowing that the negative events
of the last three years are behind us, and with a firm belief that positive achieve-
ments will be recorded in 1984. By the time the corporation celebrates its 100th
birthday on December 1, we are confident it will be operating profitably and at-
taining new levels of market strength and leadership.

During 1984 the company reported profits during each of the four quarters, ending
the year with a pre-tax operating profit of $5.7 million, and a net income after tax and
extraordinary credits of $15 million (see Exhibit 4). It a so raised substantial new capital
through a public offering of debentures and common stock. Net proceeds from the of -
fering, which totaled $150 million, were used to pay off al of the company’s restruc-
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tured debt. In the 1984 annual report the management commented on the company’s
performance as follows:

1984 was the Corporation’s Centennial year and we marked the occasion by
rededicating ourselves to excellence through market |eadership, customer service
and improved operating performance and profitability.

We look back with pride. We move ahead with confidence and optimism. Our
major markets have never been more competitive; however, we will strive to take
advantage of any and all opportunities for growth and to attain satisfactory prof-
itability. Collectively, we will do what hasto be done to ensure that the future will
be rewarding to all who have a part in our success.

QUESTIONS

1. Identify all the accounting policy changes and accounting estimates that Harnisch-
feger made during 1984. Estimate, as accurately as possible, the effect of these onthe
company’s 1984 reported profits.

2. What do you think are the motives of Harnischfeger’'s management in making the
changes in its financial reporting policies? Do you think investors will see through
these changes?

3. Assess the company’ s future prospects, given your insights from questions 1 and 2
and the information in the case about the company’ s turnaround strategy.



Overview of Accounting Analysis

106

panuiuod

000'C

29’119

000°G L

ENIN

00/

9861

9861

9861

G861

G861

G861

roe6l

Grél

2861

1861

€L61

1861

'9G 9By "¢G4 | 92Uls ‘shkauioyp ‘si||J @ PUDPIY Ul JSuUuDy

09 8By "9 NDM|IW JO JUDg [PUOHDN| UISUODSIAA §S1i4 pup uoyoiod

-100) UISUODSIAA IS114 “Jopailq "Z86 | OF 6G6 | WoJ) juapisald ‘0z | @duls
uolp.iodio)) sy} JO 1921 SAINIBXT JOIYD) PUD PIDOg 8y} JO upwInYD

‘96 9By ou| ‘sdwng sp|nog ‘ioy
-da11q "Z86 1 O} 8761 Wolj uoypiodio)) 11ojag JO Juapisald 9JIA SALNISX]
786 | @3uis uoyoiodio)) sy} jo JediyO BuynisdQ jeiy) puo juspisaiyd

€9 9by "se|qpownsuod pup juswdinbe

Buipjam pup ‘spnpoud Aojjo pup Jaddod ‘wnuiwno ‘juswdinbs uoiy
-dnJjsu0d ‘Aleulyoow |puysnpul ‘sppnpoud [98ls pup |9a)s JO Jainppinubw
aseundpr b “*py] ‘|98IS 9qOY| JO JOJdBIIQ PUD UDWIIDYD) 8DIA SAINDSX]

‘v 9BY y7/ 4| @dUls Jusplisald ‘g /4| duls ‘siof
-nisushb pup ‘ssuibus ‘spnpoud Aypidads puo Buiqun|d jo JsinpPojNUDW
‘Aupdwo)) J8|yoy| 4O 08I PUD “I8dIO BAINISXT JBIYD) ‘UbWIIDyD

"9 9By "du| ‘seuy

-SNPU| YNN PUp ‘-du| “4ebuinio) “p\ "M\ ‘UolpIOdIO)) [PUODUIBLU] JB||BH
"] J94|PAA ‘0Bp2IYD) Jo Aupndwoy) Jsnu| puD upg |DUONDN| UDDLIBWY ‘10}
-2211Q "84 L O L L1 W0l 82O BuypiedQ jeiyD pup juspisald ‘€86 |
O} |86 WO} ubwiIbyD 9IA ‘84| 82uls ‘sassedoud [puysnpul ul pasn
spnpoud pup sjpusiow Buip|ing jo Jainpojnuow ‘Aundwo) wnsdAo

SOIDIS PAKIUN JO JBDIJQO SAINDEXT JBIYD PUD PIDOg By} JO UDWIIDYD

uaIBAN "4 [40Y|

Jebayydsiuioy Aiuspy

|955309) “M, WDI||IA

LIoW &ynsio|

I 48|yoy| A HegueH

AYNQ "M piomp3

paumQO
saioyg

wus|
INEYIlg)

aouIg
Jopauiqg

#86T UI'Suonoaiiq Jo preog uoireiodio) ebajyssiueH

L LI9IHX3



107

Overview of Accounting Analysis

auoN

001

05/’

1861

£861

1861

€861

6461

€861

"6G 9By "0 9duDINSU| B)I7 S,49XUDE PUD ‘*dU| ‘SALISNPU| [DJaUSL) [PUOl
-puJBjU| ‘uolpiodio]) [oJUOD) UolN||od Od[ag “oalId "84 O 8261
WioJy 1921 SAINDSXT JaIYD) PUD JuspIsald ‘786 | O 1861 Wou) pinog

8yl Jo upwIbyD ‘| /4| @2uls uolpiodior) IS|esYA 191s04 Jo JopalIg

'9G 9By "v'N “jupg

SULIDY PUD ‘UoPIOCIOD) BULIDWY ‘*DU| ‘S|OJUOD) UOSUYOT ‘JopalIg "8/ 6 |
8duls ‘Assuiydow pup spusuodwod [PLYSNPUI JO JaiNPRNUDW Jolow

D “*2u| ‘pIouxay 4O Jopaliq pup ey BuyoisdQ jeiy) ‘juspisaiyd

"0 9By "1861L 04 9/61 woy

juapIsald BDIA JUDISISSY ‘S84 | O | 86| WOI4 saLlsNpU| D] JO ddUbUl B}pJ
-odio)) juspisald 82IA "€841 ‘| snBny eduls uonpiodio) ayy Jo JBdIPYO
|PIUDUL] JBIYD PUL UOHDISIUILUPY PUD 8dUDUI4/JUBpPISald dDIA JOIUSg

"/ 9 8by ‘uonpiodio) |puoyLUIBIU| IB||BH T IS} DM

pup ‘oBod1y) Jo Aundwoy) jsnij PuL JuPg |[PUOHDN| UDDLIBWY ‘*DU|
‘saLysnpu| YNN ‘uonpiodioD) Jsulpiuoy) suoyg ‘*ou| ‘saLysnpul D Jopaliq
oBo21yD) Jo AlisiaAlun ‘ssauisng JO |0OYIS SIDNPDIL) ‘1ainida)| Joluag

997 "y dup.iy

J0jAn] pjouoQ

appi9) °] Aeuyer

4ayBojpg 4 uyor

paumQO
saloyg

LT

INEY i)

ERIV]IN
Jopaug



108 Overview of Accounting Analysis

EXHIBIT 2
Executive Compensation, Harnischfeger Corporation

The following table sets forth all cash compensation paid to each of the Corporation’s five
most highly compensated executive officers and to all executive officers as a group for
services rendered to the Corporation and its subsidiaries during fiscal 1984.

Cash Compensation

Henry Harnischfeger Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer $ 364,004

William W. Goessel President and Chief Operating Officer 280,000

C. P. Cousland Senior Vice President and group executive, P&H 210,000
Heavy Equipment

Jeffrey T. Grade Senior Vice President-Finance and Administration 205,336

and Chief Financial Officer
Douglas E. Holt President, Harnischfeger Engineers, Inc. 152,839

All persons who were executive officers during
the fiscal year as a group (14 persons) 2,159,066

1985 EXECUTIVE INCENTIVE PLAN

In December 1984, the board of directors established an Executive Incentive Plan for fis-
cal 1985 which provides an incentive compensation opportunity of 40% of annual salary
for 11 senior executive officers only if the Corporation reaches a specific net after-tax
profit objective; it provides an additional incentive compensation of up to 40% of annual
salary for seven of those officers if the corporation exceeds the objective. The Plan covers
the chairman, president, senior vice presidents; president, Harnischfeger Engineers, Inc.;
vice president, P&H World Services; vice president; Material Handling Equipment; and
secretary. Awards made in fiscal year 1984 are included in the compensation table
above.



109

Overview of Accounting Analysis

%0°Cl
%V LL
%V°8
%S0l
0ol

€1l
601

p|@iA puoq sjpiod.iod poy s,Apoow

pIaiA puoq Ainsoau| 10sk-0g
8y [|iq Ainspau] Abp-| ¢

ayoJ Wil

(tuswdinbe Buiuiw pun

uolPNISU0d) Ausnpul AJsulydpw JO O14oI J/4 UDIpay
SY20JS 8UI] 8N|OA JO OlPI J/d UDIPaYy
S|DIIJSNPU| SSUOL MO(] JO OlDI J/4 UDIpay

G861 Aonigey

Viva 13IvW 'd

(aipwiise aur] 8noA) G6'0 = DJeq 4O0}s S,1008JyoSIUIDH

G841 ‘| Apnigay
G861 ‘Gz Apnuor
G861 ‘gl Apnupr
G861 ‘L L Apnuor

G861 'y Apnupr

0°00¢ 9861 8'10¢
9861 €l6l L7661
El6l 6981 6161
8'¢8l1 ¢'e8l 881
¢'e8l 818l v'981
3s0|D MO ybiy

XopUu| S[PLUSNpUl 00Y d8S

8/, 0l 8/S LL
8/L 0l 8/z LL
oL Ll
8/L 8 8/9 0L
8/9 8 8/L 6
Mo YybiH

9214 204G s, 419Ba)ydsiuiny

S3OIAd XD01S 'V

eRQ BYEN PUB 91id %00IS Pa1eRS ‘Uoielodio) JebojyosiueH

€ lIgIHX13



110

Overview of Accounting Analysis

EXHIBIT 4

Harnischfeger Corporation 1984 Annual Report (abridged)

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

The Corporation recorded gains in each quarter
during fiscal 1984, returning to profitability despite
the continued depressed demand and intense price
competition in the world markets it serves.

For the year ended October 31, net income was
$15,176,000 or $1.28 per common share, which
included $11,005,000 or 93¢ per share from the
cumulative effect of a change in depreciation
accounting. In 1983, the Corporation reported a
loss of $34,630,000 or $3.49 per share.

Sales for 1984 improved 24% over the preceding
year, rising to $398.7 million from $321 million a
year ago. New orders totaled $451 million, a $101
million increase over 1983. We entered fiscal 1985
with a backlog of $193 million, which compared to
$141 million a year earlier.

ALL DIVISIONS IMPROVED

All product divisions recorded sales and operating
improvements during 1984.

Mining equipment was the strongest performer
with sales up over 60%, including major orders from
Turkey and the People’s Republic of China. During
the year we began the implementation of the train-
ing, engineering and manufacturing license agree-
ment concluded in November, 1983 with the
People’s Republic of China, which offers the Corpo-
ration long-term potential in modernizing and
mechanizing this vast and rapidly developing min-
ing market.

Sales of material handling equipment and sys-
tems were up 10% for the year and the increasingly
stronger bookings recorded during the latter part of
the year are continuing into the first quarter of
1985.

Sales on construction equipment products showed
some signs of selective improvement. In the fourth
quarter, bookings more than doubled from the very
depressed levels in the same period a year ago,
although the current level is still far below what is
needed to achieve acceptable operating results for
this product line.

FINANCIAL STABILITY RESTORED

In April, the financial stability of the Corporation
was improved through a public offering of 2.15 mil-
lion shares of common stock, $50 million of 15%
notes due April 15, 1994, and $100 million of 12%
subordinated debentures due April 15, 2004, with
two million common stock purchase warrants.

Net proceeds from the offering totaled $149 mil-
lion, to which we added an additional $23 million in
cash, enabling us to pay off all of our long-term
debt. As a result of the refinancing, the Corporation
gained permanent long-term capital with minimal
annual cash flow requirements to service it. We now
have the financial resources and flexibility to pursue
new opportunities to grow and diversify.

Furthermore, should we require additional funds,
they will be available through a $52 million unse-
cured three-year revolving credit agreement con-
cluded in June with ten U.S. and Canadian banks.
An $80 million product financing capability was also
arranged through a major U.S. bank to provide
financing to customers purchasing P&H products.

OUTLOOK

Throughout 1985 we believe we will see gradual
improvements in most of our U.S. and world mar-
kets.

For our mining excavator product line, coal and
certain metals mining are expected to show a more
favorable long-term outlook in selected foreign
requirements and our capability to source equip-
ment from the U.S., Japan or Europe places us in a
strong marketing position. In the U.S., we see only a
moderate strengthening in machinery requirements
for coal, while metals mining will remain weak.

Continuing shipments of the Turkish order
throughout 1985 will help to stabilize our plant utili-
zation levels and improve our operating results for
this product line.

In our material handling and systems markets,
particularly in the U.S., we are experiencing a mod-
erately strong confinuation of the improved book-
ings which we began to see in the third and fourth
quarters of last year.



In construction lifting equipment markets, we
expect modest overall economic improvement in the
U.S., which should help to absorb the large numbers
of idle lifting equipment that have been manufac-
turer, distributor and customer inventories for the
last three years. As this overhang on the market is
reduced we will see gradual improvement in new
sales. Harnischfeger traditionally exports half of its
U.S.-produced lifting products. However, as with
mining equipment, the continued strength of the
U.S. dollar severely restricts our ability to sell U.S.-
built products in world markets.

In addition to the strong dollar and economic
instability in many foreign nations, overcapacity in
worldwide heavy equipment manufacturing remains
a serious problem in spite of some exits from the
market as well as consolidations within the industry.

The Corporation continues to respond to severe
price competition through systematic cost reduction
programs and through expanded sourcing of P&H
equipment from our European operation and, most
importantly, through our 30-year association with
our Japanese partner, Kobe Steel, Ltd. P&H engi-
neering and technology have established world
standards for quality and performance for construc-
tion cranes and mining equipment, which customers
can expect from every P&H machine regardless of its
source. More than a dozen new models of foreign-
sourced P&H construction cranes will be made avail-
able for the first time in the U.S. during 1985,
broadening our existing product lines and giving
competitive pricing to our U.S. distributors and
customers.

To improve our future operating results, we
restructured our three operating divisions into two
groups. All construction and mining related activities
are in the new “P&H Heavy Equipment Group.” All
material handling equipment and systems activities
are now merged into the “Industrial Technologies
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Group.” More information on these Groups is
reported in their respective sections.

We are pleased to announce that John P. Moran
was elected Senior Vice President and Group Execu-
tive, Industrial Technologies Group, and John R. Teit-
gen was elected Secretary and General Counsel.

In September Robert F. Schnoes became a mem-
ber of our Board of Directors. He is President and
Chief Executive Officer of Burgess, Inc. and of Ultra-
sonic Power Corporation, and a member of the
Board of Signode Industries, Inc.

BEGINNING OUR SECOND CENTURY

1984 was the Corporation’s Centennial year and
we marked the occasion by rededicating ourselves
to excellence through market leadership, customer
service and improved operating performance and
profitability.

Our first century of achievement resulted from the
dedicated effort, support and cooperation of our
employees, distributors, suppliers, lenders, and
shareholders, and we thank all of them.

We look back with pride. We move ahead with
confidence and optimism. Our major markets have
never been more competitive; however, we will strive
to take advantage of any and all opportunities for
growth and fo attain satisfactory profitability. Collec-
tively, we will do what has to be done to ensure that
the future will be rewarding to all who have a part in
our success.

Henry Harnischfeger
Chairman of the Board

William W. Goessel
President

January 31, 1985
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION &
ANALYSIS

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

1984 Compared to 1983

Consolidated net sales of $399 million in fiscal
1984 increased $78 million or 24% over 1983.
Sales increases were 62% in the Mining and Electri-
cal Equipment Segment, and 10% in the Industrial
Technologies Segment. Sales in the Construction
Equipment Segment were virtually unchanged
reflecting the continued low demand for construc-
tion equipment world-wide.

Effective at the beginning of fiscal 1984, net sales
include the full sales price of construction and min-
ing equipment purchased from Kobe Steel, Ltd. and
sold by the Corporation, in order to reflect more
effectively the nature of the Corporation’s transac-
tions with Kobe. Such sales aggregated $28.0 mil-
lion in 1984.

The $4.0 million increase in Other Income
reflected a recovery of certain claims and higher
license and technical service fees.

Cost of Sales was equal to 79.1% of net sales in
1984 and 81.4% in 1983; which together with the
increase in net sales resulted in a $23.9 million
increase in gross profit (net sales less cost of sales).
Contributing to this increase were improved sales of
higher-margin replacement parts in the Mining
Equipment and Industrial Technologies Segments
and a reduction in excess manufacturing costs
through greater utilization of domestic manufactur-
ing capacity and economies in total manufacturing
costs including a reduction in pension expense.
Reductions of certain LIFO inventories increased
gross profit by $2.4 million in 1984 and $15.6 mil-
lion in 1983.

Product development selling and administrative
expenses were reduced, due to the funding of R&D
expenses in the Construction Equipment Segment
pursuant to the October 1983 Agreement with Kobe
Steel, Ltd., to reductions in pension expenses and
provision for credit losses, and to the absence of the
corporate financial restructuring expenses incurred
in 1983.

Net interest expense in 1984 increased $2.9 mil-
lion due to higher interest rates on the outstanding
funded debt and a reduction in interest income.

Equity in Earnings (Loss) of Unconsolidated Com-
panies included 1984 income of $1.2 million of
Harnischfeger Credit Corporation, an unconsoli-
dated finance subsidiary, reflecting an income tax
benefit of $1.4 million not previously recorded.

The preceding items, together with the cumulative
effect of the change in depreciation method
described in Financial Note 2, were included in net
income of $15.2 million or $1.28 per common
share, compared with net loss of $34.6 million or
$3.49 per share in 1983.

The sales orders booked and unshipped backlogs
of orders of the Corporation’s three segments are
summarized as follows (in million of dollars):

Orders Booked 1984 1983
Industrial Technologies $132 $106
Mining and Electrical Equip-
ment 210 135
Construction Equipment 109 109
451 $350
Backlogs at October 31
Industrial Technologies $ 79 $ 71
Mining and Electrical Equip-
ment 91 50
Construction Equipment 23 20
193 $141

1983 Compared to 1982

Consolidated net sales of $321 million in fiscal
1983 were $126 million or 28% below 1982. This
decline reflected, for the second consecutive year,
the continued low demand in all markets served by
the Corporation’s products, with exports even more
severely depressed due to the strength of the dollar.
The largest decline was reported in the Construction
Equipment Segment, down 34%; Mining and Electri-
cal Equipment Segment shipments were down 27%,
and the Industrial Technologies Segment, 23%.

Cost of Sales was equal to 81.4% of net sales in
1983 and 81.9% in 1982. The resulting gross profit



was $60 million in 1983 and $81 million in 1982, a
reduction equal to the rate of sales decrease.

The benefits of reduced manufacturing capacity
and economies in total manufacturing costs were
offset by reduced selling prices in the highly compet-
itive markets. Reductions of certain LIFO inventories
increased gross profits by $15.6 million in 1983
and $7.2 million in 1982.

Product development, selling and administrative
expenses were reduced as a result of expense reduc-
tion measures in response to the lower volume of
business and undertaken in connection with the
Corporation’s corporate recovery program, and
reduced provisions for credit losses, which in 1982
included $4.0 million in income support for Harnis-
chfeger Credit Corporation.

Net interest expense was reduced $9.1 million
from 1982 to 1983, due primarily to increased
interest income from short-term cash investments
and an accrual of $4.7 million in interest income on
refundable income taxes not previously recorded.

The Credit for Income Taxes included a federal
income tax benefit of $5 million, based upon the
recent examination of the Corporation’s income tax
returns and refund claims. No income tax benefits
were available for the losses of the U.S. operations
in 1983.

The losses from unconsolidated companies
recorded in 1983 included $0.5 million in Harnisch-
feger Credit Corporation; $2.1 million in Cranetex,
Inc., a Corporation-owned distributorship in Texas;
and $0.8 million in ASEA Industrial Systems Inc.,
then a 49%-owned joint venture between the Corpo-
ration and ASEA AB and now 19%-owned with the
investment accounted for on the cost method.

The preceding items were reflected in a net loss of
$34.6 million or $3.49 per share.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

In April 1984, the Corporation issued in public
offerings 2,150,000 shares of Common Stock, $50
million principal amount of 15% Senior Notes due in
1994, and 100,000 Units consisting of $100 million
principal amount of 12% Subordinated Debentures
due in 2004 and 2,000,000 Common Stock Pur-
chase Warrants.

The net proceeds from the sales of the securities
of $149 million were used to prepay substantially all
of the outstanding debt of the Corporation and cer-
tain of its subsidiaries.

During the year ended October 31, 1984, the
consolidated cash balances increased $32 million to
a balance of $96 million, with the cash activity sum-
marized as follows (in million of dollars):

Funds provided by operations $10
Funds returned to the Corporation upon
restructuring of the Salaried Employees’
Pension Plan 39
Debt repayment less the proceeds of sales of
securities 9)
Plant and equipment additions (6)
All other changes—net (2)

In the third quarter of fiscal 1984 the Corporation
entered into a $52 million three-year revolving
credit agreement with ten U.S. and Canadian
banks. While the Corporation has adequate liquidity
to meet its current working capital requirements, the
revolver represents another step in the Corpora-
tion’s program to strengthen its financial position
and provide the required financial resources to
respond to opportunities as they arise.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

(Dollar amounts in thousands

Year Ended October 31

except per share figures) 1984 1983 1982
Revenues:
Net sales $398,708 $321,010 $447,461
Other income, including license and technical
service fees 7,067 3,111 5,209
405,775 324,121 452,670
Cost of Sales 315,216 261,384 366,297
Operating Income 90,559 62,737 86,373
Less:
Product development, selling and administrative
expenses 72,196 85,795 113,457
Interest expense—net 12,625 9,745 18,873
Provision for plant closing — — 23,700
Income (Loss) Before Provision (Credit) for Income
Taxes, Equity ltems and Cumulative Effect of
Accounting Change 5,738 (32,803) (69,657)
Provision (Credit) for Income Taxes 2,425 (1,400) (1,600)
Income (Loss) Before Equity ltems and Cumulative
Effect of Accounting Change 3,313 (31,403) (68,057)
Equity items:
Equity in earnings (loss) of unconsolidated
companies 993 (3,397) (7,891)
Minority interest in (earnings) loss of consolidated
subsidiaries (135) 170 (583)
Income (Loss) Before Cumulative Effect of Account-
ing Change 4,171 (34,630) (76,531)
Cumulative Effect of Change in Depreciation
Method 11,005 — —
Net Income (Loss) $ 15,176 $(34,630) $(76,531)
Earnings (Loss) per Common and Common Equiv-
alent Share:
Income (Loss) before cumulative effect of
accounting change $ .35 $(3.49) $(7.64)
Cumulative effect of change in depreciation
method .93 — —
Net income (loss) $1.28 $(3.49) $(7.64)
Pro forma Amounts Assuming the Changed Depre-
ciation Method Had Been Applied Retroactively:
Net (loss) $(33,918)  $(76,695)
(Loss) per common share $(3.42) $(7.65)

(The accompanying nofes are an infegral part of the financial statements.)
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

October 31
(Dollar amounts in thousands except per share figures) 1984 1983
Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and temporary investments $ 96,007 $ 64,275
Accounts receivable 87,648 63,740
Inventories 144,312 153,594
Refundable income taxes and related interest 1,296 12,585
Other current assets 5,502 6,023
Prepaid income taxes 14,494 14,232
349,259 314,449
Investments and Other Assets:
Investments in and advances to:
Finance subsidiary, at equity in net assets 8,849 6,704
Other companies 4,445 2,514
Other assets 13,959 6,411
27,253 15,629
Operating Plants:
Land and improvements 9,419 10,370
Buildings 59,083 60,377
Machinery and equipment 120,949 122,154
189,451 192,901
Accumulated depreciation (93,259) (107,577)
96,192 85,324

$472,704 $415,402

(continued)
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (continued)

October 31
(Dollar amounts in thousands except per share figures) 1984 1983
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities:
Short-term notes payable to banks by subsidiaries $ 9,090 $ 8,155
Long-term debt and capitalized lease obligations payable
within one year 973 18,265
Trade accounts payable 37,716 21,228
Employee compensation and benefits 15,041 14,343
Accrued plant closing costs 2,460 6,348
Advance payments and progress billings 20,619 15,886
Income taxes payable 1,645 3,463
Account payable to finance subsidiary — 3,436
Other current liabilities and accruals 29,673 32,333
117,217 123,457
Long-Term Obligations:
Long-term debt payable to:
Unaffiliated lenders 128,550 139,092
Finance subsidiary — 5,400
Capitalized lease obligations 7,870 8,120
136,420 152,612
Deferred Liabilities and Income Taxes:
Accrued pension costs 57,611 19,098
Other deferred liabilities 5,299 7,777
Deferred income taxes 6,385 134
69,295 27,009
Minority Interest 2,400 2,405
Shareholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock $100 par value—authorized 250,000 shares:
Series A $7.00 cumulative convertible preferred shares: author-
ized, issued and outstanding 117,500 shares in 1984 and
100,000 shares in 1983 11,750 10,000
Common stock, $1 par value—authorized 25,000,000 shares:
issued and outstanding 12,283,563 shares in 1984 and
10,133,563 shares in 1983 12,284 10,134
Capital in excess of par value of shares 114,333 88,332
Retained earnings 19,901 6,475
Cumulative translation adjustments (10,896) (5,022)
147,372 109,919
$472,704 $415,402

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FINANCIAL POSITION

Year Ended October 31,

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 1984 1983 1982
Funds Were Provided by (Applied to):
Operations:
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting
change $ 4171 $(34,630)  $(76,531)
Cumuldtive effect of change in depreciation method 11,005 — —
Net income (loss) 15,176 (34,630) (76,531)
Add (deduct) items included not affecting funds:
Depreciation 8,077 13,552 15,241
Unremitted (earnings) loss of unconsolidated
companies (993) 3,397 7,891
Deferred pension contributions (500) 4,834 —
Deferred income taxes 6,583 (3,178) 1,406
Reduction in accumulated depreciation resulting
from change in depreciation method (17,205) — —
Other—net (2,168) (67) 2,034
Decrease in operating working capital (see below) 7,039 11,605 72,172

Add (deduct) effects on operating working capital of:
Conversion of export and factored receivable sales

to debt —_ 23,919 —
Reclassification to deferred liabilities:

Accrued pension costs — 14,264 —

Other liabilities — 5,510 —
Foreign currency translation adjustments (6,009) (1,919) (5,943)

Funds provided by operations 10,000 37,287 16,270

Financing, Investment and Other Activities:
Transactions in debt and capitalized lease obligations
—Long-Term debt and capitalized lease obligations:

Proceeds from sale of 15% Senior Notes and 12%

Subordinated Debentures, net of issue costs 120,530 — —
Other increases 1,474 — 25,698
Repayments (161,500) (760) (9,409)
Restructured debt — 158,058 —

Debt replaced, including conversion of receivable
sales of $23,919, and short-term bank notes

payable of $9,028 — (158,058) —
(39,496) (760) 16,289
Net increase (repayment) in short-term bank notes
payable 2,107 (3,982) (2,016)
Net increase (repayment) in debt and capitalized
lease obligations (37,389) (4,742) 14,273

(continued)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

Year Ended October 31,

(Dollar amounts in thousands) 1984 1983 1982
Issuance of:
Common stock 21,310 — 449
Common stock purchase warrants 6,663 — —
Salaried pension assets reversion 39,307 — —
Plant and equipment additions (5,546) (1,871) (10,819)
Advances to unconsolidated companies (2,882) — —
Other—net 269 1,531 848
Funds provided by (applied to) financing, invest-
ment and other activities 21,732 (5,082) 4,751
Increase in Cash and Temporary Investments Before
Cash Dividends $ 31,732 $ 32,205 $21,021
Cash Dividends — — (2,369)
Increase in Cash and Temporary Investments $ 31,732 $ 32,205 $ 18,652
Decrease (Increase) in Operating Working Capital
(Excluding Cash ltems, Debt and Capitalized Lease
Obligations):
Accounts receivable $(23,908) $ (5,327) $42,293
Inventories 9,282 56,904 26,124
Refundable income taxes and related interest 11,289 (2,584) (6,268)
Other current assets 259 10,008 (439)
Trade accounts payable 16,488 (1,757) (3,302)
Employee compensation and benefits 698 (15,564) (3,702)
Accrued plant closing costs (3,888) (14,148) 20,496
Other current liabilities (3,181) (15,927) (3,030)
Decrease in operating working capital $ 7,039 $ 11,605 $72,172

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.)
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FINANCIAL NOTES

Note 1
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

Consolidation—The consolidated financial state-
ments include the accounts of all majority-owned
subsidiaries except a wholly-owned domestic
finance subsidiary, a subsidiary organized in 1982
as a temporary successor to a distributor, both of
which are accounted for under the equity method,
and a wholly-owned Brazilian subsidiary, which is
carried at estimated net realizable value due to eco-
nomic uncertainty. All related significant intercom-
pany balances and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

Financial statements of certain consolidated sub-
sidiaries, principally foreign, are included, effective
in fiscal year 1984, on the basis of their fiscal years
ending September 30; previously, certain of such
subsidiaries had fiscal years ending July (See Note
2). Such fiscal periods have been adopted by the
subsidiaries in order to provide for a more timely
consolidation with the Corporation.

Inventories—The Corporation values its invento-
ries at the lower of cost or market. Cost is deter-
mined by the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method for
inventories located principally in the United States,
and by the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method for inven-
tories of foreign subsidiaries.

Operating Plants, Equipment and Deprecia-
tion—Properties are stated at cost. Maintenance
and repairs are charged to expense as incurred and
expenditures for betterments and renewals are capi-
talized. Effective in 1981, interest is capitalized for
qualifying assets during their acquisition period.
Capitalized interest is amortized on the same basis
as the related asset. When properties are sold or
otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated
depreciation are removed from the accounts and
any gain or loss is included in income.

Depreciation of plants and equipment is provided
over the estimated useful lives of the related assets,
or over the lease terms of capital leases, using,
effective in fiscal year 1984, the straight-line method
for financial reporting, and principally accelerated
methods for tax reporting purposes. Previously,
accelerated methods, where applicable, were also

used for financial reporting purposes (See Note 2).
For U.S. income tax purposes, depreciation lives are
based principally on the Class Life Asset Deprecia-
tion Range for additions, other than buildings, in the
years 1973 through 1980, and on the Accelerated
Cost Recovery System for all additions after 1980.

Discontinued facilities held for sale are carried at
the lower of cost less accumulated depreciation or
estimated realizable value, which aggregated $4.9
million and $3.6 million at October 31, 1984 and
1983, respectively, and were included in Other
Assets in the accompanying Balance Sheet.

Pension Plans—The Corporation has pension
plans covering substantially all of its employees.
Pension expenses of the principal defined benefit
plans consist of current service costs of such plans
and amortization of the prior service costs and actu-
arial gains and losses over periods ranging from 10
to 30 years. The Corporation’s policy is to fund at a
minimum the amount required under the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

Income Taxes—The consolidated tax provision is
computed based on income and expenses recorded
in the Statement of Operations. Prepaid or deferred
taxes are recorded for the difference between such
taxes and taxes computed for tax returns. The Cor-
poration and its domestic subsidiaries file a consoli-
dated federal income tax return. The operating
results of Harnischfeger GmbH are included in the
Corporation’s U.S. income tax returns.

Additional taxes are provided on the earnings of
foreign subsidiaries which are intended to be remit-
ted to the Corporation. Such taxes are not provided
on subsidiaries’ unremitted earnings which are
intended to be permanently reinvested.

Investment tax credits are accounted for under the
flow-through method as a reduction of the income
tax provision, if applicable, in the year the related
asset is placed in service.

Reporting Format—Certain previously reported
items have been conformed to the current year’s
presentation.

Note 2
Accounting Changes:

Effective November 1, 1983, the Corporation
includes in its net sales products purchased from



Kobe Steel, Ltd. and sold by the Corporation, to
reflect more effectively the nature of the Corpora-
tion’s transactions with Kobe. Previously only the
gross margin on Kobe-originated equipment was
included. During fiscal year 1984 such sales aggre-
gated $28.0 million. Also, effective November 1,
1983, the financial statements of certain foreign
subsidiaries are included on the basis of their fiscal
years ending September 30 instead of the previous
years ending July 31. This change had the effect of
increasing net sales by $5.4 million for the year
ended October 31, 1984. The impact of these
changes on net income was insignificant.

In 1984, the Corporation has computed depreci-
ation expense on plants, machinery and equipment
using the straight-line method for financial reporting
purposes. Prior to 1984, the Corporation used prin-
cipally accelerated methods for its U.S. operating
plants. The cumulative effect of this change, which
was applied retroactively to all assets previously sub-
jected to accelerated depreciation, increased net
income for 1984 by $11.0 million or $.93 per com-
mon and common equivalent share. The impact of
the new method on income for the year 1984 before
the cumulative effect was insignificant.

As a result of the review of its depreciation policy,
the Corporation, effective November 1, 1983, has
changed its estimated depreciation lives on certain
U.S. plants, machinery and equipment and residual
values on certain machinery and equipment, which
increased net income for 1984 by $3.2 million or
$.27 per share. No income tax effect was applied to
this change.

The changes in accounting for depreciation were
made to conform the Corporation’s depreciation
policy to those used by manufacturers in the Corpo-
ration’s and similar industries and to provide a more
equitable allocation of the cost of plants, machinery
and equipment over their useful lives.

Note 3
Cash and Temporary Investments:

Cash and temporary investments consisted of the
following (in thousands of dollars):

Overview of Accounting Analysis

October 31,
1984 1983
Cash—in demand deposits $ 2,155 $11,910

—in special accounts
principally to support
letters of credit 4,516 —
Temporary investments 89,336 52,365
$96,007 $64,275

Temporary investments consisted of short-term
U.S. and Canadian treasury bills, money market
funds, time and certificates of deposit, commercial
paper and bank repurchase agreements and bank-
ers’ acceptances. Temporary investments are stated
at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates
market value.

Note 4

Long-Term Debt, Bank Credit Lines and Interest
Expense:

Outstanding long-term debt payable to unaffili-
ated lenders was as follows (in thousands of dollars):

October 31,
1984 1983

Parent Company:
15% Senior Notes due
April 15, 1994
12% Subordinated Deben-
tures, with an effective
interest rate of 16.3%;
sinking fund redemption
payments of $7,500 due
annually on April 15 in
1994-2003, and final
payment of $25,000 in
2004 100,000 —
Term Obligations—
Insurance company debt:
9% Notes —
9 7/8 Notes —
8 7/8 Notes —
Bank debt, at 105% of
prime —
Paper purchase debt, at
prime or LIBOR, plus
1Va% —
9.23% Mortgage Note due
monthly to April, 1998 4,327 4,481

152,027 147,250

&

$ 47,700 —

20,000
38,750
40,500

25,000

18,519
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October 31,
1984 1983

Consolidated Subsidiaries:
Notes payable to banks in
German marks — 9,889
Contract payable in 1985-
1989, in South African
rands, with imputed

interest rate of 12% 1,024 —
Other — 36
153,051 157,175
Less: Amounts payable within
one year 644 17,799
Unamortized discounts 23,857 284
Long-Term Debt—excluding
amounts payable within
one year $128,550 $139,092
Note 5

Harnischfeger Credit Corporation and
Cranetex, Inc.

Condensed financial information of Harnis-
chfeger Credit Corporation (“Credit”), an uncon-
solidated wholly-owned finance subsidiary,
accounted for under the equity method, was as
follows (in thousands of dollars):

Balance Sheet October 31,
1984 1983
Assets:
Cash and temporary invest-
ments $ 404 $19,824
Finance receivables—net 4,335 11,412
Factored account note and
current account receivable
from parent company — 8,836
Other assets 4,181 661
$8,920 $40,733
Liabilities and Shareholder’s
Equity:
Debt payable $ — $32,600
Advances from parent
company 950 —
Other liabilities 71 1,429
1,021 34,029
Shareholder’s equity 7,899 6,704
$8,920 $40,733

Statement of

Operations Year Ended October 31,
1984 1983 1982
Revenues $1,165 $2,662 $9,978
Less:
Operating
Expenses 1,530 3,386 14,613
Provision (credit)
for income taxes (1,560) (222) 180
Net income (loss) $1,195 $(502) $(4,815)

Credit's purchases of finance receivables from the
Corporation aggregated $1.1 million in 1984,
$46.7 million in 1983 and $50.4 million in 1982.
In 1982, Credit received income support of $4.0
million from the Corporation.

In 1982, the Corporation organized Cranetex,
Inc. to assume certain assets and liabilities trans-
ferred by a former distributor of construction equip-
ment, in seftlement of the Corporation’s and
Credit’s claims against the distributor and to con-
tinue the business on an interim basis until the fran-
chise can be transferred to a new distributor. The
Corporation recorded provisions of $2.5 million in
1983 and $2.3 million in 1982 and Credit recorded
a provision of $6.7 million in 1982, for credit losses
incurred in the financing of equipment sold to the
former distributor.

The condensed balance sheet of Cranetex, Inc.
was as follows (in thousand of dollars):

October 31,
1984 1983
Assets:
Cash $ 143 $ 49
Accounts receivables 566 428
Inventory 2,314 3,464
Property and equipment 1,547 1,674
$4,570 $5,615
Liabilities and Deficit:
Loans payable $4,325 $6,682
Other liabilities 338 620
4,663 7,302

Shareholder’s (deficit), net of
accounts and advances pay-
able to parent company (93)
$4,570

(1,687)
$5,615




The net losses of Cranetex, Inc. of $.2 million in
1984, $2.1 million in 1983 and $1.0 million in
1982 were included in Equity in Earnings (Loss) of
Unconsolidated Companies in the Corporation’s
Statement of Operations.

Note 6

Transactions with Kobe Steel, Ltd. and ASEA
Industrial Systems Inc.

Kobe Steel, Ltd. of Japan (“Kobe”), has been a lic-
ensee for certain of the Corporation’s products since
1955, and has owned certain Harnischfeger Japa-
nese construction equipment patents and technol-
ogy since 1981. As of October 31, 1984, Kobe held
1,030,000 shares or 8.4% of the Corporation’s out-
standing Common Stock (See Note 13). Kobe also
owns 25% of the capital stock of Harnischfeger of
Australia Pty. Ltd., a subsidiary of the Corporation.
This ownership appears as the minority interest on
the Corporation’s balance sheet.

Under agreements expiring in December 1990,
Kobe pays technical service fees on P&H mining
equipment produced and sold under license from
the Corporation, and trademark and marketing fees
on sales of construction equipment outside of
Japan. Net fee income received from Kobe was
$4.3 million in 1984, $3.1 million in 1983, and
$3.9 million in 1982; this income is included in
Other Income in the accompanying Statement of
Operations.

In October 1983, the Corporation entered into a
ten-year agreement with Kobe under which Kobe
agreed to supply the Corporation’s requirements for
construction cranes for sale in the United States as it
phases out its own manufacture of cranes over the
next several years, and to make the Corporation the
exclusive distributor of Kobe-built cranes in the
United States. The Agreement also involves a joint
research and development program for construction
equipment under which the Corporation agreed to
spend at least $17 million over a three-year period
and provided it does so, Kobe agreed to pay this
amount to the Corporation. Sales of cranes outside
the United States continue under the contract terms
described in the preceding paragraph.

The Corporation’s sales to Kobe, principally com-
ponents for mining and construction equipment,
excluding the R&D expenses discussed in the pre-
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ceding paragraph, approximated $5.2 million,
$10.5 million and $7.0 million during the three
years ended October 31, 1984, 1983 and 1982,
respectively. The purchases from Kobe of mining
and construction equipment and components
amounted to approximately $33.7 million, $15.5
million and $29.9 million during the three years
ended October 31, 1984, 1983 and 1982, respec-
tively, most of which were resold to customers (See
Note 2).

The Corporation owns 19% of ASEA Industrial
Systems Inc. (“AlS”), an electrical equipment com-
pany controlled by ASEA AB of Sweden. The Corpo-
ration’s purchases of electrical components from AIS
aggregated $11.2 million in 1984 and $6.1 million
in 1983 and its sales to AIS approximated $2.6 mil-
lion in 1984 and $3.8 million in 1983.

The Corporation believes that its transactions with
Kobe and AIS were competitive with alternative
sources of supply for each party involved.

Note 7

Inventories

Consolidated inventories consisted of the follow-
ing (in thousand of dollars):

October 31,
1984 1983
At lower of cost or market
(FIFO method):
Raw materials $ 11,003 $ 11,904
Work in process and pur-
chased parts 88,279 72,956
Finished goods 79,111 105,923
178,393 190,783
Allowance to reduce inven-
tories to cost on the LIFO
method (34,081) (37,189)
$144,312  $153,594

Inventories valued on the LIFO method repre-
sented approximately 82% of total inventories at
both October 31, 1984 and 1983.

Inventory reductions in 1984, 1983 and 1982
resulted in a liquidation of LIFO inventory quantities
carried af lower costs compared with the current cost
of their acquisitions. The effect of these liquidations
was fo increase net income by 2.4 million or $.20
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per common share in fiscal 1984, and to reduce the
net loss by approximately $15.6 million or $1.54
per share in 1983, and by $6.7 million or $.66 per
share in 1982; no income tax effect applied to the
adjustment in 1984 and 1983.

Note 8

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable were net of allowances for
doubtful accounts of $5.9 million and $6.4 million
at October 31, 1984 and 1983, respectively.

Note 9
Research and Development Expense

Research and development expense incurred in
the development of new products or significant
improvements to existing products was $5.1 million
in 1984 (net of amounts funded by Kobe Steel, Ltd.)
$12.1 million in 1983 and $14.1 million in 1982.

Note 10

Foreign Operations

The net sales, net income (loss) and net assets of
subsidiaries located in countries outside the United
States and Canada and included in the consolidated
financial statements were as follows (in thousands of
dollars):

Year Ended October 31,

1984 1983 1982

Net sales $78,074  $45912  $69,216
Net income (loss)

after minority

interests 828 (1,191) 3,080
Corporation’s

equity in total net

assets 17,734 7,716 7,287

Foreign currency transaction losses included in
Cost of Sales were $2.7 million in 1984, $1.2 mil-
lion in 1983 and $1.3 million in 1982.

Note 11
Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits

Pension expense for all plans of the Corporation
and its consolidated subsidiaries was $1.9 million in

1984, $6.5million in 1983 and $12.2 million in
1982.

Accumulated plan benefits and plan net assets for
the Corporation’s U.S. defined benefit plans, at the
beginning of the fiscal years 1984 and 1983, with
the data for the Salaried Employees’ Retirement Plan
as in effect on August 1, 1984, were as follows (in
thousands of dollars):

1984 1983
Actuarial present value of
accumulated plan benefits:
Vested $52,639 $108,123
Nonvested 2,363 5,227
$55,002 $113,350
Net assets available for
benefits:
Asset s of the Pension Trusts $45,331 $112,075
Accrued contributions not
paid to the Trusts 16,717 12,167
$62,048 $124,242

The Salaried Employees’ Retirement Plan, which
covers substantially all salaried employees in the
U.S., was restructured during 1984 due to overfund-
ing of the Plan. Effective August 1, 1984, the Corpo-
ration terminated the existing plan and established
a new plan which is substantially identical to the
prior plan except for an improvement in the mini-
mum pension benefit. All participants in the prior
plan became fully vested upon its termination. All
vested benefits earned through August 1, 1984 were
covered through the purchase of individual annu-
ities at a cost aggregating $36.7 million. The
remaining plan assets, which totaled $39.3 million,
reverted to the Corporation in cash upon receipt of
regulatory approval of the prior plan termination
from the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation. For
financial reporting purposes, the new plan is consid-
ered to be a continuation of the terminated plan.
Accordingly, the $39.3 million actuarial gain which
resulted from the restructuring is included in
Accrued Pension Costs in the accompanying Bal-
ance Sheet and is being amortized to income over a
ten-year period commencing in 1984. For tax
reporting purposes, the asset reversion will be



treated as a fiscal 1985 transaction. The initial
unfunded actuarial liability of the new plan, com-
puted as of November 1, 1983, of $10.3 million is
also included in Accrued Pension Costs.

In 1982 and 1983, the Pension Trusts purchased
certain securities with effective yields of 13% and
12%, respectively, and dedicated these assets to the
plan benefits of a substantial portion of the retired
employees and certain terminated employees with
deferred vested rights. These rates, together with 9%
for active employees in 1984, 8% in 1983 and 7%%
in 1982, were the assumed rates of return used in
determining the annual pension expense and the
actuarial present value of accumulated plan benefits
for the U.S. plans.

The effect of the changes in the investment return
assumption rates for all U.S. plans, together with the
1984 restructuring of the U.S. Salaried Employees’
Plan, was to reduce pension expense by approxi-
mately $4.0 million in 1984 and $2.0 million in
1983, and the actuarial present value of accumu-
lated plan benefits by approximately $60.0 million
in 1984. Pension expense in 1983 was also reduced
$2.1 million from the lower level of active employ-
ees. Other actuarial gains, including higher than
anticipated investment results, more than offset the
additional pension costs resulting from plan
changes and interest charges on balance sheet
accruals in 1984 and 1983.

The Corporation’s foreign pension plans do not
determine the actuarial value of accumulated bene-
fits or net assets available for retirement benefits as
calculated and disclosed above. For those plans, the
total of the plans’ pension funds and balance sheet
accruals approximated the actuarially computed
value of vested benefits at both October 31, 1984
and 1983.

The Corporation generally provides certain health
care and life insurance benefits for U.S. retired
employees. Substantially all of the Corporation’s
current U.S. employees may become eligible for
such benefits upon retirement. Life insurance bene-
fits are provided either through the pension plans or
separate group insurance arrangements. The cost of
retiree health care and life insurance benefits, other
than the benefits provided by the pension plans, is
expensed as incurred; such costs approximated
$2.6 million in 1984 and $1.7 million in 1983.

Overview of Accounting Analysis

Note 12
Income Taxes

Domestic and foreign income (loss) before
income tax effects was as follows (in thousands of
dollars):

Year Ended October 31,

1984 1983 1982
Domestic $1,57  $(3541)  $(77,60
8 2 0)
Foreign:
Harnischfeger
GmbH 432 (2,159) (475)
All other 3,728 4,768 8,418
4,160 2,609 7,943
Total income (loss)
before income tax
effects, equity items
and cumulative
effect of account- $5,73 $(32,80 $(69,65
ing change 8 3) 7)

Provision (credit) for income taxes, on income
(loss) before income tax effects, equity items and
cumulative effect of accounting change, consisted of
(in thousands of dollars):

1984 1983 1982

Currently payable

(refundable):
Federal $ — $(7,957) $(9,736)
State 136 297 70
Foreign 2,518 3,379 5,376
2,654  (4,281) (4,290
Deferred (prepaid):
Federal — 2,955 2,713
State and foreign (229) (74) (23)
(229) 2,881 2,690
Provision (credit) for $2,42
income taxes 5 $(1,400) $(1,600)

During 1983 an examination of the Corporation’s
1977-1981 federal income tax returns and certain
refund claims was completed by the Internal Reve-
nue Service, and as a result, a current credit for fed-
eral income taxes of $8.0 million was recorded in
1983, $3.0 million of which was applied to the
reduction of prepaid income taxes.
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In 1984, tax credits fully offset any federal income
tax otherwise applicable to the year’s income, and
in 1983 and 1982, the relationship of the tax benefit
to the pre-tax loss differed substantially from the
U.S. statutory tax rate due principally to losses from
the domestic operations for which only a partial fed-
eral tax benefit was available in 1982. Conse-
quently, an analysis of deferred income taxes and
variance from the U.S. statutory rate is not pre-
sented.

Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries which
have been or are intended to be permanently rein-
vested were $19.1 million at October 31, 1984.
Such earnings, if distributed, would incur income tax
expense of substantially less than the U.S. income
tax rate as a result of previously paid foreign income
taxes, provided that such foreign taxes would
become deductible as foreign tax credits. No
income tax provision was made in respect of the tax-
deferred income of a consolidated subsidiary that
has elected to be taxed as a domestic international
sales corporation. The Deficit Reduction Act of 1984
provides for such income to become nontaxable
effective December 31, 1984.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

At October 31, 1984, the Corporation had fed-
eral tax operating loss carry-forwards of approxi-
mately $70.0 million, expiring in 1998 and 1999,
for tax return purposes, and $88.0 million for book
purposes. In addition, the Corporation had for tax
purposes, foreign tax credit carry-forwards of $3.0
million (expiring in 1985 through 1989), and invest-
ment tax credit carry-forwards of $1.0 million (expir-
ing in 1997 through 1999). For book purposes, tax
credit carry-forwards approximately $8.0 million.
The carry-forward will be available for the reduction
of future income tax provisions, the extent and tim-
ing of which are not determinable.

Differences in income (loss) before income taxes
for financial and tax purposes arise from timing dif-
ferences between financial and tax reporting and
relate to depreciation, consolidating eliminations for
inter-company profits in inventories, and provisions,
principally, for warranty, pension, compensated
absences, product liability and plant closing costs.

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
November 29, 1984

To the Directors and Shareholders of Harnischfeger Corporation:

In our opinion, the financial statements, which appear on pages 18 to 34 of this report,
present fairly the consolidated financial position of Harnischfeger Corporation and its
subsidiaries at October 31, 1984 and 1983, and the results of their operations and the
changes in their financial position for each of the three years in the period ended October
31, 1984, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles consistently
applied during the period except for the change, with which we concur, in the method of
accounting for depreciation expense as described in Note 2 on page 23 of this report.
Our examinations of these statements were made in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards and accordingly included such tests of the accounting records and
such other auditing procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

Price Waterhouse
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/ \ ssets are resources owned by afirm that are likely to produce future
economic benefits and that are measurabl e with a reasonable degree of certainty. Assets
can take a variety of forms, including cash, marketable securities, receivables from
customers, inventory, fixed assets, long-term investments in other companies, and
intangibles.

The key principles used to identify and value assets are historical cost and conserva-
tism. Under the historical cost principle, assets are valued at their original cost; conser-
vatism requires asset values to be revised downward if fair values are less than cost.

Analysis of assets involves asking whether an outlay should be recorded as an asset
in the firm'sfinancia statements, or whether it should be reported as a current expense.
This requires analysts to understand who has the rights of ownership to the resource,
whether it is expected to generate future benefits, and whether those benefits are mea-
surable with reasonabl e certainty. Finally, asset analysisinvolves eval uating the value of
the assets reported in the financial statements, requiring an evaluation of amortization,
allowances, and write-downs.

In this chapter we discuss the key principles underlying the recording of assets. We
also show the challenges in asset reporting and opportunities for analysis.

HISTORICAL COST AND CONSERVATISM

Assets are used to generate future profits for owners. Investors areinterested in learning
whether the resourcesthey have invested in the firm have been spent wisely. The balance
sheet provides a useful starting point for this type of analysis because it providesinfor-
mation on the value of the resources that management acquires or develops. In most
countriesthe assets reported in the bal ance sheet are valued at historical exchange prices.
Historical exchange prices rather than fair values, replacement values, or valuesin use,
are used to record assets because they can typically be more easily verified. From the
perspective of investors, thisisimportant because managers have an incentive to present
afavorable view of their stewardship of the firm’'s resources. By requiring that transac-
tions be recorded at historical exchange prices, accounting places a constraint on man-
agers’ ability to overstate the value of the assets that they have acquired or developed.
Of course, historical cost aso limits the information that is available to investors about
the potential of the firm’s assets, since exchange prices are usualy different from fair
values or valuesin use.
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The conservatism principle establishes one exception to the use of historical cost val-
ues. It requires management to write down to their fair value assets that have been im-
paired. The lower of cost or market rulefor valuing inventory, the estimation of expected
receivable losses from uncollectible accounts, and write-downs of operating assets that
are not expected to recover their cost are all applications of this concept. Conservatism
therefore provides additional assurance for investors that management’s estimate of the
value of the firm’s resources is not overstated. As a result, asset values reported on the
balance sheet can be considered alower bound on the value of future benefits resulting
from management’s current business strategy.

Adherence to the principles of historical cost and conservatism has been challenged
recently. In the U.S., some financial instruments are required to be valued at fair values
rather than historical cost. Further, in the U.K., Australia, and several other countries,
other classes of tangible and intangible assets are permitted to be valued at fair values.

ASSET REPORTING CHALLENGES

Thecritical challengefor financial reporting isto determine which types of expenditures
qualify as assets. Figure 4-1 shows the mgjor criteriafor recognizing an asset. Not sur-
prisingly, these are related to the criteria used for recognizing expenses, discussed in
Chapter 7. The key questions for recognizing an asset involve assessing who has owner-
ship of the resourcesin question, whether those resources are expected to provide future
economic benefits, and whether benefits can be measured with reasonable certainty.

Figure 4-1 Criteriafor Recognizing Assets and I mplementation
Challenges

First Criterion Second Criterion Third Criterion

Resources are owned by Resources are expected to The future economic

the firm. provide future economic benefits are measurale
benefits sufficient to recover with a reasonable
their cost. degree of certainty.

\ . /

Record an asset.

Challenging Transactions

1. Ownership of the resource is uncertain
2. Future benefits from outlays are uncertain or difficult to measure.
3. Resource values have changed.
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As we discuss throughout this chapter, asset recognition creates a number of oppor-
tunities for management to exercise financial reporting judgment. These opportunities
are particularly prevalent for transactions where ownership of a resource is uncertain.
They can also arise when the economic benefits from outlays are uncertain or difficult
to quantify, or when resource val ues have changed. Below we discuss these types of re-
porting challenges.

Challenge One: Ownership of Resources Is Uncertain

For most resources used by afirm, ownership isrelatively straightforward: thefirmusing
the resource owns the asset. However, for some transactions the question of who owns
aresource can be subtle. We discuss two examples of transactions that provide interest-
ing challenges for deciding on ownership. The first is for aleased resource. Who is the
effective owner of the asset—the lessor or the lessee? The second transaction is for em-
ployee training. Who effectively owns the benefits created by a training program—the
company providing the training or the employee?

EXAMPLE: LEASED RESOURCES. On December 31, 1998, American Airlines re-
ported that it leased 42 percent of itsfleet of aircraft (273 planes) for lease periods of 10
to 25 years. American Airlines reported that it had annual obligations under these leases
in excess of $1 billion for each of the next five years and $13.4 billion thereafter. In its
annual report the company noted that “aircraft leases can generally be renewed at rates
based on fair market value at the end of the lease term for oneto five years. Most aircraft
leases have purchase options at or near the end of the lease term at fair market value, but
generally not to exceed a stated percentage of the defined lessor’s cost of the aircraft or
at a predetermined fixed amount.” Who was the effective owner of these aircraft? Did
American Airlines effectively purchase them using financing provided by the lessor, or
were the leases really rental arrangements?

Assessing whether alease arrangement is equivalent to a purchase or rental is subjec-
tive. It depends on whether the lessee has effectively accepted risks of ownership, such
as obsol escence and physical deterioration. In an attempt to standardize the reporting of
lease transactions, accounting standards have created clear criteriafor distinguishing be-
tween the two types. Under SFAS 13, a lease transaction is equivalent to an asset pur-
chaseif any of the following conditions hold: (1) ownership of the asset istransferred to
the lessee at the end of the lease term, (2) the lessee has the option to purchase the asset
for abargain price at the end of the lease term, (3) the lease term is 75 percent or more
of the asset’s expected useful life, and (4) the present value of the lease paymentsis 90
percent or more of thefair value of the asset. As noted above, American Airlineshad pur-
chase options for many of its aircraft at estimated market prices. In addition, the com-
pany reported that the assumed life for aircraft that it owned was 25 years.

L ease contracts that satisfy the criteriafor an effective purchase are recorded as cap-
ital leases at the present value of the lease payments. This same amount is also shown as
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aliability, to reflect the financing of the asset purchase. In subsequent periods, the leased
equipment is depreciated over thelife of the lease, and the lease payments are treated as
interest and liability payments. In 1998 American capitalized leases for 187 planes and
recorded alease liability for these aircraft for $1,671 million.

L ease contracts that do not qualify as an effective purchase for accounting purposes
are termed operating leases. The lessee then reports rental expense throughout the lease
term. American Airlines reported only 86 |ease agreements as operating leasesin 1998.

Of course, because the criteriafor reporting leases are objective, they create opportu-
nities for management to circumvent the spirit of the distinction between capital and op-
erating leases. For example, American Airling's management can write the lease terms
in such away that a transaction satisfies the definition of either an operating lease or a
capital lease. In addition, implementing the lease reporting standards requires manage-
ment to forecast leased planes’ useful lives and their fair values. By comparing the com-
pany’s capital lease liability ($1,671 million) to the payments for all lease obligations
from 1999 to 2003, analysts can see that although it had more capital than operating
|eases, American used operating leases for its most expensive equipment. Wasthisacon-
scious operating strategy, or was the company seeking to keep the effective liability to
finance its more expensive aircraft off the balance sheet?

EXAMPLE: HUMAN CAPITAL. Companies spend considerable amounts on profes-
sional development and training for their employees. Forma employee training by U.S.
firmsis estimated to cost anywhere from $30 to $148 billion per year. If one factorsin
informal, on-the-job training these costs increase by afactor of two to three times.

Training programs range from those that emphasi ze the enhancement of firm-specific
skills that are unlikely to be transferable to other jobs, to training that upgrades an em-
ployee’s general skills and would be valued by other employers. Firms may be willing
to provide general training only if the empl oyee makes a commitment to remain with the
company for some period after completing the training. Thistype of commitment istyp-
ical for firmsthat pay for employeesto attend MBA programs.

Firmsthat spend resourcesfor formal training typically do so in anticipation that they
will have long-term benefits for the firm through increased productivity and/or product
or service quality. How should these expenditures be recorded? Should they be viewed
as an asset and amortized over the employees’ expected life with the firm? Or should
they be expensed immediately?

Accountants argue that skills created through training are not owned by the firm but
by the employee. Thus, employees can leave one firm and take a position with another
without the current employer’sapproval. It isalso difficult to calibrate the effect of train-
ing on future performance. As aresult, accounting standards in the U.S. and elsewhere
require that training costs be written off immediately.

Given the accounting treatment of training costs, financial analysis can add value by
distinguishing between firmsthat succeed and those that fail to create val ue through em-
ployee training. This can be critical for firms where human capital is a key resource.
Such isthe casefor professiona firms. Training can also create avaluable asset for firms
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that rely on sales staffswith specialized knowledge of thetechnical details of their firms
products. Training for these types of firms may be critical to the creation of customer
value and to the firms' reputations in their product markets.

Key Analysis Questions

The above discussion implies that when ownership is difficult to define, manage-
ment sometimes has the opportunity to use judgment to decide whether to record
the acquisition of aresource as an asset. In other cases management may not have
any judgment because accounting standards do not permit any firms to record the
acquisition of resources as assets. Both situations create opportunitiesfor financial
analysis. Thefirst creates an opportunity to evaluate the assumptions that underlie
the method of reporting used by management. The second creates an opportunity
to distinguish firms that are likely to retain the benefits of resource outlays, even
when ownership is vague, from those that cannot. As aresult, the following ques-
tions are likely to be useful for analysts:

» What resources for afirm are excluded from its balance sheet because own-
ership of resulting benefits is uncertain? If these resources are critical to its
strategy and value creation, what aternative metrics are available for evalu-
ating how well these resources have been managed? For example, if human
capital isakey asset, how much does the firm spend on training? What isthe
rate of employee turnover? What metrics doesthe firm use to evaluate the ef-
fectiveness of itstraining programs?

» Does management appear to be deliberately writing contracts to avoid full
ownership of key resources? If so, what factors explain this behavior? For ex-
ample, what types of leasing arrangement does the firm have? Are leases
used to manage technology risks that are outside management’ s control or to
report key assets (and liabilities) off the balance sheet?

« If leases are used to avoid reporting key assets and liabilities, what is the ef-
fect of recording these items on the financial statements?

« Hasthe firm changed its method of reporting for resource outlays where there
are ownership questions? For example, hasit changed its method of amortiz-
ing capital lease assets? What factors explain these decisions? Hasit changed
its business or operating model ?

Challenge Two: Economic Benefits Are
Uncertain or Are Difficult to Measure

A second challenge in determining whether an outlay qualifies as an asset arises when
the future economic benefits attributable to the outlay are difficult to measure or highly
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uncertain. It is almost always difficult to accurately forecast any future benefits associ-
ated with capital outlays because the world is uncertain. A company does not know
whether a competitor will offer anew product or service that makesits own obsolete. It
does not know whether the products manufactured at a new plant will be the type that
customers want to buy. It does not know whether changesin the price of oil makeits oil
drilling equipment less valuable. When do accountants view these uncertainties and
measurement problems to be sufficiently severe that they require outlays with multi-
period benefits to be expensed? When can such expenditures be capitalized?

The economic values of most resources are based on estimates of uncertain future
economic benefits. For example, receivables values are net of uncollectibles, leased and
owned assets have future residual values, and marketing and R&D outlays create brand
values. Below we discuss reporting for three types of outlays to illustrate how accoun-
tants view uncertainty in recording assets. goodwill, brands, and deferred tax assets.

EXAMPLE: GOODWILL. On February 9, 1996, Walt Disney Co. acquired Capital
Cities’/ABC Inc. for $10.1 billion in cash and 155 million shares of Disney valued at $8.8
billion based on the stock price at the date the transaction was announced. Cap Cities
owned and operated the ABC Television Network, eight television stations, the ABC
Radio Networksand 21 radio stations, and 80 percent of ESPN, Inc., and it provided pro-
gramming for cabletelevision. It also published daily and weekly newspapers, shopping
guides, various specialized and business periodicals, and books. The bulk of these assets
wereintangible. In 1994, immediately prior to the acquisition, Cap Cities estimated that
approximately 85 percent of its $5.3 billion of broadcasting revenues and 70 percent of
its $1.1 billion publishing revenues came from the sale of advertising, rather than any
tangible product or service.

Disney estimated the fair value of ABC's tangible assets at $4.0 billion ($1.5 billion
in cash) and itsliabilities at $4.3 hillion. How should the acquisition be recorded on Dis-
ney’s books? Should the difference between the $18.9 hillion purchase price and the
$0.3 hillion of net liabilities be recorded as an intangible asset on Disney’s books? If so,
what are the benefits Disney expects to realize from the acquisition? Alternatively,
should the $19.2 billion difference be written off?

Prior to Disney’s offer, the market valued ABC's equity at approximately $9 billion.
Thisimpliesthat Disney paid more than a 100 percent premium for ABC's intangible as-
sets. Hereis where the accounting issues become tricky. If the full acquisition priceisto
be shown as an asset, Disney’s management and auditors have to be confident that this
outlay isrecoverable. But what makes ABC's intangibles worth twice as much to Disney
asthey were to the company’s prior owners? Or did Disney simply overpay for Cap Cit-
ies’ABC, implying that it is unlikely to recover the $19 billion in goodwill?

Accountantsin most countries now require companieslike Disney to record the value
of acquired tangible assets and liabilities at their fair values and to show the full $19 bil-
lion of goodwill as an asset. The justification for this approach is that there has been an
arm’'s-length transaction between the buyer and seller. Thereis a presumption that Dis-
ney’s management has made an acquisition that does not destroy valuefor its own stock-



Asset Analysis

holders, and that it has the best information on the value created as a result of its plans
for the new firm. These presumptions underlie the valuation of goodwill, unlessthereis
evidenceto the contrary. After the acquisition, Disney isrequired under U.S. accounting
to amortize the goodwill over a maximum of forty years (see Chapter 7).

Two challenges arise from this form of accounting. First, sinceit is difficult to assess
whether the merger is achieving the expected benefits, it is difficult to estimate whether
goodwill has become “badwill.” Thisis complicated by management’sincentives. If the
merger does not work out as planned, management is unlikely to want to own up to mak-
ing amistake. Second, the creation of an arbitrary period for amortizing goodwill makes
it difficult for firms that make successful acquisitions to distinguish themselves from
those that make neutral ones. If both use aforty-year amortization period, the firm that
has enhanced sharehol der value reportsthe acquisition in exactly the same manner asthe
firm that created no new value.

EXAMPLE: BRANDS. Coca-Cola Inc. reports a book value of equity of $8.4 billion
and hasamarket value of $165 billion. Much of thisdifferenceisattributableto the value
of Coke's brand. Coke created the brand through years of investment in advertising, pro-
motion, and packaging. Other well-known brands include Marlborough, Nescafe,
Kodak, Microsoft, Budweiser, Kellogg's, Gillette, McDonald's, Gucci, Mercedes, and
Baccardi. Brand-name products can create valuefor their ownersby (&) permitting lower
levels of marketing than the competition, due to high market awareness, (b) cresting
leverage with distributors and retailers, since customers expect them to carry the brand,
and (c) enabling higher prices than the competition, due to higher customer perception
of value. Unlike patents or copyrights, brands have no limit in terms of how long they
can apply. If they are well managed, they can be enduring assets.

As noted in Chapter 7, the advertising, promotion, and packaging activities that give
rise to brands are typically expensed. This convention was adopted because of the diffi-
culty in linking advertising outlays with brand creation. Given the difficulty in valuing
brandsin thefirst place, and given the challenge in assessing when and how much adver-
tising enhances brand val ues and affects only the current period’s sales, accountants have
traditionally avoided showing brand capital asan asset. Inthe U.S,, even brandsthat have
been acquired are not reported separately and are included as part of intangible assets.

In Australia and the U.K., however, firms have been permitted to report brand assets
on their books. The driving force behind this phenomenon has been mergers and acqui-
sitions. Target firms have valued and revalued brands on their books. For example, in
1989, following an increased acquisition interest from General Cinema, Cadbury
Schweppes valued brands acquired since 1985. These assets were not amortized but re-
viewed annually for any diminution in value. In 1997 Cadbury reported brand intangi-
bles on its balance sheet at £1.575 billion, representing one-third of its total assets.

Showing brands on the books as assets provides management with away of commu-
nicating their value to investors. It also signals that managers are aware of the impor-
tance of these assets and provides an annua indication of how well they have been
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managed. Brands that have been managed well are likely to retain their value, whereas
mismanaged brandswill have to be written down. However, including brands on the bal-
ance sheet also raises opportunities for misuse of management judgment. Given the dif-
ficulty in estimating brand values, investors are likely to be concerned that management
overstates the value of brands and fails to recognize any declines in value on a timely
basis. Management may be able to mitigate these concerns by using independent valua-
tion expertsto value brand assets and by having auditors sign off on the val uations. How-
ever, even these forms of verification are unlikely to completely eliminate investors
concerns.

For firms where brands are not reported as assets (i.e., most firms), the challenge for
management is to provide other ways to convince investors of the value of brands. For
example, in its 1998 annual report, Coca-Cola provided the following performance data
for its key brandsin North America:

Rest of Industry*
M 2%

*Rest of industry includes soft drinks only.

AVERAGE ANNUAL GROWTH GROUP | Population 305 million
U.S. UNIT CASE VOLUME PROFILE | Per Capita 377
High Per Capita Rome, Georgia, at 821
1 Year Low Per Capita Quebec, Canada, at 142
Coca-Cola USA
%
R BRAND | Coca-Cola Classic 3%
Rest of Igg}ustry HIGHLIGHTS | Diet Coke %
I 3% 1998 vs. 1997 | Sprite 9%
5 Years Unit Case | Also Notable:
Coca-Cola USA Sales Growth Fruitopia 105%
6% POWERaDE 33%

Minute Maid soft drinks

29%

Nestea

20%

Barg's

18%

Source: Coca-Cola Annual Report, 1998

Coca-Cola also outlined its initiatives to support its brands. In North America these
included sponsorship of NASCAR and the distribution of 50 million Coca-Cola cards of-
fering discounts at more than 10,000 retailers across the United States. In addition, the
company announced 1999 plans for extensions of its brands by adding two new POW-
ERaDE flavors (Arctic Shatter and Dark Downburst), a new flavor for Fruitopia (Kiwi-
berry Ruckus), and the launch of Dasani, a purified water with added minerals. Similar
details were provided for Coke's other markets. For example, in Argentina a new mar-
keting campaign was initiated to encourage use of Coke products at meal times. InAsia
the company focused on increasing the availability of its products through expanded use
of vending machines. In Mexico sponsorship of basketball was used to boost consump-
tion of Sprite. The chalenge for investors and financial statement users is to assess
whether these marketing initiatives and brand extensions are likely to be successful in
creating value for Coca-Cola.
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EXAMPLE: DEFERRED TAX ASSETS. Tax lawsin the U.S. and many other coun-
tries permit firms with tax operating losses to carry them forward to future periods when
they can be offset against positive earnings. These carryforwards potentially provide fu-
ture economic benefits in the form of reduced future tax obligations. In 1998, for exam-
ple, Amazon.com, the Internet retailer of books, music, and video products, had
generated operating losses of $207 million, equivalent to $73.1 million of future tax sav-
ings since its inception. These “tax loss carryforwards’ provided potential future eco-
nomic benefits for Amazon.com. Of course, the carryforwards are only valuable if
Amazon.com actually earns future profits. The company reported that these loss carry-
forwards begin to expirein 2011.

How should financial reports record the operating loss carryforwards for Ama-
zon.com? Should they be reported as an asset in the balance sheet? If so, what is their
value given the likelihood that they may never be used if the firm continues to show
losses? Under SFAS 109, U.S. firms are required to show a deferred tax asset for the
value of operating loss carryforwards, net of avaluation allowance for the portion of the
asset that is unlikely to be realized. The FASB stated that deferred tax assets with more
than a 50 percent probability of being unrealized should be included in the valuation
allowance. This approach is similar to the valuation of accounts or notes receivable.
Receivables are shown at their gross value, net of an alowance for bad debts.

Deferred tax assets can also arise if tax reporting realizes income prior to financial
reporting. For example, prepaid revenues are often recognized for tax purposes prior to
financial reporting recognition. Warranty expenses are accrued for financia reporting
purposes but are recognized when an obligation isincurred for tax purposes. As aresult
of these temporary differences between taxable and reported income, taxes can be paid
prior to recognition of earningsin financial statements. The matching principle requires
the creation of an accrual to recognize this prepayment. SFAS 109 rules for recording
these prepayments are similar to those used to report operating loss carryforwards. A de-
ferred tax asset is created and avaluation allowanceis set up to record the portion of the
asset that isunlikely to be realized.

Financia reporting for deferred tax assets provides management with an opportunity
to exercise judgment in estimating the valuation allowance. The basis for this estimate
is management forecasts of whether the firm is likely to earn future profits and, if so,
whether they are sufficient to take full advantage of operating loss carryforwards and tax
prepayments. Recent research finds little evidence that managers use this judgment to
manage earnings.?

Amazon.com reported that it has $12.8 million of deferred tax benefits due to tempo-
rary differences between tax and financial reporting methods of recognizing income.
Combined with its $73.1 million of operating loss carryforwards, this amounted to an
$85.9 million gross deferred tax asset. The challenge for financial reporting was to esti-
mate what portion of this asset was actually likely to be realizable. The company had
never earned a profit. Since 1996 its operating performance had actually deteriorated,
with losses of $6.2 million in 1996, $31.0 million in 1997, and $124.5 million in 1998.
Further, asof March 19, 1999, financial analysts did not anticipate the company to report
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aprofit in either 1999 or 2000. Forecasts for these years are for losses of $400 million
and $140 million, respectively. On thisbasisit seemed unlikely that Amazon.com would
be ableto take advantage of its deferred tax asset anytime soon.® Consequently, the com-
pany reported that it included the full value of the deferred tax asset in the valuation al-
lowance, leaving a net book value of zero.

Key Analysis Questions

The above discussion illustrates three methods of reporting for outlayswhose eco-
nomic benefits are uncertain or difficult to measure. The first, which requiresim-
mediate expensing of the outlays, does not allow for any use of management
judgment in financial reporting. This method is commonly used for brand devel-
opment outlays and for R& D. The second method, which records an asset at the
amount of the outlay, provides for management judgment in subsequent periods
through amortization or write-downs. Examplesinclude goodwill and fixed assets.
The third method requires the expected value of benefits from an outlay to be re-
corded, requiring considerable management judgment. Examples include receiv-
ables and deferred tax assets. These three methods give rise to the following
challenges and questions for financial analysts:

 Which assets reported on the balance sheet are most difficult to measure and
value? Assetswith liquid markets, such as marketable securities, arerelative-
ly easy to value, whereas unique or firm-specific assets, such as goodwill and
brands, are most challenging. What is the basis for valuing these types of as-
sets? What assumptions have been made for financial reporting? For ex-
ample, what are the amortization lives of these assets, and what are
management’ s estimates of allowances?

How do any assumptions or estimates made by management in valuing assets
compare with assumptions in prior years? Has there been a change in as-
sumed goodwill lives? Is the current receivable or deferred tax asset allow-
ance as a percentage of the gross asset very different from prior years? What
factors might explain any changes? Has the firm made changesto its business
strategy or its operating policies? Has there been a change in the outlook for
the industry or the economy as awhole?

How do management’s assumptions for valuing assets compare to those
made by competitors? Once again, if there are any differences, what are the
potential explanations? Do the firms have different business strategies? Do
they operate in different geographic regions? Does management have differ-
ent incentives to manage earnings?

Does management have ahistory of over- or underestimating the value of dif-
ficult-to-value assets? For exampl e, doesit consistently sell these types of as-
setsat alossor at again?
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* What key assets are not reported on the balance sheet because of measure-
ment difficulties or uncertainties? These include brands, R& D, and other in-
tangibles. How does the firm appear to be managing these assets? Does
management discuss its strategy for preserving, enhancing, and leveraging
these assets? What indicators does the firm look at to evaluate how well it has
managed these assets?

Challenge Three: Changes in Future Economic Benefits

Thefina challengein recording assetsishow to reflect changesin their values over time.
What types of assets, if any, should be marked up or down to their fair values? Below we
discussthis question for changesin values of operating assets, financial instruments, and
foreign exchange rate fluctuations.

EXAMPLE: CHANGES IN VALUES OF OPERATING ASSETS. Changes in operat-
ing asset values are reflected in financial statementsin a variety of ways. For example,
changes in receivable values are reflected in bad debt allowances, changes in the value
of loan portfolios are reflected in loss reserves, revisions in asset lives and residual val-
ues are reflected in amortization estimates, and declinesin inventory and long-term asset
values are reflected in write-downs.

Accounting standards in the U.S. do not permit the recognition of any increasesin
operating asset values beyond their historical cost. However, asnoted in Chapter 7, SFAS
121 requires operating assets whose value isimpaired to be written down to their market
value, below cost. This approach is consistent with the conservatism principle. Of
course, the challenge in implementing this standard is that it is often difficult to assess
whether an asset has been impaired and, if so, the amount of the loss. As aresult, there
appearsto be considerabl e management discretion in deciding when to recognize that an
asset has been impaired and how much to write it down. Questions can arise as to
whether firms delay recording asset impairments or underestimate the effect of impair-
ments. Alternatively, some have questioned whether managers use impairment charges
to overzealoudly write down assets to improve future reported performance.

In some other parts of the world, management is permitted to value assets at their fair
values. U.K. and Australian standards, for example, permit managersto revaluefixed as-
sets and intangibles if they have appreciated in value. Thus, in its 1998 annual report,
News Corp, the Australian news and media company run by Rupert Murdoch, reported
that the intangible asset Publishing Rights, Titles, and Television Licenses was revalued
toitsfair value. Fair values were estimated by “discounting the expected net inflow of
cash arising from their continued use or sale” (See Footnote 1 of News Corp’s annual
report.) As aresult, the firm showed intangible assets that cost A$7,283 million at afair
value of A$12,030 million.
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By permitting firms to revalue assets, U.K. and Australian standards potentially per-
mit managers to communicate their estimates of the value of the firm’skey assetstoin-
vestors. However, they also provide increased opportunity for asset overstatements.*

EXAMPLE: CHANGES IN FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT VALUES. Many financia as-
setsaretraded in aliquid capital market, permitting relatively objective values to be ob-
tained. For debt securities, even though markets may not be very deep or liquid, financial
valuation models enablerelatively reliable estimates of valueto be made. Finance theory
posits that firms (or individuals) can typically buy or sell financial instrumentsin finan-
cial markets at the current market price, provided they are perceived to have the same
information on the instruments’ values as other investors. As a result, since fair values
can be obtained at low cost, can be independently verified, and are more relevant to fi-
nancial statement users than acquisition cost, agood argument can be made for marking
assets up or down to market prices.

Of course, if the owner of financial instruments exercises control over the other com-
pany, the owner is unlikely to be able to transact at market prices. Attempts to sell the
instruments will be interpreted by other investors as indicating that the seller considers
it agood timeto sell, reducing the price. This suggests that marking such assets to mar-
ket isless appropriate.

Figure 4-2 summarizes the valuation effects of accounting for changes in values of
financia instruments. It showsthat the reporting effects depend primarily onthe owner’s
motives.

U.S. accounting rules do not permit instruments to be recorded at their fair values if
they are owned for control reasons. Instead, the investment is recorded using either the
equity method or the consolidation approach. The equity method is used when a firm
owns 20-50 percent of another company’s stock and is considered to have partial but not
full control of the other company (called an associated company). Theinvestment isthen
valued at its original cost plus the owner’s share of the associated company’s accumu-
lated changesin retained earnings since the investment was acquired. For investmentsin
excess of 50 percent, the owner is considered to have full control over the subsidiary
company. The acquirer then consolidates the assets of the subsidiary with its own assets.
Two methods of consolidation are used. If the subsidiary is purchased in a cash transac-
tion, purchase accounting is used. The assets of the subsidiary are then included in the
owner’s balance sheet at their fair values at acquisition and subsequently amortized. Any
difference between the purchase price and thefair value of net tangible assetsisrecorded
asgoodwill and amortized over itsuseful life up to amaximum of forty years. If the sub-
sidiary is acquired for stock, the pooling of interest method is used to record the acqui-
sition. The assets of the subsidiary are then included in the owner’s balance sheet at their
original book values. No goodwill is recognized.

If the owner of financial instruments does not exercise control over the other com-
pany, accountants are more inclined to value the instruments at their fair market values.
For example, if the purpose of ownership isto hedge changesin the fair value of another
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Figure 4-2 Valuation of Financial Instruments

Q: What is the motivation for ownership of
the financial instruments?

/

Y

\

A: Used as a way to exer-
cise some level of control
over another company. If so,
what is the level of control?

A: Short-term alternative to

holding cash.

1. Intend to sell or make
available for sale.
Valuation Method: Fair
value

2. Intend to hold to maturity.

Valuation Method: Cost

A: Used as part of strategy
to hedge fair values of
assets or liabilities, or to
hedge uncertain future cash
flows.

Valuation Method: Fair
value

o

o~

A: Own between 20% and
50% of the other company.
Valuation Method: Equity
method: Investment shown
at initial cost plus share of
accumulated changes in
associated company’s
retained earnings.

A: Own more than 50% of
the other company.
Valuation Methods:
Purchase accounting: Tangi-
ble assets recorded at fair
values at acquisition, and
then depreciated. Goodwill
recorded at difference

between purchase price and
fair value of net assets, and
then amortized.

Pooling: All assets recorded
at book values at acquisi-
tion. No goodwill.

item or to hedge fluctuations in expected future cash inflows or outflows, the instrument
isreported at fair value. If afirm holds an instrument as a store of cash and either intends
to sell it or has it available for sale, it is reported at fair value. Only if management
expects that an instrument will be held to maturity isit reported at historical cost.

EXAMPLE: CHANGES IN VALUES OF FOREIGN SUBSIDIARIES. Many companies
have foreign subsidiaries that subject their assets to exchange rate fluctuations. How are
these fluctuations recognized? Are assets of foreign subsidiaries trandated into local
currency at the historical rates when the assets were acquired? Alternatively, are they
translated at current rates?

U.S. rules for reporting foreign currency effects on assets require management to
make a decision about the exchange rate risk borne by a new foreign venture at the time
itisundertaken. A foreign subsidiary isconsidered to belargely insulated from the effect
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of exchangeratesif its sales, costs, and sources of financing primarily occur in thelocal
currency rather than in the parent’s currency, and there are few transactions between the
parent and subsidiary. In this case, the subsidiary’s assets and liabilities provide anatural
hedge against much of any exchange rate volatility. Only the net asset value is consid-
ered to be subject to exchange rate effects. SFAS 52 therefore requires the subsidiary’s
assets (and liabilities) to be trandated at the current rate. The parent will only be subject
to the effect of changes in exchange rates on net assets. These effects are reflected in
shareholders’ equity as atranslation adjustment.®

Foreign currency risks for the combined firm are considered to be more severe if the
subsidiary’s sales or costs are incurred in the parent’s currency or if there are frequent
transactions between the two. SFAS 52 then requires assets and liabilities for the subsid-
iary to be valued using the monetary/nonmonetary method. Under this approach, mone-
tary assetsand liabilities (such as cash, receivabl es, payabl es, and financing) aretrand ated
at current rates, whereas nonmonetary assets and liabilities (such as inventory, fixed as-
sets, and intangibles) are valued at the historical rate (when the transaction occurred).®

Key Analysis Questions

The above discussion indicates that the management judgment involved in report-
ing the effect of changes in asset values depends on the type of asset, the country
inwhich the firm operates, and the way it managesits businesses. For financial an-
alysts, these factors raise the following questions:

Do operating assets appear to be impaired? Evidence of impairment could in-
clude systemic poor performance and/or write-downs by other firmsin thein-
dustry. If assets appear to be impaired but are not written down, what is
management’ s justification for not recognizing any impairment?

» Does management appear to have over- or understated prior impairment loss-
es for operating assets, making it difficult to evaluate future performance?
Has the firm consistently reported impairment losses, indicating an unwill-
ingness to appreciate the full extent of the impairment? Does management
appear to have aviable business model or plan to correct the problems?

* If management reval ues operating assets, either up or down, what isthe basis
for the estimation of the fair value? | s the valuation based on an independent
appraisal, or isit amanagement estimate?

» What are management’s reasons for revaluing assets that have increased in
value?

» What is management’s motive for holding financial instruments? I s that mo-
tivation consistent with shareholders’ interests? For example, is the firm
hedging risks for shareholders’ benefits or for the benefit of managers?

* What is the market value of al financial instruments?
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* What are the foreign currency risks the company is exposed to from its for-
eign operations? What foreign currency gains and losses are reported, either
in the income statement or in the equity section of the balance sheet? Does
management hedge foreign currency risks? How effective are these hedges?

COMMON MISCONCEPTIONS ABOUT ASSET ACCOUNTING

The above discussion of accounting for assets reveals a number of popular misconcep-
tions about the nature of accounting.

1. If afirm paid for aresource, it must be an asset.

Thislogic is frequently used to justify showing goodwill as an asset. It gives manage-
ment the benefit of the doubt in recording the full value of acquisition outlaysasan asset,
presupposing that management would not have made the outlay if it did not anticipate
the prospect of some future benefit.

However, this logic ignores the possibility that well-intended managers can make
mistakes or that some managers take actions that are not in the best interests of share-
holders. Mergers and acquisitions have frequently been cited as such events. Recent ev-
idence indicates that mergers and acquisitions typically do not create valuefor acquiring
shareholders. The value of the goodwill recorded for these transactions may very well
not be an asset, but simply reflect management’s overpayment for the target or its over-
estimate of any merger benefits. Indeed, the negative stock returns for many acquirers at
the announcement of an acquisition indicate that investors are skeptical of merger ben-
efits. Accountants, however, do not reflect this skepticism in goodwill values until there
is evidence of itsimpairment.

It is also worth noting that the logic that payment is evidence of an asset is not used
consistently in accounting. For example, outlays for research and development are not
viewed as assets, even though managers also make outlays for R&D in expectation of
generating future benefits. Several justifications for the apparent contradiction in treat-
ment have been offered. One is that there is considerable risk of failure for any single
research project. However, aresearch program is more likely to generate successes. In-
deed, it is not obvious which is more risky—a research program or atakeover program.
A second justification for the different treatmentsisthat R& D is more difficult to verify
than goodwill. However, even thisis not clear. After al, for many acquisitionsit is not
clear exactly what benefits are likely to be generated from the acquisition, making it dif-
ficult to verify whether goodwill has been impaired. In contrast, research programs have
identifiable output to verify whether outlays generated successful products.
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2. If you can’t kick aresource, it really isn't an asset.

This view is commonly used to justify the rapid write-off or exclusion of intangibles
from the balance sheet. It iscertainly truethat it can be difficult to estimate the economic
benefits from some intangibles. As noted above, this is particularly true for goodwill.
However, theintangible nature of some assets does not mean that they do not have value.
Indeed, for many firmsthese types of assets are their most valued. For example, Merck’s
two most valued assets are its research capabilities which permit it to generate new
drugs, and its sales force which enables it to sell those drugs to doctors. Yet neither is
recorded on Merck’s balance sheet.

From the investors' point of view, accountants' reluctance to value intangible assets
does not diminish their importance. If they are not included in financial statements, in-
vestors have to look to alternative sources of information on these assets.

3. If you bought aresource, it must be an asset; if you developed it, it
must not be.

This statement is frequently used to justify recording acquired intangible assets, such as
R&D and brands, but not recording assets for the cost of internally generated intangi-
bles. The logic for this distinction seems to be that intangible assets that are completed,
such as completed R& D and established brands, can be valued more readily than intan-
gible assets that are in development. While this may be true, it permits two firms that
own the same types of intangible assets to have very different accounting for their activ-
ities. Firms that generate these assets internally show no values for the assets, whereas
firms that purchase these assets reflect them on the balance sheet.

The rea question for investors in distinguishing between purchased and internally
developed assets is whether there is any difference in the certainty of expected future
benefits for the two assets. If there is no difference, investors will view both as valuable
assets and are interested in assessing their value, how they are managed, and whether
they have been impaired during the period. Consequently, if accountants do not choose
to recognize internally generated assets, investors will be forced to find aternative
sources of information on these assets.

4. Market values are only relevant if you intend to sell an asset.

It has been common among accountants to regard fair values of assets asonly being rel-
evant if the owner intends to sell them. For example, as discussed above, U.S. rules for
valuing marketable securities held asastore for cash require ownersto value these assets
at their fair values only if they intend to sell them or the instruments are available for
sale. If management intends to hold these instruments to maturity, they are valued at
their historical cost.
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Thislogic implies that it is possible to avoid incurring an economic loss by simply
not selling the asset. An economist would view such an approach as ludicrous. If you
own stock in Microsoft and its fair value increases, your own equity increases accord-
ingly. Thisistrue regardless of whether you intend to sell the Microsoft stock. The fair
value of the stock reflectsthe market’s best estimate of the resourcesthat would be avail-
ableif you sold the asset. Your plansto sell or hold are irrelevant to its value. Note that
this may not be true for operating assets. A plant’s fair value may be less than its value
in use. Further, assets with high values in use are precisely the types of assetsthat firms
are likely to retain. Thus, fair values of separable operating assets may not be fully re-
flected in their values to the firm.

SUMMARY

The recording of assetsis primarily determined by the principles of historical cost and
conservatism. Under the historical cost principle, resources owned by a firm that are
likely to produce reasonably certain future benefits are valued at their cost. However, if
an asset’s cost exceeds its fair value, the conservatism principle requires that the re-
source be written down to fair value. The U.S. has been a strong advocate of the histor-
ical cost/conservatism approach to valuing assets. However, eveninthe U.S,, adherence
to these rules has diminished during the last twenty years as firms have been permitted
to revalue marketable securities to fair values. Outside the U.S., some countries permit
firms to revalue other types of assets, including intangibles.

The implementation of the principles of historical cost and conservatism can be chal-
lenging if:

1. Thereisuncertainty about the ownership of those resources, asisthe casefor lease
transactions and training outlays.

2. Future benefits associated with resources are highly uncertain and/or difficult to
measure, such as for goodwill, R&D, brands, and deferred tax assets.

3. Resource values have changed, asin the case of impaired operating assets, chang-
esin fair values of financial instruments, and changes in exchange rates for valu-
ing foreign subsidiaries.

Corporate managers are likely to have the best information on the ownership risks
and uncertainty about future benefits associated with their firms' resources. As aresult,
they are assigned the primary responsibility for deciding which outlays qualify as assets
and which do not, and for assessing whether assets have been impaired. Of course, given
managers’ incentives to report favorably on their stewardship of owners’ investments
and accounting requirements that preclude recording some key economic assets (e.g.,
R&D, brands, human capital), there is ample opportunity for analysts to independently
assess how a firm’s resources are being managed.
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

1.

An airline operator signs an agreement to lease an aircraft for twenty years. Annual
lease obligations, payable at the beginning of the year, are $4.7 million. What are the
financial statement effects of this transaction if the lease is recorded as (a) a capital
lease or (b) an operating lease? As a corporate manager, what forecasts do you have
to make to decide which alternative to use? Which method would you prefer to use
to report thelease? Why? Asafinancial anayst, what questions would you raise with
the firm’s CFO?

. The American Society for Training and Development has recently advocated that

firms be permitted to report training costs as an asset on their balance sheet. Asacor-
porate manager, how would you respond to this proposal? What are its merits and
what concerns would you have?

. In 1991 AT& T, the largest long-distance tel ephone operator inthe U.S,, paid $7.5 bil-

lion to acquire NCR, a computer manufacturer. Prior to the acquisition, the book val-
ue of NCR's assets was $4.5 hillion, and its liabilities were $1.5 billion. Assuming
that there was little significant difference between the fair value and the book value
of NCR'’ s assets, show the effect of the acquisition onAT& T’ s bal ance sheet from us-
ing () the pooling of interests method and (b) the purchase method.

. AT& T smanagers had a strong preference for recording the acquisition of NCR under

the pooling of interests method. Indeed, the offer was actually contingent on approval
for pooling. Why do you think AT& T’ s managers were so concerned about the ac-
counting used for the transaction? As a financial analyst, what questions would you
raise with the firm’s CFO?

. What approaches would you use to estimate the value of brands? What assumptions

underlie these approaches? As a financial analyst, what would you use to assess
whether the brand value of £1.575 billion reported by Cadbury Schweppes in 1997
was areasonable reflection of the future benefits from these brands? What questions
would you raise with the firm’s CFO about the firm’s brand assets?

. A firm records bad debt expenses on an accrual basis for financial reporting and on

acash basis for tax reporting. In its 1999 annual report, it reported that the opening
and closing balances in Allowance for Uncollectibles (a contra against receivables)
were $1,200 million and $1,650 million, respectively, and that customers owing $550
million defaulted during the year. The company’s tax rate is 40 percent. How much
isthe deferred tax asset asaresult of thistemporary difference between financial and
tax reporting? If 30 percent of the asset is deemed to be unrecoverable, how would
the transaction be recorded? As a financial analyst, what questions would you raise
with the firm’s CFO about the firm'’ s deferred tax asset?

. Asthe CFO of acompany, what indicators would you look at to assess whether your

firm’s long-term assets were impaired? What approaches could be used, either by
management or an independent valuation firm, to assess the dollar value of any asset
impairment? As a financial analyst, what indicators would you look at to assess
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whether a firm’s long-term assets were impaired? What questions would you raise
with the firm’'s CFO about any charges taken for asset impairment?

8. Givetwo examples of instruments designed to hedge changesin thefair values of as-
sets or liabilities. When would you recommend that a firm hedge against changesin
the fair values of its assets or liabilities? Give two examples of instruments designed
to hedge uncertain future cash flows. When would you recommend hedging uncer-
tain cash flow obligations or inflows?

NOTES

1. SeelLisaM. Lynch, “A Needs Analysisof Training Data,” in Labor Statistics Measurement
Issues: Sudiesin Income and Wealth, VVolume 60 (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1998).

2. See G. Miller and D. Skinner, “Determinants of the Valuation Allowance for Deferred Tax
Assets Under SFAS No. 109,” The Accounting Review 73, No. 2, 1998.

3. Despitethispoor reported performance, in the 22 months sinceitsinitial public offering, the
company’ s stock price increased from $1.70 to in excess of $170, indicating that investors were
very optimistic about the company’ s long-term prospects.

4. P. Easton, P. Eddey, and T. Harris, “An Investigation of Revaluations of Tangible Long-
Lived Assets,” Journal of Accounting Research 31, 1993, examine asset revaluations by Austra-
lian firms and find that they are weakly related to lagged returns, suggesting that investors view
revaluations as relevant but not very timely disclosures.

5. Owners equity isthereforetranslated at historical rates (when equity wasinvested), and any
gain or loss on adjustment is reported as a trandlation adjustment. All revenues and expenses are
trand ated at the weighted average rate for the year. No exchange rate gains and | osses are refl ected
in the income statement.

6. Under the monetary/nonmonetary approach, owners equity is again translated at historical
rates (when equity was invested). Ongoing revenues and expenses are trandated at the weighted
average rate for the period, but depreciation is trandated at the historical rate. Finally, any ex-
change gain or lossisincluded in income.
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Boston Chicken, Inc.

Bhaps no company better captures the spirit of the new economy
than Boston Chicken Inc., which aims to do for the rotisserie what Colonel Sand-
ers did for the deep fryer. . . . There is nothing particularly new about rotisserie
chicken—those birds have been turning succulently in delicatessen windows for
generations. But Boston Chicken is not really about poultry—it is about devel op-
ing a market-winning formula for picking real estate, designing stores, organizing
a franchise operation and analyzing data. These are Boston Chicken’'s innova-
tions—trade secrets that can be every bit as valuable as a new drug or computer
chip design. With them, Boston Chicken has not only developed the secret for de-
livering generous quantities of home-cooking at affordable prices, but also trans-
formed what had been a mom-and-pop business into a new national category—
take-out home-cooked food—that potentially can draw business away from both
super markets and restaurants.

The Washington Post, July 4, 1994

Boston Chicken wasfounded in 1989 by Scott Beck to operate and franchise food ser-
vice stores that sold meal s featuring rotisserie-cooked chicken, fresh vegetables, salads,
and other side dishes. The firm’'s concept was to combine fresh, flavorful, and appealing
meal's associated with traditional home cooking with a high level of convenience and
value. Meals cost less than $5 per person, were sold in bright, inviting retail stores, and
were available for take-out or for on-site consumption. “Our strategy,” Beck noted, “is
to be ahome meal replacement. Our number one competitor is pizza”!

To help operationalize his vision, Beck assembled a management team with consid-
erable prior experience in both the fast-food business and franchising operations. Beck
himself became one of thefirst and largest franchisees for Blockbuster Video while still
in histwenties. Helater sold hisfranchises back to the parent company for $120 million.
Other top executives included the former president of Kentucky Fried Chicken, and
former vice-presidents of Bennigan's, Taco Bell, Red Lobster, Chili’s, and Baker's

Square.

Professor Paul M. Healy prepared this case as the basis for class discussion rather than to illustrate either effective
or ineffective handling of an administrative situation. Copyright © 1997 by the President and Fellows of Harvard
College. Harvard Business School case 9-198-032.

1. The Washington Post, July 4, 1994.
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COMPANY STRUCTURE AND GROWTH STRATEGY

By the end of 1994, the Boston Chicken system operated 534 stores, compared to only
34 stores at the end of 1991. This trandated to an annual rate of growth of almost 500
percent per year, with anew store being opened on average every two days. As reported
inthefinancia statements presented in Exhibit 1, revenuesfor this period increased dra-
matically, from $5.2 million in 1991 to $96.2 million in 1994 and net income rose to
$16.2 million (from aloss of $2.6 million). This growth continued throughout 1995; by
the third quarter there were more than 750 stores in operation and quarterly sales had
reached $38 million (see Exhibit 2 for a summary of quarterly results). The company
was voted “America’s Favorite Chicken Chain” in a 1995 survey published by Restau-
rant and Institutions magazine.

To provide financing for its rapid growth, Boston Chicken went public in November
1993. The offering, for 1.9 million shares, was highly successful, as the stock price
soared from theinitial offering price of $10 to ahigh of $26.50. However, within months
of the offer the stock had fallen back to $18. Nonetheless, a second offering for two mil-
lion shares at $18.50 in August 1994 was oversubscribed. The company responded by
increasing the offer to six million shares, raising $105 million of new capital (after issue
costs).

Competition in the $200 billion restaurant industry wasfierce, and several other com-
panies were quick to take advantage of Boston Chicken’s success. For example, in mid-
1993 Pepsico’s Kentucky Fried Chicken (KFC) introduced “rotisserie-gold” roasted
chicken in most of its 5,100 restaurants. Within four months KFC reported that sales of
the new chicken had topped $160 million, making KFC the world's largest rotisserie
chicken chain. KFC spent $100 million to launch the new product, including a national
network advertising campaign. However, some analysts believed that Boston Chicken's
biggest challenge would not come from other competitors, but on how well the company
met its goals.?

Inits 1994 Annual Report, Boston Chicken described its main goals as strengthening
its area devel oper organizations, creating communications infrastructure to support area
developers, building an organization to continue new market devel opment, and continu-
ing operational improvementsto ensure that the retail concept kept pace with changesin
consumer tastes.

Area Developer Organizations

The company’s franchising strategy was different from that of most other successful
franchisers. Instead of selling store franchises to a large number of small franchisees,

2. See discussion by Stacy Dutton at Kidder Peabody’s equity research department, quoted in Reuters news report,
November 9, 1993.
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Boston Chicken focused on franchising to large regional developers. It established anet-
work of 22 regional franchises, which targeted the 60 largest U.S. metropolitan markets.
Each franchi se was expected to have the scal e necessary to ensure operational efficiency
and marketing clout. The typical franchisee was an independent businessman with 15—
20 years of relevant management experience, strong financial resources, and a mandate
to open 50 to 100 new stores in the region. This structure was intended to provide the
entrepreneurial energy of afranchise operation with the control and economies of scale
of company-owned operations.

Under typical franchise agreements, developers paid Boston Chicken a one-time
$35,000 per store franchise fee, a $10,000 fee to cover grand opening expenses, and an
annual 5 percent royalty on gross revenues. In addition, franchisees contributed 2 per-
cent and 3.75 percent of sales per year, respectively, for national and local advertising
campaigns. In 1994 royalties from these agreements amounted to $17.4 million, and ini-
tial franchisefeesfor new storeswere $13 million. The company also earned interest in-
come from franchise developers, since it provided aline of credit to assist them in new
store devel opment. This source of revenue grew rapidly in 1994 to $11.6 million. Other
revenue sources included income from leasing some of its stores to franchise operators,
and fees for software services provided to developers.

Areadevel oper financing was provided to qualifying devel opers to assist them in ex-
panding their operations. Under these arrangements, Boston Chicken provided the de-
veloper with arevolving line of credit which became available once at least 75 percent
of the developer’s equity capital had been spent on developing stores. The agreement
provided limits on the amount that the developer could draw over time, primarily as a
function of developers' equity capital. Once the drawing period expired, the loan con-
verted to an amortizing four- to five-year term loan, with a variable interest rate set at
1 percent over the Bank of Americalllinois “reference rate” Some loans also included
aconversion option, permitting Boston Chicken to convert theloan into equity in the de-
veloper after two years, usualy at a 1215 percent premium over the equity price at the
loan’s inception.

Communications Infrastructure

The company invested $8—10 million to build computer software that provided support
for its network of stores, and linked headquartersto devel oper stores. This software used
information entered at the checkout counter to advise store managers when to put on an-
other rack of chickensor to heat up another tray of mashed potatoes. It made appropriate
adjustmentsfor the day of the week, the season, and customer preferences at a particular
store in making its recommendations. The software also provided information on
employee work schedulesto match daily peaksin customer purchases, automatically re-
ordered food supplies from approved vendors, and updated the store’s financial perfor-
mance on an hourly basis.
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New Market Devel opment

New store site selection was critical to the company’s future success. In 1995 it em-
ployed more than 180 real estate and construction professionals to ensure that the pace
of development was sustained and that site standards were maintained. Given these re-
sources the company was optimistic that it could open at least 325 new stores per year
in the foreseeable future.

Operating Improvements

In 1994 the company implemented a number of plans to improve operating efficiency
and reduce store-level costs. These included long-term agreements with key suppliers,
the introduction of flagship stores, expanded menus, in-store computer feedback from
customers, and drive-thru lanes. Long-term agreements with suppliers provided oppor-
tunities to lock in prices for key inputs. For example, in October 1994 the firm reached
afive-year cost-plus agreement with Hudson Foods to purchase the entire capacity from
two Hudson poultry processing plants.

Flagship stores included aretail store and a kitchen facility with enough space and
equipment to perform the initial stages of food preparation, such as washing and chop-
ping vegetables, for up to 20 “satellite” stores. Prepared food was then sent to satellite
stores, which completed the cooking process and served the products. This concept in-
creased the quality and freshness of the sideitems, because a flagship had more frequent
delivery of fresh ingredients. It also led to greater consistency in food taste, facilitated
increased innovation in menu items (since there were fewer production people to train),
and utilized facilities more effectively.

In fall 1994 the company added vegetable pot pies, Caesar salad, and cinnamon ap-
ples to its menu to satisfy customer demand for more variety in food offerings. Rotis-
serie-roasted turkey, ham, and meat |oaf entreeswere added in mid-1995. Stores offering
these new products showed double-digit sales gains without any significant new adver-
tising campaign. A new line of deli-type sandwiches featuring turkey, ham, and meat
loaf on fresh-baked bread was also added to boost lunch sales. In 1995 the firm invested
$20 million in Progressive Bagels (PBCI), aretailer of fresh gourmet bagels. Under this
agreement, Boston Chicken provided an eight-year senior secured loan to Progressive
Bagels, as well as providing administrative, real estate, and systems support services.
Management argued that this investment provided the firm with the opportunity to learn
more about the potential of morning service, which could further increase store produc-
tivity. By late 1995 this investment was increased to $80 million, and PBCI had grown
to 53 stores (from abase of 20 units), with plansto open 200225 storesin 1996. Finally,
in an attempt to increase sales in the traditionally weak fourth quarter, the company
began offering whole hams and turkeys for Thanksgiving and Christmas meals. As a
result of these expanded product offerings, Boston Chicken decided to change its name
to Boston Market.
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In 1995 the company began using technology to keep in better touch with store cus-
tomers. Touch-activated computer terminals were added to some stores, enabling cus-
tomers to rate the quality of food and service. Blaine Hurst, the former Ernst & Young
partner who headed Boston Chicken’s computer operations, pointed out, “If | can save
half a percentage point on food costs, that's a lot of money. But if | can know almost
instantaneously that customersdon’t like the drink selection and | can have that changed
within aweek—that’s worth alot more money.”

Findly, to improve convenience for customers, the company decided to add drive-
thru lanestoits stores. By late 1994, 62 storesin eighteen states had drive-thru windows.
In some cases, as much as 30 percent of store sal es came from these windows. The com-
pany’s market research indicates that as many as two-thirds of these customers would
not have visited the stores had this convenience not been available. Drive-thrus were
planned for a further 65 stores in 1995, and ultimately 70 percent of the stores were
expected to be converted to drive-thru.

EXPECTED FUTURE PERFORMANCE

In late 1995, most restaurant analysts were bullish about Boston Chicken's future per-
formance. For example, Michael Moe of Lehman Brothers noted: “Boston Chicken is
truly the leader in the home meal replacement market. . . . Dual-income families are
searching for an affordable alternative to preparing meals at home. Boston Chicken sat-
isfies this need by preparing food that customers view as high quality, healthy and con-
venient. This home meal replacement is a hit with value-minded consumers. The bagel
industry is another hot area of opportunity for Boston Chicken. Presently the bagel in-
dustry is one of the hottest growth areasin America’ ® Moe rated the stock to be astrong
buy, and projected that EPS would be $0.63 in 1995, $0.90 in 1996, and would continue
to grow by 45 percent per year from 1997 to 2001.

However, not everyone was impressed. Roger Lipton of Lipton Financial Services
contended that Boston Chicken’s franchisees had actually lost money. Lipton Financial
Servicesis an dffiliate of Axiom Capital Management, which had shorted the stock. He
estimated that sales at a franchised store had to average $23,000 a week (net of promo-
tional discounts) to cover labor, cost of sales, and other expenses. Actual average weekly
sales, Lipton claimed, were only $18,900 per store, implying that franchisees were los-
ing money. Lipton pointed out that “the quality of earningsisvery low, since all of Bos-
ton Chicken's income comes from fees, royalties, and interest payments from
franchisees, most of whom were financed by the franchiser.” 4

M anagement responded to concerns about the economics of franchisees by reporting
that average weekly store sales were $23,388 for the third quarter of 1995, versus

3. Michael Moe, Lehman Brothers, October 25, 1995.
4. Inside Wall Street,” Business Week, June 12, 1995.
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$22,227 for the second quarter, and that EBITDA store margins were running at about
15-16 percent. On December 1, 1995, the stock closed at $33.75, up more than 100 per-
cent over the beginning of the year price (versus a56 percent increase for the S& P 500).5
But uncertainty about the company persisted. Short interest positions in the stock were
at an all-time high of 10 million shares, more than 20 percent of the shares outstanding
and doubl e the short interest position at the beginning of 1995.

5. The equity beta for Boston Chicken was 1.50, and at December 1, 1995, the 30-year U.S. Government Treasuries
yielded 6.04%.
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EXHIBIT 1
Boston Chicken, Inc., Abridged 1994 Annual Report, Financial
Highlights
Fiscal Years Ended

December 25, December 26,
(dollars in thousands, except per share data) 1994 1993
Systemwide store revenue $383,691 $152,056
Company revenue 96,151 42,530
Net income 16,173 1,647
Net income per share $0.38 $0.06
Shareholders’ equity $259,815 $94,906
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 42,861 32,667




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GENERAL

The total number of stores in the Boston Market system increased from 34 at the year
ended December 29, 1991, to 534 at the year ended December 25, 1994. This rapid
expansion significantly affects the comparability of results of operations from year to year
as well as the Company’s liquidity and capital resources. The following table sets forth
information regarding store development activity for the years indicated.

Asset Analysis

Stores at Net Stores Net Stores Stores
Beginning Opened Transferred  at End
of Year in Year in Year® of Year
Year Ended December 27, 1992:
Company-operated 5 15 (M 19
Financed area developers 0 3 0 3
Non-financed area developers and other 29 31 1 61
Total 34 49 0 83
Year Ended December 26, 1993:
Company-operated 19 28 9 38
Financed area developers 3 66 9 78
Non-financed area developers and other 61 40 0 101
Total 83 134 0 217
Year Ended December 25, 1994:
Company-operated 38 49 (46) 41
Financed area developers 78 168 68 314
Non-financed area developers and other 101 100 (22) 179
Total 217 317 0 534

AStores transferred during the year primarily reflect the Company’s practice of opening new Company-operating
stores to seed development in targeted markets prior to execution of area development agreements relating fo such
markets. At the time such agreements are executed, the Company typically sells Company-operating stores located
in the market to the area developer in that market. Stores transferred also reflect the purchase and/or sale of Boston
Market stores in markets with multiple area developers in order to facilitate consolidation of such markets.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Fiscal Year 1994 Compared to Fiscal Year 1993

Revenue

Total revenue increased $53.7 million (126%) from $42.5 million for 1993 to $96.2 mil-
lion for 1994. Royalty and franchise-related fees increased $42.5 million (335%) to
$55.2 million for 1994, from $12.7 million for 1993. This increase was primarily due to
an increase in royalties aftributable to the larger base of franchise stores operating sys-
temwide, from 179 stores at December 16, 1993 to 493 stores at December 5, 1994, an
increase in franchise fees related to the increase in the number of stores that commenced
operation as franchised stores during the year, and higher interest income generated on
increased loans made to certain area developers. Additional factors contributing to the
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increase in revenue from royalty and franchise-related fees include an increase in lease
income due to a higher number of store sites which the Company owns and leases to
area developers, and recognition of software license and maintenance fees for store-level
computer software systems developed by the Company for use by franchisees. No soft-
ware-related fees were earned in 1993.

Revenue from Company-operated stores increased $11.1 million (37%) from $29.8 mil-
lion for 1993 to $40.9 million for 1994. This increase was due to a higher average number
of Company-operated stores open during the year. The Company had 38 Company-oper-
ated stores at December 26, 1993, compared to 41 at December 25, 1994. During 1994,
the Company sold 54 Company-operated stores which it had opened to seed new markets.

Cost of Products Sold

Cost of products sold increased $4.6 million (41%) , o $15.9 million for 1994 compared
with $11.3 million for 1993. This increase was primarily due to an increase in the number
of Company-operated stores open during the periods. Management does not believe that
the cost of products sold as a percentage of store revenue at Company-operated stores is
indicative of cost of products sold as a percentage of store revenue at franchise stores due
to the Company’s practice of opening new stores primarily to seed new markets. These
newer stores, which constitute the majority of the Company-operated store base, tend to
have higher food and paper costs as a result of increased food usage for free tasting,
inefficiencies resulting from employee inexperience, and a lack of store-specific operating
history to assist in forecasting daily food production needs.

Salaries and Benefits

Salaries and benefits increased $7.2 million (47%), from $15.4 million in 1993 to $22.6
million in 1994. The increase resulted from an increase in the number of employees at
the Company’s support center necessary to support systemwide expansion and an
increase in the number of employees at Company-operated stores due to a higher aver-
age number of Company-operated stores open during the year.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased $14.0 million (101%) to $27.9 million for
1994 from $13.9 million for 1993. The increase is attributable to the development of the
Company's support center infrastructure necessary to support systemwide expansion and
higher general and administrative expenses at Company-operated stores resulting from a
higher average number of Company-operated stores open during the year. Included in
general and administrative expenses were depreciation and amortization charges of $6.1
million in 1994 and $2.0 million in 1993. The increase in depreciation and amortization
expense is primarily attributable to a substantially higher fixed asset base reflecting the
Company’s investment in its infrastructure.

Provision for Relocation

In September 1994, the Company consolidated its four Chicago-based support center
facilities into a single facility and relocated to Golden, Colorado. The total cost of reloca-
tion was $5.1 million.

Other Expense

The Company incurred other expense of $4.2 million in 1994, compared with other
expense of $0.3 million in 1993. This increase reflects higher interest expense, primarily
attributable to the $130.0 million of convertible subordinated debt and short-term bor-
rowings under its unsecured credit facility, partially offset by higher interest income.
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Income Taxes

Included in income taxes in 1994 is a $3.5 million benefit reflecting the realization of
deferred tax assets attributable to the increased level of operating income, offset by a cur-
rent provision for income taxes.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity

The Company’s primary capital requirements are for store development, including pro-
viding partial financing for certain of its area developers, purchasing real estate which is
then leased to its area developers, and opening Company-operated stores. The remain-
der of the Company’s capital requirements related primarily to investments in corporate
infrastructure, including property and equipment and software development, which are
necessary to support the increase in the number of stores in operation systemwide. For
the year ended December 25, 1994, the Company expended approximately $268.1 mil-
lion on store development, including financing area developers, purchasing real estate
and opening Company-operated stores. The Company also expended approximately
$52.3 million on corporate infrastructure, including its new support center facility.

The Company has entered into secured loan agreements with certain of its area
developers whereby the area developers may draw on a line of credit, with certain limita-
tions, in order to provide partial funding for expansion of their operations. In connection
with certain of these loans, after a specified moratorium period, the Company has the
right to convert the loan which typically results in a controlling equity inferest in the area
developer. As of December 25, 1994, The Company had secured loan commitments
aggregating approximately $332.5 million, of which approximately $201.3 million had
been advanced. The Company anticipates fully funding its commitments pursuant to its
loan agreements with these area developers, and anticipates increasing such loan com-
mitments and entering into additional loan commitments with other area developers in
targeted market areas. In connection with entering into new area development agree-
ments, the Company intends to sell Company-operated stores located in any such areas
to the respective area developer. The Company is currently negotiating such agreements
for a number of metropolitan areas, including Kansas City, Minneapolis, Omaha, New
York, and San Francisco/San Jose. The timing of such transactions will have significant
effect on the size and timing of the Company’s capital requirements.

In 1994, the Company sold 54 Company-operated stores to its area developers in
the Philadelphia, Detroit, Denver, Colorado Springs, Phoenix, Tucson, Las Vegas, Albu-
querque, Salt Lake City, Southern New Jersey, and Boston metropolitan areas. In addition
to opening stores to seed development in new markets and subsequently selling such
stores tfo the new area developer for such market, the Company purchases and resells
Boston Market stores in markets with multiple area developers in order to facilitate con-
solidation of such markets. In connection with these consolidation activities, the Company
has issued a total of 1,112,436 shares of common stock pursuant to its shelf registration
statement for the acquisition of 32 Boston Market stores and paid cash for 2 Boston Mar-
ket stores. Of the 34 stores purchased, 26 stores were subsequently sold. The Company
believes that all of the shares issued in connection with these consolidation activities have
been sold by the recipients pursuant to Rule 145 (d) under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended. The aggregate proceeds from the sale of Company-operated stores to seed
new markets and from the sale of stores which were acquired to consolidate markets
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were approximately $62.3 million. There were no material gains recognized as a result of
these sales.

In March 1995, the Company entered into a secured loan agreement providing $20
million of convertible debt financing to Progressive Bagel Concepts, Inc. (“PBCI”). The
Company has agreed to increase the amount available to PBCI under the loan agree-
ment subject to PBCI’s ability to meet certain conditions.

Capital Resources

For the year ended December 25, 1994, the Company’s primary sources of capital
included $35.9 million generated from operating activities, $130.0 million from the issu-
ance of 41/2% convertible subordinated debentures maturing February 1, 2004 (the
“Debentures”), and $125.7 million from the sale of shares of common stock. The Deben-
tures are convertible at any time prior to maturity into shares of the Company’s common
stock at a conversion rate of $27.969 per share, subject to adjustment under certain con-
ditions. Beginning February 1, 1996, the Debentures may be reduced at the option of the
Company, provided that until February 1, 1997, the Debentures cannot be redeemed
unless the closing price of the Company’s common stock equals or exceeds $39.16 per
share for at least 20 out of 30 consecutive trading days. The Debentures are redeemable
initially at 103.6% of their principal amount and at declining prices thereafter, plus
accrued interest. Interest is payable semi-annually on February 1 and August 1 of each
year.

In 1994, the Company entered into a $75.9 million master lease agreement to pro-
vide equipment financing for stores owned by certain of its area developers and certain
Company-operated stores. The lease bears interest at LIBOR plus an applicable margin
and, including renewal terms, expires in December 1998. As of December 25, 1994, the
Company had utilized $66.1 million of the facility.

As of December 25, 1994, the Company had $25.3 million available in cash and
cash equivalents, $75.0 million available under its unsecured revolving credit facility, and
$8.9 million available under its master lease agreement.

The Company anticipates that it and its area developers will have need for additional
financing during the 1995 fiscal year. The timing of the Company’s capital requirements
will be affected by the number of Company-operated and franchise stores opened, oper-
ational results of stores, the number of real estate sites purchased by the Company for
Company use and for leasing by the Company to franchisees, and the amount and tim-
ing of borrowings under the loan agreements between the Company and certain of its
existing or future area developers and by PBCI. As the Company’s capital requirements
increase, the Company will seek additional funds from future public or private offerings
of debt or equity securities. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to
raise such capital on satisfactory terms when needed.

Seasonality

Historically, the Company has experienced lower average store revenue in the months of
November, December, January, and February as a result of the holiday season and
inclement weather. The Company’s business in general, as well as the revenue of Com-
pany-operated stores, may be affected by a variety of other factors, including, but not
limited to, general economic trends, competition, marketing programs, and special or
unusual events. Such effects, however, may not be apparent in the Company’s operating
results during a period of significant expansion.
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1994 1993

Assets
Current assets
Cash $25,304 $ 4,537
Accounts receivable, net 6,540 2,076
Due from offiliates 6,462 3,126
Notes receivable 16,906 1,512
Prepaid expenses & other current assets 2,282 1,843
Deferred income taxes 1,835

Total current assets 59,329 13,094
Property & equipment, net 163,314 51,331
Notes receivable 185,594 44,204
Deferred financing costs 8,346 358
Other assets 10,399 1,077
Total assets $426,982 $110,064
Liabilities & Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $15,188 $6,216
Accrued expenses 6,587 1,835
Deferred franchise revenue 5,505 2,255

Total current liabilities 27,280 10,306
Deferred franchise revenue 5,815 3,139
Convertible subordinated debt 130,000
Other noncurrent liabilities 1,061 1,713
Deferred income taxes 3,011
Stockholders’ Equity
Common stock 447 347
Additional paid-in capital 252,298 103,662
Retained earnings (deficit) 7,070 (9,103)

259,815 94,906

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $426,982 $110,064
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

1994 1993 1992

Revenue
Royalties & franchise-related fees $55,235 $12,681 $2,627
Company-operated stores 40,916 29,849 5,656

Total revenues 96,151 42,530 8,283
Costs and expenses
Cost of products sold 15,876 11,287 2,241
Salaries and benefits 22,637 15,437 7,110
General and administrative 27,930 13,879 5,241
Provision for relocation 5,097 — —

Total costs and expenses 71,540 41,603 14,592
Income (loss) from operations 24,611 927 (6,309)
Other income (expense)
Interest income (expense), net (4,235) (440) 270
Other income, net 74 160 189

Total other income (expense) (4,161) (280) 459
Income (loss) before income taxes 20,450 647 (5,850)
Income taxes 4,277 — —
Net income (loss) $16,173 $ 647 $(5,850)
Net income (loss) per share common and

equivalent share $0.38 $0.06 $(0.21)
Number of shares 42,861 32,667 28,495
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (In thousands)

Fiscal Years Ended

Dec. 25, Dec. 26, Dec. 27,
1994 1993 1992
Cash from operating activities
Net income (loss) $16,173 $ 1,647 $(5,850)
Adjustments to reconcile income (loss) to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 6,074 1,970 260
Deferred income taxes 4,277
Vesting of common stock for services rendered 39
Gain on disposal of assets (368) (150) (29)
Changes in assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable and due from offiliates (7,800) (4,343) (689)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 13,724 6,247 1,102
Deferred franchise revenue 5,926 3,236 1,223
Other assets and liabilities (2,088) (561) 332
Net cash from (used in) operations 35,198 8,046 (3,612)
Cash from investing activities
Purchase of plant, property & equipment (163,622) (49,151) (8,453)
Proceeds from sale of assets 62,342 6,161 385
Acquisition of other assets (12,790) (1,093) (273)
Issuance of notes receivable (225,282) (45,690) (773)
Repayment of notes receivable 68,498 747 —
Net cash used in investing activities (270,854) (89,026) (9,114)
Cash from financing activities
Proceeds from issue common stock 125,703 66,150 19,843
Proceeds from convertible subordinate notes 130,000 9,658
Borrowings under credit facility 96,130 32,275
Repayments under credit facility (96,130) (32,275)
Payment of capital lease obligation — — (300)
Net cash from financing activities 255,703 75,808 19,543
Net increase (decrease) in cash 20,767 (5,172) 6,817
Cash, beginning of year 4,537 9,709 2,892
Cash, end of year $ 25,304 $ 4,537 $ 9,709
Supplemental cash flow information
Interest paid $ 3,395 $ 226 $ 29
Noncash transactions
Conversion of convt. subord. notes into common stock  $ — $10,072 $ —
Issuance of common stock for assets $19,931 $ — $ —

The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION

1994 1993 1992 1991
Store Information
Company operated 41 38 19 5
Finance area developers 314 78 3 0
Nonfinanced area developers 179 101 61 29
Total 534 217 83 34
Systematic store revenue 383.7 152.1 42.7 20.8
Quarterly Data Revenue
1st quarter 23,449
2nd quarter 20,360
3rd quarter 25,186
4th quarter 27,165
Net Income
1st quarter 2,561
2nd quarter 3,383
3rd quarter 4,679

4th quarter 5,550
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of Business

Boston Chicken, Inc., and Subsidiary (the “Com-
pany”) operate and franchise food service stores
that specialize in complete meals featuring home
style entrees, fresh vegetables, salads, and other
side items. At December 26, 1993, there were 217
stores systemwide, consisting of 38 Company-oper-
ated stores and 179 franchise stores. At December
25, 1994, there were 534 stores systemwide, con-
sisting of 41 Company-operated stores and 493
franchise stores. In 1992, 1993, and 1994, in con-
nection with its practice of opening new stores to
seed development in targeted markets, the Com-
pany sold 1, 13, and 54 Company-operated stores,
respectively, to new formed area developers or fran-
chisees of the Company. During 1994, in connec-
tion with its practice of acquiring stores in markets
with multiple area developers in order to facilitate
consolidation of such markets, the Company pur-
chased 34 stores and resold 26 of them.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial state-
ments include the accounts of the Company and its
subsidiary. All material intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Fiscal Year

The Company’s fiscal year is the 52/53-week period
ending on the last Sunday in December. Fiscal years
1992, 1993, and 1994 each contained 52 weeks,
or thirteen four-week periods. The first quarter con-
sists of four periods and each of the remaining three
quarters consists of three periods, with the first, sec-
ond, and third quarters ending 16 weeks, 28 weeks,
and 40 weeks, respectively, into the fiscal year.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand
and on deposit, and highly liquid instruments pur-
chased with maturities of three months or less.

Inventories
Inventories, which are classified in prepaid expenses

and other current assets, are stated at the lower of
cost (first-in, first-out) or market and consist of food,
paper products, and supplies.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost, less accu-
mulated depreciation and amortization. The provi-
sion for depreciation and amortization has been
calculated using the straight-line method. The fol-
lowing represent the useful lives over which the
assets are depreciated and amortized:

Buildings and improvements 15-30 years
Leasehold improvements 15 years
Furniture, fixtures, equipment and computer software 6-8 years
Pre-Opening costs 1 year

Property and equipment additions include
acquisitions of property and equipment, costs
incurred in the development and construction of
new stores, major improvements to existing stores,
and costs incurred in the development and purchase
of computer software. Pre-opening costs consist pri-
marily of salaries and other direct expenses relating
to the set-up, initial stocking, training, and general
management activities incurred prior to the opening
of new stores. Expenditures for maintenance and
repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Devel-
opment costs for franchised stores are expensed
when the store opens.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs are amortized over the
period of the related financing, which ranges from
two to ten years.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from Company-operated stores is recog-
nized in the period related food and beverage prod-
ucts are sold. Revenue derived from initial franchise
fees and area development fees is recognized when
the franchise store opens. Royalties are recognized
in the same period related franchise store revenue is
generated. The components of royalties and fran-
chise-related fees are comprised of the following:
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Dec. 25, Dec. 26, Dec. 27,
(In thousands of dollars) 1994 1993 1992

Royalties $17,421 $5,464 $1,491
Initial franchise and area

development 13,057 5,230 1,136
Interest income from area devel-

oper financing (See Note 8) 11,632 1,130 —
Lease income 5,361 253 —
Software fees 6,480 — —
Other 1,284 604 —

Total royalties and franchise-

related fees $55,235 $12,681 $2,627

Subject to the provisions of the applicable fran-
chise agreements, the Company is committed and
obligated to allow franchisees to utilize the Com-
pany’s trademarks, copyrights, recipes, operating
procedures, and other elements of the Boston Mar-
ket system in the operation of franchised Boston
Market stores.

Per Share Data

Net income (loss) per common share is computed
by dividing net income (loss), adjusted in 1993 for
interest related to the conversion of 7% convertible
subordinated notes (See Note 9), by the weighted
average number of common shares and dilutive
common stock equivalent shares outstanding during
the year.

Common and equivalent share include any
common stock, options, and warrants issued within
one year prior to the effective date of the Com-
pany’s initial public offering, with a price below the
initial public offering price. These have been
included as common stock equivalents outstanding,
reduced by the number of shares of common stock
which could be purchased with the proceeds form
the assumed exercise of the options and warrants,
including tax benefits assumed to be realized.

Employee Benefit Plan

The Company has a 401(k) plan for which
employee participation is discretionary and to which
the Company makes no contribution.

Reclassification

Certain amounts shown in the 1992 and 1993
financial statements have been reclassified to con-
form with the current presentation.

4. Debt

The Company has entered into a revolving credit

agreement on an unsecured basis providing for bor-
rowings of up to $75 million through June 30,
1997. Borrowings under the agreement may be
either floating rate loans with interest at the bank’s
reference rate of eurodollar loans with interest at the
eurodollar rate, plus an applicable margin. In addi-
tion, a commitment fee of .25% of the average daily
unused portion of the loan is required. The agree-
ment contains various covenants including restrict-
ing other borrowings, prohibiting cash dividends,
and requiring the Company to maintain interest
coverage and cash flow ratios and a minimum net
worth. As of December 25, 1994, no borrowings
were outstanding.

In February, 1994, the Company issued $130
million of 4.5% convertible subordinated debentures
maturing February 1, 2004. Interest is payable
semi-annually on February 1 and August 1 of each
year. The debentures are convertible at any time
prior to maturity into share of common stock at a
conversion rate of $27.969 per share, subject to
adjustment under certain conditions. Beginning Feb-
ruary 1, 1996, the debentures may be redeemed at
the option of the Company, provided that through
February 1, 1997, the debentures cannot be
redeemed unless the closing price of the common
stock equals or exceeds $39.16 per share for at
least 20 out of 30 consecutive trading days. The
debentures are redeemable initially at 103.6% of
their principal amount and at declining prices there-
after, plus accrued interest.

5. Income Taxes

As of December 25, 1994, the Company has cumu-
lative Federal and state net tax operating loss carry-
forwards available to reduce future taxable income
of approximately $30.5 million which begin to
expire in 2003. The Company has recognized the
benefit of the loss carryforwards for financial report-
ing, but not for income tax purposes. Certain owner-
ship changes which have occurred will result in an
annual limitation of the Company’s utilization of its
net operating losses.

At December 28, 1992, the first day of fiscal
1993, the Company adopted SFAS No. 109
“Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109”). Upon
adoption of SFAS 109 there was no cumulative
effect on the Company’s financial statements



because the Company’s deferred tox assets
exceeded its deferred tax liabilities and a valuation
allowance was recorded against the net deferred tax
assets due to uncertainty regarding realization of the
related tax benefits.

The primary components that comprise the
deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 26,
1993, and December 25, 1994, are as follows:

Dec. 25, Dec. 26,
(In thousands of dollars) 1994 1993

Deferred tax assets:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses S 794 $ 78

Deferred franchise revenue 3,469 1,992
Other noncurrent liabilities 262 623
Net operating losses 11,639 4,844
Other 173 52
Total deferred tax assets 16,337 7,589
Less valuation allowance — (3,847)
Net deferred taxes 16,337 3,742
Deferred tax liabilities:

Due from area developers — (814)
Property and equipment (17,047) (2,807)
Other assets (466) (121)
Total deferred tax liabilities (17,513) (3,742)
Net deferred tax liability $(1,176) $§ —

The decrease in the valuation allowance from
December 26, 1993 to December 25, 1994 was
$3,847,000 and the decrease in the valuation
allowance from December 27, 1992 to December
26, 1993 was $180,000, which was net of a
$446,000 increase related to the tax benefit from
the exercise of stock options.

The provision for income taxes for the fiscal
year ended December 25, 1994, consists of
$4,277,000 of deferred income taxes, which is net
of an income tax benefit of $3,102,000 pertaining
to the exercise of stock options.

The difference between the Company’s 1993
and 1994 actual tax provision and the tax provision
by applying the statutory Federal income tax rate is
attributable to the following:

Fiscal Years Ended

Dec. 25, Dec. 26,
(In thousands of dollars) 1994 1993
Income tax expense at statutory rate $6,953 $ 560
State taxes, net of Federal benefit 818 66
Other 26 —
Change in valuation allowance (3,520) (626)
Provision for income taxes $4,277 5 —
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6. Marketing and Advertising Funds

The Company administers a National Advertising
Fund to which Company-operated stores and fran-
chisees make contributions based on individual
franchise agreements (currently 2% of base reve-
nue). Collected amounts are spent primarily on
developing marketing and advertising materials for
use systemwide. Such amounts are not segregated
from the cash resources of the Company, but the
National Advertising Fund is accounted for sepa-
rately and not included in the financial statements of
the Company.

The Company maintains Local Advertising
Funds that provide comprehensive advertising and
sales promotion support for the Boston Market
stores in particular markets. Periodic contributions
are made by both Company-operated and franchise
stores (currently 3% to 3.75% of base revenue). The
Company disburses funds and accounts for all
transactions related to such Local Advertising Funds.
Such amounts are not segregated from the cash
resources of the Company, but are accounted for
separately and are not included in the financial
statements of the Company.

The National Advertising Fund and certain
Local Advertising Funds had accumulated deficits at
December 26, 1993, and December 25, 1994,
which were funded by advances from the Company.
Such advances are reflected in Due from aoffiliates,
net.

8. Area Developer Financing

The Company currently offers partial financing to
certain area developers for use in expansion of their
operations. Only developers which are developing a
significant portion of an area of dominant influence
(“ADI”) or metropolitan area of a major city and
which meet all of the Company’s requirements are
eligible for such financing. Certain of these financ-
ing arrangements permit the Company to obtain an
equity interest in the developer at a predetermined
price after a moratorium (generally two years) on
conversion of the loan into equity. The maximum
loan amount is generally established to give the
Company majority ownership of the developer upon
conversion (or option exercise, as described further
below) provided the Company exercises its right
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to participate in any intervening financing of the
developer.

Area developer financing generally requires the
developer to expend at least 75% of its equity capital
toward developing stores prior to drawing on the
revolving loan account, with draws permitted during
a two- or three-year draw period in a pre-deter-
mined amount, generally equal to two to four times
the amount of the developer’s equity capital. Upon
expiration of the draw period, the loan converts to
an amortizing term loan payable over four to five
years in periodic installments, sometimes with a final
balloon payment. Interest is generally set at 1% over
the applicable “reference rate” of Bank of America
lllinois from time to time and is payable each
period. The loan is secured by a pledge of substan-
tially all of the assets of the area developer and any
franchisees under its area development agreement
and generally by a pledge of equity of the owners of
the developer.

(a) Loan Conversion Option

For loans with a conversion option, all or any por-
tion of the loan amount may be converted at the
Company's election (at any time after default of the
loan or generally after the second anniversary of the
loan and generally up to the later of full repayment
of the loan or a specified date in the agreement)
info equity in the developer at the conversion price
set forth in such loan agreement, generally at a 12%
to 15% premium over the per equity unit price paid
by the developer for the equity investment made
concurrently with the execution of the loan agree-
ment or subsequent amendments thereto. To the
extent such loan is not fully drawn or has been
drawn and repaid, the Company has a correspond-
ing option to acquire at the loan conversion price
the amount of additional equity it could have
acquired by conversion of the loan, had it been fully
drawn.

There can be no assurance the Company will or
will not convert any loan amount or exercise ifs
option at such time as it may be permitted to do so
and, if it does convert, that such conversion will con-
stitute @ majority interest in the area developer.
Absent a default under any such agreement, the
Company currently cannot exercise these conversion
or option rights.

(b) Commitment to Extend Area Developer
Financing

The following table summarizes credit commitments
for area developer financing, certain of which are
conditional upon additional equity contributions
being made by area developers:

(In thousands of dollars, except Dec. 25, Dec. 26,
number of area developers) 1994 1993

Number of area developers receiving
financing 13 5

Loan commitments $332,531 $ 51,041
Unused loans (131,265) (7,243)
Loans outstanding (included in Notes

Receivable) $201,266  $ 43,79
Allowance for loan losses $ — 3 —

The principal maturities on the aforementioned
notes receivable are as follows:

(In thousands of dollars)

1995 $16,288
1996 4,456
1997 13,132
1998 12,132
1999 15,417
Thereafter 139,841

$201,266

(c) Credit Risk and Allowance for Loan Losses

The allowance for credit losses is maintained at a
level that in management’s judgment is adequate to
provide for estimated possible loan losses. The
amount of the allowance is based on manage-
ment’s review of each area developer’s financial
condition, store performance, store opening sched-
ules, and other factors, as well as prevailing eco-
nomic conditions. Based upon this review and
analysis, no allowance was required as of Decem-
ber 26, 1993 and December 25, 1994.

11. Relocation

In September 1994, the Company consolidated its
four Chicago-based support center facilities into a
single facility and relocated to Golden, Colorado.
The cost of the relocation, including moving person-
nel and facilities, severance payments, and the
write-off of vacated leasehold improvements was
$5.1 million.



12. Subsequent Events

In March 1995, the Company entered into a con-
vertible secured loan agreement providing $20 mil-
lion of financing to Progressive Bagel Concepts, Inc.
(“PBCI"). The Company has agreed to provide PBCI
additional convertible secured loans subject to
PBCl’s ability fo meet certain conditions.

In March 1995, PBCI entered into stock pur-
chase agreements with the Company to purchase

Asset Analysis

$19.5 million of common stock. The number of
shares to be issued will be based upon the market
value of the stock two days prior to the closing date.
The Company has granted PBCI registration rights
and has provided a price guarantee equal to the per
share purchase price on any shares sold within a
specified number of days of the registration becom-
ing effective.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Boston Chicken, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Boston Chicken,
Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and Subsidiary as of December 25, 1994 and December
26, 1993, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity,
and cash flows for the fiscal years ended December 25, 1994, December 26, 1993, and
December 27, 1992. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements

based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assur-
ance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatements. An audit
includes examining, on a fest basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall finan-
cial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our

opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all mate-
rial respects, the financial position of Boston Chicken, Inc. and Subsidiary as of December
25, 1994 and December 26, 1993, and the results of their operations and their cash
flows for the fiscal years ended December 25, 1994, December 26, 1993, and Decem-
ber 27, 1992, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

(Arthur Andersen LLP)
Denver, Colorado

January 31, 1995 (except with respect to the matters discussed in Note 12, as to

which the date is March 24, 1995)
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EXHIBIT 2

Boston Chicken Inc., Summary of 1994-1995 Quarterly Results

1st Quarter  2nd Quarter  3rd Quarter  4th Quarter

1995

Revenue ($000) $40,107 $34,800 $38,671

Net Income ($000) 7,116 7,420 8,814

EPS $0.15 $0.15 $0.17

1994

Revenue ($000) $23,449 $20,360 $25,186 $27,165
Net Income ($000) 2,561° 3,383¢ 4,679° 5,550
EPS $0.06 $0.08 $0.11 $0.12

a. Pre-tax provisions for relocation were $4,708,000 in the second quarter of 1994, and $389,000 in the third quarter of

1994,
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Firms have two broad classes of financial claims on their assets: liabil-
ities and equity. The key distinction between these claims is the extent to which their
payoffs can be specified contractually. The firm'’s obligations under liabilities are speci-
fied relatively clearly, whereas equity claims tend to be difficult to specify.

The economic differences between liabilities and equity are reflected in their ac-
counting definitions. Liabilities are defined as economic obligations that arise from ben-
efits received in the past, and for which the amount and timing is known with reasonable
certainty. Liabilitiesinclude obligationsto customersthat have paid in advance for prod-
ucts or services; commitments to public and private providers of debt financing; obliga
tionsto federal and local governments for taxes;, commitments to employees for unpaid
wages, pensions, and other retirement benefits; and obligations from court or govern-
ment fines or environmental cleanup orders.

For accounting purposes, equity financing is defined as the claim on the gap between
assets and liabilities. It can therefore be thought of asaresidual claim. Equity funds can
come from issues of common and preferred stock, from profits that are reinvested, and
from any reserves set aside from profits.

It isimportant for users of financial statements to analyze the nature of the firm's li-
abilitiesand its equity in order to assessthe financial risks faced by both debt and equity
investors. Managers are likely to have the best information about the extent of the firm's
future commitments. However, they also have incentives to understate the val ue of these
commitments and the firm’s financial risks. Analysis of liabilitiesinvolves ng the
extent, nature, and measurability of any obligations the firm has incurred. Equity values
are a primary input for the valuation approach discussed in Chapters 10, 11, and 12. It
istherefore important that equity values be reliable estimates of stockholders' claimson
the firm's assets. However, since equity is defined as aresidual, analysis of equity isin-
direct, through analysis of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses. Additional ques-
tions about equity focus on classification of items within equity and hybrid securities.

In this chapter we discuss the key principles underlying the recording of liabilities
and equity. We also show the challenges in reporting these types of claims and the op-
portunities for analysis of each.

LIABILITY DEFINITION AND REPORTING CHALLENGES

Under accrual accounting, liabilities can arise in three ways. First, they can arise when
a firm has received cash from a customer but has yet to fulfill any of its contractual
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obligations required for recognizing revenue (see Chapter 6). These types of liabilities
aretermed deferred or unearned revenues. Second, aliability can ariseif afirm has used
goods and/or services in the course of its operating cycle or during the current period,
but has yet to pay the suppliers of these inputs. These are called payables and accrued
liahilities. Finally, afirm incurs aliability when it raises debt capital from banks, finan-
cial ingtitutions, and the public. Under thisform of financing arrangement, the firm bor-
rows afixed amount of capital that it commitsto repay, with interest, over afixed period.

As shown in Figure 5-1, under accrual accounting these three types of liabilities are
reflected in thefinancial statementswhen afirm incurs an obligation to another party for
which the amount and timing are measurable with reasonable certainty. Measurement
challenges for liabilities arise when there is ambiguity about whether an obligation has
really been incurred, whether the obligation can be measured, and when there have been
changesin the value of liabilities.

Challenge One: Has an obligation been incurred?

For most liabilities there is little ambiguity about whether the firm has incurred an obli-
gation. For example, when afirm buys supplies on credit, it hasincurred an obligation to
the supplier. However, for sometransactionsit is more difficult to decide whether thereis
any such obligation. Consider a situation where a firm assigns the cash flows from a note
receivable to a bank, but where the bank has recourse against the firm should the receiv-
able default. Has the firm effectively sold its receivables, or hasit really used the receiv-
ables as collateral for a bank loan? If afirm announces a plan to restructure its business

Figure 5-1 Criteriafor Recording Liabilities and Implementation

Challenges
First Criterion Second Criterion
An obligation has been The amount and timing of
incurred. the obligation is measurable
with reasonable certainty.

\ /

Record a liability.

Challenging Transactions

1. It is uncertain whether the firm has incurred an obligation.
2. The amount and timing of future obligations is difficult to measure.
3. Liability values have changed.
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by laying off employees, hasit made a commitment that would justify recording aliabil-
ity? Similarly, has an airline that uses afrequent flyer program as amarketing device cre-
ated an obligation to provide future travel to its customers? Finally, has a firm that is
subject to alegal suit incurred an obligation? Below we discuss several of these types of
transactions and the challengesthey provide for financial reporting. Although our discus-
sion of these transactionsfocuses on whether they create future commitmentsfor thefirm,
they frequently also rai se questions about whether any commitment can be measured.

EXAMPLE: RESTRUCTURING RESERVES. On October 12, 1994, in responseto in-
tense competition from the Australian spice producer Burns, Philp & Co., McCormick
& Co. announced plans to lay off 7 percent of its 8,600-person staff, close two spice
plants, and sell off amoney-losing onion-ring operation. How should this announcement
be recorded in McCormick’s financial statements? Had McCormick actually made a
commitment to expend resources to restructure its business? If so, what were the esti-
mated costs of these actions? Alternatively, had McCormick merely announced aplanto
restructure the firm? A plan does not necessarily create an obligation on McCormick’s
part. It can be modified or abandoned, just as announcements of projected capital outlays
for the coming year can be changed.

The question of whether a restructuring announcement creates an economic liability
from the firm's standpoint is difficult to resolve. It depends on management’s intentions
when it announces the plan. It is aso worth noting that a successful restructuring not
only creates a commitment, but an associated benefit in terms of improved subsequent
performance. How are these effects reflected in firms' financia statements?

Current accounting rules on restructuring charges are covered by a number of ac-
counting standards (APB 30 and SFAS5) aswell as SEC rulings. Theserulesrequire firms
to create a liability when management has aformal restructuring plan. The liability in-
cludes estimates for costs of eliminating product lines, relocating plants and workers,
new system costs, retraining costs, and severance pay. However, the SEC has argued that
the mere announcement of employee terminationsis not sufficient grounds for accruing
a liahility until specific affected employees have been notified. It is also interesting to
note that accounting rules do not permit restructuring firmsto recognize any future ben-
efits expected from these activities.

These rules leave considerable room for management judgment in reporting for re-
structuring charges. Indeed, as noted in Chapter 7, the SEC has expressed concern that
managers have overstated restructuring charges by making aggressive asset write-downs,
called “taking a bath.” Future performance is then enhanced both by the effect of any
restructuring benefits and by reduced depreciation charges or restructuring credits.

The McCormick restructuring rai sed concerns among some analysts that the firm had
used write-offsto manage future earnings. Initsfinancial statementsfor the fourth quar-
ter of 1994, McCormick created a $70.5 million liability for the costs of the restructur-
ing. However, in February 1995 it reduced the amount of the charge by $3.9 million,
which it added to earningsin the first quarter of 1995. Asaresult, it reported a 5.7 per-
cent increase in earnings for the quarter, when earnings would otherwise have declined.
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Analystscriticized McCormick for failing to mention the restructuring credit initsearn-
ings announcement and only disclosing the fact in later reports to the SEC.

Subsequent disclosures on restructuring activities at McCormick further illustrate the
difficulties in assessing whether a restructuring announcement is a commitment, and
whether firms have deliberately overestimated the restructuring liability to create acush-
ion for future years. In 1996 M cCormick announced a second restructuring. Most of the
costs of the restructuring ($58.1 million) were recognized as arestructuring liability im-
mediately. However, the firm noted that some charges related to costs of moving equip-
ment and personnel from a closed U.S. packaging plant could not be accrued. These
charges (for $1.9 million) were eventually recognized in the fourth quarter of 1998. In
the third quarter of 1997, McCormick reevaluated its restructuring plans and recorded a
restructuring credit of $9.5 million because plansto sell an overseas food brokerage and
distribution business were not completed. The 1996 restructuring was concluded in the
fourth quarter of 1998, and a further restructuring credit of $3.1 million was reported.

EXAMPLE: FREQUENT FLYER OBLIGATIONS. Many airlines have frequent flyer
programsfor their passengers. These programs are designed to enhance customer loyalty
by offering bonus award miles every time the passenger flies with the same airline. Pas-
sengers who accumulate sufficient award miles can then redeem them for future flights,
hotel accommodations, or rental cars. Sincetheir creation in the early 1980s, airline mile-
age programs have become increasingly popular, prompting some airlinesto actually sell
award milesto credit card and phone companies to offer their members as promotions.

The challenge for accounting isto assess whether the airlines haveincurred aliability
for thefuturetravel commitments under the mileage programs. There are several reasons
for not viewing the program as creating acommitment. First, the airlines have discretion
to modify or even abandon their mileage programs, should they wish to avoid the com-
mitments. For example, in 1987, United Airlines (UAL) made it more difficult for pas-
sengers to earn free flights, at least in part in response to growing concerns about the
potential liability under the program. The changes reduced the number of double and tri-
ple mileage bonuses offered to passengers who flew during certain months or on certain
routes. It also required more milesto be earned to qualify for afreeticket to Hawaii, one
of the most popular destinations in the program, and to destinations in Asia and the
South Pacific. Finaly, the company announced that awards would expire within three
years of the date of issue.

Airlines can aso regulate their commitment under frequent flyer programs by limit-
ing the number of seats available to frequent flyers. In 1997 the number of outstanding
frequent flyer milestotaled 3 trillion, compared to only 16.3 billion adecade earlier. Yet
the number of available free seats had not expanded at the same rate. Randy Petersen, of
thetrade magazine Inside Flyer, estimated that most airlinesmade only 7 percent of their
seats available for frequent flyer awards on a particular route.

In addition to questions on whether an obligation has been incurred, frequent flyer
programs raise questions about the amount of the obligation. For example, what is the
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cost of frequent flyer obligations? Given normal |oad factors and the incremental costs
of an additional passenger, the opportunity and out-of-pocket costs of frequent flyer
awards could be minimal.

Of course, changing the requirements for mileage awards and making it more diffi-
cult to collect on awards can be costly—UAL was sued over its plan changes. Further,
the recent sale of mileage awards by airlines reduces the likelihood that there can be sig-
nificant additional reductionsin program benefits. As aresult of these conflicting views
on the economics of the programs, there are legitimate differences in opinion about the
nature of airlines’ commitments under these programs.

Current accounting rules reflect the uncertainty about the extent of the commitment.
They provide no definitive guidance on how to report these obligations, potentially pro-
viding an opportunity for management to exercise judgment. In its 1999 annual report,
United Airlines noted that approximately 6.1 million frequent flyer awards were out-
standing. Based on historical data, the firm estimated that 4.6 million of these awards
would ultimately be redeemed. The firm predicted that the remainder would never bere-
deemed, would be redeemed for nontravel benefits, or would be redeemed on partner
carriers. The firm recorded a liability for $195 million for award redemption, reflecting
the “additional costs of providing service for what would otherwise be a vacant seat,
such asfuel, meal, personnel and ticketing costs” (see UAL 1999 10-K).

EXAMPLE: LITIGATION. In November 1988, the Public Citizen's Health Research
Group reguested that the U.S. Food and Drug Administration ban silicone gel implants
because a new study by the major manufacturer, Dow Corning Corp., found that the gel
causes a type of cancer in laboratory rats. A number of other expertsin the field, how-
ever, disputed the risks of silicone gel implants, pointing out that the type of cancer
found in the rats has never been observed in women with implants. Dow Corning also
argued that the implants should be allowed to remain on the market. However, the com-
pany subsequently faced alitigation deluge related to the research findings.

How should these legal claims be reflected in Dow Corning’s financial statements?
Should aliability be recognized for potential costs of fighting the claims? Should alia-
bility be created for the potential cost of any settlement? If so, should the liability be re-
ported on a discounted or undiscounted basis? Or is there no basis for recording any
liability? Dow Corning can certainly argue that any estimate of liability could be viewed
as an admission of guilt and thereby prejudice its case. However, from the perspective
of financial statement users, the uncertainty surrounding the firm’slegal statusiscritical
to valuing the firm, and potentially to assessing the performance of its management.

The accounting rules for these types of contingencies are covered in the U.S. by
SFAS 5. Under this standard, a firm is required to accrue a loss if it is probable that a
liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. The standard
arguesthat if arange of estimatesis available, the best estimate within this range should
be reported as a liability. If there is no best estimate, the minimum estimate should be
reported. The FASB recognized that the most difficult issue that arose in reporting con-
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tingencieswasfor litigation. It resolved that in most cases such events are reflected only
in the footnotes.

Between 1988 and 1993, Dow Corning provided no liability for the litigation,
although it recognized that monetary damages claimed in the cases might be substantial.
In September 1993, the company announced that it had reached an agreement with
representatives of the plaintiffs and with other defendants for a settlement of up to
$4.75 hillion to be paid out over a period of 30 years. As a result, in January 1994, a
charge of $640 million (before tax) was taken for the fourth quarter of 1993. A further
pretax charge of $221 million for the fourth quarter of 1994 was announced in January
1995. These charges included Dow Corning’'s best estimate of its potential liability un-
der the agreement and were determined on a present value basis. In the second quarter
of 1995, the company changed the method of accounting for the potentia losses from
the present value basis to an undiscounted basis. On May 15, 1995, it voluntarily filed
for protection under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code.

Given the delicate nature of litigation, management has a strong incentive to under-
estimate potential losses. Indeed, thisislikely to also be in shareholders' best interests.
However, for important litigation cases, such asthose for Dow Corning and for cigarette
companies, thisimpliesthat investorswill haveto analyzefirms' effectivelitigation risks
and costs without much guidance from the firm, leading to potential speculation.

Challenge Two: Can the obligation be measured?

Many liabilities specify the amount and timing of obligations precisely. For example, a
twenty-year $100 million bond issue, with an 8 percent coupon payable semi-annually,
specifies that the issuer will pay the holders $100 million in twenty years, and will pay
out interest of $4 million every six months for the duration of the loan.

However, for some liabilities it is difficult to estimate the amount of the obligation.
We saw that this can be anissue for accrued restructuring charges and frequent flyer pro-
grams. Other examplesinclude environmental liabilities, pension and retirement benefit
liahilities, insurance company loss reserves, and warranties. These examples are dis-
cussed below.

EXAMPLE: ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES. In 1980 the Comprehensive Environ-
mental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA) was passed by the U.S.
Congressto clean up inactive hazardous waste sites. Thelegidlation authorized the federal
government to make those responsible for theimproper disposal of hazardous waste at the
nation’sworst hazardous waste sites (termed Superfund sites) bear the cost of cleanup. In
addition, polluters must pay to restore damaged or lost natura resources at Superfund
sites. By December 23, 1996, 1,259 current and proposed Superfund sites had been iden-
tified. Estimates of the cost of cleanups at known sites ranged from $34 to $75 hillion.
There aretwo challengesin estimating the costs of Superfund cleanups. First, respon-
sibility for the damage and cleanup is uncertain. All parties associated with a site, even
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those that have contributed only a small amount of low-toxicity waste, are liable for the
cost of cleaning it up. Consequently, there are protracted negotiations and legal disputes
over the allocation of costs among these parties. Firmsinvolved in these disputes are re-
luctant to report an estimate of the cost of their share of a Superfund site cleanup, since
to do so could affect their negotiations and legal liability. Second, there is considerable
uncertainty about the actual costs of cleanup, since prior to adetailed study of the siteit
is difficult to assess the extent of the damage and the cost of cleanup. Consistent with
this concern, research shows that the explanatory power of modelsto predict therelation
between cleanup costs and hazard site characteristicsis relatively low.?

As aresult of the difficulty in estimating the costs of cleanups, it is unclear when a
company responsible for waste cleanup should record aliability for its cost. Should it be
when the party is suspected of being responsible for hazardous waste? Should it be when
it is named as aresponsible party for a particular site cleanup? Should it occur when a
study has been conducted to estimate the cleanup costs? Or, should it be when a settle-
ment has been reached with other liable parties for the cost of the cleanup?

The difficulties in assessing legal liability for cleanup are illustrated by the case of
Hanson Plc, aU.K. building materialsfirm that was formed from the breakup of the Han-
son conglomerate. In 1991 Hanson acquired the U.S. firm Beazer, a homebuilding firm.
Prior to itsacquisition by Hanson, Beazer had owned and then sold achemical company,
Koppers, which had been prosecuted by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) for
leaking dangerous chemicals at 119 sitesin the U.S. Under U.S. law, Hanson was con-
sidered liable for some of the environmental cleanup costs for Koppers sites. The
cleanup costs were initially thought to be in excess of $2 billion. Hanson, however, dis-
puted the cost effectiveness of the cleanup procedures required by the EPA and its share
of these costsrelative to its own insurers. In its 1996 annual report, Hanson noted that it
had set aside £938 million asaliability to cover the cleanup costs. However, in 1997 the
company reported that, based on a third-party appraisal, its estimate could be reduced
by £430.3 million. The liability was consequently reduced and an exceptional credit re-
corded in the profit and |oss account. In 1998 Hanson agreed to pay further costs of £168
million, and two insurance companies guaranteed to cover any remaining coststo settle
the dispute, up to £488 million. After the agreement, £67 million of the estimated liabil-
ity was no longer required and was recorded as an unusual credit.

Given the challenges in measuring cleanup costs, accounting rules permit firmsto de-
lay recording aliability for environmental costsuntil much of the uncertainty over the cost
of cleanup and the firm’'s responsibility have been resolved. SFAS 5 and Statement of
Position 96-1 require that an obligation be reported when the following conditions hold:

1. A firm has been identified as a potentially responsible party.

2. Thefirmisparticipating in aremedial feasibility study.

3. A remedial feasihility study has been completed.

4. A decision has been made as to the method of cleanup and an estimate made of
the cleanup cost.

5. The firm has been ordered to clean up asite.
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Research findings indicate that there is considerable variation in the quality of finan-
cial statement disclosures on estimated environmental cleanup liabilities for affected
firms. Factors influencing firms' disclosures include regulatory enforcement, manage-
ment’s information on alocation uncertainty, litigation and negotiation concerns, and
capital market concerns.®

EXAMPLE: PENSION AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEHFT LIABILITIES.
Many firms make commitments to employees under defined benefit plans for prespeci-
fied pension or retirement benefits at some point in the future. The challenge that arises
in reporting on these commitments comes from the difficulty in measuring the benefits
provided. For example, consider the September 1996 agreement reached between the
Big Three U.S. auto manufacturers and the United Auto Workers union. The agreement
provided the following incremental benefits for hourly employees:

a. Basic pension benefits were increased by $4.55 ($1.15) a month for every year
worked for new (current) retirees. New retirees are employees who retired after
September 1996, and current retirees are those who retired before this date.

b. New retirees who retired prior to age 62 but had 30 years of service received an
$80-a-month increase in pension benefits in 1997, a $160-per-month increase in
1998, and a $265-per-month increase thereafter. Current retirees who had retired
prior to 62 but had 30 years of service received an $80-a-month increase in pen-
sion benefits.

c. Current retirees received two cost-of-living lump sum payments in 1997 and
1998. The amount of the payment depended on the retiree’ s years of service and
inflation rates for those years.

d. Retired employees (new and current) were eligible for up to $1,000 a year in tu-
ition assistance for approved courses through the Retiree Tuition Assistance Plan.

What are the economic obligations that GM, Ford, and Chrysler incurred under this
pension plan? To estimate the timing and expected pension benefits for current and past
employees, the firms have to forecast the life expectancies of current and past employ-
ees, as well as the future working lives with the firm and retirement ages of current em-
ployees. The present value of these future commitments, net of pension plan assets,
represents the economic obligation under the pension plan. The obligation increases
over timeto reflect theincremental pension earned with years of service, and interest ac-
cruing on the liability. The obligation also changesif the firm retroactively changes the
benefits to be paid to employees for past service. Finally, the pension obligation de-
creases as the firm funds its obligation, as plan assets increase in value, and as the firm
pays out benefits to retired employees.

How does accounting reflect this obligation, given the challenge of making actuarial
assumptions about employees working lives and retirement decisions? The current
rules, discussed in SFAS 87, recognize most of the above effects, but they require firms
to amortize changes in the obligations that arise from retroactive changes in pension
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benefits (called prior service costs) and from changes in pension asset values over time,
rather than recognizing them immediately. As a result, the reported pension liability is
likely to be understated. However, current rules also require firmsto disclose in the foot-
notes the full liability, termed the projected benefit obligation, and the fair value of plan
assets.* For example, inits 1996 annual report, Ford reported the projected benefit obli-
gation for U.S. plans at $28.2 billion, and the fair value of the plan s assets at $30.9 bil-
lion. In contrast, GM's projected benefit obligation was reported at $44.5 billion, and its
plan assets had fair values of $40.2 billion. Ford thus had surplus assets in its pension
plan, whereas GM showed a shortfall for which the company is ultimately liable.

The range of actuarial assumptions, discount rate assumptions, and amortization
periods for prior period service costs and gains or losses on plan assets all provide man-
agement with an opportunity to exercise discretion in the reporting of pension and
postemployment benefit liabilities.® In addition, accounting rules for these liabilities do
not alwaysreflect thefull effect of changesin plan obligationsand fair values. Both these
factors create opportunities for analysis.

EXAMPLE: INSURANCE LOSS RESERVES. Insurance companies typically recog-
nize revenues before the amount and timing of claims for the period have been fully re-
solved. As a result, insurance managers have to estimate the expected costs of
unreported claims and reported claims where the claim amount has not been settled.
Management bases its estimates on data on reported claims and estimates of the costs of
settlement, aswell as historical dataand experiencein estimating unreported losses. For
example, in its 1995 financial statements, Travelers Property Casualty Corp. estimated
that its gross loss reserve was $13.9 billion. The company also reported details on dif-
ferences between its estimated losses on a yearly basis and subsequent |oss realizations
for those years. It estimated loss reserves for 1985 claims at $5.5 billionin 1985. In sub-
sequent years, Travelers management steadily revised this estimate upward. In 1986 the
estimate was increased to $5.9 billion, in 1990 to $6.9 hillion, and in 1995 to $8.5 bil-
lion. A similar pattern of under-reserving arose for each of the years 1986 to 1992. The
deficiencies amounted to $2.6 billion, $2.3 billion, $2.0 billion, $1.7 billion, $1.2 billion,
$0.7 billion, and $0.3 billion for these years.

The datafor Travelersillustrate how difficult it can be to forecast future claims. The
data also show that there are potentially significant opportunities for management to
make mistakes in forecasting, and to bias its estimates either for regulatory purposes or
for stock market valuation purposes.® The disclosures of estimates and subsequent revi-
sionsof estimates provide analysts with extensive information to eval uate management’s
reporting for reserves. However, even with these data, it can be challenging to assess
whether systematic under- or overestimates arose from poor management forecasting,
unforeseen events, or management biasin reporting.

EXAMPLE: WARRANTIES. Many manufacturers provideimplicit or explicit product
warranties on their products. How should these be reported in the financial statements?
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Should aliability be created when sales are recognized to reflect an estimate of the costs
of returns or repairs? Alternatively, should firmswait until returns actually occur before
recognizing the financial implications of the warranty commitment?

Accounting rules require that firmsthat offer warranties establish aliability for prob-
able losses that have been incurred at the financia statement date. Thus, in its 1998 an-
nual report, General Motors reported that it had a $14.6 billion liability for “warranties,
dealer and customer allowances, claims and discounts.”

Of course, estimating the potential commitment for warranty costsisnot an easy task.
It should come as no surprise that there are sometimes sizable errors in management’s
estimates. For example, on December 21, 1994, Intel, the world's largest silicon chip
manufacturer, bowed to consumer pressure and agreed to replace millions of Pentium
chips that contained aflaw in long-division calculations regquiring maximum precision.
Therecall was the largest in computer history. Intel announced that it would replace all
the chips without question, and gave users the option of requesting a replacement chip
to fit into their own computers or having the work done by a dealer. Since no prior lia-
bility had been created to allow for any such possibility, Intel created a $475 million li-
ability at the end of the fourth quarter. This liability covered replacement costs,
replacement material, and inventory write-down related to the division problem. It isin-
teresting to note that Intel still has not created a liability for other possible losses from
explicit or implicit warranties on their products.

Key Analysis Questions

Given the role of management judgment in assessing whether a firm hasincurred
an obligation that can be measured with reasonable certainty, there is ample op-
portunity for analysts to question whether there are significant liabilities that are
not reported on the balance sheet. Specific questions can include the following:

» What potential obligations are not included on the balance sheet? What fac-
tors explain these omissions? Does the firm adopt a business strategy that
givesriseto off-balance-sheet financing? Does management appear to be us-
ing off-balance-sheet financing to improve the balance sheet’ s appearance?
If so, what factors underlie this decision?

« Are any off-balance-sheet liabilities likely to be significant in terms of eval-
uating the firm’s effective leverage and financing risks, either relative to its
own historical standard or relative to the normsof other firmsin theindustry?
If s0, isit possible to make an estimate of their effect?

* Does the firm report liabilities where the amount and timing of the obliga-
tions are based largely on management judgment? If so, what are the key
management assumptions?
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« If liability values are dependent on management assumptions or forecasts, is
management likely to have information about these parameters that is supe-
rior to that of analysts? If so, what is management’s track record in prior
years forecasts? Has management systematically made optimistic or pessi-
mistic forecasts?

« If liability values are dependent on management assumptions or forecasts, are
analystslikely to be asinformed on these parameters as management? For ex-
ample, management is unlikely to have any superior insight about market in-
terest rates. In such cases, are management’ s estimates consistent with those
of expertsin the market?

Challenge Three: Changesin the Value of Liabilities

Fixed-rate liabilities are subject to changes in fair values as interest rates change. Rates
can change, either because of market-wide fluctuations or because of firm-specific rate
fluctuations attributabl e to changesin the market assessment of risks borne by debt own-
ers. How are such changesin value reflected in the financial statements? Does the firm
report liahilities at their historical cost, or mark them up or down to fair values? We ex-
amine the reporting for troubled debt to illustrate the issues in reporting for changesin
lighility values.

EXAMPLE: TROUBLED DEBT. On January 15, 1996, Muscocho Explorations Ltd.,
Flanagan M cAdam Resources, and McNellen Resources Inc., three Canadian gold min-
ing companies, signed an agreement with their principal secured creditor, Canadian Im-
perial Bank, to restructure the CA$8.95 million secured debt the three companies owed
the bank. Under the agreement, Canadian Imperial received proceeds from the sale of
the Magnacon Mill aswell as a$500,000 payment for the Magino Mill. The bank agreed
to convert its remaining debt to 10 percent of the equity in a new company created by
combining Muscocho, Flanagan, and McNellen. The companies” other major secured
creditor, Echo Bay MinesLtd., also agreed on similar termsto convert the CA$4.46 mil-
lion owed by Flanagan and McNellen.

What are the economic effects of a debt restructuring? A troubled debt restructuring
arises when afirm’s assets and cash flow generation decline. Most of this decline in asset
valuesis borne by the shareholders. However, the creditors can also suffer alossif thereis
anincreasein thelikelihood that the firm will be unable to meet debt principal and interest
obligations. The creditors then have to decide whether to make concessions to the firm by
exchanging their current claimsfor new claims, or to force the firm into bankruptcy.

How would the above events be reported in the firm’s financial statements? Impair-
mentsin asset val ues should have been recorded as asset write-downs, with accompany-
ing disclosures about the reasons for impairment and management’s future plans.
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Further, under SFAS 107, U.S. firmswould continue to show liabilities at their historical
cost, but would disclose the fair value of interest-bearing debt instrumentsin afootnote.
It isworth noting that fair value estimates of debt are likely to be imprecise when afirm
isinfinancial distress. This occurs because the debt claim can be converted into equity
if the firm defaults. As discussed below, equity claims are more complex to value since
they areresidual claims on the firm's cash flows, rather than fixed commitments.

How would the troubled debt restructuring itself be recorded? Under SFAS 15, there
would be no change in the valuation of the debt until aformal restructuring takes place.
If such an agreement provides for the debt to be retired in exchange for assets, asisthe
case for Muscocho, Flanagan, and McNellen, an extraordinary gain is recognized to re-
flect the difference between the book value of the debt and the fair value of the assets.
This transaction may require the firm to initially revalue the assets involved to their fair
values, recording again or loss as ordinary income. Alternatively, as discussed in SFAS
118, if the terms of the debt are modified (by changing the interest rate or principal, or
by extending the payment dates), no gain is recorded. Instead, the implied interest rate
on the modified debt is computed to equate the present val ue of the modified and original
payments. The debt continues to be reported at its book value, and the new interest rate
is used to compute the revised interest expense.

The above method of reporting for atroubled debt restructuring indicates that inves-
tors potentially have access to relevant information about declinesin asset and debt val-
ues prior to the actua restructuring. However, management has considerable
opportunity to bias thisinformation by delaying reporting losses for asset impairments,
or by misestimating the fair values of assets at a debt restructuring.

Key Analysis Questions

As noted above, both debt and equity investors are interested in changesin the fair
valueof liabilities. Current reporting rulesrequire U.S. firmsto report these val ues
and to estimate the consequences of changesin value for restructured debt instru-
ments. However, these rules create opportunities for management to use judgment
in reporting these effects. This raises severa opportunities for analysts:

» Hasthefair value of debt declined?If so, what factors prompted this decline?
Have interest rates in the economy increased since the debt was issued at a
fixed rate? Or have thefirm’s assets and future cash flows becomeriskier, in-
creasing the risk faced by creditors? If the latter, has the firm written down
the value of impaired assets?

* Hasthe fair value of debt increased? If so, is the change due to decreasesin
interest rates or to a change in the firm’s business?

* If debt has becomeriskier, how reliable are the management estimates of the
debt’ s value?

« If thefirm’ sdebt value hasincreased, doesit appear to bein financid difficulty?
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COMMON MISCONCEPTIONS
ABOUT LIABILITY ACCOUNTING

The above discussion of accounting for liabilities reveals a number of popular miscon-
ceptions about the nature of accounting for liabilities.

1. It's prudent to provide for arainy day.

Some firms take the approach that it pays to be conservative in financial reporting and
to set aside as much as possible for contingencies. Thislogic iscommonly used tojustify
large loss reserves for insurance companies, for merger expenses, and for restructuring
charges. This argument presumes that investors are not able to see through current over-
estimatesand will givethefirm credit for its performance when it reversesthese charges.
From the standpoint of afinancial statement user, it isimportant to recognize that con-
servative accounting is not the same as “good” accounting. Financial statement users
want to evaluate how well a firm’s accounting captures business reality in an unbiased
manner, and conservative accounting can be as misleading as aggressive accounting in
thisrespect. Further, conservative accounting often provides managers with opportunities
for “income smoothing,” which may prevent analysts from recognizing poor performance
in atimely fashion. Finally, over time, investors are likely to figure out which firms are
conservative and may discount their management’s disclosures and communications.

2. Off-balance-sheet financing is preferable to on-balance-sheet financing.

Some managers appear to believe that off-balance-sheet financing is preferable to fi-
nancing on the balance sheet because unsophisticated financial statement users are then
likely to underestimate the firm’s true leverage. Once again, this view is predicated on
investors being financialy naive. There may be good reasons for using types of debt ar-
rangements that are off-balance-sheet. For example, operating leases tend to reduce the
risks of ownership of assets, which may be important for firms that want to be able to
quickly upgrade to the latest technology. However, it seems unlikely that investors will
continuously be fooled by off-balance-sheet liabilities, particularly given the increased
importance of well-trained institutional investors in the market. Further, there is a risk
that once they have discovered the firm’s attempts to mislead them, investors will be
wary of subsequent management reports.

EQUITY DEFINITION AND REPORTING CHALLENGES

As noted earlier, it is difficult to specify the payoffs attributable to stockholders, which
in turn makesit difficult to value equity. Accountants therefore treat equity as aresidual
claim, whose value is defined exclusively by the values assigned to assets and liabilities.
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Consequently, the challenges discussed for valuing assets and liabilities also apply to eg-
uity valuation. In addition, there are two reporting challenges that are specific to equity:
the reporting for hybrid securities, and the allocation of equity values between reserves,
capital, and retained earnings.

Challenge One: Hybrid Securities

On August 11, 1998, Helix Hearing Care of America Corp., a Montreal-based hearing
aid chain, sold $2 million of convertible debentures. The debentures had afive-year term
and a 13 percent coupon rate and were convertible into Helix common shares at
CA$1.70. Is this security a debt instrument or an equity claim? This question is further
complicated by the fact that the likelihood that the claim will be converted to equity
changes over time as Helix’s stock price increases and decreases.

Convertible debt is a hybrid security. Typically it commands a lower rate of interest
than a straight debenture, since the seller also receives the option to convert the debt into
common shares. The value of the conversion right depends on the conversion price, the
firm’s current stock price, the government bond rate, and the estimated variance of the
firm’'s stock returns. A good case can be made for separating the debt and equity com-
ponents of a convertible issue, since the value of each can be separately estimated. The
value of the debt claim will vary over time with interest rates. The value of the option
will vary with the firm’s stock price.

However, accounting rules do not recognize any value attached to the conversion right.
The convertible debenture istherefore reported asif it were nonconvertible debt (seeAPB
14). If the debt converts, it can be recorded using either the book value or market value
methods. The book val ue approach records the exchange at the book value of the convert-
ible debt. No gain or lossis recorded on conversion. The market value method values the
equity issued at its market value and records any difference between the market value of
the equity and the book value of the convertible debt as an ordinary gain or loss.

The accounting rules for hybrid securities are simplifications of the underlying eco-
nomics. Thisraises questions about how to compare two firmsthat use the same effective
capital structure, but where one uses hybrid securities and the other does not. Simply
looking at the financial statements of the two will not give an accurate reflection of the
leverage of each. The firm with the hybrid securities will appear to be more highly le-
veraged, using book values of debt and equity, because the conversion right is not re-
corded. Ideally, an analyst would attempt to separate the debt and equity components of
hybrid securities to make a more valid comparison of capital structures.

Challenge Two: Classification of Unrealized Gains and L osses

The second challenge for equity valuation relates to how to allocate certain unrealized
gains and losses within the equity segment of the balance sheet. Should these items be
included in the income statement and then in retained earnings? Alternatively, should
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they be treated as separate non-operating items that can only go through income when
they have been realized?

Asdiscussed in other chapters on accounting, current accounting rules require some
unrealized gains and losses to be charged to a reserve rather than going through the in-
come statement. These include gains and losses on

« financial instruments that are available for sale (see Chapter 7),

« financial instruments used to hedge uncertain future cash flows (see Chapter 7), and

« foreign currency translations for foreign operations whose transactions occur in the
local currency rather than in the parent’s currency (see Chapter 4).

These types of gains and losses are sometimes referred to as “dirty surplus’ charges,
since they are not recorded in the income statement. A system where al accounting
chargesarereflected inincomeiscalled “ clean surplus’ accounting. We will seethat this
concept isimportant in subsequent chapters, where we discuss earnings-based valuation
models.

It isworth noting that changesin equity book valuesfrom many of the“ dirty surplus’
gains and losses are difficult to predict from year to year, since they depend on changes
in financia instrument and foreign currency prices, which are themselves difficult to
forecast. Consequently, their expected impact in any given year islikely to be zero.

How should analysts and users of financial statements view equity changes that are
not reported in income? Conceptually, thereis no strong economic justification for treat-
ing them differently from gains and losses that are included in the income statement. For
example, from an analyst’s point of view they are no different from gains and losses on
asset sales, realized gains and losses on sales of financial instruments, and unrealized
gainsand losses on financial instrumentsintended to be traded, all of which areincluded
inincome. Thejustification for treating all gains and losses comparably is reinforced by
the potential concern that management might use reporting judgment to exclude certain
types of gainsand losses from earnings. Perhapsin response to these concerns, the FASB
now requires firms to prepare a statement of comprehensive income, showing all
changes in equity, other than capital transactions, in one place (see SFAS 130).

Key Analysis Questions

Analysis of equity valuesis largely covered in the earlier discussion of asset and
liability analysis. The following questions are unigque to equity analysis:

» What charges are included in earnings, and what are excluded? How should
these charges be viewed?

* Does the firm have hybrid securities? If so, is it worthwhile separating their
debt and equity components? How has the conversion value changed since
their issue? Isit likely that the debt will be converted, making it closer to eg-
uity than debt?
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SUMMARY

Torecognizealiability, afirm hasto have incurred an obligation to provide afuture ben-
efit to another entity, and to be able to estimate the value of that obligation with reason-
able certainty. Liabilities continue to be recorded at their historical cost on the balance
sheet. However, in footnote disclosures, firms are required to report fair value estimates
for interest-bearing debt. In future years we may even see balance sheet val ues based on
fair values as accountants become more confident that fair values of liabilities can be es-
timated reliably.

However, valuation of certain types of liabilities can be challenging if there is uncer-
tainty about

1. whether an obligation has been incurred, asis the case for restructuring reserves,
frequent flyer programs, and litigation;

2. the value of the abligation, as in the case of environmental liabilities, warranty
reserves, insurance loss reserves, and pensions; and

3. changesin values of liabilities, asin the case of atroubled debt restructuring.

Managers are likely to have the best information about the extent of the firm’s liabil-
ities. However, they also have incentivesto understate the firm’'sfinancial risks, creating
opportunities for liability analysis.

The other major claimant on the firm’s assets—equity—can be viewed asthe residual
owner of the firm. Because it represents that portion of the claims on the firm that are
most difficult to specify, it cannot be valued as precisely as liabilities. Consequently,
financial reporting treats equity as the difference between asset and liability values. The
challengesin measuring and reporting for assetsand liabilities are therefore al so rel evant
to the valuation of equity. In addition, there are several challenges that are specific to
equity reporting, such as the valuation of hybrid securities (e.g., convertible debt) and
the classification of certain gains and losses.

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

1. As discussed in the chapter, the following restructuring events were reported by
McCormick:

a. In October 1994, the company announced plansto lay off 7 percent of its 8,600~
person staff, close two spice plants, and sell off a money-losing onion-ring op-
eration. A $70.5 million restructuring liability was created for the costs of there-
structuring.

b. In February 1995, the company reduced the amount of the charge by $3.9 mil-
lion, which it added to earningsin the first quarter of 1995.

¢. 1n 1996 McCormick announced a second restructuring. Most of the costs of the
restructuring ($58.1 million) were recognized immediately as a restructuring li-
ability. However, the firm noted that some charges related to costs of moving
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equipment and personnel from a closed U.S. packaging plant could not be ac-
crued. These charges (for $1.9 million) were eventually recognized in the fourth
quarter of 1998.

d. Inthe third quarter of 1997, McCormick reevaluated its restructuring plans and
recorded a restructuring credit of $9.5 million because plans to sell an overseas
food brokerage and distribution business were not compl eted.

e. The 1996 restructuring was concluded in the fourth quarter of 1998 and afurther
restructuring credit of $3.1 million was reported.

What are the financial statement effects of these events? As a corporate manager,
what forecasts do you have to make to record these events? As a financial analyst,
what questions would you raise with the firm’s CFO about the restructuring events?
. What are the economic costs and benefits to airlines from frequent flyer programs?
What information would you need to measure these costs and benefits? Asafinancial
analyst, what questions would you raise with the firm's CFO about its frequent flyer
program?

. Thecigarette industry is subject to litigation for health hazards posed by its products.
Theindustry has been negotiating a settlement of these claims with state and federal
governments. As the CFO for Philip Morris, one of the larger firms in the industry,
what information would you report to investorsin the annual report on the firm’slit-
igation risks? How would you assess whether the firm should record a liability for
this risk, and if so, how would you assess the value of this liability? As a financial
analyst following Philip Morris, what questions would you raise with the CEO over
the firm’slitigation liability?

. Asdiscussed in the chapter, Hanson Pic incurred an environmental liability from its
1991 acquisition of the U.S. firm Beazer. In 1997 the company reported that, based
on third party appraisal, its estimate could be reduced by £430.3 million. In 1998
Hanson agreed to pay further costs of £168 million, and two insurance companies
guaranteed to cover any remaining costs up to £488 million. After the agreement,
£67 million of the estimated liability was no longer required and was recorded as an
unusual credit. What are the financia statement effects of these events?

. Hewlett Packard reported the following information onits U.S. retiree medical plan:

Key Assumptions 1998 1997 1996
Discount rate 6.5% 7.0% 7.5%
Expected return on assets 9.0% 9.0% 9.0%
Current medical cost trend rate 8.65% 9.6% 10.0%
Ultimate medical cost trend rate 5.5% 6.0% 6.0%
Year current medical cost trend rate decreases

to ultimate rate 2007 2007 2007

Effect of a 1% increase in the medical cost

trend rate (millions):
Increase in benefit obligation $116 $101 $90
Increase in annual retiree medical cost $17 $15 $13
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Funding Status (in millions) 1998 1997
Fair value of plan assets $503 $448
Benefit obligation (543) (475)
Plan assets in excess of (lessthan) benefit obligation (40) (27)
Unrecognized net experience (gain) loss (255) (268)
Unrecognized prior service cost (benefit) related to

plan changes (144) (154)
Prepaid (accrued) costs $(439) $(449)

What assumption is Hewlett Packard making about medical cost inflation in 2000
and 2010? What is the firm assuming it will earn on plan assets? As afinancial ana-
lyst, how would you evaluate these assumptions? Are these rates reasonable? In
1998, what is the liability for the medical plan reported on the balance sheet? Is the
plan over- or underfunded? What other factors would you consider in evaluating
Hewlett Packard’ s liability and risk under its medical plan?

6. Acceptance Insurance Companies Inc. underwrites and sells specialty property and
casualty insurance. The company isthethird largest writer of crop insurance products
in the United States. In its 1998 10-K report to the SEC, it discloses the following
information on the loss reserves created for claims originating in 1990:

Cumulative net liability paid through: 12/31/90
One year later 40.6
Two years later 70.8
Three years | ater 88.5
Four years later 101.2
Five years later 107.5
Six years later 109.7
Seven years later 111.4
Eight years later 111.8

Net reserves reestimated as of :

One year later 100.3
Two years later 102.3
Three years later 107.4
Four years later 110.7
Five years later 112.7
Six years later 112.0
Seven years later 1125
Eight years later 1134
Net cumulative redundancy (deficiency) -134

What wasthe initial estimate for loss reserves originating in 19907 How hasthefirm
updated its estimate of this obligation over time? What liability remains for 1990
claims? As a financial analyst, what questions would you have for the CFO on its
1990 liability?
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7. Attheend of fiscal year 1997, Intel reported that it had set aside aliability of $87.9
million for potential warranty costs. At theend of 1998, Intel increased this estimate
to $115.5 million. As afinancial analyst, what questions would you ask the firm's
CFO about the warranty liability?

8. Asdiscussed in the chapter, Muscocho Explorations Ltd., Flanagan McAdam Re-
sources, and McNellen Resources Inc. signed an agreement in January 1996 with
their principal secured creditor, Canadian Imperia Bank, to restructure the
CA$8.95 million secured debt the three companies owed the bank. Under the agree-
ment, Canadian Imperia received proceeds from the sale of the Magnacon Mill as
well asa$500,000 payment for the Magino Mill. The bank agreed to convert itsre-
maining debt to 10 percent of the equity in a new company created by combining
Muscocho, Flanagan, and McNellen. What information would you need to record
the effects of this transaction in the books of the new combined firm? What finan-
cial statement effects of the transaction can you quantify? As a financial analyst,
what questions would you ask management of the new firm about the debt restruc-
turing?

9. Asdiscussed in the chapter, on August 11, 1998, Helix Hearing Care of America
Corp. sold $2 million of convertible debentures. The debentures had a five-year
term and a 13 percent coupon rate and were convertible into Helix common shares
at CA%$1.70. If Helix’s common stock were valued at $2.50 at conversion, what
would be the financia statement effects of conversion under (@) the book value
method and (b) the market value method? Which method do you consider best
reflects the economics of the conversion? Why?

10. For the first quarter of 1998, Microsoft reported the following reconciliation
between net income and comprehensive income:

Three Months Ended September 30

(millions of dollars): 1997 1998
Net income $663 1,683
Net unrealized investment gains 56 150
Trandation adjustments and other (117) 43
Comprehensive income 602 1,876

What types of events giveriseto the adjustments made by Microsoft? Asafinancial
analyst, what questions would you have for the CFO about the comprehensive in-
come statement?

NOTES

1. SeeMilton Russell and Kimberly L Davis. “ Resource Requirements for NPL Sites: Phasell|
Interim Report,” Knoxville, JIEE, September 1995; and U.S. Congress Budget Office, “The Total
Costs of Cleaning Up Nonfederal Superfund Sites,” Washington, D.C., U.S. GPO, 1994.
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2. SeeMary E. Barth and Maureen McNichols, 1994, “ Estimation and Market V& uation of En-
vironmental Liabilities Relating to Superfund Sites,” Journal of Accounting Research 32, Supple-
ment.

3. SeeMary E. Barth, Maureen F. McNichols, and G. Peter Wilson, 1997, “Factors Influencing
Firms' Disclosures about Environmental Liabilities,” Review of Accounting Studies 2, (1): 35-64.

4. M. Barth, “Relative Measurement Errors Among Alternative Pension Asset and Liability
Measures,” The Accounting Review 66, No. 3, 1991, findsthat investorsregard these footnote dis-
closures to be more useful than the liability reported in the financial statements.

5. E. Amir and E. Gordon, “A Firm's Choice of Estimation Parameters. Empirical Evidence
from SFAS No. 106,” Journal of Accounting, Auditing & Finance 11, No. 3, Summer 1996, show
that firms with larger postretirement benefit obligations and more leverage tend to make more ag-
gressive estimates of postretirement obligation parameters.

6. Research by K. Petroni, “ Optimistic Reporting in the Property Casualty |nsurance Industry,”
Journal of Accounting and Economics 15, 1992; K. Petroni, S. Ryan, and J. Wahlen, “Discretion-
ary and Non-discretionary Revisions of Loss Reserves by Property-Casualty Insurers: Differential
Implications for Future Profitability, Risk, and Market Value,” working paper, Indiana Universi-
ty; and R. Adiel, “ Reinsurance and the Management of Regulatory Ratios and Taxesin the Prop-
erty-Casualty Insurance Industry, Journal of Accounting and Economics 22, Nos. 1-3, 1996,
shows that financially weak property-casualty insurers that risk regulatory attention understate
claim loss reserves and engage in reinsurance transactions.



Manufactured Homes, Inc.

-I-his Winston-Salem company sells affordable Southern comfort:
fully furnished and car peted mobile homes for as little as $10,000. Robert Sauls,
the 59-year-old founder and chairman, was an orphaned boy who never finished
high school. Through acquisitions, Sauls has built the retailer into the industry’'s
largest, with annual sales ballooning to about $180 million in four years. The
company sells the homes, built primarily by Fleetwood Enterprises and Redman
Industries, to rural blue-collar workersin the Southeast. “ Our people buy in good
times and bad,” says Sauls. If he can raise the capital, he foresees a doubling of
sales in four to five years. The stock recently sold at 6.5 times estimated 1988
earnings.

Jane Edwards, Director of Research at asmall Boston-based investment management
firm speciaizing in growth stocks, noted the above review of Manufactured Homes in
the February 15, 1988 issue of Fortune magazine's Companies To Watch column. She
knew that attractive growth stocks are hard to find and wondered whether Manufactured
Homes would be a good addition to her firm'’s growth stock portfolio. She checked the
recent performance of Manufactured Homes' common stock and noted that the stock
performed favorably relative to the stock market (see Exhibit 1). Jane Edwards asked her
assistant Peter Herman to gather additional information on the company and to write a
report analyzing the company’s recent financial statements.

COMPANY BACKGROUND AND MARKETING FOCUS

Herman's preliminary research on Manufactured Homesindicated that the company was
founded in 1975 with two retail outlets for mobile homes. The company grew rapidly
and by March 31, 1987, had anetwork of 120 retail outletslocated in seven southeastern
states. Eighty-five percent of the company’sretail centers were located in North Caroli-
na, South Carolina, Alabama, Georgia, and Florida, with the remaining sales centersin
Virginia and West Virginia. The company went public in 1983 and was listed on the
American Stock Exchange in January 1987.

The southeastern U.S. was the country’s fastest growing market for mobile homes
due to suitable climate, the easy availability of vacant land for mobile-home parks, and

Professor Krishna G. Palepu prepared this case as the basis for class discussion rather than to illustrate either
effective or ineffective handling of an administrative situation. Copyright © 1989 by the President and Fellows of
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the region’s demographics. Potential customers for manufactured homes included indi-
viduals seeking a single-family primary residence but lacking the ability to purchase
conventional housing, retirees, and those wanting a second home for vacation purposes.

The company targeted individualsin the low income category, which was a segment
of the manufactured homes market in the company’s seven-state operating area. The
company’s customers were typically between the ages of 18 and 40, blue-collar workers
in manufacturing, service, and agricultural industries, and earned approximately
$20,000 per year. Many of them were seeking single-family accommodations for their
families and turned to manufactured homes because conventional low-cost housing was
becoming increasingly less affordable.

Manufactured homes came in a wide variety of styles, including both single and
multi-sectional units. They typically had aliving room, a kitchen and dining area, and
bedrooms and baths, with awide variety in the size, number and layout of rooms among
the various models. The single-sectional homes ranged in size from 588 to 1008 square
feet and retailed at prices between $10,000 and $25,000, with the majority selling below
$17,000. The multi-sectional homes were 9602016 square feet and sold at prices rang-
ing from $17,000 to $40,000. Single-sectional homes represented most of the company’s
sales. While approximately 30 percent of all unit sales in the industry in 1986 were
multi-sectional homes, they represented only about 20 percent of Manufactured Homes
unit volume.

The company believed that its focus on the lower end of the market had two advan-
tages. First, since its customers were seeking to fulfill an essential housing need, sales
were less affected by changes in general economic conditions. Second, the company’s
repossession rates were significantly lower than those of the industry since its customers
were likely to work very hard to keep their primary residences even when times were
bad.

REVENUES

Most of Manufactured Homes' sales were credit sales where the customer paid a down
payment of 5 to 10 percent of the sales price and entered into an installment sales con-
tract with the company to pay the remaining amount over periodsranging from 84 to 180
months. The company generally sold the mgjority of its retail installment contracts to
unrelated financial institutions on arecourse basis. Under this agreement, Manufactured
Homes was responsible for paymentsto the financial institution if the customer failed to
make the payments specified in the installment contract.

Whiletheinstallment saleinterest rate that Manufactured Homes charged its custom-
ers was limited by competitive conditions, it was typically higher than market interest
rates. Therefore, the financial institutions to whom these contracts were sold on a re-
course basis usually paid the company the stated principal amount of the contract and a
portion of the differential between the stated interest rate and the market rate. (The re-
mainder of the interest rate differential was retained by the financial institutions as a se-
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curity against credit losses and was paid to the company in proportion to customer
payments received. The reserve required varied up to seven percent of the aggregate
amount financed, including principal and interest.) The company therefore had two
sources of revenue: the sale of homes (sales revenue), and the interest rate “ spread” (fi-
nance participation income).

Peter Herman noted that Financial Accounting Board's Statement 77 (FASB-77) gov-
erns the accounting treatment for installment sales receivables that are transferred by a
company to athird party on arecourse basis. Transfers of receivables that are subject to
recourse must be reported as salesiif the following three conditions are satisfied:

1. The seller unequivocally surrenders the receivable to the buyer.

2. The seller’ sremaining obligations to the buyer under the recourse provision must
be subject to reasonable estimation on the date of the transfer of the receivable.
For this purpose, the seller should be able to estimate:

(@ Theamount of bad debts and related costs of collection and repossession, and
(b) Theamount of prepayments. If the seller cannot make these estimates reason-
ably well, atransfer of the receivable cannot be reported asa sale.

3. The seller cannot be required to repurchase the receivable from the buyer except
in accordance with the recourse provision.

If any of the above conditionsis not satisfied, the seller of the receivable must report
the proceeds from the transfer as aloan against the receivable.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Manufactured Homes' revenues increased rapidly in recent years, from $11 million in
1983 to $120 million in 1986. In the company’s 1986 annual report, Robert Sauls, the
CEO, forecasted the company’s growth to continue and expected the 1987 revenues to
be $140-$145 million. Herman noted that the company’s sales for the first nine months
of 1987 exceeded thisforecast. The company’slatest 10-Q statement reported $148 mil-
lion revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 1987.

Based on the performancein thefirst nine months of 1987, the Value Line Investment
Survey forecasted that Manufactured Homes would achieve $180 million revenues and
$6 million net income (or $1.65 per share) in 1987, and $210 million revenues and $7.5
million net income (or $2.00 per share) in 1988. Value Line commented on the com-
pany’s near term prospects as follows:!

We look forward for [per] share net [income] to advance 20% in 1988, despite a
difficult selling environment. Industrywide shipments for the company’s core
Carolina marketswere down in the December quarter and arelikely to remain soft

1. Reprinted with permission from Value Line Investment Survey, February 26, 1988.
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in the year ahead. We think, however, that Manufactured Homes will nevertheless
find growth opportunities. True, the number of retail centers probably won't in-
crease much this year. On the other hand, the rapid expansion of retail centers
over the past five years has put in place a large number of dealerships that have
plenty of opportunity for increasing volume.

Management is seeking to average 100 units per store as these saleslocations
mature. At the end of 1986, storeswere selling 47 units per year on average, and
that figure rose 20% for thefirst nine months of 1987. Although the market will be
very competitivethisyear, wethink the company’ s special attentionto thelow-end
of the market, to which many large competitors pay less attention, will give Man-
ufactured Homes a solid niche position. Adding in the reduced tax rate, we think
full year [per] share net [income] may well reach the $2.00 mark.

Volume buying givesthisretailer an edge. Because Manufactured Homes buys
in bulk, it can negotiate lower prices fromthe manufacturersit dealswith. And by
passing the savings on to customers, the company is able to underprice smaller,
“mom and pop” outlets. Furthermore, because of its size, the company is able to
mor e efficiently handle inventory financing and mortgage assistance for its cus-
tomers.

Before making afinal recommendation to Edwards, Herman wanted to take adetailed
look at Manufactured Homes' financial statements for the fiscal year 1986 (Exhibit 2)

and the interim statements for the first nine months of 1987 (Exhibit 3).

QUESTIONS

1.

| dentify the accounting policies of Manufactured Homes which have the most signif-
icant impact on the company’s financia statements. What are the key assumptions

behind these policies? Do you think that these assumptions are justified?

. Evaluate the company’s financial and operating performance during 1986 and the

first nine months of 1987.

. Given the company’ s business strategy, accounting policies, and recent performance,

what is your assessment of its current condition and future potential ?
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EXHIBIT 1
Performance of Manufactured Homes' Common Stock and S& P 500 Stock Index
Relative to Their Levels on January 2, 1987
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Manufactured Homes’

Stock Price S&P 500
January 2, 1987 $ 9.000 246.45
March 1, 1988 14.875 267.82

Value Line estimated B 1.05 1.0

191



192

Liability and Equity Analysis

EXHIBIT 2

Manufactured Homes, Annual Report for the Y ear Ended December 31, 1986

Chairman’s Letter to Stockholders

The year 1986 was a period of significant accom-
plishment for your company which served to
strengthen our leadership position in the manufac-
tured homes industry. The results achieved were the
culmination of a corporate development plan set in
motion years ago. For the fourth consecutive year
revenues reached record levels, $120 million com-
pared with $80 million in 1985. We are now one of
the largest retailers of manufactured, single-family
homes in the nation.

As part of our long-term efforts to increase market
share, we added 39 retail outlets, bringing the total
to 114 at year end. We now have retail outlets in
seven states that combined represent approximately
40 percent of the total U.S. market for manufactured
homes.

We continue to be primarily a sales and marketing
company with manufacturing and retail financing
on a limited basis to support the company’s growth
plan.

We completed a major financing in April 1986 and
a second financing in February 1987, both man-
aged by Wertheim Schroder and Company, that
totaled $43 million. A portion of the proceeds was
used to pay down variable rate debt associated with
inventory financing with fixed rate debt and save
money in the process. The remainder of the pro-
ceeds is to be used for general corporate purposes.

We were pleased at the recognition we received for
the growth we have achieved over the last four years
as both Business Week and INC. Magazine included
our company in their lists of the fastest growing
companies in America. Some describe our growth
as explosive. We, however, consider these accom-
plishments a direct result of a well-structured and
carefully executed corporate development plan. Our
plans for growth are founded on the basic premise
that expansion not exceed our ability to manage our
affairs.

From $11 million in revenues in 1983 and a posi-
tion of near obscurity in the industry, our progress
has led us to a position of leadership in the industry.

While we are extremely pleased with our revenue
performance, we are also mindful that we must
operate profitably. Net earnings per share for 1986
were only 53 cents. The sharp decline in 1986 earn-
ings is directly related to a fourth quarter net loss of
$1,347,642. Charges against earnings in the fourth
quarter for losses on credit sales and other charges
totaling more than three million dollars, coupled
with the cost of strengthening your company’s posi-
tion in the marketplace, created a temporary set-
back in earnings while establishing a basis for a
strong 1987.

A strategic plan can only be confirmed as correct
when tested by adversity; and last year was some-
thing of an acid test for our industry. During 1986,
many retailers, in hopes of gaining greater market
share, or in some cases hoping for survival,
engaged in excessive price cutting. In addition,
financial institutions in response to concern over the
economy in some geographic areas tightened their
policies. We not only dealt with the problems that
confronted us but turned some into opportunities.

Over the years management has made it a practice
to monitor the various retailers of the manufactured
homes in our operating area. First, we wanted to
understand our competition; and second, we were
looking for acquisition candidates. From a large list
of companies, we singled out those that best met
our standards of performance. We wanted only
those firms with superior management and sales
teams. We were able to acquire two of these firms
on favorable terms and left management in place.

As a result we succeeded in not only enlarging our
market penetration in our traditional states of North
Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, Florida and
Alabama, but were able to enter new markets with
nine retail outlets in Virginia and West Virginia and
six additional outlets in Alabama.

Our independent dealer network continues to grow,
and now numbers 26 in five states. The independent
dealer program offers important advantages and
opportunities. Because of the advantages we bring



to these small dealers, we continue to receive more
requests to join our team.

During the last half of 1986 we sacrificed short-term
results to increase market share. We attained that
share and as expected it cost us dearly. Selling, gen-
eral and administrative expense increased from an
average of $4.5 million in the first and second quar-
ters to $6 million in the third quarter and to $8 mil-
lion in the fourth quarter.

As we look to 1987, it is with the knowledge that we
are working from a solid foundation. Our financial
position is strong. Our debt service requirements are
manageable without impairing future earnings per-
formance. Our retail network continues to mature,
and sales by location will increase.

Our goal in 1987 is to maintain our market share
and show a substantial increase in profit margins.
Your Board of Directors has shown confidence in our
ability to perform by authorizing me to give you a
conservative estimate of our 1987 revenues. Our
first quarter revenues are expected to be $32 million
with earnings per share of 24 cents. If current eco-
nomic conditions continue, we expect 1987 reve-
nues to be $140-145 million. The expected
significant increase in margins should make this a
great year.

| am grateful for the confidence and support of our
employees, financial institutions, suppliers and cus-
tomers; and to you, our shareholders, | would like to
say a special “Thanks!”

Robert M. Sauls
Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer

Operating Philosophy

We are convinced that a company is no better than
the people selected to manage its affairs. Quality of
product and service are vital to any successful enter-
prise; but again without quality managers and line
employees, the business will not succeed. Manufac-
tured Homes has consistently sought and employed
only the highest quality individuals at every level
within the organization.

It is our practice to provide our employees, at all lev-
els with suitable working conditions and remunera-
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tion. We ask only that they perform to the highest
level of ability and be innovative in terms of how we
can best operate our business.

We believe that the results of the past four years
speak for themselves in terms of the invaluable con-
tributions made by our management team and
employees.

Industry Profile

The manufactured homes industry is fragmented. At
this time there are approximately 10,000 manufac-
tured home retailers throughout the nation, most of
which fall into the category of “mom and pop” oper-
ations. The industry is presently undergoing a period
of transition and consolidation. More and more of
the smaller firms, lacking volume buying power and
adequate capitalization, are disappearing or
becoming a part of a larger company like Manufac-
tured Homes.

The industry has always been competitive but has
become more so in recent years. The continuing
increases in the average price of conventional hous-
ing have forced low income families to seek other
alternatives. And more and more are turning to
manufactured homes, which have much more to
offer than an apartment with the added advantage
of equal to lower monthly payments.

In the past, the manufactured home industry suf-
fered from consumer misconceptions created in
large part by the use of the term “mobile home.”
While manufactured homes can be transported
from place to place, only five percent are ever relo-
cated once in place. In addition, 60 percent of all
homes sold are placed on private property.

Furthermore, the features offered in today’s homes
are equal to that found in conventional housing but
at far less cost.

Industry estimates indicate there are 12 million peo-
ple living in 6 million manufactured homes. Because
of the quality and price advantage, this number is
expected to increase on a year-to-year basis for the
foreseeable future.

As competition for market share increases, compa-
nies like Manufactured Homes will benefit if for no
other reason than the financial advantages volume
buying affords. This is the primary reason so many
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independent dealers are actively seeking a working
relationship with our company. The same can be
said of those companies willing to be acquired.

Retail Operations

During 1986 we sold 6,239 new and used homes, a
61 percent increase over the previous year. These
sales generated $113 million in revenues or 46 per-
cent above the previous year. With our enlarged
retail network in place, we anticipate that sales will
again reach record levels in 1987.

The potential market for manufactured homes
includes individuals seeking a single-family resi-
dence, but lacking the ability to purchase conven-
tional housing. In addition, these homes are sold to
retirees and those wanting a second home for vaca-
tion purposes. The latter two groups are increasing
in great numbers as our population grows older.
However, for our company we have concentrated on
a single portion of the marketplace, those individu-
als in the low income category. This market segment
is in great numbers in our seven-state operating
area as well as other parts of the nation.

Manufactured Homes had its beginning 11 years
ago in Winston-Salem, North Carolina. We began
with one retail outlet. Our initial growth took place
in North Carolina and eventually South Carolina.
These two states accounted for 90 percent of sales
in 1985. To continue to market only in these two
states eventually could have resulted in corporate
stagnation. In 1983, the year we became a publicly-
held company, we began to formulate what might
be best termed as a geographic expansion plan.
The real question was, in which states could we
operate most effectively and profitably.

Our initial planning went beyond the southeastern
states, which remain the largest single regional
source of manufactured home sales. We looked at a
number of states including Texas which, at the time,
was the number one state in manufactured home
sales. After careful evaluation, we concluded that
our interests and those of our stockholders would
best be served in the southeastern portion of the
United States. Texas was the most tempting, but it
was obvious fo management that the reward was
not worth the risk; and as time has proven, Texas

has become a graveyard for many manufactured
home retail companies.

Like many other retail businesses, presence in the
marketplace is critical. After determining to concen-
trate in the seven states management selected,
North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, Ala-
bama, Florida, Virginia and West Virginia, we
moved aggressively to open new retail outlets and
acquire others. In 1983, we had 13 retail outlets; in
1984, the number was 32 and as of March 31,
1987 it's 120.

One of the major keys to success for our company is
the insistence that our retail people listen to the cus-
tomers in terms of interior design and features.
When we sense a major trend developing, we go to
our suppliers seeking what eventually becomes an
entire new line of homes.

We also provide important incentives for our retail
managers and sales force. Our base salaries are
among the finest in the industry, and we add to that
a bonus incentive plan tied directly to margin perfor-
mance. When times require, we can deal with com-
petitive pricing, but our goal is to maximize sales
without sacrificing margins.

Manufacturing

We acquired a manufacturing facility but not as a
means of competing with the major manufacturers.
In fact, last year we were the largest single retailer of
Fleetwood and Redman homes, two of the nation’s
largest builders of manufactured homes. We
acquired the facility to safeguard the company dur-
ing periods when demand for homes outpaced sup-
ply. It also provides the opportunity to manufacture
especially designed homes in smaller numbers,
thereby eliminating the major commitment that
would be required by unaffiliated suppliers.

The firm we acquired was Craftsman Homes, and
we continue to manufacture under this brand name.
When we acquired the company in 1985, it was
producing one home per day. That operation is now
producing ten floors per day. Large numbers of our
customers have been asking for more entertainment
features in the home. With our manufacturing capa-
bilities, we have responded with a home we call the
Entertainment Center, and sales have been most
rewarding.



We have no immediate need nor infention to
enlarge this facility. As it stands, manufacturing can
make important contributions, but we can also put
this operation on hold without damage to either rev-
enues or earnings.

Financial Considerations

Believing that interest rates will eventually return to
the double digit range, we have been successful in
replacing our variable rate debt with fixed rate debt.
In April 1986, we completed an $18 million private
placement of 9% convertible subordinated notes,
due 2001. The notes are convertible into common
stock at $17.50 per share. The notes were pur-
chased by Prudential Insurance Company of Amer-
ica and Equity-Linked Investors.

In February 1987, we completed a private place-
ment of $25 million of unsecured senior notes in
two series. Series A notes, due 1990, were issued
in the amount of $15 million at an interest rate of
8.64%. Series B notes, due 1992, were issued in the
amount of $10 million at an interest rate of 9.42%.
The entire placement was managed by Wertheim
Schroder and Co. and purchased by Prudential
Insurance Company of America, and we are grati-
fied with the trust they have placed in the future of
Manufactured Homes.

There are four key elements that bear on our finan-
cial performance related to the sale of homes. These
elements are repossessions, recourse financing,
loan losses and finance participation.

In almost all cases mortgages executed by the Com-
pany are sold to financial institutions. At this
moment all of the elements mentioned come into
play. The recourse financing provision requires that
the Company reassume ownership of the home
when the buyer becomes in default of mortgage
payments. We knew this when the company was
started 11 years ago, and the actions required to
deal with this situation are a part of each year’s
operating plan.

The possibility of repossessions is another reason for
selecting the low income segment of the market-
place. Families in this category will make extreme
sacrifices to save their homes. We experience one of
the lowest repossession rates in the industry. Of the
homes returned, we move quickly to renovate and
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refurbish them and have them resold, normally
within 60 to 90 days, at a price equal to or greater
than the loan payoff.

We also make provisions for those instances when
loan losses do occur. Based on our historical experi-
ence, we now maintain a financial reserve equal to
1.7 percent of total net contingent liability for credit
sales. Our annual loan loss provisions have consis-
tently exceeded actual losses by more than 20 per-
cent, even though homes which have been sold for
four or more years are seldom repossessed. Finance
participation is an important source of income for
the Company. Simply, funds derived from finance
participation is the “spread” between the finance
charges included in the mortgage agreement initi-
ated by the Company and those required by the
financial institution. A portion of the “spread” is paid
in cash to the Company and the remainder over the
life of the mortgage contract. The portion retained
by the financial institution is accounted for by dis-
counting to present value based on the time period,
normally 120 to 180 months, required to actually
collect the funds.

Financial Services Subsidiary

Plans for our finance operations, MANH Financial
Services Corp., are similar in nature to that for our
manufacturing division. The company did not enter
this business segment to compete with the financial
institutions that have historically provided our mort-
gage banking requirements. This new entity will be
employed primarily to facilitate financing agree-
ments with our banks.

Financial Services does have mortgage lending
capabilities that will only be employed at those times
when our conventional banking arrangements are
unable to act on a timely basis. Again, like our man-
ufacturing operations, management has no inten-
tion of expanding Financial Services. As it exists now,
it provides the Company with the flexibility required
to deal quickly with mortgage finance transactions.
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Selected Financial Data

Years Ended December 31, 1986 1985 1984 1983 1982
Operating Results:
Revenues $120,264,954  $79,525,988  $36,195,802  $10,986,036 $7,477,966
Earnings (loss) before cumu-
lative effect of change in
accounting principle’ 2,033,425 3,718,325 2,694,529 536,881 (59,570)
Earning (loss) per share .53 .98 77 21 (.03)
Net earnings (loss) 2,033,425 3,213,754 2,694,529 536,881 (59,570)
Net earnings (loss) per share .53 .85 77 21 (.03)
Financial Position at Year-End:
Total assets $81,377,803  $50,944,924  $17,660,984 $6,836,087  $5,025,130
Long-term debt 18,609,987 1,082,543 400,000 — 491,280
Stockholders’ equity 14,167,119 11,052,759 7,633,005 4,938,654 733,195
Working capital 15,111,883 4,820,912 4,819,203 3,699,184 (147,124)
Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)
Quarter First Second Third Fourth Total
1986%
Revenues $23,324,633  $29,724,418  $33,295,241 $33,920,662 $120,264,954
Net earnings (loss) 641,702 1,562,205 1,177,160 (1,347,642) 2,033,425
Net earnings (loss) per share 17 .40 .30 (.36) .53
Average shares and equiva-
lents 3,850,277 3,944,518 3,922,406 3,733,968 3,864,161
1985:
Revenues $10,965,457 $22,103,134  $24,083,556 $22,373,841 $ 79,525,988
Earnings before cumulative
effect of change in
accounting principle’ 741,395 1,312,511 1,112,714 551,705 3,718,325
Earnings per share 21 .34 .29 .14 .98
Net earnings 236,824 1,312,511 1,112,714 551,705 3,213,754
Net earnings per share .08 .34 .29 .14 .85
Proforma amounts:
Net earnings 741,395 1,312,511 1,112,714 551,705 3,718,325
Net earnings per share 21 .34 .29 .14 .98
Average shares and equiv-
alents 3,488,968 3,820,016 3,870,857 3,838,486 3,802,693

'See Note 2 of notes to consolidated financial statements for information regarding a change in accounting principle for finance

participation income in 1985.

2During the fourth quarter of 1986, the Company provided approximately $3,000,000 for losses on credit sales, primarily due to industry
conditions, which are causing unusually high costs relating to the repossession of homes. In addition, the Company incurred abnormal
costs in the fourth quarter of approximately $300,000 relating primarily to the write-off of previously recognized finance participation
income. The aggregate provision for these items amounted to approximately $3,300,000 in the fourth quarter. The Company cannot
determine the extent fo which these fourth quarter provisions may be applicable to the first, second and third quarter of 1986.
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Common Stock Prices and Dividend Information

The Company’s common stock is traded on the American Stock Exchange under the sym-

bol MNH.
1986 1985
High Low High Low
First 15 3/4 10 8 3/4 43/8
Second 16 1/2 12 1/4 131/4 81/4
Third 15 93/4 153/8 101/2
Fourth 12 87/8 14 8 3/4

The Company has never paid a cash dividend and does not infend to for the foreseeable
future. The weighted average number of shares outstanding for 1986 was 3,660,048
shares, for 1985 and 1984, 3,488,968 shares, for 1983, 2,588,518 shares and for
1982, 2,100,000 shares. The approximate number of stockholders at March 1987 was

2,000.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Results of Operations
1986 Versus 1985
The Company’s net sales in 1986 were

$106,095,667 compared with $68,674,779 in
1985, an increase of $37,420,888 or 54%.

The Company’s program of managed sales growth
resulted in greater penetration due to:

1986 1985

Increase

An increase of 44% in

the number of com-

pany-owned and

operated sales

centers 92 64 28
A 100% expansion of

the MANH Indepen-

dent Retailer net-

work 22 11 11
A total increase of o T o

52% in sales cen-

ters for the year 114 75 39

The total number of new and used homes sold in
1986 was 6,239, a 61% increase over the 3,866
homes sold in 1985. New home sales for both years
were 87% of total home sales.

A manufactured home sales center usually experi-
ences a five-year growth and development period.
The Manufactured Homes (AMEX Symbol: MNH)
sales center should develop a sales production level
of at least 100 new homes per year at maturity,
although this average annual sales volume can vary
widely by geographic location. The Company in
1986 averaged 47 new sales per sales center versus
45 in 1985. The average reflects the rapid expan-
sion of new sales centers. Approximately 47% of the
average potential capacity per sales center had
been achieved, leaving significant growth potential
within the Company’s current sales center network
without the need for significantly increasing the
number of sales centers.

New home sales were 80% single-wides in 1986, as
compared with 84% in 1985. This reflects a shift to
more double-wides resulting from the acquisition of
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two subsidiaries. In addition, a number of our cus-
tomers are able to purchase double-wide homes
since inferest rates are lower. However, the primary
emphasis of MNH’s marketing plan continues to be
towards the less expensive, single-wide home which
fits the economic capability of a significant percent-
age of potential customers within the MNH market
area of the five southeastern states, plus Virginia
and West Virginia.

The average MNH selling price of new homes by
Company sales centers for 1986 was $17,300 ver-
sus $17,400 in 1985. The gross profit margins were
unchanged for 1985.

Craftsman Manufactured Homes, Inc., a wholly
owned subsidiary of MNH, expanded its production
capability from one production line to two. Revenues
in 1986 were in excess of $15,746,000 of which
$7,489,000 were direct sales to non-affiliated deal-
ers with $8,257,000 being sold to Company sales
centers for resale. The Company purchased the
manufacturing facility in September 1985. The
Craftsman manufacturing subsidiary sold 481
homes directly to dealers not associated with MNH
in 1986 as compared with 130 homes in 1985.

Repossessions and Early Pay-offs

Manufactured housing, as an industry, has been sig-
nificantly impacted by the slow economic growth of
the economy coupled with an extended period of
low inferest rates. These factors are reflected by a
year-to-year decrease in 1986 of 15% in manufac-
tured homes sold throughout the Company’s market
area.

Lower interest rates have resulted in two noticeable
shifts within the housing industry: (1) certain owners
may select conventional homes over manufactured
homes; and (2) an intensive marketing effort by
financial institutions for mortgage refinancing has
resulted in many home owners refinancing their
mortgages at lower interest rates, which for MNH
usually means a mortgage prepayment.

The Company’s experience relative to prepayments
of home mortgages, until 1986, had been minor.
However, late in 1986, prepayments became a rec-
ognized concern. Prepayment of mortgages caused
management to reevaluate certain assumptions
resulting in a significant increase in the reserve for

credit losses related to mortgage prepayments in
order to address the prospects of mortgage interest
rates continuing to remain at present levels of 87 to
94 percent.

Repossessions of homes result primarily from cus-
tomers’ inability to meet their mortgage payment
commitment. Approximately 70% of all MNH credit
sales are with recourse, which means the Company
will buy back from the financial institution holding a
customer’s mortgage those homes repossessed by
the mortgage holder which were originally sold by
MNH subsidiaries.

The Company’s experience related to repossessions
has shown very little change during the past

ten years. However, during the fourth quarter of
1986, approximately $2,000,000 of repossession
expense and interest chargebacks were experienced
and charged off. Therefore, a charge to earnings,
for both prepayments and repossessions, was made
and the reserve for credit losses was increased to
$3,000,000 at December 31, 1986.

One of the causes of the $2,000,000 charge was
the refusal of some unrelated financial institutions to
refinance the repossession that occurred in their
portfolio, and a second cause was that the Com-
pany had to finance them through MANH Financial
Services thereby having an immediate charge in
finance participation on the pay-off and not recog-
nizing the finance participation income of the resale.

During the first three quarters of 1986, the provision
for credit losses was approximately 1% of net sales.
Due to the recent fourth quarter charges, manage-
ment will increase the provision for losses for 1987
to 1%2% of net sales as a precautionary measure
against future repossession and early pay-off.

Finance Participation

Finance participation was $12,084,108 in 1986
versus $9,715,558 in 1985, a 24.4% increase. As a
percentage of net sales, it was 11.4% in 1986 com-
pared with 14.1% in 1985. Several factors caused
the percentage of decrease in realized finance par-
ticipation: (1) increased cash sales; (2) increased
non-recourse sales where no finance participation is
received; (3) contributions of manufacturing to the
sales volume where no finance participation is
received; and (4) a decrease in the interest rate



spread earned by the Company when the sales
contracts are sold to financial institutions. The
decreased “spread” was the most important factor
in 1986 as two major financial institutions changed
their “retail rate” and reduced the “spread” received
by the Company by 33%.

Finance participation is an important part of the
Company’s revenue. This source of revenue is mon-
itored closely and alternative sources of financing
are considered for customer mortgage funding on
an ongoing basis.

Insurance

The Company earns commissions for writing home-
owner insurance policies at the time of sale of the
home and from renewal premiums. Income from
insurance sales was $721,758 in 1986 compared
with $413,282 in 1985, a 75% increase.

Selling, General and Administrative

The Company’s selling, general and administrative

expense (SG&A) has historically ranged around 17%
of revenue. This range varies according to the Com-
pany’s growth pattern and marketing emphasis.

In 1986, the significant factors affecting the Com-
pany’s SG&A expense, which was 19% of revenue,
were that: (1) the Company initiated a second pro-
duction line at its manufacturing plant; (2) acquired
two additional subsidiaries — Piggy Bank Homes of
Alabama and Jeff Brown Homes in Virginia and
West Virginia, in mid-September 1986; (3) initiated
two additional operating subsidiaries — AAA Mobile
Homes (formerly part of MNH), and MANH Inde-
pendent Retailers Corp. (formerly spread among
several subsidiaries for operational purposes); (4)
opened 13 new company sales centers; added 11
independent dealers to the retail network; and (5)
formed MANH Financial Services Corp. as of Octo-
ber 1986. This expansion and realignment of sub-
sidiaries, which occurred mostly during the fourth
quarter, were part of an overall marketing strategy
to more effectively penetrate the Company’s market.
The significant increase in sales over 1985 of 54%
resulted from staffing an additional 13 company-
owned sales centers, with special emphasis on
bonus programs to sell aged inventory and homes
received in trade for new sales, as well as improving
the percentage of homes which were sold with

Liability and Equity Analysis

recourse. This aggressive marketing program was
designed to achieve momentum for a strong 1987,
but increased SG&A expense significantly at the
same time.

Several other cost factors effecting SG&A expense
were: (1) An increase in liability insurance rates on
policy renewals during 1986 at an annual rate 40%
higher than in 1985, or approximately an additional
$350,000; and (2) the cost incurred during the year
related to the completion of a 15-month standard-
ization of accounting procedures and data process-
ing enhancement program which centralized the
Company’s management information with on-line
capability to each subsidiary. This is a significant
step forward in better data management and timely
preparation of financial information.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $1,543,352 to
$3,367,940 in 1986 from $1,824,588 in 1985, or
85%. The increase resulted from a $12,536,000
increase in total inventory and approximately an
$8,000,000 increase in total receivables directly
related to the expansion of 39 sales centers in 1986.

Income Taxes

The Company’s effective income tax rate was 49.8%
in 1986 compared to 47.2% in 1985. This increase
resulted primarily from the elimination of investment
tax credits under the Tax Reform Act of 1986.

Organization

Each of the Company’s nine subsidiaries are profit
centers. Each subsidiary has its own chief executive
officer with total profit and loss responsibility. The
Company’s long-range plan for growth is by stra-
tegic acquisitions, expanding market share, and
developing management talent through a newly
organized salesperson training program, all to meet
the need of providing low-cost housing to the Amer-
ican consumer.

Manufacturing

Craftsman Manufactured Homes, Inc., the MNH
manufacturing subsidiary, commenced operations in
September 1985. It has grown from virtually a start-

up operation to a sales volume in excess of
$15,000,000 in 1986. Approximately 57% of the

199



Liability and Equity Analysis

1,119 homes manufactured were sold to and
through Company related sales centers. The bal-
ance of the homes were sold to non-related inde-
pendent retailers. The Craftsman plant operates two
production lines with a plant capacity of approxi-
mately 3,500 floors (multi-section homes require
more than one floor) per year.

Financial Services

MANH Financial Services Corp. was organized on
October 14, 1986 to facilitate the marketing of new,
repossessed and pre-owned homes. Two major
retail financial sources curtailed the purchase of
conditional sales contracts which resulted in slow
response to contract applications and therefore lost
sales. The Company responded with the formation
of MANH Financial Services Corp. to operate on a
limited basis. The growth of this subsidiary will
depend largely on whether or not the unrelated
financial institutions continue to service the Com-
pany’s growth.

1985 Versus 1984

The Company’s net sales for 1985 were
$68,674,779 compared to $30,480,571 for 1984,
an increase of 125%. The majority of this increase
was due to the addition of eight retail sales centers
during the first quarter and the acquisition of Coun-
try Squire Mobile Homes, Inc. on March 22, 1985,
with 20 retail sales centers. The Company also
opened seven retail sales centers in the second
quarter, six in the third quarter, and two in the fourth
quarter. Volume increases in sales centers which
were in operation at the end of 1984 also occurred
while the average sales price per unit remained
fairly constant from 1984 to 1985. The Company’s
purchase of a manufacturing facility on September
4, 1985, contributed approximately 7% of the 1985
sales increase.

Finance participation income for 1985 was
$9,715,558 compared to $5,221,279, an increase
of 86%. This was less than the percentage increase
in sales due to three factors: (1) The election to dis-
count the unreceived portion of finance participation
income to its present value; (2) Country Squire
earned significantly less finance participation
income than the other retail groups, primarily
because of non-recourse sales; and, (3) the inclu-

sion of manufacturing sales which do not earn
finance participation income. Insurance commis-
sions, interest and other revenues increased propor-
tionally in relation to the increase in sales.

Cost of sales as a percentage increased approxi-
mately 2% in 1985. This increase was due to the
substantial increase in sales to independent retailers
which traditionally have lower margins, and a slight
decrease in margins at Company-owned sales cen-
ters. Selling, general and administrative expenses
increased in 1985 as a result of increased sales vol-
ume and reflect the increase in number of sales cen-
ters and additional personnel to support our
continued growth. Provision for losses on credit sales
remained relatively constant as a percentage of net
sales from 1984 to 1985. Interest rates were gener-
ally lower in 1985; however, total interest cost
increased significantly due to increased inventories
to support the added sales centers.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company, in April 1986, sold $18,000,000 of
9% convertible subordinated notes due May 15,
2001. The proceeds were used primarily to reduce
floor plan notes payable and to significantly
improve the Company’s liquidity. During 1986, the
Company purchased Jeff Brown Homes, Inc. with
nine sales centers and Piggy Bank Homes of Ala-
bama, Inc. with six sales centers, added 13 Com-
pany-owned sales centers, formed a finance
company subsidiary with an initial capitalization of
$500,000, expanded the principal offices of its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Tri-County Homes, Inc.,
and opened a second production line at its manu-
facturing facility, using funds generated from the
sale of the subordinated notes and from operations.

At December 31, 1986, the Company had avail-
able $1,000,000 in a bank line of credit and
$8,000,000 in unused floor plan lines of credit.
On February 13, 1987, the Company sold
$25,000,000 of unsecured senior notes due in
1990 and 1992 bearing interest at a blended rate
of 8.95%. The proceeds have been partially used to
reduce floor plan notes payable.

Although working capital increased significantly in
1986, operations used working capital of
$2,956,041 compared to providing working capital
of $2,847,026 in 1985 and $2,599,953 in 1984.



The use of working capital by operations in 1986
was principally due to the interest rate spread appli-
cable to finance participation and significant reduc-
tions in deferred income taxes applicable to the
provision for credit losses and finance participation
income.

The Tax Reform Act of 1986 will benefit the Com-
pany through a reduction of the corporate income
tax rate. However, beginning January 1, 1987, the
Act will require the Company to accelerate the pay-
ment of Federal income taxes. However, the Com-
pany believes that funds to be generated by
operations, combined with credit lines currently
available, will be sufficient to satisfy capital needs
for current operations.

Liability and Equity Analysis
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

December 31, 1986 1985
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and temporary investments $2,486,024 $2,968,837
Contract proceeds receivable from financial institutions (Note 9) 11,496,078 5,189,535
Total cash and cash equivalents 13,982,102 8,158,372
Finance participation receivable — current portion (Note 2) 2,691,497 2,486,001
Deferred finance participation income (801,511) (523,038)
Net finance participation receivable 1,889,986 1,962,963
Other receivables (Note 4) 3,746,863 2,057,674
Refundable income taxes (Note 11) 778,971 —
Inventories (Notes 5 and 9) 38,163,712 25, 628,156
Prepaid expenses 538,419 408,124
Deferred income taxes (Note 11) 761,262 436,496
Total current assets 59,861,315 38,651,785
Finance participation receivable — noncurrent portion
(Note 2) 16,128,799 10, 269,713
Deferred finance participation income (3,923,178) (2,968,629)
Net finance participation receivable 12,205,621 7,301,084
Property, plant and equipment at cost (Notes 6 and 10) 7,504,272 5,467,164
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (2,410,812) (1,555,427)
Net property, plant and equipment 5,093,460 3,911,737
Excess of costs over net assets of acquired companies less
amortization (Note 3) 2,107,874 973, 860
Other assets 2,109,533 106,458
$81,377,803 $50,944,924
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December 31, 1986 1985
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Notes payable $1,099,971 $ —
Long-term debt — current installments (Note 10) 810,901 1,100,624
Floor plan notes payable (Note 9) 35,207,386 27,468,153
Accounts payable 4,899,250 2,210,560
Income taxes (Note 11) — 1,828,234
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (Note 8) 2,731,924 1,223,302
Total current liabilities 44,749,432 33,830,873
Long-term debt — noncurrent installments (Note 10) 18,609,987 1,082,543
Reserve for losses on credit sales (Note 7) 3,000,000 1,863,992
Deferred income taxes (Note 11) 851,265 3,114,757
Total liabilities 67,210,684 39,892,165
Stockholders’ Equity (Notes 10 and 12)
Common stock — $.50 par value per share; authorize 10,000,000
shares; issued and outstanding 3,733,968 shares in 1986 and
3,488,968 shares in 1985 1,866,984 1,744,484
Additional paid-in capital 3,508,351 2,549,916
Retained earnings 8,791,784 6,758,359
Total stockholders’ equity 14,167,119 11,052,759
Commitments and contingent liabilities (Notes 3 and 13)
$81,377,803 $50,944,924
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

Years Ended December 31, 1986 1985 1984
Revenues:
Net sales $106,095,667 $68,674,779 $30,480,571
Finance participation income 12,084,108 9,715,558 5,221,279
Insurance commissions 721,758 413,282 231,618
Interest 338,447 163,663 123,564
Other 1,024,974 558,706 138,770
Total revenues 120,264,954 79,525,988 36,195,802
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales 86,212,901 56,222,412 24,324,851
Selling, general and administrative 22,852,093 13,639,942 5,895,891
Provision for losses on credit sales (Note 7) 3,777,900 793,497 253,004
Interest 3,367,940 1,824,588 570,527
Total costs and expenses 116,210,834 72,480,439 31,044,273
Earnings before income taxes 4,054,120 7,045,549 5,151,529
Income taxes (Note 11) 2,020,695 3,327,224 2,457,000
Earnings before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle (Note 2) 2,033,425 3,718,325 2,694,529
Cumulative effect on prior years of change in
accounting principle for finance participation
(Notes 2 and 11) — (504,571) —
Net earnings $2,033,425 $3,213,754 $2,694,529
Earnings per share:
Before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle $.53 $.98 $.77
Cumulative effect on prior years of change in
accounting principle for finance participa-
tion — (.13) —
Net earnings per share — primary $.53 $.85 $.77
Net earnings per share — fully diluted $.53 $.84 $.77
Proforma amounts assuming retroactive appli-
cation of the change in accounting principle
(Note 2):
Net earnings $2,033,425 $3,718,325 $2,365,334
Net earnings per share — primary $.53 $.98 $.68




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN FINANCIAL POSITION
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Year Ended December 31, 1986 1985 1984
Working capital was provided by
Operations:
Net earnings $2,033,425 $3,213,754 $2,694,529
Adjustments for items not requiring (providing) working capital:
Depreciation and amortization 946,858 556,23 6 210,699
Noncurrent deferred income taxes (2,197,061) 78,637 1,412,812
Provision for losses on credit sales, net of actual charges 699,343 (217,402) 134,614
Issuance of nonqualified stock options 142,000 206,000 —
Finance participation income (12,084,108) (9,715,558) (5,221,279)
Collections, current and deferred finance participation income
portion of finance participation receivable 7,503,502 8,725,359 3,316,397
Other — — 52,181
Working capital provided (used) by operations (2,956,041) 2,847,026 2,599,953
Proceeds from long-term debt 18,396,000 1,651,822 400,000
Exercise of stock options 938,935 — —
Decrease in other assets — 4,024 —
16,378,894 4,502,872 2,999,953
Working capital was used for
Net assets, exclusive of working capital of $806,363 in 1985 and
deficits in working capital of $1,109,080 in 1986 and
$140,604 in 1984, of acquired companies (Note 3) 1,285,935 422,179 1,220,198
Additions to property, plant and equipment 1,917,489 2,756,178 580,259
Current installments and repayment of long-term debt 1,071,308 1,322,806 70,423
Additions to other assets and excess costs 1,813,191 — 9,054
6,087,923 4,501,163 1,879,934
Increase in working capital $10,290,971 $ 1,709 $1,120,019
Changes in working capital, by component
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5,823,730 $6,136,129 $ 579,418
Finance participation receivable — current portion (72,977) 1,193,013 569,838
Other receivables 1,689,189 1,715,543 233,696
Refundable income taxes 778,971 — —
Inventories 12,535,556 17,448,795 5,616,654
Prepaid expenses 130,295 371,403 25,918
Deferred income taxes 324,766 102,710 203,000
Notes payable (1,099,971) — —
Long-term debt -current installments 289,723 (900,624) (200,000)
Floor plan notes payable (7,739,233) (22,962,163) (3,986,435)
Accounts payable (2,688,690) (1,896,668) (219,293)
Income taxes 1,828,234 (620,489) (1,207,745)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (1,508,6 22) (585,940) (495,032)
Increase in working capital $10,290,971 $ 1,709 $1,120,019
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 1986, 1985 and 1984

Note 1
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation and Nature of Business

The consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of Manufactured Homes, Inc. and all sub-
sidiaries, each wholly-owned, and hereafter referred
to collectively as the “Company.” All significant
infercompany items are eliminated.

The Company is engaged principally in the retail
sale of new and used manufactured single-family
homes.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market,
with cost being determined using the specific unit
method for new and used manufactured homes and
average cost for materials and supplies.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
provided principally by the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the respective assets.
Amortization of leasehold improvements is provided
by the straight-line method over the shorter of the
lease terms or the estimated useful lives of the
improvements.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are recognized for income
and expense items that are reported in different
periods for financial reporting and income tax pur-
poses.

Income Recognition

A sale is recognized when payment is received or, in
the case of credit sales, when a down payment (gen-
erally 10% of the sales price) is received and the
Company and the customer enter into an install-
ment contract. Installment contracts are normally
payable over periods ranging from 120 to 180
months. Credit sales represent the majority of the
Company’s sales.

Under existing financing arrangements, the majority
of installment contracts are sold, with recourse to
unrelated financial institutions at an agreed upon
rate which is below the contractual interest rate of
the installment contract. At the time of sale, the
Company receives immediate payment for the
stated principal amount of the installment contract
and a portion of the finance participation resulting
from the interest rate differential. The remainder of
the interest rate differential is retained by the finan-
cial institution as security against credit losses and is
paid to the Company in proportion to customer pay-
ments received by the financial institution. The Com-
pany accounts for these transactions as sales in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 77, “Reporting by Transferors for
Transfers of Receivables with Recourse,” and recog-
nizes finance participation income equal to the dif-
ference between the contractual interest rates of the
installment contracts and the agreed upon rates to
the financial institutions; the portion retained by the
financial institutions is discounted for estimated time
of collection and carried at its present value (see
Note 2).

Reserve for Losses on Credit Sales

Estimated losses arising from the recourse provi-
sions of the Company’s financing arrangements
with unrelated financial institutions are provided for
currently based on historical loss experience and
current economic conditions and consist of
estimated future rebates of finance participation
income due fo prepayment or repossession, esti-
mated future losses on installment contracts repur-
chased from financial institutions and estimated
future losses on installment contracts transferred to
new purchasers in lieu of repossession. Actual losses
are charged to the reserve when incurred.

Excess of Costs over Net Assets of Acquired
Companies

The excess of costs over net assets of acquired com-
panies is being amortized over 30 years on the
straight-line method.



Earnings per Share

Primary earnings per share are based on the
weighted average number of common and common
equivalent shares outstanding. Such average shares
are as follows:

Years Ended

December 31, 1986 1985 1984
Outstanding
shares 3,660,048 3,488,968 3,488,968
Equivalent
shares 204,113 313,725 —
3,864,161 3,802,693 3,488,968

The equivalent shares in 1986 and 1985 represent
the shares issuable upon exercise of stock options
and warrants after the assumed repurchase of com-
mon shares with the related proceeds at the average
price during the period. Common equivalent shares
were not considered in 1984 as the resulting dilution
was insignificant.

Fully diluted earnings per share are based on the
weighted average number of common and common
equivalent shares outstanding plus the common
shares issuable upon the assumed conversion of the
convertible subordinated notes and elimination of
the applicable interest expense less related income
tax benefit. In determining equivalent shares, the
assumed repurchase of common shares is at the
higher of the average or period-end price.

Note 2
Accounting Change

Prior to 1985, the Company recognized finance
participation income without discounting for the esti-
mated time of collection of the portion retained by
the unrelated financial institutions as security against
credit losses. However, in 1985 the Company
adopted the practice whereby the portion of finance
participation income retained by the financial insti-
tutions is recorded at its present value based upon
estimated time of collection. The Company believes
the new method is preferable since it more accu-
rately reflects the value of the finance participation
receivable at the date the installment contracts are
sold to the financial institutions.

As a result of this change, earnings in 1985, before
the cumulative effect of the change on prior years,
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were decreased by $538,466 ($.14 per share). Net
earnings were further decreased by $504,571 ($.13
per share), which represents the cumulative effect of
the change on prior years. Proforma net earnings
and earnings per share amounts reflecting retroac-
tive application of the change are shown in the con-
solidated statements of earnings.

Note 3
Acquisitions

On January 6, 1984, Manufactured Homes, Inc.
acquired the outstanding common stock of Tri-
County Homes, Inc., a retailer of manufactured
housing located in eastern North Carolina. The pur-
chase agreement required cash payments of
$400,000 and potential earn-out payments of
$600,000, all earned at December 31, 1984. The
acquisition has been accounted for as a purchase
and, accordingly, the operations of Tri-County are
included in the consolidated financial statements of
Manufactured Homes, Inc. beginning in 1984. Effec-
tive March 22, 1985, Manufactured Homes, Inc.
acquired the outstanding common stock of Country
Squire Mobile Homes, Inc., a retailer of manufac-
tured housing located principally in South Carolina.
The purchase agreement required cash payments of
$873,000 and includes potential earn-out payments
of $1,960,000 over the period 1985 to 1990. The
potential earn-out is based on a percentage of
Country Squire’s pre-tax earnings as defined. At
December 31, 1986, $642,947 ($396,000 in 1986
and $246,947 in 1985) of the potential earn-out
had been earned and recorded as an adjustment of
the purchase price. The acquisition has been
accounted for as a purchase and, accordingly, the
operations of Country Squire are included in the
consolidated financial statements of Manufactured
Homes, Inc. since March 22, 1985. The following
unaudited proforma data presents the results of
operations of the Company and Country Squire as if
the acquisition had occurred at January 1, 1984.

Years Ended December 31, 1985 1984
Total revenues $87,729,677  $59,696,534
Net earnings 3,090,464 2,812,632
Net Earnings per share:
Primary $ .81 $ .81
Fully diluted $ .80 $ .81
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In September 1986, Manufactured Homes, Inc.
acquired the outstanding common stock of two
companies engaged in the retail sale of manufac-
tured homes. The purchase agreements required
aggregate cash payments of $151,000 and poten-
tial earn-out payments of $874,000 over the period
1987 to 1992. The potential earn-outs are based on
a percentage of the respective companies’ pre-tax
earnings as defined. The acquisitions have been
accounted for as purchases and, accordingly, their
operations, which are not material, are included in
the consolidated financial statements of Manufac-
tured Homes, Inc., since September 1986. At date
of acquisition, one company had operating loss car-
ryforwards of $612,049 and to the extent utilized,
the income tax reductions will be accounted for as
adjustments of the purchase price. At December 31,
1986, $324,510 (tax benefit of $159,226) of the
carryforwards had been utilized.

The net assets, exclusive of working capital of
$806,363 in 1985 and deficits in working capital of
$1,109,080 in 1986 and $140,604 in 1984, of the
acquired companies were as follows:

Years Ended
December 31, 1986 1985 1984

Finance par-
ticipation
receivable

Property,
plant and
equipment

Other assets

Long-term
debt (202,752)

Reserve for
losses on
credit sales

Other liabili-
ties —

Excess of
costs over
net assets
of acquired
companies

$ 323,931 $1,337,147 $1,172,853

169,092
493,089

747,092
23,403

131,367
61,016

(353,527) (70,423)

(436,665) (1,675,000) (74,615)

(679,524) —

939,240 1,022,588 —
$1,285,935 $§ 422,179 $1,220,198

Note 4
Other Receivables

Other receivables consist of the following:

December 31, 1986 1985
Manufacturers’ volume
bonuses $1,979,021 $1,557,029
Sundry 1,767,842 500,645
$3,746,863 $2,057,674
Note 5
Inventories
Inventories consist of the following:
December 31, 1986 1985
New manufactured
homes $31,920,134  $22,766,030
Used manufactured
homes 4,971,040 2,068,099
Materials and supplies 1,272,538 794,027
$38,163,712  $25,628,156

Note 6

Property, Plant and Equipment

The cost and estimated useful lives of the major
classifications of property, plant and equipment are
as follows:

Estimated December 31,
Useful Life 1986 1985
Land — $ 735329 $ 620,083
Buildings 15-20 1,660,321 849,427
yrs.
Manufactured
homes—
office units 5-7 yrs. 1,048,571 1,013,543
Leasehold
improvements  3-5 yrs. 615,319
Furniture &
equipment 3-10 yrs. 1,921,101 1,108,123
Vehicles 3-5 yrs. 1,485,222 1,124,154
Signs 3-7 yrs. 38,409 185,196

$7,504,272 $5,467,164
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Note 7
Reserve for Losses on Credit Sales

An analysis of the reserve for losses on credit sales follows:

Years Ended
December 31, 1986 1985 1984

Balance at beginning of year $1,863,992 $ 406,394 $197,165
Amount at date of acquisition applicable to acquired
companies, less actual charges of $69,236 in 1986

and $604,403 in 1985 367,429 1,070,597 74,615
Provision for losses 3,777,900 793,497 253,004
Actual charges (3,009,321) (406,496) (118,390)
Balance at end of year $3,000,000 $1,863,992 $406,394
Note 8

Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities
A summary of accrued expenses and other liabilities follows:

December 31, 1986 1985

Payroll and related costs $1,580,235 $ 697,287
Other 1,151,689 526,015
$2,731,924 $1,223,302

Note 9
Floor Plan Notes Payable

A substantial portion of the Company’s new manufactured home inventories are financed
through floor plan arrangements with certain unrelated financial institutions. A summary
of floor plan notes payable follows:

December 31, Rate Floor Plan Lines 1986 1985

General Electric Credit Corporation  Prime + 1.75 (9.25%) $27,052,000 $22,601,520 $17,183,988
ITT Diversified Credit Corporation Prime + 2.00 (9.50%) 7,200,000 5,869,438 5,224,373
CIT Financial Services Prime + 2.00 (9.50%) 4,000,000 3,958,932 1,761,854
Whirlpool Acceptance Corporation  Prime + 1.50 (9.00%) 1,500,000 1,210,586 —
U.S. Home Acceptance Prime (7.50%) 1,000,000 36,680 815,066
Citicorp Acceptance Company, Inc.  Prime + 2.00 (9.50%) 975,000 — 1,706,728
Others Various 1,850,000 1,530,230 776,144

$43,577,000 $35,207,386 $27,468,153

The floor plan liability at December 31, 1986 is collateralized by inventories and contract
proceeds receivable from financial institutions. The floor plan arrangements generally
require periodic partial repayments with the unpaid balance due upon sale of the related
collateral.
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The weighted average interest rate paid on the outstanding floor plan liability was 10.9%,
11.0%, and 14.7% for 1986, 1985, and 1984, respectively. The maximum amount out-
standing at any month end during each year was $35,207,386 for 1986, $27,468,153
for 1985, and $4,508,319 for 1984, with a weighted average balance outstanding for
each year of approximately $25,500,000, $16,000,000 and $3,750,000, respectively.

Note 10
Long-Term Debt

A summary of long-term debt follows:

December 31, 1986 1985
9% convertible subordinated notes payable, due in annual installments of
$1,800,000 beginning May 15, 1992 through May 15, 2001 $18,000,000 —
Note payable, due in monthly installments of $66,667 through October 1, 1987,
interest at prime rate (7'2% at December 31, 1986) and collateralized by prop-
erty, plant and equipment with a depreciated cost of $1,160,640 666,670 1,466,667
Obligation payable in January 1988, interest at the prime rate (7 2% at December
31, 1986) and collateralized by the common stock of Country Squire Mobile
Homes, Inc. (Note 3) 396,000 —
Obligation payable in annual installments of $200,000 through April 15, 1987,
repaid in 1986 — 400,000
Various notes payable, due in monthly installments, including interest at rates
ranging from 8% to 18% 358,218 316,500
19,420,888 2,183,167
Less current installments 810,901 1,100,624
$18,609,987 $1,082,543

The aggregate annual maturities of the long-term debt for the five years following
December 31, 1986 are: 1987, $810,901; 1988, $508,497; 1989, $53,498; 1990,
$33,255; 1991, $14,737.

Pursuant to an agreement dated April 25, 1986 (the “1986 Agreement”), the Company
sold its Convertible Subordinated Notes due May 15, 2001, in the amount of
$18,000,000 to two lenders. The proceeds from these notes have been used principally
to reduce floor plan notes payable. The notes are convertible into shares of the Com-
pany’s common stock at the conversion price of $17.50 per share. The conversion price
is subject to adjustment in the event of stock dividends, stock splits, payment of extraordi-
nary distributions, granting of options or sale of additional shares of common stock. The
notes are subject to prepayment at the option of the Company between October 28,
1986 and May 15, 1996 at 100% of par if for a specified period preceding the written
notice of prepayment the closing market price per share of the Company’s common stock
is equal to or greater than a percentage of the conversion price. Such percentage
decreases from 200% through May 15, 1989 to 110% ot May 15, 2001. The 1986
Agreement contains various restrictive covenants which include, among other things,
maintenance of a minimum level of working capital as defined, maintenance of a mini-
mum level of net earnings available for fixed charges as defined, consolidated current
assets as defined, equal or greater than senior debt, payment of cash dividends and the
creation of additional indebtedness.



Subsequent to December 31, 1986 and pursuant to
an agreement dated February 13, 1987 (the “1987
Agreement”), the Company sold the Prudential
Insurance Company of America Series A and Series
B Senior notes in the aggregate of $25,000,000.
The Series A notes in the amount of $15,000,000
bear interest at the rate of 8.64% and are due Feb-
ruary 15, 1990. The Series B notes in the amount of
$10,000,000 bear interest at the rate of 9.42% and
are due February 15, 1992. The proceeds from
these notes have been used partially to reduce floor
plan notes payable and the remainder added to
corporate funds. The 1987 Agreement also contains
restrictive financial covenants. The 1987 Agreement
financial covenants were changed to reflect more
accurately the Company’s current financial structure.

Concurrent with the execution of the 1987 Agree-
ment, the financial covenants contained in the 1986
Agreement were amended to conform to the cove-
nants in the 1987 Agreement. At December 31,
1986, the Company was in compliance with the var-
ious restrictive covenants in the 1986 Agreement
with the exception of the net earnings available for
fixed charges covenant. The Company was in com-
pliance with all of the restrictive covenants in the
1986 Agreement, as amended. Retained earnings
available for the payment of cash dividends
amounted to $1,516,712 at December 31, 1986.

Note 11
Income Taxes

Income taxes are reflected in the consolidated state-
ments of earnings as follows:

Years Ended
December 31, 1986 1985 1984

Before cumula-
tive effect of
change in
accounting
principle

Cumulative
effect on prior
years of
change in
accounting
principle —

$2,020,695 $3,327,224 $2,457,000

(449,989) —

$2,020,695 $2,877,235 $2,457,000

Liability and Equity Analysis

Components of income tax expense (benefit) are as
follows:

Years Ended

December 31, 1986 1985 1984
Current:
State $ 550,653 $ 342,085 $ 166,000
Federal 3,942,668 2,366,685 1,075,000
4,493,321 2,708,770 1,241,000
Deferred:
State (305,198) 20,529 143,000
Federal (2,167,428) 147,936 1,073,000
(2,472,626) 168,465 1,216,000

$2,020,695 $2,877,235 $2,457,000

A reconciliation of the statutory Federal income tax
rate with the Company’s actual income tax rate
follows:

Years Ended
December 31, 1986 1985 1984

Statutory Federal income

tax rate 46.0% 46.0% 46.0%
State income tax rate less

applicable Federal

income tax benefit 3.2 3.2 3.2
Investment and jobs tax

credit — (1.2) (.4)
Nontaxable items — net 1.1 (.2) .2
Other — net (.5) (.6) (1.3)
Actual income tax rate 49.8% 47.2% 47.7%

The sources of deferred income tax expenses (bene-
fits) and their tax effects are as follows:
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Years Ended
December 31, 1986 1985 1984

Provision for
losses on
credit sales

Finance partici-
pation
income

Operating loss
and tax credit
carryforwards — —

Manufacturers’
volume
bonuses

Depreciation

Accrued
compensation

Allowance for
doubtful
accounts — 29,544 —

Other — net (133,096) — —

$(2,472,626) $168,465 $1,216,000

$(1,622,079) $743,032 $705,000

(778,939) (521,030) 453,000

244,000

(105,058)
103,519

(32,062)
50,415

(203,000)
17,000

63,027 (101,434) _

The operating loss and tax credit carryforwards in
1984 represent the reinstatement of deferred tax
credit recognized in previous years for financial
reporting purposes .

The Tax Reform act of 1986 will benefit the Com-
pany through a reduction of the statutory Federal
income tax rate.

Note 12
Common Stock

In connection with a public offering of common stock
in 1983, the Company sold to the primary underwriter
warrants fo purchase 142,500 shares of common
stock at a price equal to 120% of the public offering
price. The warrants are exercisable for a four-year
period beginning in 1984 at $3.84 per share. On
June 14, 1983, the Board of Directors approved an
Incentive Stock Option Plan and reserved 608,900
shares of the Company’s authorized common stock
for award to officers, directors and key employees.
Under the Plan, options are granted at the discretion
of a committee appointed by the Board of Directors
and may be either incentive stock options or nonqual-
ified stock options. Incentive options must be at a price
equal to or greater than fair market value at date of
grant. Nonqualified options may be at a price lower

than fair market value at date of grant. The Plan
expires June 13, 1993.

Activity and price information regarding the plan
follows:

Option

Shares Price Range

Balance December 31, 1983 104,750 $2.40- $3.20
Granted 119,250  $2.40- $3.75
Canceled (20,500) $3.20
Balance December 31, 1984 203,500  $2.40- $3.75
Granted 297,600  $4.06-$11.25
Canceled (5,250) $2.40- $3.75
Balance December 31, 1985 495,850  $2.40-$11.25
Granted 32,300 $11.00-%$17.50

(245,00

Exercised 0) $2.40- $4.06
Canceled (18,250) $2.70-$10.38
Balance December 31, 1986 264,900  $2.40-$17.50

At December 31, 1986, options for 17,000 shares
were currently exercisable. The remaining options
become exercisable through the expiration date of
the Plan. The excess, if any, of the fair market value
at date of grant over the exercise price of nonquali-
fied options is considered compensation and is
charged to operations as earned. For 1986 and
1985, the charge to operations was $142,000 and
$206,000, respectively. No options were granted at
prices lower than fair market value prior to 1985.

At December 31, 1986, 1,534,971 shares of the
Company’s authorized common stock were
reserved for issuance as follows: 142,500 shares for
the outstanding warrants, 363,900 shares for the
Incentive Stock Option Plan, and 1,028,571 shares
for the convertible subordinated notes.

Note 13
Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

The Company leases office space, the majority of its
retail sales centers and certain equipment under
noncancellable operating leases that expire over the
next five years. Total rental expense under such
leases amounted to $1,335,809 in 1986, $888,719
in 1985, and $433,759 in 1984. Approximately
10%, 18%, and 22%, respectively, of such amounts
were paid to the Company’s majority stockholder
and the officers of certain subsidiaries.
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Future minimum payments under noncancellable Note 14

operating leases as of December 31, 1986 follow: Supplementary Income Statement Information

Year Ending December 31, Minimum Payments Advertising costs amounted to $1,569,658,

1987 $1,298.346 $1,021,978 and $311,285 in 1986, 1985 and

1988 787,572 1984, respectively. Maintenance and repairs, depre-

1989 498,572 ciation and amortization of intangible assets, pre-

1990 312,510 operating costs and similar deferrals, taxes, other

1991 192,912 than payroll and income taxes, and royalties did not
$3,089,912 exceed 1% of revenues in 1986, 1985 or 1984.

At December 31, 1986 the Company was contin-
gently liable as guarantor on approximately $180
million (net) of installment sales contracts sold to
financial institutions on a recourse basis. [Case
writer’s note: This contingent liability was $150 mil-
lion at December 31, 1985, $116 million at
December 31, 1984, and $45 million at December
31, 1983.]

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS MANUFACTURED HOMES, INC.:

We have examined the consolidated balance sheets of Manufactured Homes, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 1986 and 1985 and the related consolidated statements
of earnings, stockholders’ equity and changes in financial position for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 31, 1986. Our examinations were made in accor-
dance with generally accepted auditing standards and, accordingly, included such tests of
the accounting records and such other auditing procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances.

In our opinion, the aforementioned consolidated financial statements present fairly the
financial position of Manufactured Homes, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 1986
and 1985 and the results of their operations and the changes in their financial position for
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 1986, in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied during the period except for
the change, with which we concur, in the method of recording the uncollected portion

of finance participation income as explained in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PEAT, MARWICK, MITCHELL & CO.
Charlotte, North Carolina
March 10, 1987
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EXHIBIT 3
Manufactured Homes, Consolidated Financial Statements for the First Nine Months
of 1987
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (unaudited)
September 30, December 31,
1987 1986

ASSETS
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and temporary investments (includes) $5,212,849 of

restricted cash in 1987 $9,311,240 $2,486,024
Contract proceeds receivable from financial institutions 17,435,191 11,496,098
Total cash and cash equivalents 26,746,431 13,982,102

Finance participation receivable - current portion 4,572,042 2,691,497
Deferred finance participation income (1,208,275) (801,511)

Net finance participation receivable 3,363,767 1,889,986
Installment sales contracts held for resale (less unearned interest

of $3,648,675) 2,382,573 —
Other receivables 6,343,052 3,746,863
Refundable income taxes — 778,971
Inventories 41,638,452 38,163,712
Prepaid expenses 587,749 538,419
Deferred income taxes 1,000,262 761,262

Total current assets 82,062,286 59,861,315

Finance participation receivable - noncurrent portion 25,020,194 16,128,799
Deferred finance participation income (5,984,910) (3,923,178)

Net finance participation receivable 19,035,284 12,205,621
Property, plant and equipment, at cost 9,248,065 7,504,272
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (3,166,445) (2,410,812)

Net property, plant and equipment 6,081,620 5,093,460
Deferred income taxes 1,847,735 —
Excess of costs over net assets of acquired companies, less

amortization 2,130,099 2,107,874
Other assets 1,446,657 2,109,533

$112,603,681

$81,377,803

(continued)
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September 30,

December 31,

1987 1986
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Notes payable $ — $ 1,099,971
Long-term debt—current installments 90,038 810,901
Floor plan notes payable. 28,306,796 35,207,386
Accounts payable 8,181,736 4,899,250
Income taxes 2,469,015 —
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 5,351,963 2,731,924
Total current liabilities 44,399,548 44,749,432
Long-term debt - noncurrent installments 43,000,000 18,609,987
Reserve for losses on credit sales 4,850,000 3,000,000
Deferred income taxes — 851,265
Total liabilities 92,249,548 67,210,684
Stockholder’s equity:
Common stock—$.50 par value per share; authorized 10,000
shares; issued and outstanding 3,777,168 shares in 1987
and 3,733,968 in 1986 1,888,584 1,866,984
Additional paid-in capital 3,830,314 3,508,351
Retained earnings 14,635,235 8,791,784
Total stockholders’ equity 20,354,133 14,167,119

$112,603,681

$81,377,803
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS (unaudited)

Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
1987 1986 1987 1986
Revenues:
Net sales $44,590,244 $29,464,161 $126,599,392 $76,396,868
Finance participation income 8,439,473 3,277,085 18,895,975 8,629,223
Insurance commissions 291,868 180,870 976,128 465,577
Interest 373,415 98,327 925,116 230,602
Other 534,916 121,378 786,971 221,448
Total revenues 54,229,916 33,141,821 148,183,582 85,943,718
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales 36,325,647 23,741,484 101,997,757 61,554,367
Selling, general and adminis-
trative 10,806,534 5,905,930 27,973,865 14,823,385
Provision for losses on credit
sales 1,096,027 294,716 3,203,913 772,417
Interest 1,568,906 877,531 4,416,596 2,303,482
Total costs and expenses 49,797,114 30,819,661 137,592,131 79,453,651
Earnings before income taxes 4,432,802 2,322,160 10,591,451 6,490,067
Income taxes 2,038,000 1,145,000 4,748,000 3,109,000
Net earnings $2,394,302 $1,177,160 $5,843,451 $3,381,067
Net earnings per share:
Primary .60 .30 $ 1.48 .87
Fully diluted .53 .28 $ 1.31 .83
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN FINANCIAL POSITION (unaudited)
Nine Months Ended September 30

1987 1986
Working capital was provided by:
Operations:
Net earnings $ 5,843,451 $ 3,381,067
Adjustments for items not requiring (providing) working capital:
Depreciation and amortization 921,388 664,769
Noncurrent deferred income taxes (2,699,000) (345,000)
Provision for losses on credit sales, net of actual changes 1,850,000 (318,539)
Issuance of nonqualified stock options 39,000 106,500
Finance participation income (18,895,975) (8,629,223)
Collections and net change in noncurrent portion of finance partici-
pation receivable 12,066,312 5,019,381
Working capital used by operations (874,824) (121,045)
Proceeds from long-term debt 25,000,000 18,000,000
Exercise of stock options 304,563 1,060,805
Decrease in other assets 662,876 —
25,092,615 18,939,760
Working capital was used for:
Net assets, exclusive of working capital, of acquired companies:
Finance participation receivable — 349,749
Property and equipment — 212,716
Other assets — 509,514
Long-term debt — (257,571)
Reserve for losses on credit sales — (436,664)
Deferred income taxes — 78,486
Excess of costs over net assets of acquired companies — 867,849
— 1,324,079
Additions to property, plant and equipment 1,851,773 1,365,703
Current installments and repayment of long-term debt 609,987 1,015,876
Additions to other assets and excess costs 80,000 879,665
2,541,760 4,585,323
Increase in working capital $22,550,855 $14,354,437
Changes in working capital, by component:
Cash and cash equivalents $12,764,329 $ 6,425,144
Finance participation receivable - current portion 1,473,781 239,967
Installment sales contracts held for resale 2,382,573 —
Other receivables 2,596,189 2,818,093
Refundable income taxes (778,971) —
Inventories 3,474,740 6,923,301
Prepaid expenses 49,330 59,791
Deferred income taxes 239,000 52,001
Notes payable 1,099,971 (1,391,500)
Long-term debt - current installments 720,863 167,046
Floor plan notes payable 6,900,590 1,424,866
Accounts payable 3,282,486) (2,811,331)
Income taxes (2,469,015) 1,820,226
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (2,620,039) (1,373,167)
Increase in working capital $22,550,855 $14,354,437
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Pursuant to an agreement dated February 13, 1987, the Company sold to Prudential
Insurance Company of America Series A and Series B Senior notes in the aggregate of
$25,000,000. The Series A notes in the amount of $15,000,000 bear interest at the rate
of 8.64% and are due February 15, 1990. The Series B notes in the amount of
$10,000,000 bear interest at the rate of 9.42% and are due February 15, 1992. The pro-
ceeds from these notes have been used partially to reduce floor plan notes payable and
to fund the Company’s finance subsidiary with the remainder added to working capital.

2. On August 18, 1987, the Company’s finance subsidiary sold, with recourse, a port-
folio of retail installment sales contracts with a principal balance of approximately
$8,300,000 to an unrelated financial institution. As a result, the Company recognized, in
the third quarter, finance participation income, net of discounts and estimated future ser-
vicing costs, of $1,688,690. The terms of the sale required the Company to provide to
the unrelated financial institution as security against credit losses, an irrevocable reducing
letter of credit in the amount of $3,000,000 secured by a six-month renewable certificate
of deposit equal in amount to the letter of credit. At September 30, 1987, approximately
$2,200,000 of the proceeds from the sale was held in an escrow account pending
receipt, from the appropriate state agencies, of the fitles to certain of the new and pre-
owned homes securing the retail installment sales contracts in accordance with the terms
of the sale.

3. Primary earnings per share are based on the weighted average number of common
and common equivalent shares outstanding. Such average shares are as follows:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
1987 1986 1987 1986
Outstanding shares 3,773,894 3,726,427 3,758,245 3,635,137
Equivalent shares 205,159 195,979 187,848 272,150
3,979,053 3,922,406 3,946,093 3,907,287

The equivalent shares represent shares issuable upon exercise of stock options and war-
rants after the assumed repurchase of common shares with the related proceeds at the
average price during the period.

Fully diluted earnings per share are based on the weighted average number of common
and common equivalent shares outstanding plus the common shares issuable upon the
assumed conversion of the convertible subordinated notes and elimination of the applica-
ble interest expense less related income tax benefit. In determining equivalent shares, the
assumed repurchase of common shares is at the higher of the average or period-end
price.

4. Certain amounts in the 1986 financial statements have been reclassified to conform
to the presentation adopted in 1987.

5. In the opinion of management, all adjustments which are necessary for a fair presen-
tation of operating results are reflected in the accompanying interim financial statements.
All such adjustments are considered to be of a normal recurring nature.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Results of Operations

The Company’s net sales for the three-month period ended September 30, 1987
were $44,590,244 compared to $29,464,161 for the comparable period of 1986, an
increase of 51%. Net sales for the nine-month period ended September 30, 1987 were
$126,599,392 compared to $76,396,868 for the comparable period of 1986, an
increase of 66%. These increases are due primarily to the acquisitions in September 1986
of Jeff Brown Homes, Inc., with nine retail sales centers, and Piggy Bank Homes of Ala-
bama, Inc., with six retail sales centers, and the opening of 24 additional retail centers
between September 30, 1986 and September 30, 1987. In addition, the average number
of homes sold per retail sales center for the three-month and the nine-month periods
ended September 30, 1987 increased by 28% and 20% respectively, over the corre-
sponding periods of 1986.

Finance participation income for both the three-month and the nine-month periods
ended September 30, 1987 was greater as a percentage of net sales than in the compa-
rable periods of 1986 due primarily to improved financing terms from third-party finance
sources and the sale in August 1987 of a portfolio of retail installment sales contracts with
a principal balance of approximately $8,300,000, which resulted in finance participation
income of $1,688,690 net of discounts and estimated future servicing costs. This portfolio
consisted of retail installment sales contracts originated during 1987 and the fourth quar-
ter of 1986. Insurance commissions increased as a percentage of net sales due to added
emphasis being placed on this revenue source. Interest income increased significantly
due to an improved cash position in 1987 and the interest earned on retail installment
sales contracts while held in the Company’s finance subsidiary. Other income increased
primarily due to a gain of $400,000 recognized in September 1987 on the cancellation
of a lease on one of the Company’s sales centers.

Cost of sales increased as a percentage of net sales for the three-month period
ended September 30, 1987 as compared to the corresponding period of 1986 primarily
as a result of extremely competitive market conditions. For the nine-month period ended
September 30, 1987, cost of sales as a percentage of net sales was unchanged from the
comparable period of 1986. Selling, general and administrative expenses were higher, as
a percentage of total revenues, for both the three-month and nine-month periods ended
September 30, 1987 as a result of expenses incurred for the following activities: the
acquisitions in September 1986 of Piggy Bank Homes of Alabama, Inc. and Jeff Brown
Homes, Inc.; the segregation and expanded operations of MANH Independent Retailers
Corp. and AAA Mobile Homes, Inc. as separate subsidiaries of the Company; the
increased number of retail sales centers; and the establishment in October 1986 of the
Company’s finance subsidiary.

The provision for losses on credit sales, as a percentage of total revenues, increased
significantly for both the three-month and nine-month periods ended September
30,1987 as compared to the corresponding periods of 1986, primarily as a result of
industry-wide problems which became evident in the second half of 1986 and which
caused the Company fo incur increased costs relating to the prepayment of retail install-
ment sales contracts, the repossession of homes and the resale of repossessed homes.
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Interest rates were generally lower in 1987; however, total interest expense increased
significantly in 1987 due to increased borrowings to support additional retail sales cen-
ters and to fund the activities of the Company’s finance subsidiary.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity and capital resources were greater at September 30, 1987 than at Septem-
ber 30, 1986 due to the sale in February 1987 of $25,000,000 of unsecured senior
notes due in 1990 and 1992 bearing interest at a blended rate of 8.95% and to
increased floor plan lines of credit. At September 30, 1987, the Company had available
$3,000,000 in a bank line of credit and approximately $18,500,000 in unused floor
plan lines of credit. In addition, the Company filed a registration statement with the Secu-
rities and Exchange Commission on September 22, 1987 for the proposed sale by the
Company of 1,200,000 shares of its previously unissued common stock. Due to recent
events in the financial market place, the status of this proposed sale is now uncertain.

The Tax Reform Act of 1986 is benefiting the Company through a reduction of the
corporate income tax rate. However, beginning January 1, 1987, the Act required the
Company to change from the reserve method to the direct write-off method for providing
for losses on credit sales, which is requiring the Company to accelerate the payment of
federal income taxes. However, the Company believes that funds to be generated by
operations, combined with financial resources and credit lines currently available, will be
sufficient to satisfy capital needs for current operations.
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Revenues are economic resources earned during atime period. Firms
earn revenues from avariety of different sources. Manufacturers of consumer goodsearn
revenues from sales of their products to distributors and to consumers. Banks generate
revenues from interest earned from loans to borrowers. Insurance companies receive
premiums from policyholders. Lawyers receive fees from providing services to clients.
L easing companies generate income from leasing assets to lessees.

Analysis of revenues focuses on ng when it is appropriate to recognize reve-
nues in the financial statements. Should they be recorded when the service is provided
or the product is shipped? Should they be recorded when cash is received from the cus-
tomer? Or should they be recorded after cash isreceived and the customer has indicated
that the product or service was satisfactory?

Revenue recognition occurs when two critical uncertainties are resolved: the product
or service has been provided, and cash collection isreasonably likely. Management typ-
ically hasthe best information on these uncertainties. However, given management’sre-
porting incentives and the limitations of accounting rules discussed in Chapter 3, there
are opportunities for analysis of revenues by financial statement users.

In this chapter, we overview the revenue recognition rule, discuss types of transac-
tions where application of this rule has proven challenging, and identify the key risks
and opportunities for revenue analysis by users of financial statements.

THE REVENUE RECOGNITION RULE

Asdiscussed in Chapter 1, cash accounting usually does not provide the most informa-
tive or relevant way of measuring a firm's performance. For example, in some transac-
tions where the firm has received cash, it has yet to fulfill any of its contractual
obligations to the customer. In other cases, it has provided the full service or product to
the customer but has yet to receive cash. For both these types of transactions, accoun-
tants argue that cash receipts from customers typically do not reflect the most relevant
measure of revenue performance for the business.

Accrual accounting attempts to reflect the economic substance of a firm's revenue
performance by formulating two criteria for revenue recognition. As Figure 6-1 shows,
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Figure 6-1 Criteriafor Revenue Recognition and Implementation

Challenges
First Criterion Second Criterion
The good or service has Cash is collected or is
been provided. reasonably likely to be
collected.

\/

Revenvue is realizable.

Implementation Challenges

1. Customers pay in advance of delivery.

2. Products/services provided over multiple years.

3. Rights to use product/service sold, but seller retains residual rights.
4. Credit-worthiness of customer questionable.

5. Refunds for dissatisfied customers.

the first criterion deals with uncertainty over whether the earnings processis essentially
complete, that is, whether the firm has provided all, or substantially all, of the goods or
services to be delivered to the customer. The second criterion focuses on uncertainty
over whether cash islikely to be received. If both these criteria are satisfied, revenueis
recognizable.

For corporate managers and external users of financial statements, the above two cri-
teriaare likely to generate questions about whether effective business processes or third-
party contracts are in place to manage the inherent risks. For example, firms can manage
the risk that substantially all the goods and services have been delivered to the customer
through effective quality programs to reduce the risk of product returns and warranties,
or by sales contracts that limit customer returns and warranties. The collectibility risk
can be managed through effective credit analysis or by transferring receivablesto athird
party.

Managers are likely to have the best information about the processesin place to man-
age revenue risks, but they are also likely to have incentives to manage reported earn-
ings. Consequently, analysis of revenues helps financial statement users independently
assess the reporting risks underlying revenues. Also, under accounting rules, a transac-
tion either satisfies or does not satisfy the revenue recognition criteria. Revenue analysis
allows financial statement users to better understand where on the * product/service de-
livery—collectibility” continuum atransaction lies.
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There are several waysthat financia statement users can analyze the uncertainties as-
sociated with revenue recognition. They can eval uate the processes used to managerisks
that revenues are unearned or uncollectible, such as quality programs and credit analy-
sis. They can aso analyze afirm’strack record in managing these types of risks. Finally,
they can analyze management’s financial reporting incentivesin a particular period.

REVENUE REPORTING CHALLENGES

To provide a deeper understanding of how to analyze revenue recognition risks, we
discuss challenges in implementing the revenue recognition criteria. Although we use
specific industries or transactions to illustrate the implementation challenges, the con-
ceptual issues apply at ageneral level.

Challenge One: Customers Pay in Advance

For some businesses, customers pay in advance of receiving the service or product. Ex-
amples include magazine subscriptions, insurance policies, and service contracts. For
these types of products, there is no uncertainty about collectibility. The only question is
when the revenue will be earned.

If revenues are recognized prior to the service delivery process, there is a risk that
subsequent costsincurred arelarger than expected, particularly if dissatisfied purchasers
demand additional work or reimbursement from the seller. Indeed, given management’s
reporting incentives, users of financial reports are likely to be concerned that early rev-
enue recognition provides management with the opportunity to boost current earnings
by shading product quality and underreporting the cost of returns, reducing the credibil-
ity of financial reports. Of course, if accountants wait for all uncertainties associated
with sales to be fully resolved, financial statements are likely to provide tardy informa-
tion on the firm’s performance.

Below we discuss revenue recognition rules for service contracts and property-casu-
alty insurance policies. These examples illustrate revenue recognition issues for con-
tracts where cash is received prior to product delivery or provision of the service.

EXAMPLE: SERVICE CONTRACTS. Many firms provide service contracts for prod-
ucts that they sell. In some cases, they actually charge customers a fee for the service
contract. For example, some consumer electronics chains sell service contracts sepa
rately from the sale of the product. Customers then pay afee to secure protection for an
extended period. In other cases, the service contract isincluded as a part of the purchase
price of the product. Such is typically the case for manufacturers’ warranties on new
automobiles.

How should revenue be recognized on these contracts? Shoul d they be recorded at the
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sale of the product, prorated over the warranty period, recognized when service is re-
quired, or deferred until the end of the contract period?

Let'sfirst consider cases where the service contract can be purchased separately from
the product. At thistime, the product sale can be recognized; but since product servicing
has yet to be provided, there are likely to be many uncertainties about the frequency and
cost of future service claims. As aresult, generally accepted accounting principles re-
quire firms to record service revenues during the contract period rather than when the
contract is signed.

For service contracts that are included as a part of the purchase price, it isdifficult to
separate the price of the product from the price of the warranty. They are sold as a pack-
age. Indeed, some customers may buy the package primarily because of the service
agreement rather than the product itself. For such sales, the seller typically recognizes
revenue at delivery of the product or service. Most of the uncertainties associated with
the sale (collectibility and the product’s cost) have been resolved at this point. The only
outstanding uncertainty is the future service contract claims against the seller. If the fre-
guency and cost of claims can be predicted with reasonable certainty, revenues from the
bundled product and service are recognized at the sale of the product. An estimate of the
expected cost of servicing the contracts is then recorded as an expense.

EXAMPLE: PROPERTY CASUALTY INSURANCE POLICIES. Property casualty com-
panies provide policyhol ders with insurance against certain risks, such as property dam-
agefrom fire or natural disaster, automobile damage from an accident, or personal injury
asaresult of accidents. Policyholderstypically pay insurance premiums at the beginning
of the coverage period. Claims are then reported when damage or injury occurs.

When should property casualty firms recognize revenue on insurance contracts? Rev-
enue could be reported when a customer is billed or pays. Alternatively, it could be rec-
ognized during (or at the end of) the contractual coverage period. Finally, it could be
recognized when the costs of meeting reported claims are known or payments are made.

Property casualty firms face no collectibility risk, since premiums are received from
policyholders at the beginning of the contract period. However, as discussed in Chapter
5, there are considerabl e uncertainties about the timing and cost of the claimsto be cov-
ered. Some claims are not reported until subsequent periods. In addition, the amounts of
the payments due for current and unreported claims are often not resolved for several
years. Given these uncertainties, a case could be made for deferring revenue recognition
until there is assurance that al claim reports have been made and the cost of the claims
isknown. However, insurance companies are in the business of managing risk. They hire
actuariesto analyze the historical frequenciesand costs of claims. Given these estimates
and the law of large numbers, property casualty firms are able to make reasonabl e esti-
mates of expected claim costs. Asaresult, SFAS 60 requires that they recognize revenue
during the contract period and make an estimate of the expected costs of meeting both
reported and unreported claims for that period.
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Key Analysis Questions

When customers pay in advance of delivery of a product or service, accounting
rules typically require revenues to be deferred. However, if revenues can be rec-
ognized, managers are required to make reasonabl e forecasts of the costs of deliv-
ering the product or service. This raises the following questions for financial
analysts:

« Are management’s costs estimates comparable to those for prior years? If
not, why does management expect costs to be unusually high or low? For ex-
ample, hasthe firm changed its marketing strategy, or hasthere been achange
in the mix of its customers?

* How accurate have management’s estimates been for prior years? Does the
firm appear to systematically over- or underestimate these types of costs?

* How do the firm’s estimates compare to those for other firmsin the sameline
of business? If there are differences, does the firm have a different strategy
from its competitors that could explain the cost differences. For example, are
there differences in customer base, location, or product mix that are consis-
tent with the cost estimate differences?

Challenge Two: Products or Services Provided over Multiple Periods

It can also be difficult to assess whether to recognize revenues for products or services
that are provided over multiple years. These may or may not be paid in advance. Exam-
ples include long-term construction contracts and airline ticket sales with frequent flyer
miles attached. The challenge for these types of contracts is to decide how to allocate
revenue over the contractual period.

Typically, long-term contracts face two types of uncertainties. (1) arisk that purchas-
erswill be dissatisfied with the quality of future work or service and demand additional
work or reimbursement, and (2) arisk that the cost of providing the future service will
be greater than anticipated. Both these types of risk raise concerns for financial state-
ment users that revenue recognized prior to full completion of the service provides a
misleading indicator of the value created by the completed product or service.

How, then, should revenues be recorded on these types of contracts? Should they be
recorded as the service is being performed or the product manufactured, which presum-
ably helps externa readers of financia reports assess interim results? Alternatively,
should revenues be deferred until the full product or service has been completed and all
uncertainties have been resolved?

Below we discuss long-term construction contracts and frequent flyer contracts to
better understand the issues and the way that they are typically handled in financia

reporting.
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EXAMPLE: LONG-TERM CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS. In February 1999, Turk-
menistan awarded a$2.5 hillion contract to an American consortium that included Bech-
tel Enterprises and General Electric to build a pipeline for bringing natural gas out of the
Caspian Searegion. How should revenues under this contract be recorded? Conceptu-
ally, two methods can be considered. The more conservative method, the completed con-
tract method, records the revenues when the contract is actually completed. Bechtel and
GE would then show costs of construction as an asset, Construction in Progress, until the
construction is complete. These costs would then be matched against the $2.5 billion of
revenues.

The second approach, the percentage of completion method, recognizes revenues on
a contract as construction progresses. The percentage of construction progress for a
given year is estimated by the ratio of construction costs incurred during that year rela-
tiveto total estimated costs of contract completion. This percentage of total contract rev-
enues is then recognized as revenues for the year. Construction costs for the year are
actual costsincurred.

Under U.S. GAAP, construction firms are expected to use the percentage of comple-
tion method if “ estimates of the cost to complete and extent of progress toward comple-
tion of long-term contracts are reasonably dependable” (Accounting Research Bulletin
45). Of course, implementation of this rule requires management judgment, potentially
creating an opportunity for earnings management.

In the Bechtel -GE example, the consortium faces many uncertainties. Funding for the
pipelineisunlikely to befinalized until theformer Soviet republic solvesaterritorial dis-
pute with Azerbaijan, and until the five Caspian Sea nations (Turkmenistan, Azerbaijan,
Kazakhstan, Russia, and Iran) agree on the division of the sea'srich reserves, potentially
delaying the start of construction. These uncertainties imply that there are also likely to
be serious political risks associated with the project that could cause delays and cost
overruns once construction begins. As a result, Bechtel and GE are likely to have to
record the transaction under the completed contract method.

EXAMPLE: FREQUENT FLYER MILES. As discussed in Chapter 5, most airlines
have frequent flyer programs that enable customersto earn awards for free flights, flight
upgrades, hotel stays, and car rentals. For example, under United Airlines' Star Alliance
reward system, passengers earn one free mile for each mileflown on United or its partner
airlines (Air Canada, Lufthansa, SAS, and Thai). Passengers who fly for 25,000 miles
can redeem their bonus miles for a free economy class round-trip ticket within the con-
tinental U.S.

Given its frequent flyer program, how should United record the purchase of a round-
trip ticket from London to Boston for $750? Thisticket sale provides the passenger with
round-trip passage from Boston to London. But it also provides the passenger with 5000
bonus miles.

Two methods of recording the ticket sale can be considered. The first views passen-
gers as purchasing two tickets—the first for aflight at the time the ticket is purchased,
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and the second for a possible flight at some future date. Under this approach, revenues
are split between those earned for the current flight and those deferred to the future in
the event the passenger redeems the bonus miles for another flight. The second approach
viewsthe award miles program as aform of promotion to attract passengers and records
the incremental costs expected to be incurred to provide the promotion service, such as
fuel, baggage handling, and meal costs. This method was discussed in Chapter 5. Both
methods are used by airlines throughout the world. United Airlines uses the second
method, the incremental cost approach.

Key Analysis Questions

Accounting for products or services provided over multiple periodsis particularly
challenging when revenues are recognized prior to completion of the product or
service. Managers are then required to either forecast the costs of completion or
estimate revenues that are earned and those that are deferred. These challenges
raise the following questions for financial analysts:

* What are the risks associated with working on multi-period contracts? These
could include political risks, weather risks, competitive risks, forecasting
risks, and so forth. How is the firm managing these risks? What is its track
record in managing these risks? Are therisks likely to be severe enough that
the firm should defer recognizing revenues until the project is compl eted?

« How does management break apart current period revenues from future rev-
enues in multi-period contracts? What assumptions and estimates are inher-
ent in thisanalysis? What is the basis for these estimates? Are they based on
historical data or industry data? How relevant is the data used for this analy-
sis? Has the firm changed its strategy or operations significantly over time?
Doesit follow a different strategy from its competitors?
Does accounting require management to forecast the full cost of a multi-pe-
riod program? If so, what types of costs areincluded in the analysis and what
types are excluded? What information does management use as a basis for
their forecasts—internal budgets, industry data, historical data, etc.? How ac-
curate have management’s forecasts of costs been for prior years? If cost
forecasts are systematically under- or over-budget, what are the implications
for performance reported in the current period?

Challenge Three: Products or Services Sold
but Residual Rights Retained by Seller

The third area where challenges arise in revenue recognition is where the seller retains
some ongoing rights in the product or service sold. For example, afirm sellsits receiv-
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ablesto abank, but the bank has recourse against the seller if the creditor failsto pay off
the receivable. Has the receivable been sold or has the firm simply borrowed against its
receivables?Alternatively, if afirm signsalong-term agreement to lease equipment from
the manufacturer but the manufacturer retains the residual rights to the equipment, has
the equipment been sold or has it been rented?

To determine which of the above approaches best reflects the economics of the trans-
action, analysts need to understand the risks that are borne by the parties involved and
how those risks are managed. Accounting standards frequently attempt to regulate the
reporting of these types of transactions. However, the transactions frequently arrange for
risks to be shared by both parties involved, making accounting complex. Receivable
sales and long-term leasing contracts are discussed further to illustrate the reporting
challenges for these types of transactions.

EXAMPLE: RECEIVABLE SALE WITH RECOURSE. Many companies sell receiv-
ables to banks, financial ingtitutions, or public investors as a way to accelerate the col-
lection of cash. Two forms of sale aretypically used: factoring and securitization. Under
factoring, a finance company or bank purchases the rights to the cash flows under the
receivable. Under securitization, a portfolio of receivables (such as credit card, auto
loan, or mortgage receivables) is packaged into securities that represent claims on the
interest and principal payments under the receivables. These securities are then sold to
multiple buyers.

Securitization as aform of financing has become increasingly popular. For example,
on February 17, 1999, the Financial Times reported that many Japanese finance houses
have been launching “asset-backed securities, which allow consumer finance compa-
nies, among others, to remove assets from their balance sheets. These assets, typically
equipment leases, car purchase loans and other types of consumer receivables, aretrans-
ferred to a‘ special purpose vehicle, which stands legally at arm’s-length from its orig-
inator. The special purpose vehicle launches a bond, often rated AAA because it is
backed by the collateral of the asset’s cash flow (such as repayments on car loans).”

How should these types of transactions be recorded? One approach isto view the re-
ceivables as having been sold at again or loss, depending on any difference between the
interest rate on the receivabl e and the rate charged by the bank. Under thistreatment, the
seller creates a reserve to reflect any default and prepayment risks borne by the seller.
Alternatively, the contract can be viewed as abank loan where the receivablesareaform
of collateral.

Which of these two approaches best captures the economics of the transaction? Have
thereceivablesreally been sold, or should we consider the transaction as abank |oan us-
ing the receivables as collateral ? To answer this question, we have to understand the po-
tential risksfaced by the seller. These include default and prepayment risks. Default risk
arisesif the receivables subsequently default and the bank is forced to recover from the
seller. Prepayment risk arisesif the receivables are fixed rate notes and interest rates sub-
sequently fall. Receivables are then likely to be refinanced through alternative financing
sources at lower interest rates. As a result, the seller of the receivables will no longer
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receive any spread difference between the interest rate on the note and the rate charged
by the bank. Accounting rulesin the U.S. (SFAS 77) argue that receivables sold with re-
course can only be accounted for as asae if (a) the seller gives up control of the eco-
nomic benefits associated with the receivable, (b) the seller can make areliable estimate
of any obligations due to the default and prepayment risks, and (c) the buyer of the re-
ceivables cannot require the seller to repurchase the receivables. Otherwise, the transac-
tion should be treated as aloan.

EXAMPLE: SALES- TYPE LEASE AGREEMENTS. IBM sells mainframe computers
to its customers under two different contractual arrangements. First, the customer can
purchase the computer using either its own funds or financing through athird party. Sec-
ond, the customer can sign a long-term lease agreement with IBM for use of the com-
puter for much of its useful life. At the end of the lease term, IBM retains the residual
value of the asset.

Thefirst of these options (outright sal€) is straightforward. However, it is more com-
plex to determine how to record the other contractual arrangement. A long-term lease
contract is very similar in form to an outright sale. IBM sells the use of the computer to
the lessee for much of itsuseful life. However, instead of requiring the customer to raise
external financing for the purchase, IBM agrees to provide financing. At the end of the
lease term, IBM retains some residual claim to the computer. Should this transaction be
viewed asarental agreement or asasale? Under arental agreement, the lessor continues
to own the asset and rents it to the lessee for the lease term.

Financial reporting for leases attemptsto reflect these different types of lease arrange-
ments. The critical accounting question is whether the lease terms are equivalent to the
sale of the asset or to a rental agreement. In substance, a lease can be thought of as the
equivalent of asaleif the lessee bears most of the risks normally associated with own-
ership. Thus, if the IBM customer contracts to use the computer for the bulk of itslife, it
bears much of thelossin value from obsolescence. Theleaseisthen equivalent to asale.
Alternatively, if 1BM bears most of these risks, the contract is more like a rental
agreement.

Accounting rulesin the U.S. are intended to reflect these differences in the nature of
lease contracts. Under SFAS 13, a lease transaction is viewed as equivalent to a sale if
any of the following conditions hold: (1) ownership of the asset istransferred to the les-
see at the end of the lease term; (2) the lessee has the option to purchase the asset for a
bargain price at the end of the lease term; (3) the lease term is 75 percent or more of the
asset’s expected useful life; or (4) the present value of the lease paymentsis 90 percent
or more of the fair value of the asset.

L ease contracts that satisfy the criteria for an effective sale for accounting purposes
are recorded as sales-type leases. For IBM, revenues from the sale would be recognized
at the present value of the lease payments. This would also be shown as a receivable—
Investment in Sales-Type Leases—on IBM’s balance sheet. The expected residua value
of the computer at the end of the lease term would be removed from inventory and in-
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cluded in the asset Investment in Sales-Type Leases. Finally, the balance of the book
value of the computer would be removed from inventory and recorded as the cost of
goods sold. The markup on the computer “sale” would then be reflected in the gross
profit. In subsequent periods, the lease payments received by the lessor are separated
into interest income and principal repayments of the note receivable.

Lease contracts that do not qualify as an effective sale for accounting purposes are
termed operating leases. The lessor then reports rental income throughout the lease term
and continues to depreciate the cost of the asset.

Key Analysis Questions

Accounting can become complex when a seller retains a residual value in a prod-
uct or service. Managers are then required to determine whether the asset has been
sold and, if so, how to value the residual owned by the seller. For financial ana-
lysts, the following questions are likely to arise:

» What are the residua risks borne by the seller? What factors affect these
risks? Does the seller have control over these risks?

» What processes does the seller have in place to manage its residual risks?
How effective are these processes?

» What have been the historical outcomes of risks borne by the seller relative
to forecasts? If these risks have been poorly managed, where on the financial
statements are they reflected? Have historical forecasts of the seller’ sresidual
risks systematically over- or understated subsequent realizations?

» What has been the seller’ s experience in managing its residual risks relative
to other firms in its industry? If its historical experience has been different
from itsindustry peers, doesit follow a different strategy, or target different
customers?
If the firm does not have a strong track record in managing and forecasting
residual risks, isit appropriate to view the transaction as a sale? Accounting
rules typically require that a transaction either be recorded as a sale or that
revenue be deferred. As a result, among the transactions that meet the re-
quirements for current revenue recognition, some are closer to satisfying the
minimum requirements than others. Where on this continuum do the transac-
tions being analyzed lie?

Challenge Four: Credit-Worthiness of Customer

Many firms provide credit to their customers. In most instances, customers are expected
to pay for the product or service within thirty days of billing. However, for some busi-
nesses, sellers provide long-term financing.
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Transactions where there are significant credit risks for the seller raise a number of
questionsfor financial statement users. Doesthe seller have asystem in placeto evaluate
and manage credit risks of customers? Has the firm done a good job of managing credit
risk in the past? |'s past success in managing credit risk likely to be a good indicator of
the future?

Credit risk can be particularly difficult to analyze if (a) customers have experienced
a change in circumstances, (b) sales growth has led to a change in the mix of afirm’'s
customers, or () the seller has an innovative strategy that makes it difficult to use his-
torical data to assess credit risk. The following two transactions illustrate these points
and the challenges of assessing collectibility.

EXAMPLE: REAL ESTATE TRANSACTIONS. Rea estate companies frequently
provide long-term financing for their customers. A customer may put down 5 percent of
the full purchase price of a property and arrange a mortgage with the seller to cover the
remaining 95 percent. If the buyer is unable to pay off the loan, the seller can reclaim
possession of the property, resell it, and use the proceeds to cover the remaining balance
on the mortgage. This transaction raises several questions about collectibility. First, is
the initial 5 percent payment refundable? If so, the buyer can potentially renege on the
contract with no penalty. Second, isthe owner’s equity in the property sufficient to pro-
vide some assurance to the seller that the buyer islikely to be committed to meeting the
payments, particularly if the property value subsequently declines? For example, if the
property in the above transaction declines in value by 20 percent, a buyer with only a
5 percent equity stake has a strong incentive to return the property to the seller. The
buyer then loses the equity investment, but avoids further losses that would arise from
continuing to make mortgage payments.

Accounting standards attempt to capture the above risks. Under SFAS 66, retail land
sales can be recognized as revenue only if all of the following conditions are met:

1. The buyer signs alegally binding contract for the land purchase and pays a non-
refundable down payment of 10 percent or more of the sales price.

2. Thesdller’scollection experience on similar salesindicatesthat at least 90 percent
of thereceivableswill be collected in full. A down payment of 20 percent or more
is an acceptable substitute for this test.

3. The sdller’s receivable for the property is not subject to subordination of new
loans.

4. Theseller isnot obliged to construct amenities or other facilities or to make other
improvements to the property.

If areal estate contract satisfies the above requirements for recognizing a property
sale, the seller can recognize the full price of the land as revenue. Otherwise, accounting
rules require that revenue be recognized on a cash basis.

EXAMPLE: SUBPRIME LENDING. The subprime lending industry is arelatively re-
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cent phenomenon. Subprime lenders provide consumer credit to individuals who have
incomplete or poor credit records and who are unabl e to obtain financing from tradition-
al bank financing. Subprime lenders thus provide consumer credit through credit cards,
automobilefinancing, and home equity loans. Yields on these loans and service feestend
to be high.

Of course, there are significant risks associated with these loans, notably a higher de-
fault rate than traditional lending. To manage these risks, subprime lenders attempt to
stratify the additional default risk inherent in the loans and to price them accordingly.

Key Analysis Questions

Credit risks require management to estimate the effect of default risks, raising the
following questions for financial analysts:

» What is the seller’s business strategy and how does that strategy affect its
ability to manage credit risks? For example, does the firm use low-cost fi-
nancing as a form of marketing for its product? Alternatively, does it offer
low prices on its product and make money on financing? What are the risks
of these different strategies?

Do the accounting rules governing whether atransaction isasale factor in all
of the risks faced by the seller? Are there risks that are not considered in ac-
counting rules? If so, how serious are these risks? How do firms manage
these risks?

Does the seller have a credit process in place to help manage default risk?
This process will access customers' credit histories, job security, assets, and
other liabilities. From this information, the seller can adequately assess the
risks and price the loan accordingly.

I sthe estimated provision for doubtful debts consistent with historical dataand
with industry norms? If the provision appears to be lower than these norms,
what factors explain the differences? For example, has the firm changed its
strategy, or does it follow a different strategy from other firmsin the industry,
making these normslessreliable benchmarks?Isit growing rapidly and selling
to different types of customersthan historically?If so, are these new customers
likely to be more or less risky than the current portfolio mix?

Challenge Five: Refunds for Dissatisfied Customers

Questions about cash collection can also arise when firms provide open-ended offers to
refund returned merchandise from dissatisfied customers. Such isfrequently the casefor
magazine and textbook publishers. It can also arisefor some manufacturersand retailers.
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For example, L. L. Bean, the mail-order clothing retailer, providesits customersthe fol-
lowing assurance: “Our products are guaranteed to give 100% satisfaction in every way.
Return anything purchased from us at any timeif it proves otherwise. We will replaceit,
refund your purchase price or credit your credit card. We do not want you to have any-
thing from L. L. Bean that isnot completely satisfactory.” Thisassurance, of course, cre-
ates arisk for the company if it fails to deliver on its customer satisfaction pledge.

How do firms manage return risks? The most straightforward way isto have aproduct
or service that is attractive to customers. As aresult, these types of offers tend to make
sense only for firmsthat follow a differentiated strategy, offering their customersahigh-
quality product or service at full price. However, even for these firms, it can be difficult
to manage the risks associated with returns. For example, consider L. L. Bean's risks
from returns by customerswho bought incorrectly sized clothing. The company can pro-
vide clear directions to customers on how to estimate their sizes, but it cannot eliminate
these types of returns. At best, the customer will want to replace the clothing for the cor-
rect size. However, if the desired sizeis out of stock, the company hasto refund the pur-
chase price. Given the seasonal nature of the clothing industry, this type of risk may be
largely out of L. L. Bean's control.

How are customer dissatisfaction and return risks reflected in financial reporting?
Typically, the saleisrecognized at point of delivery of the product or service, and at the
end of the period an estimate is made for the cost of returns, requiring the exercise of
management judgment. However, SFAS 48 recognizes that this approach only works if
“the amount of future returns can be reasonably estimated.” If such is not the case, the
seller cannot recognize revenues until the return privilege has effectively expired.

Key Analysis Questions

Businesses where there are significant risks of customer returns and refunds raise
anumber of questions for financial analysts.

* How does the selling firm position its business relative to competitors and
how does that strategy relate to its ability to manage return risks?

« Doesthe seller have a processin place to help manage return risk? This pro-
cess could include customer satisfaction and/or product/service quality pro-
gramsto limit the likelihood of returns.

* Isthe estimated allowance for returns consistent with historical dataand with
industry norms? If the allowance is lower than these norms, what factors ex-
plain the differences? For example, hasthe firm changed its strategy, or does
it follow a different strategy from other firms in the industry, making these
norms less reliable benchmarks? Isit growing rapidly and selling to different
types of customers than historically? Has there been any change in product
quality or customer satisfaction with the firm's product or service that is
likely to impact returns?
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SUMMARY

In this chapter, we overviewed the revenue recognition rule and discussed its implica-
tionsfor analysis of revenues by financial statement users. Under the rule, revenues can
be recognized only if (1) the seller has provided all, or substantially all, of the goods or
servicesto be delivered to the customer, and (2) the customer has paid cash or is expect-
ed to pay cash with reasonable certainty.

For certain types of transactions, implementing this rule can be challenging. For ex-
ample, it can be difficult to assess whether revenues have been earned if:

1. Customers pay for aproduct or service prior to its delivery, asin the case of mag-
azine subscriptions, property and casualty insurance policies, and service con-
tracts.

2. Products or services are provided over multiple years, asisthe case for long-term
construction contracts and frequent flyer awards.

3. Products or services are sold with some residual rights retained by the seller, re-
flected in sales of receivables with recourse and |ease agreements.

4. Sellers of products or services provide their customers with long-term financing,
asin the case of somereal estate devel opers.

5. Sellers provide an open-ended offer to refund dissatisfied customers.

In general, corporate managers of the selling firm are likely to have the best informa-
tion on whether revenue has been earned and cash is likely to be received from the cus-
tomer. Revenues (net of estimates of costs for default and returns) then potentially
provide users of financial statementswith information on managers assessment of these
risks. However, the value of this information has to be tempered by management’s in-
centive to report favorable information on its stewardship of the firm. This provides a
role for analysis of revenues. Such analysis involves independently assessing whether
revenues have been earned, and whether cash islikely to be collected.

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

1. A customer pays $1,000 in advance for a service agreement. What are the financial
statement effects of thistransactionif (a) revenueisrecognized at receipt of cash, and
(b) revenue is recognized at delivery of the product? What forecasts, if any, do you
have to make to complete the recording of this transaction? What factors would de-
termine which of these two approaches is appropriate? As a financia analyst, what
guestions would you raise with the firm's CFO?

2. A firm signsalong-term contract to construct a building for $10,000,000. The build-
ing isto be completed in two yearsat acost of $8,000,000. At the end of thefirst year,
$6,000,000 of costs has been incurred. Under the contract terms, the customer pays
for the building during the first year. What are the financial statement effects of this
transaction if (&) revenue is recognized under the completed contract method, and
(b) revenue is recognized using the percentage of completion method? What fore-
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casts, if any, do you have to make to complete the recording of thistransaction? What
factorswould determine which of these two approachesis appropriate? Asafinancial
analyst, what questions would you raise with the firm’s crFo?

. United Airlines sells a round-trip ticket for aflight from Boston to London for $750.
The customer also receives 5,000 award miles, equivalent to 20 percent of the miles
required for a free domestic flight. United expects 20 percent of its customersto re-
deem awardsfor futureair travel, and the average forgone revenues from these flights
to be $400 per passenger. Finally, United estimates that the incremental costs associ-
ated with redemption of frequent flyer awards amount to $100 per passenger. What
are the financial statement effects of this transaction if (a) the incremental cost ap-
proach is used, and (b) revenue is recognized using the deferred revenue approach?
What forecasts, if any, do you have to make to complete the recording of thistrans-
action? What factors would determine which of these two approachesis appropriate?
Asafinancial analyst, what questions would you raise with the firm's cFo?

. A firm sells $200,000 of interest-bearing two-year notes receivable to a bank, with
recourse, for $208,978. The interest rate on the notes is 10 percent, and the bank’s
effective interest rate is 7.5 percent. What are the financial statement effects of this
transaction if (a) the receivable isviewed as sold, and (b) the receivableisviewed as
providing collateral for abank loan? What forecasts, if any, do you have to make to
complete the recording of this transaction? What factors would determine which of
these two approaches is appropriate? As a financia analyst, what questions would
you raise with the firm’s crFo?

. Consider alessor that sells the right to use a depreciable asset, with a book value of
$1,500, to a customer for two years for $1,000 per year, payable at the beginning of
the year. At the end of the lease term, the rights to the asset revert to the seller. As-
suming a discount rate of 10 percent, the present value of the lease payments is
$1,909. What are the financia statement effects of this transaction if (a) revenueis
recognized under the sales-type lease approach, and (b) revenue is recognized using
the operating lease method? What forecasts, if any, do you have to maketo complete
the recording of this transaction? What factors would determine which of these two
approaches is appropriate? As a financial analyst, what questions would you raise
with the firm’s cFO?

. A real estate developer sellsland parcelsto its customers and provides them with fi-
nancing. In 2000, the first year of operation, the firm signed new land sale contracts
for $25,000,000. Thisland had originally been acquired for $20,000,000, implying a
gross margin of 20 percent. Customer receipts for the year were $8,000,000 for de-
posits on property sold and $1,000,000 in principal repayments under financing
agreements with customers. What are the financial statement effects of this transac-
tion if (a) revenue is recognized at sale, and (b) revenue is recognized when cash is
received? What forecasts, if any, do you have to make to complete the recording of
this transaction? What factors would determine which of these two approaches is
appropriate? As a financial analyst, what questions would you raise with the firm's
CFO?

235



236 Revenue Analysis

7. A publishing company delivers 130,000 copies of a new textbook to bookstores dur-
ing the year. The bookstores pay the publisher $10 per book, but have the right to be
reimbursed for any books returned within one year. The cost of the booksto the pub-
lisher is$5 per book. What are the financia statement effects of thistransaction if (a)
revenue is recognized at sale, and (b) revenue is recognized when return rights ex-
pire? What forecasts, if any, do you have to make to complete the recording of this
transaction? What factors would determine which of these two approaches is appro-
priate? Asafinancial analyst, what questions would you raise with the firm's cFo?



Oracle Systems Corporation

I n August 1990 Lawrence J. Ellison, CEO of Oracle Systems Corpora-
tion, was facing increasing pressure from analysts about the method the company used
to recognize revenue in its financial reports. Analysts major concerns were clearly ar-
ticulated by a senior technology analyst at Hambrecht & Quist, Inc. in San Francisco:

Under Oracle’s current set of accounting rules, Oracle can recognize any revenue
they believe will be shipped within the next twelve months. . . . Many other soft-
ware firms have moved to booking only the revenue that has been shipped.

Given its aggressive revenue-recognition policy and relatively high amount of ac-
counts receivable, many analysts argued that Oracle's stock was arisky buy. Asaresult,
the company’s stock price had plummeted from a high of $56 in March to around $27 in
mid-August. This poor stock performance concerned Larry Ellison for two reasons.
First, he worried that the firm might become a takeover candidate, and second that the
low price made it expensive for the firm to raise new equity capital to finance its future
growth.

ORACLE’'S BUSINESS AND PERFORMANCE

Since its formation in Californiain June 1977, Oracle Systems Corporation has grown
rapidly to become the world's largest supplier of database management software. Its
principal product isthe ORACLE relational database management system, which runson
a broad range of computers, including mainframes, minicomputers, microcomputers,
and persona computers. The company also develops and distributes a wide array of
productsto interface with its database system, including applicationsin financial report-
ing, manufacturing management, computer aided systems engineering, computer
network communications, and office automation. Finally, Oracle offers extensive main-
tenance, consulting, training, and systems integration services to support its products.

Oracle’s leadership in developing software for database management has enabled it
to achieve impressive financial growth. As reported in Exhibit 1, the company’s sales
grew from $282 million in 1988 to $971 million two years|ater. Larry Ellison was proud
of this rapid growth and committed to its continuance. He often referred to Genghis
Khan as hisinspiration in crushing competitors and achieving growth.

This case was prepared for class discussion by Cholthicha Srivisal and Paul M. Healy of the MIT Sloan School of
Management.

237



238

Revenue Analysis

The primary factors underlying Oracl€e's strong performance have been its successes
in R&D and its committed sales force. The firm's R&D triumphs are proudly noted in
the 1990 annual report:

In 1979, we delivered ORACLE, the world's first relational database management
system and the first product based on SQL. In 1983, ORACLE was the first database
management system to run on mainframes, minicomputers, and PCs. In 1986,
ORACLE wasthefirst database management systemwith distributed capability, mak-
ing accessto data on a network of computers as easy as access on a single computer.

We continued our tradition of technology leadership in 1990, with three key
achievementsin the area of client-server computing. First, we delivered software
that allows client programs to automatically adapt to the different graphical user
interfaces on PCs, Macintoshes, and wor kstations. Second, we delivered our com-
plete family of accounting applications running as client programs networked to
an ORACLE database server. Third, the ORACLE database server set performance
records of over 400 transactions per second on mainframes, 200 transactions per
second on minicomputers, and 20 transactions per second on PCs.

Oracle's salesforce has al so been responsible for its success. The sales force is com-
pensated on the basis of sales, giving it astrong incentive to aggressively court large cor-
porate customers. In some cases salespeople even have been known to offer extended
payment terms to a potentially valuable customer to close a sale.

Oracle's growth slowed in early 1990. In March the firm announced a 54 percent
jumpin quarterly revenues (relative to 1989’ s results)—but only a 1 percent risein earn-
ings (see Exhibit 2 for quarterly results for 1989 and 1990). Management explained that
several factors contributed to this poor performance. First, the company had recently re-
drawn its sales territories and, as a result, for several months salespeople had become
unsure of their new responsibilities, leaving some customers dissatisfied. Second, there
were problems with a number of new products, such as Oracle Financials, which were
released before all major bugs could be fixed. However, the stock market was unim-
pressed by these explanations, and the firm's stock price dropped by 31 percent with the
earnings announcement.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The deterioration in its financial performance prompted analysts to question Oracle's
method of recognizing revenues. For example, one analyst commented:

Oracl€'s accounting practices might have played a role in the low net income re-
sults. Thetop linewent up over 50%, though the net bottomline did not do so well,
because Oracle’'srunning more cash than it should be as a result of financial mis-
management. The company’s aggressive revenue-recognition policy and relatively
high amount of accounts receivables make the stock risky.
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Oracle’s major revenues come from licensing software products to end users, and
from sublicensing agreements with original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) and soft-
ware value-added relicensors (VARS). Initial license fees for the ORACLE database man-
agement system range from $199 to over $5,500 on micro- and persona computers, and
from $5,100 to approximately $342,000 on mini- and mainframe computers. License
fees for Oracle Financial and Oracle Government Financial products range from
$20,000 to $513,000, depending on the platform and number of users. A customer may
obtain additional licenses at the same site at a discount. Oracle recognizes revenuesfrom
these licenses when a contract has been signed with a financially sound customer, even
though shipment of products has not occurred.

OEM agreements are negotiated on a case-by-case basis. However, under a typical
contract Oracle receives an initial nonrefundable fee (payable either upon signing the
contract or within 30 days of signing) and sublicense fees based on the number of copies
distributed. Under VAR agreements the company charges a devel opment license fee on
top of theinitial nonrefundable fee, and it receives sublicense fees based on the number
of copiesdistributed. Sublicense fees are usually apercentage of Oracle'slist price. The
initial nonrefundable payments and devel opment license fees under these arrangements
are recorded as revenue when the contracts are signed. Sublicense fees are recorded
when they are received from the OEM or VAR.

Oracle al so receives revenues from maintenance agreements under which it provides
technical support and tel ephone consultation on the use of the products and problem res-
olution, system updates for software products, and user documentation. Maintenance
fees generaly run for one year and are payable at the end of the maintenance period.
They range from 7.5 percent to 22 percent of the current list price of the appropriate
license. These fees are recorded as unearned revenue when the maintenance contract is
signed and are reflected as revenue ratably over the contract period.

The major questions about Oracle’s revenue recognition concern the way the firm
recognizes revenues on license fees. There is no currently accepted standard for ac-
counting for these types of revenues.! However, Oracle tends to be one of the more ag-
gressive reporters. The firm’s days receivable exceeds 160 days, substantially higher
than the average of 62 days receivable for other software developers (see Exhibit 3 for a
summary of days receivable for other major software developersin 1989 and 1990). As
a result, some analysts argue that the firm should recognize revenue when software is
delivered rather than when a contract is signed, consistent with the accounting treatment
for the sale of products. In addition, the collectibility of license feesis considered ques-
tionable by some analysts, who have urged the firm to recognize revenue only when
thereis areasonable basis for estimating the degree of collectibility of areceivable. Es-
timates by Oracle's controller indicate that if Oracle were to change to amore conserva-
tive revenue recognition policy, the firm's days receivable would fall to about 120 days.

1. The Financial Accounting Standards Board was considering the issue of revenue recognition for software develop-
ers at this time. It was widely expected that the Board would make a pronouncement on the topic early in 1991.
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MANAGEMENT’'S CONCERNS

Oracle’s management was concerned about analysts' opinions and the downturn in the
firm’s stock. The company had lost credibility with investors and customers due to its
recent poor performance and its controversial accounting policies.

One of the items on the agenda at the upcoming board meeting was to consider pro-
posals for changing the firm’s revenue recognition method and for dealing with its com-
munication challenge. Ellison knew that his opinion on this question would be
influential. As he saw it, the company had three alternatives. One was to modify the rec-
ognition of license fees so that revenue would be recognized only when substantially all
the company’s contractual obligations had been performed. However, he worried that
such a change would have a negative impact on the firm’s bottom line and further de-
press the stock price. A second possibility was to wait until the FASB announced its po-
sition on software revenue recognition before making any changes. Finally, the company
could make no change and vigoroudly defend its current accounting method. Ellison
carefully considered which alternative made the most sense for the firm.

QUESTIONS

1. What factors might have led analyststo question Oracle Systems’ method of revenue
recognition in mid-19907? Are these legitimate concerns?

2. Edtimate the earningsimpact for Oracle from recognizing revenue at delivery, rather
than when a contract is signed.

3. What accounting or communication changes would you recommend to Oracle’s
Board of Directors?
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Oracle Systems Corporation — Consolidated Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of May 31, 1990 and 1989 (in $000, except per share data)

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents

Short-term investments

Receivables

Trade, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $28,445 in 1990
and $16,829 in 1989

Other

Prepaid expenses and supplies

Total current assets

PROPERTY, net

COMPUTER SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS, net of accumu-
lated amortization of $14,365 in 1990 and $6,180 in 1989

OTHER ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Notes payable to banks

Current maturities of long-term debt

Accounts payable

Income taxes payable

Accrued compensation and related benefits

Customer advances and unearned revenues

Other accrued liabilities

Sales tax payable

Deferred income taxes

Total current liabilities

LONG-TERM DEBT

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:

Common stock, $.01 par value-authorized, 200,000,000 shares;
outstanding: 131,138,302 shares in 1990 and 126,933,288
shares in 1989

Additional paid-in capital

Retained earnings

Accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments

Total stockholders’ equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

1990 1989
$ 44,848 $ 44,893
4,980 4,500
468,071 261,989
28,899 16,175
22,459 9,376
569,257 336,933
171,945 94,455
33,396 13,942
12,649 14,879
$787,247 $460,209
$ 31,236 $ 9,747
11,265 13,587
64,922 51,582
18,254 14,836
61,164 39,063
42,121 15,403
32,417 23,400
22,193 8,608
— 2,107
283,572 178,333
89,129 33,506
4,936 5,702
22,025 12,114
388 346
118,715 84,931
267,475 150,065
1,007 (4,788)
387,585 230,554
$787,247 $460,209
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
For the Years Ended May 31, 1990 to 1988 (in $000, except per share data)

1989

REVENUES
Licenses
Services

Total revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES
Sales and marketing

Cost of services

Research and development
General and administrative

Total operating expenses
OPERATING INCOME
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):

Interest income

Interest expense

Other income (expense)
Total other income (expense)

INCOME BEFORE PROVISION FOR INCOME
TAXES
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

NET INCOME
EARNINGS PER SHARE

NUMBER OF COMMON AND COMMON
EQUIVALENT SHARES OUTSTANDING

$689,898
280,946

970,844

465,074
160,426
88,291
67,258

781,049
189,795

3,772
(12,096)

(8,811)
(17,135)

172,660
55,250

$117,410
$ .86

136,826

$417,825
165,848

583,673

272,812
100,987
52,570
34,344

460,713
122,960

2,724
(4,318)
(1,121)
(2,715)

120,245
38,479

$81,766
$ .61

135,066

$205,435
76,678

282,113

124,148
51,241
25,708
17,121

218,218
63,895

2,472
(1,540)
152
1,084

64,979
22,093

$42,886
$ .32

132,950
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended May 31, 1990 to 1988 (in $000)

1990

1989

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for doubtful accounts
Increase in receivables
Increase in prepaid expenses & supplies
Increase in accounts payable
Increase income taxes payable
Increase in other accrued liabilities
Increase in customer advances
and unearned revenues
Increase (decrease) in deferred taxes
Increase (decrease) in other non-current liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Increase in short-term investments

Capital expenditures

Capitalization of computer software development
costs

Increase in other assets

Purchase of a business

Net cash used for investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Notes payable to banks

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Payments of long-term debt

Proceeds from common stock issued

Tax benefits from stock options

Net cash provided by financing activities

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
CASH: BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH: END OF YEAR

$117,410

44,078
16,625
(227,046)
(12,834)
12,491
3,002
42,166

25,786
7,728
(766)

28,640

(480)
(89,275)

(27,639)
(1,116)

(118,510)

21,156
68,530
(34,239)
18,460
15,366

89,273
552
(45)

44,893

$44,848

$ 81,766

23,156
9,211
(149,900)
(5,684)
25,236
6,821
38,057

6,496
(10,857)
1,938

26,240

2,998
(68,428)

(10,526)
(2,084)
(6,650)

(84,690)

10,305
37,539
(6,205)
11,060
10,593

63,292
(1,061)
3,781

41,112

$44,893

$ 42,886

12,973
4,839
(74,777)
(1,458)
12,854
7,940
21,420

5,682
8,170

40,529

(7,498)
(30,959)

(4,447)
(481)

(43,385)

(169)
1,445
(3,638)
4,712
3,992

6,342
69
3,555
37,557

$41,112
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EXCERPTS FROM NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies

Organization

Oracle Systems Corporation (the Company) develops and markets computer software
products used for database management, applications development, decision support,
programmer tools, computer network communication, end user applications, and office
automation. The Company offers maintenance, consulting, and training services in sup-
port of its clients’ use of its software products.

Basis of Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements include the Company and its subsidiaries. All trans-
actions and balances between the companies are eliminated.

Business Combination

In November 1988, the Company’s subsidiary, Oracle Complex Systems Corporation,
acquired all of the outstanding shares of Falcon Systems, Inc., a systems integrator, for
$13,714,000 in cash and $4,600,000 in notes which become due November 1, 1991.
The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase and the excess of the cost over the fair
value of assets acquired was $5,648,000, which is being amortized over 5 years on a
straight-line method. Pro forma results of operations, assuming the acquisition had taken
place June 1, 1987, would not differ materially from the Company’s actual results of
operations.

Software Development Costs

Effective June 1, 1986, the Company began capitalizing internally generated software
development costs in compliance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
86, “"Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise
Marketed.” Capitalization of computer software development costs begins upon the
establishment of technological feasibility for the product. Capitalized software develop-
ment costs amounted to $27,639,000, $10,526,000, and $4,447,000 in fiscal 1990,
1989, and 1988, respectively.

Amortization of capitalized computer software development costs begins when the prod-
ucts are available for general release to customers, and is computed product by product
as the greater of: (a) the ratio of current gross revenues for a product to the total of cur-
rent and anticipated future gross revenues for the product, or (b) the straight-line method
over the remaining estimated economic life of the product. Currently, estimated economic
lives of 24 months are used in the calculation of amortization of these capitalized costs.
Amortization amounted to $8,185,000, $3,504,000, and $2,345,000 for fiscal years
ended May 31, 1990, 1989, and 1988, respectively, and is included in sales and market-
ing expenses.

Statements of Cash Flows

The Company paid income taxes in the amount of $33,731,000, $29,006,000, and
$711,000 and interest expense of $8,026,000, $4,274,000 and $1,540,000 during the
fiscal years ended 1990, 1989, and 1988, respectively. The Company purchased equip-
ment under capital lease obligations in the amount of $17,616,000, $4,692,000, and
$4,108,000 in fiscal 1990, 1989 and 1988, respectively.
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Revenue Recognition
The Company generates several types of revenue including the following:

License and Sublicense fees. The Company licenses ORACLE products to end users under
license agreements. The Company also has entered into agreements whereby the Com-
pany licenses Oracle products and receives license and sublicense fees from original
equipment manufacturers (OEMs) and software value-added relicensors (VARs). The min-
imum amount of license and sublicense fees specified in the agreements is recognized
either upon shipment of the product or at the time such agreements are effective (which in
most instances is the date of the agreement) if the customer is creditworthy and the terms
of the agreement are such that the amounts are due within one year and are nonrefund-
able, and the agreements are noncancellable. The Company recognizes revenue at such
time as it has substantially performed all of its contractual obligations. Additional subli-
cense fees are subsequently recognized as revenue at the time such fees are reported to
the Company by the OEMs and VARs.

Maintenance Agreements. Maintenance agreements generally call for the Company to
provide technical support and certain systems updates to customers. Revenue related to
providing technical support is recognized proportionately over the maintenance period,
which in most instances is one year, while the revenue related to systems updates is recog-
nized at the beginning of each maintenance period.

Consulting, Training, and Other Services. The Company provides consulting services to
its customers; revenue from such services is generally recognized under the percentage of
completion method.

2. Short-Term Debt

Year Ended May 31

Short term debt (in $000) consists of: 1990 1989

Unsecured revolving lines of credit $18,198 $5,955
Other 13,038 3,792
Total $31,236 $9,747

At May 31, 1990, the Company had short-term unsecured revolving lines of credit with
two banks providing for borrowings aggregating $42,000,000, of which $18,198,000
was outstanding. These lines expire in September 1990 ($2,000,000), November 1990
($10,000,000), and January 1991 ($30,000,000). Interest on these borrowings is based
on varying rates pegged to the banks’ prime rate, cost of funds, or LIBOR. The Company
also had other unsecured short-term indebtedness to banks of $13,038,000 at May 31,
1990, payable upon demand. The average interest rate on short-term borrowings was
9.4% at May 31, 1990.

The Company is required to maintain certain financial ratios under the line of credit
agreements. The Company was in compliance with these financial covenants at May 31,

1990.
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3. Long-Term Debt

At May 31, 1990, the Company had long-term unsecured revolving lines of credit with
four banks providing for borrowings aggregating $135,000,000, of which $61,460,000
was outstanding. Of the $61,460,000 outstanding, $58,210,000 was classified as long-
term debt and $3,250,000 was classified as current maturities of long-term debt. These
lines of credit expire in December 1991 ($60,000,000), March 1992 ($15,000,000), July
1992 ($20,000,000), January 1991 ($20,000,000), and March 1991 ($20,000,000).
The Company has the option to convert $20,000,000 of its line expiring in January of
1991 and $8,000,000 of that expiring in March of 1991 into two term loans which would
mature in 1993. Interest on these borrowings vary based on the banks’ cost of funds
rates. At May 31, 1990 the interest rate on outstanding domestic and foreign currency
borrowings ranged from 8.6% to 15.6%. The aggregate amount available under these
lines of credit at May 31, 1990 was $73,540,000.

Under the line-of-credit agreements, the Company is required to maintain certain finan-
cial ratios. At May 31, 1990 the Company was in compliance with these financial cove-
nants.

Subsequent to May 31, 1990, the Company obtained two additional unsecured revolving
lines of credit, one which expires May 1992 ($20,000,000) and one which expires Janu-
ary 1991 ($20,000,000).

4. Stockholders’ Equity

Stock Option Plan

The Company’s stock option plan provides for the issuance of incentives stock options to
employees of the Company and nonqualified options to employees, directors, consul-
tants, and independent contractors of the Company. Under the terms of this plan, options
to purchase up to 23,335,624 shares of Common Stock may be granted at not less than
fair market value, are immediately exercisable, become vested as established by the
Board (generally ratably over four to five years), and generally expire ten years from the
date of grant. The Company has the right to repurchase shares issued upon the exercise
of unvested options at the exercise price paid by the stockholder should the stockholder
leave the Company prior to the scheduled vesting date. At May 31, 1990, 271,300
shares of Common Stock outstanding were subject to such repurchase rights. Options to
purchase 5,005,720 common shares were vested at May 31, 1990.

Non-Plan Options

In addition to the above option plan, nonqualified stock options to purchase a total of
5,712,000 common shares have been granted to employees and directors of the Com-
pany. These options were granted at the fair market value as determined by the Board of
Directors, became exercisable immediately, vest either immediately (for directors) or rat-
ably over a period of up to five years (for individuals other than directors) and generally
expire ten years from the date of grant. The Company has the right to repurchase shares
issued upon the exercise of unvested options at the exercise price paid by the stockholder
should the stockholder leave the Company prior to the scheduled vesting date. Options to
purchase 160,000 common shares were vested as of May 31, 1990.

As of May 31, 1990, the Company had reserved 11,135,194 shares of Common Stock
for exercise of options.
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Stock Purchase Plan

In October 1987, the Company adopted an Employee Stock Purchase Plan and reserved
8,000,000 shares of Common Stock for issuance thereunder. Under this plan, the Com-
pany’s employees may purchase shares of Common Stock at a price per share that is
85% of the lesser of the fair market value as of the beginning or the end of the semi-
annual option period. Through May 31, 1990, 2,326,772 shares have been issued and
5,673,228 shares are reserved for future issuances under this plan.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To Oracle Systems Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Oracle Systems Cor-
poration (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries as of May 31, 1990 and 1989 and
the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended May 31, 1990. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opin-
ion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accor-
dance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Oracle Systems Corporation and subsidiaries as of May
31, 1990 and 1989 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended May 31, 1990, in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles.

Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial state-
ments taken as a whole. The schedules listed under ltem 14(a)2. are presented for pur-
poses of complying with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and are not part
of the basic financial statements. These schedules have been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion,
fairly state in all material respects the financial data required to be set forth therein in
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole

ARTHUR ANDERSEN & CO.
SAN JOSE, CALIFORNIA
JULY 9, 1990
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EXHIBIT 2
Oracle Systems Corporation — Review of Quarterly Resultsin Fiscal
1989 and 1990 (in $000 except per share data)

Fiscal 1990 Quarter Ended

Aug. 31 Nov. 30 Feb. 28 May 31

1989 1989 1990 1990
Revenues $175,490 $209,023 $236,165 $350,166
Net income 11,679 28,491 24,282 52,958
Earnings per share® $ .09 $.21 $.18 $ .39

Fiscal 1989 Quarter Ended

Aug. 31 Nov. 30 Feb. 28 May 31

1988 1988 1989 1989
Revenues $90,639 $123,745 $153,354 $215,935
Net income 7,067 17,189 23,964 33,546
Earnings per share® $ .05 $.13 $.18 $ .25

a. Adjusted to reflect the two-for-one stock splits in the third quarter of fiscal 1988 and the first quarter of fiscal 1990.

EXHIBIT 3

Days Receivable for Selected Companiesin the Software
Industry for 1989-90

Company 1989 1990
Borland International Corp. 49 45
Lotus Development Corp. 64 64
Microsoft Corp. 51 56
Novell Corp. 85 81

Average 62 62



Expense Analysis

Expenses are the economic resources that have been consumed or
have declined in value. Firmsincur expenses to acquire or produce products or services
that are sold. In addition, expenses are incurred for marketing (including advertising
costs, salesforce salaries and commissions, and salaries of marketing management), for
managing the firm (salaries of the head office staff and depreciation on headquarters),
for the cost of any debt financing, for taxes, and for realized and unrealized declinesin
asset values.

Analysis of expenses focuses on assessing when expenses should be recognized in
thefinancial statements. Should they be recognized when the resources are used? Should
they be recognized when the firm is billed for resources? Should they be recognized
when payment for resources is made? Or should they be reported when the revenues
generated from using the resources are recognized?

Thekey principlesin accounting that dictate how expenses are recorded are matching
and conservatism. Under these principles, resources directly associated with revenues
are recorded in the same period as revenues are recognized. Resources that are more
closely associated with a specific period are recorded in that period. Finally, all other
costs are recognized as an expense when they are incurred or can be reasonably esti-
mated.

Challenges in recognizing expenses arise when resources provide benefits over mul-
tiple periods, when resources have been consumed but there is uncertainty about the tim-
ing and amount of payment, when the value of resources consumed is difficult to define,
and when resources have declined in value. These challenges give rise to opportunities
for financial analysis of expenses.

MATCHING AND CONSERVATISM

Cash outlays are a poor indicator of resource use when a firm acquires (and pays for)
resources but has yet to use them, or when a firm uses resources but has yet to pay for
them. Indeed, recognizing resource use at the outlay of cash can be misleading and can
provide perverse incentives for managers to improve reported performance by deferring
payments for resources. Thisincentive to delay making cash outlaysislikely to be mag-
nified for big-ticket items, such as purchases of assets that provide benefits for multiple
periods.
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Figure 7-1 Criteriafor Recognizing Expenses and Implementation

Challenges
First Criterion Second Criterion Third Criterion
Resources consumed Resources have no cause- There is a decline in the
have a cause-and-effect and-effect relation with future benefits expected
relation with revenues revenues but are consumed from resources.
recognized during the during the period.
period.

Ty .

Recognize expense.

Challenging Transactions

1. Resources provide benefits over multiple periods.

2. Resources are consumed, but the timing and amount of future payments is uncertain.
3. The value of resources consumed is difficult to define.

4. Unused resources have declined in value.

Accrua accounting relies on the matching and conservatism principles to determine
the cost of resources used. As shown in Figure 7-1, these principles classify expenses
into three types. First, the matching principle views expenses as the cost of consumed
resources that have a cause-and-effect relation with revenues. These include the cost of
materials consumed in manufacturing a product or the cost of acquiring merchandise by
retailers. Matching therefore makes it easier for financial statement readers to assess
whether a firm'’s products or services are profitable. The cost of resources that have no
clear cause-and-effect relation to revenues are recorded as expenses during the period
they are consumed. Examples include general administration and marketing costs. Fi-
nally, under the conservatism principle, accountants require firms to record expenses
when there is a decline in the future benefits expected to be generated by resources, or
when it becomes difficult to estimate benefits with reasonabl e certainty. Write-downs of
impaired assets are one such form of expense.

EXPENSE REPORTING CHALLENGES

Four types of resource uses are particularly challenging from afinancial reporting view-
point. These arise when resources have benefits across multiple accounting periods,
when resources are consumed but the timing and amount of payment is uncertain, when
the value of resources consumed is difficult to define, and when unused resources have
declined in value. Considerable management judgment is involved in recording these
types of expenses. Managers are likely to have better information on the cost of resources
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consumed by the firm during the period, but they are aso self-interested. Further,
accounting rules sometimes require certain outlaysto be recorded as an expense, regard-
less of the future economic benefits they provide. Both these reporting limitations create
incentives for analysis of expenses by financial statement users.

Below we analyze the key challengesin implementing the criteriafor expense recog-
nition and use specific industries and types of transactions to illustrate the key points.
However, the challenges discussed are quite general.

Challenge One: Resources Provide Benefits over Multiple Periods

Many resources acquired by afirm provide benefits over multiple years. These include
outlaysfor plant and equipment, research and development, advertising, and drilling oil
and gaswells. A challengein accounting for thesetypes of transactionsishow to allocate
the cost of these types of resources over multiple periods. Should it be alocated equally
over their useful life? Or should it be recorded conservatively as an expense when it is
incurred? The matching principle argues for spreading out the cost of aresource over its
expected lifeif it hasaclear and reasonably certain cause-and-effect relation with future
revenues. Alternatively, if the cause-and-effect relation is unclear or highly uncertain,
the resource cost is recognized as an expense in the period incurred.

To illustrate the issues in reporting for outlays for resources with multi-period bene-
fits, we discuss the financial reporting treatment of fixed asset depreciation, goodwill
amortization, research and development outlays, and advertising outlays.

EXAMPLE: FIXED ASSET DEPRECIATION. Fixed assets include plant, buildings,
manufacturing equipment, computer equipment, automobiles, and furnishings, all
of which have multi-year lives. Thereistypically little question that these resources are
expected to directly or indirectly help generate future revenues for the firm. Thus, the
cause-and-effect relation between outlays for such resources and future revenuesis typ-
ically reasonably certain.

It is more challenging, however, to assess how the cost of these types of resources
should be matched with future revenues. Generally accepted accounting rules require
managers to make estimates of the expected useful lives of these assets and their ex-
pected salvage values at the end of their lives. These estimates are then used to allocate
the cost of the fixed assets over their useful livesin a systematic manner.

Assets' useful lives are determined by the risk of technological obsolescence and
physical use. Managers' estimates of these effects are therefore likely to depend on their
firms' business strategies and their prior experience in operating, managing, and resell-
ing similar assets. For example, in 1998 Delta Air Lines depreciated new aircraft over
25 years and estimated salvage values at 5 percent of cost. In contrast, Singapore Air-
lines estimated the life of aircraft at 10 years and salvage values at 20 percent of cost.
These estimates partially reflect differencesin the two airlines’ business strategies. Sin-
gapore Airlines targets business travelers who are typicaly less price conscious and
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demand reliable service. In contrast, Delta focuses more on economy travelers who are
highly price-sensitive and for whom on-time arrival is less critical. As aresult, the two
airlinesfollow very different operating strategiesfor their aircraft. SingaporeAirlinesre-
places older aircraft regularly to maintain arelatively new fleet. This reduces the risk of
flight delays for maintenance problems, enabling the company to have high on-time ar-
rival rates. In contrast, Deltaholdsitsaircraft longer, lowering its equipment outlays, but
at the cost of increased maintenance and lower on-time arrival rates. These differences
in operations are reflected in the depreciation estimates made by the two companies. Of
course, there may be other factors that influence management’s estimates for the two
companies. For example, Deltaislikely to face more pressure to report profits for own-
ers since it is 100 percent publicly owned. In contrast, Singapore Airlines is majority
owned by the Singapore government.

A variety of depreciation methods are permitted under generally accepted accounting
rules. The standard method used for financial reporting inthe U.S. is straight-line depre-
ciation, which allocates the depreciable cost (defined as purchase price less estimated
salvage value) equally over the asset’s estimated useful life. More than 90 percent of al
publicly owned firmsinthe U.S. use thismethod. Outsidethe U.S., many companiesem-
ploy accelerated depreciation, in conformance with their tax reporting method.!
Accelerated depreciation generates higher depreciation expenses than the straight-line
method in the early years of an asset’slife, and lower expensestoward the end of itslife.
A third depreciation method, the units of production method, is used for assets whose
lives can be measured in physical units. The depreciation expensefor agiven year isthen
the cost of the asset multiplied by the percentage of lifelong physical capacity used dur-
ing that period. This method is commonly used by natural resource companies to record
depreciation on production assets whose useful lives are tied to the resource capacity at
aparticular mine or well site.

Management uses itsjudgment in estimating asset lives and salvage valuesand in se-
lecting depreciation methods. Thus, there is a risk that depreciation expenses reflect
management’s reporting incentives as well as the economics of the business.

EXAMPLE: GOODWILL AMORTIZATION. Asdiscussed in Chapter 4, when a firm
acquires another firm and accounts for the acquisition using purchase accounting, good-
will is recorded. Goodwill represents the premium paid for the target’s intangible assets.
These assets include brand names, research and development, customer base, superior
management, well trained employees, patents, and other sources of superior performance.

For several reasons, the cause-and-effect relation between purchased goodwill re-
sources and future revenues is less obvious than for fixed assets. First, the particular
source of the future benefits to be derived from goodwill is less clear than for fixed as-
sets. Second, goodwill can represent any overpayment by the acquirer for the target's
business as well as payment for intangibles. As aresult of these uncertainties, goodwill
amortization policies permitted by standard setters have differed across countries. For
example, in the Netherlands goodwill is not amortized against income at all, but is
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written off against shareholders' equity at the completion of the acquisition. Goodwill
isamortized on astraight-line basis over amaximum of forty yearsinthe U.S,, fiveyears
in Japan, and four years in Germany. In the U.K., goodwill is reported as an asset, but
does not have to be amortized at all if it has not been impaired.

The expected value and economic life of goodwill depend on anumber of factors. First,
they depend on the ability of acquiring management to price the intangible assets of the
target appropriately, avoiding overpayment. Second, they depend on acquiring manage-
ment’s ability to integrate the target firm without destroying intangible assets that it pur-
chased, such as superior management, existing customers, or key employees. Finaly, the
value and expected life depend on the strategy and strategy implementation capabilities of
the new firm, which can either leverage or destroy the target firm's intangible assets.?

To illustrate, Cooper Industries, a diversified company operating in the electrical,
hand-tool, automotive, and energy equipment businesses, acquired Cameron Iron
Works, a manufacturer of oil and gas machinery, for $967 million in 1989.3 Cooper’s
strategy was to acquire manufacturing businesses, strengthen their management, and im-
prove their reporting and control systems. However, severa problems arose with this
strategy and its implementation at Cameron. First, Cooper’s expertise was in under-
standing manufacturing. Its management mistakenly believed that this was critical to
Cameron’s success. Only after the acquisition did it learn that service and marketing
were the key performance drivers for Cameron. Second, in implementing the acquisi-
tion, Cooper became preoccupied with control, making it difficult for management at
Cameron to run its business. As a result, Cooper took $440 to $750 million of write-
downs related to the acquisition, and it divested Cameron in 1994.

Given management’s self-interest in communicating to investors that an acquisition
is successful and the challenge in estimating future benefits from outlays for goodwill,
thereisarisk that managers making value-decreasing acquisitions will fail to recognize
any deterioration in goodwill values on atimely basis. Equally, for acquisitions that do
create shareholder value, accounting rules for goodwill amortization often do apoor job
of reflecting merger benefits, since many countries require firms to amortize goodwill
even if the asset has not declined in value.

EXAMPLE: RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT OUTLAYS. Research and develop-
ment outlays areintended to create valuefor the firmin future periods. This suggests that
they should be expensed in the same periods as when the new product revenuesthey are
expected to generate are recognized. However, research and development (R&D) is a
highly uncertain process. There are typically many failed projects for every successful
one. As aresult, accounting rules in most countries require R& D outlays to be expensed
asincurred (see SFAS 2).4

Inthe U.S,, there are several exceptionsto the rule requiring expensing of R&D. First,
completed R&D that is purchased from another company is capitalized and amortized
over its useful life (see SFAS 68). Second, software development costs are capitalized
upon completion of a detailed program design plan or working model. Amortization of
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this asset for a particular year is proportional to the project revenues generated during
that year relative to total expected project revenues (see SFAS 86).°

Theruleson capitalizing and amortizing outlays for completed R& D and software de-
velopment provide management with opportunity to exercise judgment in financial re-
porting. Management can potentialy use this judgment to match R&D costs with
revenues they generate. Alternatively, it can misuse this judgment to accelerate or defer
earnings, either in their assessments of the types of outlays that satisfy the criteria for
capitalization and amortization against future revenues, or in the estimates of futurelives
of any outlays to be amortized.®

Thediversity in reporting practice on these issuesislikely to raise questionsfor users
of financial reports. For example, Microsoft, the most successful software developer in
the world, expenses all software development outlays immediately. In contrast, People-
soft, one of the smaller playersin the softwareindustry, capitalizesits development costs
and amortizes them over three years. |s Microsoft being conservativein itsreporting? s
Peoplesoft reporting aggressively? Or do the two firms have very different models of
developing software consistent with their reporting differences?

Anaysisis aso important for firms whose managers have no opportunity to exercise
judgment in reporting on R& D outlays. For example, firmsin the R& D-intensive pharma-
ceutical industry are required to expense all R&D outlays immediately. For these firms,
financial reporting does not help investors discriminate between firms with the most and
the least effective research labs, a critical issue for evaluating the performance of man-
agement and for valuation. As aresult, analysts research other sources of information on
firms' research capabilities and successes, such as patent filings and FDA approvals.

EXAMPLE: ADVERTISING OUTLAYS. Advertising outlays create an even greater
challenge for financia reporting than R& D. As discussed in Chapter 4, companies such
as Coca-Colahave been ableto create long-term sustai nable economic rents from adver-
tising their products. However, it is often unclear what link, if any, exists between adver-
tising outlaysin a period and future revenues.

To illustrate the difficulty in linking a firm's advertising program to long-term reve-
nues, consider Microsoft’s $220 million campaign to launch Windows 95. The role of
this campaign in the success of the new product is difficult to estimate. Because of the
company’s dominant position in its market, there was widespread public interest in the
product well before the first paid advertisement for Windows appeared on August 24,
1995. The Wall Street Journal estimated that 3,000 headlines, 6,852 stories, and over 3
million words had been dedicated to Windows 95 during the period July 1 to August 24,
1995. In addition, during the launch week, Microsoft engaged in a series of publicity
stunts to promote the new product. A 600-foot Windows 95 banner was hung from the
CN Tower in Toronto, the Empire State Building was it in the colors of the Windows 95
logo, and the company paid The London Times to distribute an entire day’s run of 1.5
million copies free. What was the role of these promotions relative to the $220 million
advertising campaign in making the product a market success?
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As shown by the Windows 95 example, the long-term effectiveness of a firm's ad-
vertising is typically difficult to assess because so many other factors aside from the
company’s advertising strategy are likely to influence its campaign effectiveness. Inter-
vening factorsinclude the firm’s own pricing and promotion decisions, the price, promo-
tion, and advertising responses of competitors, the market position of thefirm relative to
its competitors, and the stage of the product market (growing, mature, or declining).
Given the difficulty in quantifying these effects and isolating any cause-and-effect rela
tion between advertising outlays and future revenues, accounting standards typically
require advertis